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PART I

 
CERTAIN INFORMATION

 
Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, all references in this annual report to the terms “Arbe,” the Company,” “us,” “we” and words of like import refer
to Arbe Robotics Ltd., together with its subsidiaries.
 
Industry and Market Data
 
In this annual report, we present industry data, information and statistics regarding the markets in which we compete as well as publicly available information, industry and
general publications and research and studies conducted by third parties. This information is supplemented where necessary with our own internal estimates, taking into account
publicly available information about other industry participants and our management’s judgment where information is not publicly available. This information appears in
“Summary of the Annual report,” “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” “Item 4. Information on the Company” and other sections of this annual report.
 
Industry publications, research, studies and forecasts generally state that the information they contain has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the
accuracy and completeness of such information is not guaranteed. Forecasts and other forward-looking information obtained from these sources are subject to the same
qualifications and uncertainties as the other forward-looking statements in this annual report. These forecasts and forward-looking information are subject to uncertainty and
risk due to a variety of factors, including those described under “Risk Factors” in Section D under Item 3 of this annual report. These and other factors could cause results to
differ materially from those expressed in any forecasts or estimates.
 
Trademarks, Trade Names and Service Marks
 
We own or have rights to trademarks, trade names and service marks that it uses in connection with the operation of its business. In addition, our names, logos and website
names and addresses are their trademarks or service marks. Other trademarks, trade names and service marks appearing in this annual report are the property of their respective
owners. Solely for convenience, in some cases, the trademarks, trade names and service marks referred to in this annual report are listed without the applicable “©,” “SM”
and “TM” symbols, but they will assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, their rights to these trademarks, trade names and service marks.
 

CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 
This annual report contains “forward-looking statements” that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about us and
the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement, and our perspectives and expectations, are forward-looking statements. Such statements include, but are
not limited to, statements regarding possible or anticipated future results of our business, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, plans and objectives. The words
“expect,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “project,” “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “potential” and similar words or expressions indicate forward-
looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to various risks and uncertainties, assumptions (including
assumptions about general economic, market, industry and operational factors), known or unknown, which could cause the actual results to vary materially from those indicated
or anticipated.
 
The statements contained in this annual report regarding the following matters are forward-looking by their nature:

 
 ● Our projection of revenue and other operating results;

 
 ● Our expectation that we will be engaging with Tier 1 automotive suppliers and OEMs which would be building the radars based on our chipset solution, eliminating

expenses associated with system completion, requirement for undertaking significant capital expenditures associated with developing mass production manufacturing
and the expenses of operating any such manufacturing capability;
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 ● Our expectation that radars are crucial to the automotive industry and will be deployed in nearly all new vehicles as a long range, cost-effective sensor with the fewest

environmental limitations;
 

 ● Our belief that our radar chipset heralds a breakthrough in radar technology that will enable Tier 1 manufacturers and OEMs to replace the current radars with an
advanced solution that meets the safety requirements of Euro New Car Assessment Program (“Euro-NCAP”) and the United States National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration (“NHTSA”) for autonomous vehicles at all levels of autonomous driving;

 
 ● Our belief that a fully autonomous vehicle is seen as a potential solution for reducing the number of traffic accidents (due to the elimination of the “human element”

from the equation), and as an incentive to create innovative autonomous vehicle-sharing services that will lead to the public foregoing the purchase of private vehicles,
to reduce the problem of traffic congestion, and to significantly reduce fuel consumption and air pollution;

 
 ● Our belief that automakers will choose to integrate advanced driver assistance systems (ADAS L2+/L3) based on several technologies simultaneously (imaging radar,

camera and optionally LiDAR), and that it is likely that this trend of integrating technologies into vehicles will continue in the coming years;
 

 ● Our belief that our 4D imaging radar technology holds significant advantages for a fusion with camera over alternative technologies such as LiDAR laser systems and
over current-generation radar technologies that are on the market presently or have been announced for development;

 
 ● Our belief that our ground-breaking technology that contains an advanced processor, consumes relatively low amounts of energy and can scan a vehicle’s environment

at an exceptionally high resolution in real-time, and identify objects and distinguish between them with great long-range accuracy and a wide field of view,
differentiates us and will enable us to successfully compete and develop and maintain a leadership position in its target markets;

 
 ● Our expectation that our marketing strategy, primarily targeted at Tier 1 manufacturers, will foster cooperation with Tier 1 suppliers to integrate our radar chipsets into

their radar systems to be sold to OEMs and that the Tier 1 suppliers that use our radar chipsets will be successful in marketing the systems to automakers;
 

 ● Our belief that our engagement of Global Foundries for the manufacturing and supply chain management will provide us with a more secure path in production for
quality control and reliability for automotive requirements;

   
 ● Our belief that as automakers seek to develop hands off/eyes off driving, imaging radar will become a critical ingredient and that our radar chipset will meet this need;

 
 ● Our belief that certain operational or registration requirements for some autonomous functions will be removed as state regulators gain better experience with the

technology;
 
 ● Our expectation that awareness among automakers and vehicle owners of the importance and benefits of installing ADAS and partial autonomous driving L2+/L3

(even in the absence of binding regulation) has increased, and that it is likely that in the future, the vast majority of new vehicles will be equipped with these systems;
 

 ● Our belief that our radar chipset solution will make it possible to enable the launch of an autonomous vehicle and will be the primary sensor for autonomous driving in
the retail market in tandem with a camera;

 
 ● Our belief that our existing infrastructure positions us to capitalize on regulatory changes pertaining to required installation of traffic accident prevention systems in

general, and radar systems in particular, which is expected to increase the demand for the technology and products that we are developing;
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 ● Our belief that an increased demand for autonomous vehicles and the transition to mass production of Level 2+ and higher autonomous vehicles, requiring advanced

systems for automatically integrating vehicles in traffic and preventing traffic accidents, is expected to increase the demand for products in our field of activity in the
time frame we anticipate; and

 
 ● Our belief that a requirement on the part of insurance companies to install radar systems as a condition for issuing insurance policies is expected to increase the

demand for our products.
 
The preceding list is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all of our forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements are based on our beliefs, assumptions and
expectations of future performance, taking into account the information currently available to us. These statements are only predictions based upon our current expectations and
projections about future events. There are important factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from the
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In particular, you should consider the risks described under
“Risk Factors” in Section D under Item 3 of this annual report.
 
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot guarantee that future results, levels of activity, performance and events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or
will occur. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this annual report, to
confirm these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations.
 
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
 
Not Applicable.
 
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
 
Not Applicable.
 
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
 
 A. [Reserved]
 
 B. Capitalization and indebtedness. Not Applicable
 
 C. Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds. Not Applicable.
 
 D. Risk Factors
 
An investment in our ordinary shares involves significant risks. You should carefully consider all of the information in this annual report, including the risks and uncertainties
described below, before making an investment in our ordinary shares. Any of the following risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In any such case, the market price of our ordinary shares could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
 
The risks set out below are not exhaustive and do not comprise all of the risks associated with an investment in us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us
or which we currently deem immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, prospects and/or our share price.
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
 
We are a research and development company with a history of losses and we expect to incur significant expenses and losses as we continue the development of our radar
technology.
 
We incurred a net loss of approximately $43.5 million on revenues of approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, a net loss of approximately $40.5
million on revenues of approximately $3.5 million for year ended December 31, 2022 and a net loss of approximately $58.1 million on revenues of approximately $2.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021. No assurance can be made that we can or will become profitable. We are primarily a research and development company and we are
continuing to incur research and development expenses as we work on the development of our 4D imaging radar technology. We plan the transition to production of our radar
chip for sale to customers during 2024 or early 2025, although we can give no assurance that this timetable will be met. Most of our revenue to date has been generated from
sales of chipsets and prototype radar systems and professional services. Until such time as we begin material commercial deliveries of our products, we will likely continue to
generate losses. Even if we are able to begin making material commercial deliveries of our products, we can give no assurance that we will be successful in the commercial sale
of our products.
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We anticipate that our losses may continue to be significant as we:

 
 ● Shift our research and development from production intent to production ready chipset;

 
 ● expand our production capabilities or outsources such production;

 
 ● expand our design, development, installation and servicing capabilities;

 
 ● produce chips for inventory and incur storage charges;
 
 ● incur costs in providing support and assistance to our initial commercial customers to Tier 1 suppliers as they integrate our product in their product that they market to

automotive companies and to our automotive company customers as they introduce our radar in their vehicles
 

 ● incur sales and marketing activities costs and develop our distribution infrastructure; and.
 
 ● incur general and administration costs as we progress with our product development and continue to incur significant expenses in research and development as well as

costs related to our status as a publicly traded corporation
 
We will incur the expenses from these efforts before we receive sufficient revenues to cover our incremental expenses with respect thereto, and therefore our losses in future
periods may be significant. In addition, we may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may not result in revenues, which
would further increase our losses.
 
Our limited operating history and evolving business model makes evaluating our business and future prospects difficult and may increase the risk of your investment.
 
We have focused primarily on developing our 4D imaging radar technology products since 2017 and did not generate any revenue until 2020. Our relatively limited operating
history and modest level of revenue to date make it difficult to evaluate our future prospects and the risks and challenges we may encounter. Further, because we have limited
historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about our future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if we had a
history of sales in commercial quantities or if we operated in a more predictable market rather than a market that is itself a developing market that is developing at a slower rate
than we had anticipated.
 
In late 2023 we broadened our focus to seek contracts with Tier 1 suppliers and OEMs for orders in commercial quantity in addition to sales of radars for testing purposes. If
this strategy is not successful, and we do not generate orders for commercial quantities of our products, we may incur increased losses. In this connection, as both our business
and the market for ADAS vehicles develops, our operations may undergo other changes that result is a material change in our business and the direction of our business. Any
such modifications could result in increased losses (as pivoting the business may be costly) and future results may differ materially from those presented herein.
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Any change in our business model may make the results of our operations to date less useful in evaluating our business and prospects.
 
If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be impaired. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with
limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate our business, are
incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, the results of our operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
 
We expect to continue to invest substantially in research and development to develop and commercialize new products, and these investments could significantly increase
our losses and may not generate significant revenue for us.
 
Our future growth depends on maintaining our technological leadership in order to introduce new products that achieve market acceptance and penetrate new markets. Our
research and development expenses were approximately $34.1 million in 2023, $36.7 million for 2022 and approximately $28.6 million for 2021. We expect that our research
and development expenses are likely to continue to be significant in the future as we seek to expand our research and development effort to meet the anticipated market need.
Because we expense our research and development activities, as we increase these expenses it will adversely affect the results of our operations. In addition, our research and
development program may not produce successful results, and even if it does successfully produce new products, those products may not achieve market acceptance, create
additional revenue or become profitable. Because the market for our products is both leading edge technology in an evolving industry, we can only be successful if we can offer
leading edge technology. Our failure to offer leading edge technology can materially impair our ability to operate profitably.
 
Agreements with customers may not generate the anticipated revenue as we are subject to the risks of cancellation or postponement of contracts or unsuccessful
implementation.
 
Prospective customers of our products generally must make significant commitments of resources to test and validate our products and confirm that they can integrate our
products with other technologies before including our products in any particular system, product or model. The development cycles of our products with new customers vary
widely depending on the application, market, customer and the complexity of the product. In the automotive market, for example, this development cycle can be over
several years. As a result of these lengthy development cycles, we spend significant time and resources to have our products selected by potential customers for a particular use.
If we fail to secure such relationships, we may not have an opportunity to supply our products within a sector with such a long lead time for a period of several years. Further,
we are subject to the risk that customers that order products, which are subject to the customer’s ability to integrate the product with its other systems, may cancel or postpone
orders if the customer is not satisfied that our product and service meet the customer’s requirements.
  
The development cycle of products using our technology as well as the market for our products that are under development can be impacted by various factors which
cannot be predicted, including international conflicts, climate and weather conditions, global economic conditions and customer trends.
 
The development process for our products as well as the timing of our sales and the market for our products can be affected by various factors, many of which are
unpredictable. These factors include such conditions as international conflicts, climate and weather conditions, significant natural disasters such as the outbreak of a pandemic,
such as COVID-19, or other catastrophic events. In recent months the following conditions have affected or may affect various aspects of our business.

 
 ● The effects of the attack by Hamas on October 7, 2023 and the war between Israel and Hamas which is continuing as of the date of this report and is discussed below

under the Risk Factor “Risks Related to our Incorporation and Location in Israel -- Conditions in Israel could materially and adversely affect our business.”
   

5



 

 
 ● The effects of the February 24, 2022 invasion by the Russian Federation of Ukraine, which is ongoing and is discussed below.

 
 ● Extreme weather conditions that may adversely affect manufacturing facilities of our suppliers and/or customers, and cause material delays in our supply chain or to

our forecasted orders.
 

 ● The effects of any other military conflicts and cybersecurity actions; and
 

 ● Any other conditions which may affect the automotive industry generally and the ability of automotive companies in their evaluation and purchase of our products or
our ability and the ability of our customers and potential customers to evaluate our product or order our product.

 
Any factors which affect the ability or willingness of customers and potential customers to test our products or purchase our products could materially impair our ability to
develop our business, We cannot predict the extent that any of the foregoing will impact our business nor what other factors which we do not presently contemplate may impact
our business; however, any of these factors, as well as other factors not presently contemplated, may have a material adverse effect upon our business.
 
We may need to raise additional funds in the future in order to execute our business plan and these funds may not be available to us when it needs them. If we cannot raise
additional funds when we need them, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be negatively affected.
 
We are presently primarily a research and development company, as we are continuing to spend significantly more in research and development than we are generating in
revenue. Although our working capital at December 31, 2023 was approximately $41.2 million, we may nonetheless require additional capital in order to fund our growth
strategy and to respond to technological advancements, competitive dynamics or technologies, customer demands, business opportunities, challenges, acquisitions or
unforeseen circumstances, and we intend to seek funding through equity, debt or convertible debt financing.
 
We may not be able to timely secure such debt or equity financing on favorable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt or
other equity-linked securities, our shareholders could experience significant dilution. In addition, any debt financing we may obtain in the future, whether in the form of a credit
facility, convertible debt could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more
difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on
terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to grow or support its business and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited. In
addition, because our decision to issue debt or equity in the future will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing, nature or success of our future capital raising efforts.
 
If market adoption of our products does not develop, or develops more slowly than we expect, our business will be adversely affected.
 
While our products can be applied for uses in different markets, many of our products are still relatively new in the market and it is possible that other technologies and devices,
based on new or existing technology or a combination of technologies, will achieve acceptance or leadership as compared to our existing or future product lines. Even if our
products are used, we cannot guarantee that our products will be designed into or included in subsequent generations of such commercialized technology. In addition, we expect
that widescale use of our products may lag behind these initial applications significantly. The speed of market growth for our products is difficult if not impossible to predict. In
addition, to the extent that a market for our products develops successfully, we expect that there will be increasing competition from alternative providers and other modalities.
If we are not successful in commercializing our products in a timely manner, or not as successful as we expect, or if other modalities gain acceptance by our potential
customers, regulators and safety organizations or other market participants, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.
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We may not be able to accurately estimate the supply and demand of our products, which could result in a variety of inefficiencies in our business and hinder our ability to
generate revenue. If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur additional costs or experience delays.
 
It is difficult to predict our future revenues and budget for our expenses, and we may have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business. We expect that
we will be required to provide forecasts of our demand to our potential customers several months prior to the scheduled delivery date. Currently, because it is a developing
market, there is little historical basis for making judgments on the demand for our products or our ability to develop, produce, and deliver products, or our profitability in the
future. If we overestimate our requirements, we or our potential suppliers may have excess inventory, which indirectly would increase our costs. If we underestimate our
requirements, we or our potential suppliers may have inadequate inventory, which could interrupt the manufacturing of our products and result in delays in shipments, which is
likely to affect revenue and customer relations. In addition, lead times for materials and components that our potential suppliers order may vary significantly and depend on
factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and demand for each component at a given time. If we fail to order sufficient quantities of product components in a timely
manner, the delivery of products to our potential customer base could be delayed, which would harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
 
We target many customers that are large companies with substantial negotiating power, exacting product standards and potentially competitive internal solutions. If we are
unable to sell our products to these customers, our prospects and results of operations will be adversely affected.
 
Many of our customers and potential customers are large, multinational companies with substantial negotiating power relative to us and, in some instances, may have internal
solutions that are competitive with our products. These large, multinational companies also have significant resources, which may allow them to acquire or develop competitive
technologies either independently or in partnership with others. Accordingly, even after investing significant resources to develop a product, we may not secure a design win or
may not be able to commercialize a product on profitable terms. Because our products are a key aspect of the safety of vehicles that use our products and must comply with
international standards, our products will be held to a stringent safety test before they are included in a vehicle. If our products are not selected by these large companies or if
these companies develop or acquire competitive technology or negotiate terms that are disadvantageous to us, it will have an adverse effect on our business.
 
Our principal customers include Tier-1 suppliers with a view to including our chipset as part of a radar system that they market to the automobile industry and which
compete with other Tier 1 suppliers in marketing to the automotive industry.
 
Many of our customers and potential customers are either large, multinational Tier-1 companies which market radar systems that include our chipset in the systems they market
to the automotive industry, including OEMs, or large multinational automobile companies. Thus, we are dependent upon the ability of our Tier 1 suppliers to market their
systems to the automotive industry. To the extent our product is part of a radar that is offered by such Tier-1 supplier, we depend on the ability of the Tier-1 supplier to
successfully market and sell its product (which includes our product) to the OEM’s, many times following a bid process conducted by the OEM. Accordingly, even after
investing significant resources to develop a product, we largely rely on our Tier-1 customers’ efforts to secure a design win in order to be able to commercialize our product on
profitable terms. Because our products are a component on a complete radar product offered by our Tier-1 customer to the OEM, if the radar products are not selected by these
large OEM companies or if these OEM companies develop or acquire competitive technology or negotiate terms that are disadvantageous to us, it will have an adverse effect on
our business. We also market directly to automobile manufacturers and seek to include our radar system in their automobiles. To the extent that we are not successful in
marketing to the automotive industry our business will be materially impaired.
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We continue to work with other companies, including our sole supplier and our Tier 1 companies to develop our business, and these initiatives may prove more costly than
we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in generating sufficient revenue to operate profitability.
 
We continue to make investments and implement initiatives designed to grow our business, including:

 
 ● investing in research and development;

 
 ● working with Tier 1 suppliers to develop a radar product based on our chipsets with a view to the Tier 1 marking this product to the automotive and related markets;

 
 ● expanding our sales and marketing efforts to attract new customers in new industries;

 
 ● investing in new applications and markets for our products;

 
 ● further enhancing our manufacturing processes and relationships; and

 
 ● incurring in legal, accounting, and other administrative functions necessary to support our operations as a public company.
 
These initiatives may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenue, if at all, in an amount sufficient to offset these
higher expenses and to achieve and maintain profitability. The market opportunities we are pursuing are being developed, and it may be years before the markets we expect to
serve generate significant demand for our products at scale, if at all.
 
In addition, our revenue may be adversely affected for a number of reasons, including the development and/or market acceptance and timing of market introduction of new
technology that competes with our products, changes by other market participants with respect to their acceptance or implementation of our technology, failure of our customers
to commercialize autonomous systems that include our products, our inability to effectively manage our inventory or manufacture products at scale, our failure to enter new
markets or to attract new customers or expand orders from existing customers or due to increasing competition. Furthermore, it is difficult to predict the size and growth rate of
our target markets, customer demand for our products, commercialization timelines, developments in autonomous sensing and related technology, the entry of competitive
products, or the success of existing competitive products and services. Accordingly, we do not expect to achieve profitability over the near term. If our revenue does not grow
over the long term, our ability to achieve and maintain profitability may be adversely affected, and the value of our business may significantly decrease.
 
The markets in which we compete are characterized by rapid technological change, which requires us to continue to develop new products and product innovations and
could adversely affect market adoption of our products.
 
While we intend to invest substantial amounts in research and development, continuing technological changes in our technology and competitive technologies could adversely
affect adoption of our products. Our future success will depend upon our ability to develop and introduce a variety of new capabilities and innovations to our existing product
offerings, as well as to introduce a variety of new product offerings to address the changing needs of the markets in which we offer our products. Delays in delivering new
products that meet customer requirements could damage our relationships with customers and lead them to seek alternative sources of supply.
 
If we are unable to develop products or system configurations that meet customer requirements, including pricing, on a timely basis or that remain competitive with other
technological alternatives, our products could lose market share, our revenue will decline, it may experience operating losses and our business and prospects will be adversely
affected.
 
Certain of our development and supply arrangements could be terminated or may not materialize into long-term contracts.
 
We have arrangements with Tier 1 suppliers and other companies for the development of products or for the incorporation of our products in a customer’s products. Some of
these arrangements are evidenced by memorandums of understandings and early-stage agreements that are used for design and development purposes but that will require
renegotiation at later stages of development or replacement by production or master agreements that have yet to be implemented under separately negotiated statements of
work, each of which could be terminated or may not materialize into next-stage contracts or long-term contract arrangements. If these arrangements are terminated or if we are
unable to enter into next-stage contracts or long-term operational contracts, our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results may be materially adversely
affected.
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We will be subject to risks associated with our agreements with Tier 1s and other companies.
 
If we are successful in entering into definitive agreements with potential suppliers, including Tier 1s, these arrangements will subject us to risks, including risks associated with
non-performance by the third party and sharing proprietary information, any of which may materially and adversely affect our business and prospects. Because of our limited
ability to monitor or control the actions of these third parties, to the extent any of these strategic third parties suffer negative publicity or harm to their reputation from events
relating to their business, we may also suffer negative publicity or harm to our reputation by virtue of our association with any such third party. In addition, a third party may
have different priorities than we have with the effect that the supplier may not give our products the priority that we consider important, which could impair our ability to
generate revenue.
 
We may experience difficulties in managing our growth and expanding our operations.
 
We expect to experience significant growth in the scope and nature of our operations. Our ability to manage our operations and future growth will require us to continue to
improve our operational, financial and management controls, compliance programs and reporting systems. We are currently in the process of strengthening our compliance
programs, including those related to export controls, privacy and cybersecurity and anti-corruption and financial controls. We may not be able to implement improvements in an
efficient or timely manner and may discover deficiencies in existing controls, programs, systems and procedures, which could have an adverse effect on our business, reputation
and financial results.
 
Continued pricing pressures may result in lower than anticipated margins or losses, which may adversely affect our business.
 
Cost-cutting initiatives adopted by our Tier-1 customers and automobile and other automotive customers as well as the effects of competition may result in increased downward
pressure on pricing. We expect that as our industry develops and competition grows, our agreements with existing customers may require step-downs in pricing over the term of
the agreements or, if commercialized, over the periods of production, and we may not be able to negotiate price reductions from our suppliers. In addition, our existing or future
customers may reserve the right to terminate their supply contracts for convenience, which enhances their ability to obtain price reductions. Certain large customers may
possess significant leverage over their suppliers, including us, because the market is highly competitive. Accordingly, we expect to be subject to substantial continuing pressure
from our existing and prospective customers to reduce the price of our products. It is possible that pricing pressures beyond our expectations could intensify as automotive
OEMs pursue restructuring, consolidation and cost-cutting initiatives. If we are unable to generate sufficient production cost savings in the future to offset price reductions, our
gross margin and profitability would be adversely affected. Further, to the extent that the specifications of our chips result in prices which are not competitive, our sales and
gross margin may be impaired and we may not be able to operate profitably.
 
Adverse conditions within our industry or the global economy more generally could have adverse effects on our results of operations.
 
Our business is directly affected by and significantly dependent on business cycles and other factors affecting the global automobile industry and the global economy generally.
Production and sales within our industry are cyclical and depend on general economic conditions and other factors, including consumer spending and preferences, the timing by
automobile manufacturers as to the introduction autonomous features that require our technology, changes in interest rates and credit availability, consumer confidence, fuel
costs, fuel availability, environmental impact, governmental incentives and regulatory requirements and political volatility. In addition, production and sales can be affected by
our customers’ ability to continue operating in response to challenging economic conditions, regulatory requirements and other factors. Any significant adverse change in any of
these factors may result in a reduction in automotive sales and production by our customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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Use of our products for markets other than the automotive market may not develop or may develop much more slowly than we anticipate, which would adversely affect our
business and prospects.
 
We are investing in and pursuing market opportunities in various sectors and industries in addition to the automobile industry, such as autonomous delivery vehicles or
robotaxies, delivery robots, autonomous trucks, agriculture, infrastructure and traffic systems. We believe that our ability to increase our revenue will depend in part on our
ability to identify potential new markets and develop products and implements a marketing plan aimed at these new markets as they emerge. Each new market presents distinct
risks and, in many cases, requires us to address the particular requirements of that market.
 
Addressing these requirements can be time-consuming and costly. The market for our existing products and technology outside of our core customer base is relatively new,
rapidly developing and unproven in many markets or industries. Many of the participants in the markets for our core technology outside of our existing target industries are still
in testing and developing and may not succeed in commercializing some of our products. We cannot be certain that our products will be sold into these markets, or any market
outside of where we currently operate, at scale. Adoption of our products outside of the automotive industry will depend on numerous factors, including: whether the
technological capabilities of similar products meet users’ current or anticipated needs, whether the benefits of designing products such as our products into larger systems
outweigh the costs, complexity and time needed to deploy such technology or replace or modify existing systems that may have used other modalities, whether users in other
applications can move beyond the testing and development phases and proceed to commercializing systems supported by our technology and whether developers of products
such as our products can keep pace with rapid technological change in certain developing markets and the global response to supply chain delays. If technology developed by
us does not achieve commercial success outside of the automotive industry, or if the market develops at a pace slower than we expect, our business, results of operation and
financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.
 
We may be subject to the effects of inflationary pressures, which may impair our gross margins and our ability to operate profitably.
 
Although we do not believe that our business was adversely affected by inflation prior to 2023, we have been experiencing cost increases, including increased labor costs, as a
result of the recent inflationary pressures, combined with supply line delays and recent shortages of semiconductors. The effects of the war in Israel, the Russian invasion of
Ukraine, which exacerbated the already existing inflationary pressures and supply line delays and shortages, may impair our margin and our ability to operate profitable. To the
extent that inflation, along with supply line delays and semiconductor shortages, we may incur increased costs in our components as well as from our contract manufacturers,
and we may not be able to pass on any costs we may incur to our customers. To the extent that we are unable to pass on costs, our gross margin may be significantly eroded
which may result in increased losses during our developmental phase and may impair our ability to operate profitable when we are in full production mode. We cannot assure
you that these factors will not impair our ability to generate a profit from our operations.
 
If we seek to expand our business through acquisition, we may not be successful in identifying acquisition targets or integrating their businesses with our existing business.
 
From time to time, we may undertake acquisitions to add new products and technologies, acquire talent, gain new sales channels or enter into new markets or sales territories.
To date, we have no experience either with acquisitions or the integration of acquired technology and personnel.
 
There are significant risks associated with any acquisition program, including, but not limited to, the following:

 
 ● We may incur significant expenses and devote significant management time to the acquisition and we may be unable to consummate the acquisition on acceptable

terms.
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 ● If we identify an acquisition, we may face competition from other companies in the industry or from financial buyers seeking to make the acquisition.

 
 ● The integration of any acquisition with our existing business may be difficult and, if we are not able to integrate the business successfully, it may not only be unable to

operate the business profitably, but management may be unable to devote the necessary time to the development of our existing business;
 

 ● The key employees who operated the acquired business successfully prior to the acquisition may not be happy working for us and may resign, thus leaving the
business without the necessary continuity of management.

 
 ● Even if the business is successful, our senior executive officers may need to devote significant time to the acquired business, which may distract them from their other

management activities.
 

 ● If the business does not operate as we expect, we may incur an impairment charge based on the value of the assets acquired.
 

 ● We may have difficulty maintaining the necessary quality control over the acquired business and our products and services.
 

 ● To the extent that an acquired company operates at a loss prior to our acquisition, we may not be able to develop profitable operations following the acquisition.
 

 ● Problems and claims relating to the acquired business that were not disclosed at the time of the acquisition may result in increased costs and may impair our ability to
operate the acquired company.

 
 ● The acquired company may have liabilities or obligations that were not disclosed to us, or the acquired assets, including intellectual property assets, may not have the

value we anticipated.
 

 ● Any indemnification obligations of the seller under the purchase agreement may be inadequate to compensate us for any loss, damage or expense that we may sustain,
including undisclosed claims or liabilities.

 
 ● To the extent that the acquired company is dependent upon our management to maintain relationships with existing customers, we may have difficulty in retaining the

business of these customers if there is a change in management.
 

 ● Government agencies may seek damages after we makes the acquisition for conduct that occurred prior to the acquisition and we may not have adequate recourse
against the seller.

 
 ● We may require significant capital both to acquire and to operate the business, and the capital requirements of the business may be greater than we anticipated, and our

failure to obtain capital on reasonable terms may impair the value of the acquisition and may impair our continuing operations.
 

 ● The acquired company may be impacted by unanticipated events, such as a pandemic such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the effect of climate changes, terrorist or other
disruptive activities in Israel, social unrest or other factors over which we may have no control.

 
If any of these risks occur, our business, financial condition and prospects may be impaired.
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The complexity of our products could result in unforeseen delays or expenses from undetected defects, errors or bugs in hardware or software which could reduce the
market adoption of our products, damage our reputation with current or prospective customers, expose us to product liability, recalls, warranties and other claims and
adversely affect its operating costs.
 
Our products are being designed to be, among other things, compatible with autonomous control. Autonomous driving technologies are subject to risks and there have been
accidents and fatalities associated with such technologies as well as breakdowns of the systems. The safety of such technologies depends in part on user interaction and users, as
well as other drivers on the roadways, may not be accustomed to using or adapting to such technologies. To the extent accidents associated with our products that are used with
autonomous controls occur, we could be subject to liability, negative publicity, government scrutiny and further regulation. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely
affect our results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects.
 
Our products are technologically complex and require high standards to manufacture. We have experienced in the past and will likely also experience in the future defects,
errors or bugs at various stages of development and manufacturing. We may be unable to timely release new products, manufacture existing products, correct problems that
have arisen or correct such problems to our customers’ satisfaction. Additionally, undetected errors and defects, especially as new products are introduced or as new versions
are released, could result in serious injury, including fatalities, to the end users of technology incorporating our products, or those in the surrounding area, our customers never
being able to commercialize technology incorporating our products, litigation against us, negative publicity and other consequences. These risks are particularly prevalent in the
highly competitive markets in which we operate. Some errors or defects in our products may only be discovered after they have been tested, commercialized and deployed by
customers. In certain instances, we may provide our customers with a time-limited warranty for our products. If such errors or defects occur within the respective warranty
period, we may incur significant additional development costs and product recall, repair or replacement costs. These problems may also result in claims against us by our
customers or by third parties. Our reputation or brand may be damaged as a result of these problems and customers may be reluctant to buy our products, which could adversely
affect our ability to retain existing customers and attract new customers and could adversely affect our financial results.
 
In addition, we could face material legal claims for breach of contract, product liability, tort or breach of warranty as a result of these problems. Defending a lawsuit, regardless
of its merit, could be costly and may divert management’s attention and adversely affect the market’s perception of us and our products. In addition, our business liability
insurance coverage could prove inadequate with respect to a claim and future coverage may be unavailable on acceptable terms or at all. These product-related issues could
result in claims against us and our business could be adversely affected.
 
We will be affected by these problems regardless of whether the defective product or component was manufactured or assembled by us or by a supplier or contract
manufacturer, and we may not have adequate recourse against the supplier or contract manufacturer, and we may not be able to obtain sufficient product liability insurance to
protect it against such loss or expense, including the cost of litigation.
 
Legislation or government regulations may be adopted which may affect our products and liability.
 
Autonomous driving technology is subject to considerable regulatory uncertainty as the law evolves to catch up with the rapidly evolving nature of the technology itself, all of
which are beyond our control. Our products also may not achieve the requisite level of autonomous compatibility required for certification and rollout to consumers or satisfy
changing regulatory requirements which could require us and the Tier 1 suppliers that develop and market products based on our chipset to redesign, modify or update our or
their products. Further, accidents, particularly accidents that involve a large number of deaths, even if our products are not involved, may result in industry-wide reevaluation of
the technologies used, with the effect that there is a slowdown as automobile manufacturers cease making purchase during the reevaluation process, which may result in
suppliers other than us becoming a preferred supplier.
 
The industry may become subject to increased legislation and regulation. Such legislation may be triggered by a perceived safety concern, or it may result from a public
reaction to accidents caused by automobiles, drones or other autonomous vehicles. The potential market for our products is international, and each country or region may
impose different regulations. These regulations may relate the technical requirement and standards for end products or the components and may impose liability on the
manufacturer or the seller of the product, which liability may be strict liability, for damage resulting from the autonomous vehicle. Further, the legislation or regulations in
different countries may impose different standards, which may be conflicting. Any legislation or regulations that impose standards or impose liability are likely to increase our
manufacturing costs as well as the cost of compliance and product liability insurance.
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We operate in a highly competitive market against a large number of both established competitors and new market entrants, and some market participants have
substantially greater resources than we have.
 
The markets for sensing technology applicable to autonomous solutions across numerous industries are highly competitive. Our future success will depend on our ability to
maintain our ability to develop and protect from in a timely manner and to stay ahead of existing and new competitors and to satisfy the market that is technology is leading
edge technology. A large number of companies offer radar-based and LiDAR-based technologies in competition with us. Some of these companies are better capitalized and
better known than we. Our competitors compete with us directly by offering similar products and indirectly by attempting to solve some of the same challenges with different
technology. We face competition from other market participants, some of which have significantly greater resources than we have. Our competitors may commercialize new
technology which may achieve market adoption or stronger brand recognition as compared to our products. Even in emerging markets, we face substantial competition from
numerous competitors seeking to prove the value of their technology. Additionally, increased competition may result in pricing pressure and reduced margins and may impede
our ability to increase the sales of our products or cause it to lose market share, any of which will adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
Fluctuation of the results of our earnings on a quarterly and annual basis, could cause the share price of the our ordinary shares to fluctuate or decline.
 
We are currently a research and development company, and the results of our operations to date have primarily reflected our research and development expenses. Commencing
2020 through 2023, we had modest revenue from sales of our products and services, primarily to customers making purchases for their own evaluation projects. In the future,
sales in any given quarter can fluctuate based on the timing and success of our customers’ development projects and marketing programs. Accordingly, the results of any one
quarter should not be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our quarterly financial results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are
outside of our control and may not fully reflect the underlying performance of our business. These fluctuations could adversely affect our ability to meet our expectations or
those of securities analysts or investors. If we do not meet these expectations for any period, the value of our business and our securities could decline significantly. Factors that
may cause these quarterly fluctuations include, without limitation, those listed below:

 
 ● The timing and magnitude of orders and shipments of our products in any quarter;

 
 ● Pricing changes we may adopt to drive market adoption or in response to competitive pressure;

 
 ● The effect of supply line problems affecting us and our suppliers or customers;

 
 ● The effect of inflation;

 
 ● The timing of the completion of our application engineering services;

 
 ● Our ability to retain our existing customers and attract new customers;

 
 ● Our ability to develop, introduce, manufacture, and ship products in a timely manner that meet customer requirements;

 
 ● Disruption in our sales channels or termination of our relationships with important channel partners;

 
 ● Delays in customers; purchasing cycles or deferments of customers; purchases in anticipation of new products or updates from us or our competitors;

 
 ● Fluctuations in demand pressures for our products;
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 ● The mix of products sold in any quarter;

 
 ● The duration of, and responses of governments and industry to any worldwide or regional health crisis;

 
 ● Events and conditions affecting Israel-based businesses;

 
 ● The timing and rate of broader market adoption of autonomous systems, both generally and those utilizing our smart vision solutions across automotive and other

market sectors;
 

 ● Market acceptance of our core products and further technological advancements by us, our competitors, and other market participants;
 

 ● The ability of our customers to commercialize systems that incorporate our products;
 

 ● Any change in the competitive dynamics of our markets, including the consolidation of competitors, regulatory developments, and new market entrants;
 

 ● Our ability to effectively manage our inventory;
 

 ● Changes in the source, cost, availability, and regulations pertaining to the materials we use;
 

 ● Adverse litigation, judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs, or claims that may give rise to such costs;
 

 ● Adverse publicity, litigation, and governmental investigations affecting autonomous vehicles, regardless of whether our products are involved;
 

 ● The war with Hamas, any other conflicts which may involve Israel and the effects of the Russian invasion of Ukraine; and
 

 ● General economic, industry, and market conditions, including trade disputes.
 
Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our future profitability.
 
Factors that could materially affect our future effective tax rates include but are not limited to:

 
 ● New income or other tax laws or regulations could be enacted at any time, which could adversely affect our business operations and financial performance. Further,

existing tax laws and regulations could be interpreted, modified, or applied adversely to us.
 

● Actual or perceived political instability in Israel or any negative changes in the political environment may, individually or in aggregate, adversely affect the Israeli
economy and, in turn, may result in major changes in Israeli tax laws, regulations and tax policies.
 

 ● Changes in accounting and tax standards or practices;
 

 ● Eligibility for beneficial treatment under Israeli tax laws;
 

 ● Changes in the composition of operating income by tax jurisdiction;
 

 ● Our operating results before taxes; and
 
 ● Our ability to use our accumulated tax losses to offset future income.
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We may be subject to regular review and audit by Israeli and other foreign tax authorities. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the authorities in these
jurisdictions could review our tax returns and impose additional taxes, interest, linkage and penalties, and the authorities could claim that various withholding requirements
apply to us or our subsidiaries or assert that benefits of tax treaties are not available to us or our subsidiaries, any of which could materially affect our income tax provision, net
income, or cash flows in the period or periods for which such determination and settlement is made. Our determinations are not binding on any taxing authorities, and
accordingly the final determination in an audit or other proceeding may be materially different than the treatment reflected in our tax provisions, accruals and returns. An
assessment of additional taxes because of an audit could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
There can be no assurance that our effective tax rate will not increase over time as a result of changes in corporate income tax rates or other changes in the tax laws in the
jurisdictions in which we operate. Any changes in tax laws could have an adverse impact on our financial results. Corporate tax reform, base-erosion efforts and tax
transparency continue to be high priorities in many tax jurisdictions where we have business operations. As a result, policies regarding corporate income and other taxes in
numerous jurisdictions are under heightened scrutiny, and tax reform legislation is being proposed or enacted in a number of jurisdictions.
 
The tax benefits that may be available to us require that we continue to meet various conditions and may be terminated or reduced in the future, which could increase our costs
and taxes.
 
Changes in our product mix may impact our financial performance.
 
Our financial performance can be affected by the mix of products we sell during a given period. If our sales include more lower-gross margin products than higher gross margin
products, our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected. There can be no guarantees that we will be able to successfully alter our product mix so
that we are selling more of our high-gross margin products. In addition, our earnings forecasts and guidance are expected to include assumptions about product sales mixes. If
actual results vary from this projected product mix of sales, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
 
We are highly dependent on the services of our co-founders, who are our senior executive officers.
 
We are highly dependent on our co-founders, Kobi Marenko and Noam Arkind, who have acted as our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Technology Officer, respectively,
since inception, and as such, are deeply involved in all aspects of our business, including product development. The loss of either of them would adversely affect our business
because it could be more difficult for us to, among other things, compete with other market participants, manage our research and development activities, and retain existing
customers or cultivate new ones. Negative public perception of, or negative news related to, Mr. Marenko or Mr. Arkind may adversely affect our brand, relationship with
customers, or standing in the industry.
 
Our business depends on our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel and senior management. Failure to effectively retain, attract and motivate key employees
could impair our ability to operate profitably.
 
Competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in Israel, where our principal office is located, and we may incur significant costs to attract them. We may
face challenges in attracting or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. The highly competitive environment for highly skilled personnel can result in
higher compensation packages for employees. We have, from time to time, experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly
skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. In addition, job candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in connection
with their employment. If the perceived value of our equity or equity awards declines, it may adversely affect our ability to retain highly skilled employees. Our stock price may
affect their decision as to whether to accept an offer of employment from us. Our success will depend in part on the attraction, retention, and motivation of executive personnel
critical to our business and operations. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, we could face disruptions in our operations,
strategic relationships, key information, expertise, or know-how, and unanticipated recruitment and onboarding costs, and our business and future growth prospects could be
adversely affected. We cannot give assurance that we will be able to hire all the required personnel when we require them.
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We face numerous risks associated with commercial production.
 
We do not have manufacturing facilities, and we rely on third parties for the manufacture of our products. We cannot be sure that our manufacturer, GlobalFoundries, or other
companies with which we may develop a strategic alliance will be able to develop efficient, automated, cost-efficient production capabilities and processes and reliable sources
of component supply that will enable us to meet the quality, price, engineering, design and production standards, as well as the production volumes, required to successfully
mass market our products. GlobalFoundries is a major semiconductor manufacturer in the automotive industry, among other industries. Even if we and our supplier and
strategic alliances are successful in developing our initial production and further high volume production capability and processes and reliably sourcing our component supply,
we do not know whether we will be able to do so in a manner that avoids significant delays and cost overruns, including as a result of factors beyond our control such as
problems with potential suppliers and strategic partners, force majeure events, or in time to meet our product commercialization schedules or to satisfy the requirements of our
potential customer base. Any failure to develop such production processes and capabilities within our projected costs and timelines could have a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.
 
We rely on third-party suppliers, and because key components in our products come from limited or sole sources of supply, we are susceptible to supply shortages, long lead
times for components, and supply changes, any of which could disrupt our supply chain and delay deliveries of our products to customers.
 
The components that go into the manufacture of our solutions are sourced from third-party suppliers. Some of the key components used to manufacture our products come from
limited or single-source suppliers. We are therefore subject to the risk of shortages and long lead times in the supply of these components, as well as the risk that our suppliers
will discontinue or modify components used in our products. We purchase semiconductor chips that are an integral part of our products from GlobalFoundries. To the extent
that our Tier 1 suppliers modify their products, it may be necessary for us to make modifications to the chipset that we sell to the Tier 1 supplier, and we would need to work
with GlobalFoundries, to develop and produce a modified product to meet the Tier 1 supplier’s cost and timing requirements. If GlobalFoundries fails to deliver or delays the
delivery of the semiconductor products or is otherwise unable to meet our quality and delivery requirements, we may be required to seek an alternative source of supply.
Although alternate chip manufacturers are available, any change in suppliers would necessitate a change in the design of the semiconductor, a process that could take up to
two years, which would result in a loss of sales and a delay in the development and marketing of our products, which could materially and adversely affect our results of
operation, financial position, and prospects. Further, we, like other companies in the automotive industry, are affected by an industry-wide semiconductor shortage, which
results, in part, from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Russian invasion to Ukraine.
 
Reliance on third-party manufacturers reduces our control over the manufacturing process, including our ability to finalize changes through validation, reduced control over
quality, product costs, and product supply and timing. We may experience delays in shipments or issues concerning product quality from our third-party manufacturers. If
GlobalFoundries experiences interruptions, delays, or disruptions in supplying our products, including by natural disasters, other health epidemics and outbreaks, work
stoppages, capacity constraints, the effects of the war between Israel and Hamas, or other international conflicts, our ability to ship products to distributors and customers would
be delayed. In addition, unfavorable economic conditions could result in financial distress among third-party manufacturers upon which we rely, thereby increasing the risk of
disruption of supplies necessary to fulfill our production requirements and meet customer demands. These delays or product quality issues could have an immediate and
material adverse effect on our ability to fulfill orders and could have a negative effect on our operating results. In addition, such delays or issues with product quality could
adversely affect our reputation and our relationship with Tier 1 suppliers and OEMs. If GlobalFoundries or any other third-party manufacturers experience financial,
operational, manufacturing capacity, or other difficulties, or experience shortages in required components, or if they are otherwise unable or unwilling to continue to
manufacture our products in required volumes or at all, our supply may be disrupted, we may be required to seek alternate manufacturers, and we may be required to re-design
our products. It would be time-consuming, and costly and impracticable to begin to use new manufacturers and designs, and such changes could cause significant interruptions
in supply, have an adverse effect on our ability to meet our scheduled product deliveries, and subsequently lead to the loss of sales. While we take measures to protect our trade
secrets, the use of a third-party manufacturer may also risk disclosure of our innovative and proprietary manufacturing methodologies, which could adversely affect our
business. In addition, increased component costs could result in lower gross margins. Even where we are able to pass increased component costs along to our customers, there
may be a lapse of time before we are able to do so, such that we must absorb the increased cost. If we are unable to buy these components in quantities sufficient to meet our
requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products to our customers, which may result in such customers using competitive products instead of our products.
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Our sales and operations in international markets expose us to operational, financial and regulatory risks.
 
Sales to international customers, i.e., customers located outside of Israel, accounted for almost all of our sales to date. International operations are subject to a number of other
risks, including:

 
 ● Exchange rate fluctuations;

 
 ● Political and economic instability, international terrorism, and anti-American and anti-Israel sentiment, particularly in emerging markets;
   
 ● Reaction to any conflicts involving Israel, including its war with Hamas, including any official or unofficial boycotts of Israeli companies;
   
 ● The effects of the Russian invasion of Ukraine as it may affect suppliers and customers in Europe;

 
 ● Global or regional health crises;

 
 ● Potential for violations of anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as those related to bribery or fraud;

 
 ● Preference for locally branded products, and laws and business practices favoring local competition;

 
 ● Increased difficulty in managing inventory;

 
 ● Less effective protection of intellectual property;

 
 ● Stringent regulation of our products or systems incorporating our products;

 
 ● Difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations;

 
 ● Import and export laws and the impact of tariffs; and

 
 ● Changes in local tax and customs duty laws or changes in the enforcement, application, or interpretation of such laws.
 
The occurrence of any of these risks could negatively affect our international business and, consequently, our business, operating results, and financial condition.
 
Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fires, floods, and other natural catastrophic events, global pandemics, and interruptions by man-made problems such as
network security breaches, computer viruses, or terrorism. Material disruptions of our business or information systems resulting from these events could adversely affect
our operating results.
 
A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, flood, or significant power outage, or other similar events, such as infectious disease outbreaks or pandemic events,
could have an adverse effect on our business and operating results. Despite the implementation of network security measures, our networks and our products may also be
vulnerable to computer viruses, break-ins, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our solutions, and we have been subject to cybersecurity breaches that
were not material and did not result in access to our technical or other confidential information. In addition, natural disasters, acts of terrorism, or war could cause disruptions in
our remaining manufacturing operations, our or our customers’ businesses, our suppliers’ businesses, or the economy as a whole. We also rely on information technology
systems to communicate among our workforce and with third parties. Any disruption to our communications, whether caused by a natural disaster or by man-made problems
such as power disruptions, ransomware attacks, or other cybersecurity breaches, could adversely affect our business. To the extent that any such disruptions result in delays or
cancellations of orders or impede our suppliers’ ability to timely deliver product components or the deployment of our products, our business, operating results, and financial
condition would be adversely affected.
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Our business is sensitive to conditions affecting the automotive industry, the duration and economic, governmental, and social impact of which are difficult to predict and
may significantly harm our business, prospects, financial condition, and operating results.
 
Adverse conditions affecting one or more automotive manufacturers or the automotive industry in general could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condition, and operating results. Our business may be negatively affected by challenges to the larger automotive ecosystem. In addition, factors, including the effects
of climate change, government regulations, and the ability of suppliers to obtain rare earth elements, as well as other conditions that cannot be presently identified, can continue
to affect the automotive industry. To the extent that radar systems in vehicles are software-based, with manufacturers or software suppliers having the ability to modify or
update software remotely, there is a risk of security breaches that may affect the safety of the vehicle.
 
Increasing attention to, and evolving expectations regarding, environmental, social and sustainability matters may impact our business and reputation.
 
Evolving and increased expectations regarding environmental, social and sustainability initiatives and disclosures may result in increased costs, enhanced compliance
disclosure obligations, or other impacts to our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Moreover, our environmental, social and sustainability initiatives may be
costly and may not have the desired effect, or we may ultimately be unable to complete certain initiatives or targets, either on the timelines initially announced or at all, due to
technological, legal, cost, or other constraints, which may be within or outside of our control. Moreover, actions or statements that we may take based on expectations,
assumptions, or third-party information that we currently believe to be reasonable may subsequently be determined to be erroneous or be subject to misinterpretation. If we fail
to, or are perceived to fail to, comply with or advance certain environmental, social or sustainability initiatives, we may be subject to various adverse impacts, including
reputational damage, activism and potential stakeholder engagement and/or litigation. Additionally, many of our customers, suppliers and others with which we have business
relationships may be subject to similar expectations, which may augment or create additional risks, including risks that may not be known to us.
 
Risks Related to our Intellectual Property
 
We may not be able to adequately protect or enforce our intellectual property rights or prevent unauthorized parties from copying or reverse engineering our solutions. Our
efforts to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights and prevent third parties from violating our rights may be costly.
 
The success of our products and our business depends in part on our ability to obtain patents and other intellectual property rights and maintain adequate legal protection for our
products in the United States, Europe, and other international jurisdictions. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, service mark, trademark, and trade secret laws, as
well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which provide only limited protection. We cannot assure you
that any patents will be issued with respect to our currently pending patent applications or that any trademarks will be registered with respect to our currently pending
applications in a manner that gives us adequate defensive protection or competitive advantages, if at all, or that any patents issued to us or any trademarks registered by them
will not be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented. We have filed for patents and trademarks in Israel, the United States, Europe, and China. Not all patent applications have
resulted in patents, and we cannot assure you that patents will be granted. Further, patent protection may not be available in all countries in which we operate or in which we
seek to enforce our intellectual property rights, and it may be difficult to enforce our patent rights. Our currently issued patents and trademarks and any patents and trademarks
that may be issued or registered, as applicable, in the future with respect to pending or future applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection or may not prove to be
enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. We cannot be certain that the steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology or the reverse engineering
of our technology. Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are competitive with us or infringe on our intellectual property.
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Protecting against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property, products, and other proprietary rights is expensive and difficult, particularly internationally. We intend to
enforce the intellectual property portfolio we have developed. Unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or reverse engineer our solutions or certain aspects of our solutions that
we consider proprietary. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce or defend our intellectual property rights, to prevent unauthorized parties from copying or reverse
engineering our solutions, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to block the importation of infringing products into countries where we have
patent protection.
 
Effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright, and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which our products are available, and competitors
based in other countries may sell infringing products in one or more markets. An inability to adequately protect and enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary
rights, or an inability to prevent authorized parties from copying or reverse engineering our smart vision solutions or certain aspects of our solutions that we consider
proprietary, could seriously adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
 
In addition to patented technology, we rely on our unpatented proprietary technology, trade secrets, processes, and know-how.
 
We rely on proprietary information (such as trade secrets, know-how, and confidential information) to protect intellectual property that may not be patentable or subject to
copyright, trademark, trade dress, or service mark protection, or that we believe is best protected by means that do not require public disclosure.
 
We generally seek to protect our proprietary information by entering into confidentiality agreements, consulting services, or employment agreements that contain non-
disclosure and non-use provisions with our employees, consultants, contractors, and third parties. However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if
entered into, these agreements may be breached or may otherwise fail to prevent disclosure, third-party infringement, or misappropriation of our proprietary information, may
be limited as to their terms, and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure or use of proprietary information. We have limited control over the
protection of trade secrets used by our current or future manufacturing partners and suppliers and could lose future trade secret protection if any unauthorized disclosure of such
information occurs. In addition, our proprietary information may otherwise become known or be independently developed by our competitors or other third parties. To the
extent that our employees, consultants, contractors, advisors, and other third parties use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the
rights to related or resulting know-how and inventions. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights,
and failure to obtain or maintain protection for our proprietary information could adversely affect our competitive business position. Furthermore, laws regarding trade secret
rights in certain markets where we operate may afford little or no protection to our trade secrets.
 
We also rely on physical and electronic security measures to protect our proprietary information, but we cannot provide assurance that these security measures will not be
breached or provide adequate protection for our property. There is a risk that third parties may obtain and improperly utilize our proprietary information to our competitive
disadvantage. We may not be able to detect or prevent the unauthorized use of such information or take appropriate and timely steps to enforce our intellectual property rights
or to protect us against cybersecurity invasions that either lock our computers so we cannot access our information or discloses our confidential information to others or to the
general public. As an Israeli company, we may be subject to attempts at cybersecurity breaches by persons or countries who seek to attach anything Israeli, and we have seen
increased attempts to do so.
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Third-party claims that we are infringing intellectual property, whether successful or not, could subject it to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses, and
our business could be adversely affected.
 
Although we hold patents related to our products, a number of companies, both within and outside of the industry in which we operate, hold other patents covering various
aspects of our products. In addition to these patents, participants in this industry typically also protect their technology, especially embedded software, through copyrights and
trade secrets. As a result, there is frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement, misappropriation, or other violations of intellectual property rights. In the future, we
may receive inquiries from other intellectual property holders and may become subject to claims that it infringes on their intellectual property rights, particularly as we expand
our presence in the market. In addition, parties may claim that the names and branding of our products infringe on their trademark rights in certain countries or territories. If
such a claim were to prevail, we may have to change the names and branding of our products in the affected territories, and we could incur other costs.
 
We currently have a number of agreements in effect pursuant to which we have agreed to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless our customers, suppliers, and partners from
damages and costs that may arise from the infringement by our products of third-party patents or other intellectual property rights. The scope of these indemnity obligations
varies, but may, in some instances, include indemnification for damages and expenses, including attorneys’ fees. Our insurance may not cover all intellectual property
infringement claims. A claim that our products infringe on a third party’s intellectual property rights, even if untrue, could adversely affect our relationships with our customers,
deter future customers from purchasing our products, and expose us to costly litigation and settlement expenses. Even if we are not a party to any litigation between a customer
and a third party relating to infringement by our products, an adverse outcome in any such litigation could make it more difficult for us to defend our products against
intellectual property infringement claims in any subsequent litigation in which it is a named party. Any of these results could adversely affect our brand and operating results.
 
Our defense of intellectual property rights claims brought against us or our customers, suppliers, and channel partners, with or without merit, could be time-consuming,
expensive to litigate or settle, divert management resources and attention, and force us to acquire intellectual property rights and licenses, which may involve substantial royalty
or other payments and may not be available on acceptable terms or at all. Further, a party making such a claim, if successful, could secure a judgment that requires us to pay
substantial damages or obtain an injunction which will prohibit us from selling our products. An adverse determination also could invalidate our intellectual property rights,
adversely affect our ability to offer our products to our customers, and may require that we procure or develop substitute products that do not infringe, which could require
significant effort and expense. Any of these events could adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and prospects.
 
Legal and Regulatory Risks Related to our Business
 
We are subject to, and must remain in compliance with, numerous laws and governmental regulations concerning the manufacturing, use, distribution, and sale of our
products. Some of our customers also require that we comply with their own unique requirements relating to these matters.
 
Our products contain electronic components, and such components may contain materials that are subject to government regulation in the locations where we develop,
manufacture, and assemble our products, as well as the locations where we sell our products. Among other things, certain applicable laws and regulations require or may in the
future require the submission of annual reports to certain governmental agencies certifying that such products comply with applicable performance standards, the maintenance
of manufacturing, testing, and distribution records, and the reporting of certain product defects to such regulatory agencies or consumers. Because our products are to be
included in automobiles throughout the world, our radars will need to comply with the applicable standards, laws or regulations in every country in which cars with our radar
are sold, including the United States, the European Union, Great Britain, China and Japan. If our products fail to comply with applicable regulations, we and/or our products
could be subjected to a variety of enforcement actions or sanctions, such as product recalls, repairs or replacements, warning letters, untitled letters, safety alerts, injunctions,
import alerts, administrative product detentions or seizures, or civil penalties. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could harm our business, results of operations, and
financial condition.
 
Since we operate on a global basis, we must continually monitor applicable laws and regulations and engage in an ongoing compliance process to take necessary steps so that
we and our suppliers are in compliance with all existing laws and regulations. If there is unanticipated or onerous new legislation or regulation that significantly impacts our use
of various components or requires more expensive components, such legislation or regulation could materially adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.
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Since our products are used for autonomous driving applications, they are subject to complicated and rapidly evolving laws and regulatory schemes that vary from jurisdiction
to jurisdiction at the state, federal, and international levels, including requirements related to safety, data privacy, artificial intelligence, security, cybersecurity, and product
liability, among other areas. These are rapidly evolving areas in which new or changed requirements could impose limitations on the use of our products. If we fail to adhere to
these new laws and regulations or fail to continually monitor emerging developments, it may be subject to litigation, loss of customers, or negative publicity, and our business,
results of operations, and financial condition will be adversely affected. We are unable to predict how any future changes will impact it or if such impacts will be material to our
business.
 
The evolution of the regulatory framework for autonomous vehicles and their related components is outside of our control.
 
Our business is subject to a patchwork of regulations from local, state and federal authorities. U.S. federal regulations include those imposed by the U.S. Department of
Transportation and the NHTSA. In 2023, the NHTSA promulgated the “Occupant Protection for Vehicles with Automated Driving Systems” final rule to update several Federal
Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (“FMVSS”) to account for vehicles that are equipped with ADAS and do not have traditional manual controls associated with human drivers.
The NHTSA also proposed rules to update FMVSS for crash avoidance, safety messaging and passengerless vehicles as well as jointly proposed a rule with the Federal Motor
Carrier Safety Administration regarding AEB test devices for heavy vehicles.
 
Certain states have legal restrictions on self-driving vehicles, and many other states are considering them. This patchwork increases the difficulty of maintaining legal
compliance. In Europe, certain vehicle safety regulations apply to self-driving braking and steering systems, and certain treaties also restrict the legality of certain higher levels
of self-driving vehicles. Self-driving laws and regulations are expected to continue to evolve in numerous jurisdictions in the U.S. and foreign countries and may restrict
autonomous driving features that we may deploy.
 
Our business may be adversely affected by changes in automotive safety regulations or concerns that drive further regulation of the automobile safety market.
 
Government vehicle safety regulations are an important factor for our business. Historically, these regulations have imposed ever-more stringent safety regulations for vehicles.
These safety regulations often require, or customers demand, that vehicles have more safety features per vehicle and more advanced safety products.
  
While we believe increasing automotive safety standards will present a market opportunity for our products, government safety regulations are subject to change based on a
number of factors that are not within our control, including new scientific or technological data, adverse publicity regarding industry recalls and safety risks of autonomous
driving, accidents involving our products, domestic and foreign political developments or considerations, and litigation relating to our products and our competitors’ products.
Changes in government regulations, as well as changes or evolutions in court doctrines in interpreting those regulations, especially in the autonomous driving industry, could
adversely affect our business. If government priorities shift and we are unable to adapt to changing regulations or to court interpretations of those regulations, our business may
be materially and adversely affected.
 
Federal and local regulators impose more stringent compliance and reporting requirements in response to product recalls and safety issues in the automotive industry. As the
vehicles that use our products go into production, we may become subject to stringent requirements, including a duty to report, strict timing requirements, and safety defects
with our products. Such rules and regulations may impose potentially significant civil penalties for violations, including the failure to comply with such reporting actions. If we
cannot rapidly address any safety concerns or defects with our products, our business, results of operations, and financial condition may be adversely affected.
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The U.S. Department of Transportation has issued regulations that require manufacturers of certain autonomous vehicles to provide documentation covering specific topics to
regulators, such as how automated systems detect objects on the road, how information is displayed to drivers, what cybersecurity measures are in place, and the methods used
to test the design and validation of autonomous driving systems. As cars that carry our sensors go into production, the obligations of complying with safety regulations could
increase, and it could require increased resources and adversely affect our business.
 
Failures, or perceived failures, to comply with privacy, data protection, and information security requirements in the variety of jurisdictions in which we operate may
adversely impact our business, and such legal requirements are evolving, uncertain and may require improvements in, or changes to, our policies and operations.
 
Our current and potential future operations and sales are subject to laws and regulations addressing privacy and the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, and protection
of a variety of types of data. For example, the European Commission has adopted the General Data Protection Regulation and California has enacted the California Consumer
Privacy Act of 2018, both of which provide for potentially material penalties for non-compliance. These regulations may, among other things, impose data security
requirements, disclosure requirements, and restrictions on data collection, use, and sharing that may impact our operations and the development of our business. While,
generally, we do not have access to, collect, store, process, or share information collected by our products unless our customers choose to proactively provide such information
to us, our products may evolve both to address potential customer requirements or to add new features and functionality. Therefore, the full impact of these privacy regimes on
our business is rapidly evolving across jurisdictions and remains uncertain at this time.
 
We may also be affected by cyberattacks and other means of gaining unauthorized access to our products, systems, and data. For instance, cyber criminals or insiders may target
us or third parties with whom we have business relationships in an effort to harm them, their proper use, or the data stored in them, resulting in direct and indirect damages,
including disruption, interruption, or severance of operations, ransomware, leaks and data loss, theft of property, espionage, harm to reputation, harm to public trust, and
rehabilitation expenses. We work to prevent and reduce exposure to the risk of cyber-attacks with strategies including the use of information security systems, assimilation of a
culture of data security (including training for managers and employees), refinement and adjustment of procedures, internal control programs, and auditing and support with the
assistance of experts in the field. During 2023, we suffered a cybersecurity breach that did not have any material effect upon our business. We cannot assure that we will not
suffer in the future from cybersecurity attacks that may have a material adverse effect upon our business and our ability to conduct research and development or to market and
sell our products.
 
Our operations are rich in technology and computing and may be exposed to risks related to the stability of the information systems, their compatibility with the scope of our
operations, information security, technical failures, overload of system servers, and the like. An impairment of the stability of computer systems and an inability on the part of
us to return its systems to normal operation within a reasonable timeframe, or a lack of technological ability to meet commitments or the expectations of potential customers
and strategic partners, may damage our reputation and harm our business outcomes.
 
We are assessing the continually evolving privacy and data security regimes and measures that we believe are appropriate in response. Since these data security regimes are
evolving, uncertain, and complex, especially for a global business like ours, we may need to update or enhance our compliance measures as our products, markets, and
customer demands further develop, and these updates or enhancements may require implementation costs. The compliance measures we do adopt may prove ineffective. Any
failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with current and future regulatory or customer-driven privacy, data protection, and information security requirements, or to prevent
or mitigate security breaches, cyberattacks, or improper access to, use of, or disclosure of data, or any security issues or cyberattacks affecting us, could result in significant
liability, costs (including the costs of mitigation and recovery), and a material loss of revenue resulting from the adverse impact on our reputation and brand, loss of proprietary
information and data, disruption to our business and relationships, and diminished ability to retain or attract customers and business partners. Such events may result in
governmental enforcement actions and prosecutions, private litigation, fines and penalties, or adverse publicity, and could cause customers and business partners to lose trust in
us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business.
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We may be exposed to liabilities under the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and other U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control,
sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations, and any determination that we violated these laws could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
We are subject to export control and import laws and regulations, including the U.S. Export Administration Regulations, U.S. Customs regulations, and various economic and
trade sanctions regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control. We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act of 1977, as amended (the “FCPA”), the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, the United Kingdom
Bribery Act 2010, the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002, and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries outside of the United States in which we
conduct our activities. Compliance with these laws has been the subject of increasing focus and activity by regulatory authorities, both in the United States and elsewhere, in
recent years. Anti-corruption laws are interpreted broadly and prohibit companies, their employees, and third-party intermediaries from authorizing, promising, offering,
providing, soliciting, or accepting, directly or indirectly, improper payments or benefits to or from any person, whether in the public or private sector. Our activities outside the
United States may create the risk of unauthorized payments or offers of payments by employees, consultants, sales agents, or distributors, even though they may not always be
subject to our control. It is our policy to implement safeguards to discourage these practices by our employees, consultants, sales agents, and distributors. However, our existing
safeguards and any future improvements may prove to be less than effective, and our employees, consultants, sales agents, or distributors may engage in conduct for which we
might be held responsible, even if it does not explicitly authorize such activities. Should our export activity be subject to security oversight, this may have a material effect on
our activity. Further, our business may be affected by sanctions that may be imposed on customers or suppliers who trade with sanctioned countries and/or companies in
violation of United States or European restrictions.
 
Noncompliance with anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, investigations,
sanctions, settlements, prosecution, other enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, suspension
and/or debarment from contracting with certain persons, the loss of export privileges, reputational harm, adverse media coverage, and other collateral consequences. If any
subpoenas or investigations are launched, or governmental or other sanctions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our business,
results of operations, and financial condition could be materially harmed. Responding to any action will likely result in a materially significant diversion of management’s
attention and resources, significant defense and compliance costs, and other professional fees. In addition, the U.S. government may seek to hold us liable for successor liability
for FCPA violations committed by companies in which we invest or that we may acquire. As a general matter, enforcement actions and sanctions could harm our business,
results of operations, and financial condition.
 
Regulations related to conflict minerals may cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs of certain metals used in the
manufacturing of our products.
 
We are subject to the requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act, that will require us to determine,
disclose, and report whether our products contain conflict minerals. The implementation of these requirements could adversely affect the sourcing, availability, and pricing of
the materials used in the manufacture of components used in our products. In addition, we will incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including
costs related to conducting diligence procedures to determine the sources of conflict minerals that may be used in or necessary to the production of our products and, if
applicable, potential changes to products, processes, or sources of supply as a consequence of such verification activities. It is also possible that our reputation may be adversely
affected if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict minerals or if we are unable to alter our products, processes, or sources of
supply to avoid the use of such materials.
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We may become involved in legal and regulatory proceedings and commercial or contractual disputes, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability and
consolidated financial position.
 
We may be, from time to time, involved in litigation, regulatory proceedings, and commercial or contractual disputes that may be significant. These matters may include,
without limitation, disputes with our potential suppliers and strategic partners and our potential customer base, intellectual property claims, stockholder litigation, government
investigations, class action lawsuits, personal injury claims, environmental issues, customs and VAT disputes, and employment and tax issues. In addition, we could face in the
future a variety of labor and employment claims against us, which could include but are not limited to general discrimination, wage and hour, privacy, pension (including, for
US employees, ERISA), or disability claims. In such matters, government agencies or private parties may seek to recover from us very large, indeterminate amounts in
penalties or monetary damages (including, in some cases, treble or punitive damages) or seek to limit our operations in some way. These types of lawsuits could require
significant management time and attention or could involve substantial legal liability, adverse regulatory outcomes, and/or substantial expenses to defend. Often, these cases
raise complex factual and legal issues and create risks and uncertainties. No assurances can be given that any proceedings and claims will not have a material adverse impact on
our operating results and consolidated financial position or that our established reserves or our available insurance will mitigate this impact.
 
The results of our operations may be affected by changes in currency exchange rates.
 
Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Currently, most of our revenue is generated in U.S.
dollars, while our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies of the jurisdictions in which we conduct our operations, primarily the Israeli Shekel, the U.S. dollar and,
to some extent, the euro. We have not generated significant revenue to date, and we do not believe that foreign currency exchange rates have not had, or currently have, a
material effect on our business. However, we cannot give any assurance that changes in foreign currency exchange rates will not have a material impact on us.
 
Our cash and cash equivalents could be adversely affected if the financial institutions in which we hold our cash and cash equivalents fail.
 
We regularly maintain cash balances at third-party financial institutions in the United States and in Israel. Maintaining any significant portion of our cash in financial
institutions is subject to adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets, which could impact access to our invested cash or cash equivalents and adversely impact our
operating liquidity and financial performance. We are diversifying our investments for cash designated for our long-term activities into short-term deposits and money market
funds and also considering spreading our cash and cash equivalents among several financial institutions in order to reduce the risks associated with maintaining all of our cash
and cash equivalents at one financial institution. Notwithstanding these efforts, the failure of one or more of the financial institutions in which our cash and cash equivalents are
held could result in our inability to obtain or a significant delay in obtaining the return of our funds from any of those financial institutions or any other adverse condition
suffered by any of those financial institutions, could impact access to our invested cash or cash equivalents and could adversely impact our operating liquidity and financial
performance. Part of our cash was held in Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”), and, following the restructure of SVB, we transferred substantially all the cash from SVB to other
financial institutions.
 
Risks Related to our Ordinary Shares
 
Market conditions may adversely affect the liquidity and price of our securities.
 
The price of our securities may fluctuate significantly. An active trading market for our securities may not be sustained. In addition, the price of our securities can vary due to
general economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition, and the release of our financial reports. Additionally, if our securities become delisted from Nasdaq
and are quoted on the OTC Markets (an inter-dealer automated quotation system for equity securities that is not a national securities exchange), the liquidity and price of our
securities may be more limited than if we were quoted or listed on the NYSE, Nasdaq, or another national securities exchange, in which event you may be unable to sell your
securities unless a market can be established or sustained.
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Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective, and our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify as to their
effectiveness, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business and reputation.
 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. We are
continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls, internal control over financial reporting, and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that
information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal executive and financial officers. If we are not able to
protect our computer system, including our financial records and client and personnel information, against cybersecurity attacks, including ransomware attacks, we may not be
able to maintain effective disclosure controls or internal controls over financial reporting.
 
Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions in our business. Further, weaknesses in our internal
controls may be discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or improvement, could
adversely affect our operating results, or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our financial statements for prior periods. Any
failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls could also adversely affect the results of operations. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information.
 
In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we have expended and are continuing
to expend significant resources, including accounting-related costs, and provide significant management oversight. Any failure to maintain the adequacy of our internal
controls, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase our operating costs and materially and adversely affect our ability to
operate our business. In the event that our internal controls are perceived as inadequate or that we are unable to produce timely or accurate financial statements, investors may
lose confidence in our operating results, and the stock price of our ordinary shares could decline. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may
not be able to maintain listings on Nasdaq.
 
Our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and will not be required to attest
to such effectiveness as long as we continue to be a non-accelerated filer. At such time as our independent registered public accounting firm is required to attest to the
effectiveness of our internal controls, such firm may issue a report that our internal controls are not effective if it is not satisfied with the level at which our controls are
documented, designed, or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting could have a material and adverse effect
on our business and operating results.
 
We face risks related to the ongoing Russian invasion of Ukraine and any other conflicts that may arise on a global or regional scale which could adversely affect our
business and results of operations.
 
On February 24, 2022, the Russian Federation launched an invasion of Ukraine that has had an immediate impact on the global economy resulting in higher energy prices and
higher prices for certain raw materials and goods and services which in turn is contributing to higher inflation in the United States and other countries across the globe with
significant disruption to financial markets and supply and distribution chains for certain raw materials and goods and services on an unprecedented scale, including the effects
of fuel shortages in Europe. The Russian Federation could resort to cyberattacks and other action that impact businesses across the United States, the European Union, Israel
and other nations across the globe including those without any direct business ties to the Russian Federation or Ukraine. Although we do not have any business in Russia or
Ukraine, the effects of the invasion could affect the European economy, which may affect European automobile companies.
 
Other conflicts with a global impact that may arise from time to time, including conflicts in the Middle East, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and/or financial condition.
 
Risks Related to our Incorporation and Location in Israel
 
Conditions in Israel could materially and adversely affect our business.
 
The war in Israel and other conditions in Israel could materially and adversely affect our business.
 
We are an Israeli corporation, and many of our employees, including certain management members, operate from our offices in Tel Aviv-Yafo, Israel. In addition, the majority
of our officers and directors are residents of Israel.
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Accordingly, political, economic, and military conditions in Israel and the surrounding region may directly affect our business and operations.
 
In recent years, Israel has been engaged in sporadic armed conflicts with Hamas and other Islamist terrorist groups that control the Gaza Strip and with Hezbollah, an Islamist
terrorist group that controls large portions of Lebanon; and with Iranian-backed military forces in Syria and elsewhere.
 
On October 7, 2023, following a large-scale attack led by the Hamas organization from the Gaza Strip on civilian and military targets in Israel, the Israeli government declared
a war against Hamas. In addition, Hezbollah has also launched attacks against Israeli military sites and troops and against Israeli towns in northern Israel. In response to these
attacks, the Israel Defense Force (“IDF”) has carried out a number of targeted strikes on sites belonging to Hezbollah in southern Lebanon. Further, Israel faces threats from
more distant neighbors, in particular, Iran which threatened to attack Israel.  The Iran-backed Houthi movement, which controls parts of Yemen and launched a number of
attacks on marine vessels traversing the Red Sea. The Red Sea is a vital maritime route for international trade traveling to and from Israel and much of the world.
 
As of the date of this annual report, this conflict is still ongoing and is causing political and economic instability in the Middle East, and the long-term effects of the war on
Israeli tech companies remain uncertain. It is hard to predict how long the war will last. All these factors may have a negative impact on us and our activities. We are examining
and evaluating the wars’ effects on our activities and considering different measures to face them and withstand these risks. The risks we may face include, but are not limited
to:
 

● As a result of work stoppages, damages to infrastructure, and delays in the supply chain caused by the war, our business activities in Israel may suffer disruptions and
may slow down.

   
● The war may lead to a decrease in demand for the products and services of Israeli companies. Negative media coverage surrounding the conflict can damage the image

of our company.
   

● Further, in the past, the State of Israel and Israeli companies have been subjected to economic boycotts. More countries may impose restrictions on doing business with
Israel and Israeli companies if hostilities on Israel continue or increase. The war may lead to an increase in input costs, such as labor, raw materials, and energy.

   
● The war has a negative affect on the Israeli economy as a whole.

   
● The war may lead to a decrease in the share price of our ordinary shares as a result of investors' fear of the geopolitical risks.

   
● Since October 7, 2023, the IDF has called up more than 350,000 of its reserve forces to serve. A number of our employees are currently subject to military service in

the IDF and many of them have been called to serve. Such disruption could affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. Future call-
ups may impact our workforce availability and project timelines as well.

   
   

● The heightened tensions in the area increased the risk of cyberattacks against our company.
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Our commercial insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of events associated with war and terrorism. Although the Israeli government currently covers the
reinstatement value of direct damage that is caused by terrorist attacks or acts of war, we cannot assure you that this government coverage will be maintained or that it will
sufficiently cover our potential damages. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse effect on our business. Any armed conflicts or political instability
in the region would likely negatively affect business conditions and could harm our results of operations.
 
The Israeli government has been pursuing changes to Israel’s judicial system, which in turn may affect the checks and balances between the authorities in Israel. In response to
the foregoing developments, individuals, organizations and institutions, both within and outside of Israel, have voiced concerns that the proposed changes may negatively
impact the business and economic environment in Israel, all of which may affect our business. Actual or perceived political instability in Israel or any negative changes in the
political environment may, individually or in aggregate adversely affect the Israeli economy and, in turn, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
 
We may become subject to claims for remuneration or royalties for assigned service invention rights by our employees, which could result in litigation and adversely affect
our business.
 
A significant portion of our intellectual property has been developed by our employees in the course of their employment with us. Under the Israeli Patent Law, 5727-1967, or
the “Patent Law”, inventions conceived by an employee in the course of and as a result of his or her employment with a company are regarded as “service inventions,” which
belong to the employer, unless there is a specific agreement between the employee and employer giving the employee service invention rights. The Patents Law also provides
that if there is no such agreement between an employer and an employee, the Israeli Compensation and Royalties Committee (the “Committee”), a body constituted under the
Patent Law, will determine whether the employee is entitled to remuneration for his or her inventions. Case law clarifies that the right to receive consideration for “service
inventions” can be waived by the employee and that, in certain circumstances, such waiver does not necessarily have to be explicit. The Committee will examine, on a case-by-
case basis, the general contractual framework between the parties using the interpretation rules of the general Israeli contract laws. Further, the Committee has not yet
determined one specific formula for calculating this remuneration but rather uses the criteria specified in the Patents Law.
 
Although we generally enter into assignment-of-invention agreements with our employees pursuant to which such individuals assign to it all rights to any inventions created in
the scope of their employment or engagement with us, we may face claims demanding remuneration in consideration for assigned inventions. As a consequence of such claims,
we could be required to pay additional remuneration or royalties to our current and/or former employees, or be forced to litigate such claims, which could negatively affect our
business.
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The potential tax benefits that may be available to us require us to meet various conditions and may not be available to us, which could increase our costs and taxes.
 
We may be eligible for certain tax benefits provided to “Preferred Technology Enterprises” under the Israeli Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959,
referred to as the Investment Law. We have not yet applied for these benefits. In order to receive and remain eligible for the tax benefits for the Preferred Technology
Enterprises tax benefits, we must continue to meet certain conditions stipulated in the Investment Law and its regulations. If these tax benefits are reduced, cancelled or
discontinued, our Israeli taxable income from would be subject to regular Israeli corporate tax rates. The standard corporate tax rate for Israeli companies has been 23% since
2018. Additionally, if we increase our activities outside of Israel through acquisitions, for example, our expanded activities might not be eligible for inclusion in future Israeli
tax benefit programs. See “Certain Material Israeli Tax Considerations.”
 
The terms of grants received from the Israeli government require us to satisfy specified conditions in order to transfer the manufacture of products based on know-how
funded by the Israel Innovation Authority outside of Israel or to transfer outside of Israel the know-how itself.
 
Under the Israeli Encouragement of Research, Development, and Technological Innovation in Industry Law, 5744-1984, or the Innovation Law, research, and development
programs that meet specified criteria and may be approved by a committee of the Israel Innovation Authority of the Israeli Ministry of Economy and Industry, or IIA, are
eligible for grants from the IIA. The grant amounts are determined by the research committee and are typically a percentage of the project’s expenditures. Under most
programs, the grantee is required to pay royalties to the State of Israel from the sale of products developed under the program.
 
Our research and development efforts in relation to our product have been partially financed through royalty-bearing and non-royalty bearing grants from the IIA in the total
amount of approximately $3.8 million through December 31, 2023.
 
Under the terms and conditions of the IIA grants provided to us and pursuant to applicable laws, we are required to pay royalties from sales of products and services that
incorporate know-how developed with the IIA-funded, royalty-bearing grants. Such royalties are due up to an amount equal to 100% of the IIA grants received, linked to the
U.S. dollar, plus interest on the unpaid amount received based on the 12-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate, known as SOFR, from the year the grant was approved. If
we will manufacture IIA-funded products outside of Israel and generate sales, the ceiling may increase based on the percentage of production that is outside of Israel, up to a
maximum of 300% of the IIA grants, linked to the dollar and bearing interest as detailed above.

 
 ● Local Manufacturing Obligation. Under the regulations promulgated under the Innovation Law and the guidelines issued by the IIA, the manufacturing of products

that incorporate know-how developed with the IIA-funded outside of Israel by us or by another entity may be subject to certain approvals and\or limitations, and if we
fail to obtain the required approval, we may be subject to fines and/or an acceleration of our royalty obligation.

 
 ● Know-How transfer limitation

 
 ● The Innovation Law restricts the ability to transfer know-how funded by the IIA outside of Israel. Transfer of IIA-funded know-how outside of Israel requires

prior approval of the IIA and may be subject to additional payments to the IIA, calculated according to formulae provided under the Innovation Law. If we wish to
transfer IIA-funded know-how, the terms for approval will be determined according to the nature of the transaction and the consideration paid to us in connection
with such a transfer.
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 ● Approval of transfer the of IIA-funded know-how to another Israeli company may be granted only if the recipient abides by the provisions of the Innovation Law

and related regulations, including the restrictions on the transfer of know-how and manufacturing rights outside of Israel.
 

 ● Change of Control. Any non-Israeli citizen, resident, or entity that, among other things, (i) becomes a holder of 5% or more of our share capital or voting rights, (ii) is
entitled to appoint one or more of our directors or the chief executive officer, or (iii) serves as one of our directors or as our chief executive officer, is required to notify
the IIA and undertake to comply with the Innovation Law and the rules and regulations thereunder as applicable to the grant programs of the IIA, including the
restrictions on transfer described above.

 
Approval to manufacture products outside of Israel or consent to the transfer of IIA-funded know-how, if requested, is within the discretion of the IIA. Furthermore, the IIA
may impose certain conditions on any arrangement under which it permits us to transfer IIA-funded know-how or manufacturing out of Israel.
 
The consideration available to our shareholders in a future transaction involving the transfer outside of Israel of know-how developed with IIA funding (such as a merger or
similar transaction) may be reduced by any amounts that we are required to pay to the IIA.
 
Our Restated Articles contain a forum selection clause for substantially all disputes between us and our shareholders under the Israeli Companies Law and the Israeli
Securities Law, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to bring claims and proceedings against us, our directors, officers, and other employees. Enforcement of a
U.S. judgment against us or our officers and directors in Israel or the United States, or assertion of a U.S. securities law claim in Israel or serving process on our officers
and directors, may also be difficult.
 
Under our Restated Articles, the competent courts of Tel Aviv, Israel, will be the exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any
action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, or other employee to us or our shareholders, or (iii) any action asserting a claim arising
pursuant to any provision of the Israeli Companies Law or the Israeli Securities Law, 1968-5728 (the “Israeli Securities Law”). This exclusive forum provision is intended to
apply to claims arising under Israeli law and would not apply to claims brought pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Our Restated Articles also provide that,
unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum and the Company consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of
the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, including all causes of
action asserted against any defendant to such a complaint. This provision does not affect any other claim for which federal district courts in the United States would have
exclusive jurisdiction and expressly does not apply to causes of action arising under the Securities Exchange Act. Such exclusive forum provision in the Restated Articles will
not relieve us of our duties to comply with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, and our shareholders will not be deemed to have waived their
compliance with these laws, rules, and regulations. This exclusive forum provision may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for
disputes with us, our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us, our directors, officers, and employees. Investors cannot waive
compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, including the provisions of the Securities Act that provide that state and federal courts in
the United States both have jurisdiction over claims based on the Securities Act. A United States court may not enforce the provision in our Restated Articles that provides for
exclusive jurisdiction of the federal district courts in actions under the Securities Act.
 
Another obstacle to the assertion of claims against us or our directors or officers is the fact that most of them are not residents of the United States, and most of their and our
assets are located outside the United States. Service of process upon us or our non-U.S. resident directors and officers and enforcement of judgments obtained in the
United States against us or our non-U.S. directors and executive officers may therefore be difficult to effect within the United States. It may be difficult to assert claims under
U.S. securities laws in original actions instituted in Israel or obtain a judgment based on the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal securities laws. Israeli courts may refuse to
hear a claim based on a violation of U.S. securities laws against us or our non-U.S. officers and directors because Israel may not be the most appropriate forum to bring such a
claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not U.S. law are applicable to the claim. If U.S. law is found to be
applicable, the content of applicable U.S. law must be proven as a fact, which can be a time-consuming and costly process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed
by Israeli law. There is little binding case law in Israel addressing these matters.
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Additionally, the acceptance of foreign judgment in Israel is mainly regulated in the Foreign Judgment Enforcement Law, 5718-1958, pursuant to which Israeli courts might not
enforce judgments obtained in the United States against us or our non-U.S. directors and executive officers, which may make it difficult to collect on judgments rendered
against us or our non-U.S. officers and directors. An Israeli court will not enforce a non-Israeli judgment if it was given in a state whose laws do not provide for the
enforcement of judgments of Israeli courts (subject to exceptional cases), if our enforcement is likely to prejudice the sovereignty or security of the State of Israel, if it was
obtained by fraud or in the absence of due process, if it is at variance with another valid judgment that was given in the same matter between the same parties, or if a suit in the
same matter between the same parties was pending before a court or tribunal in Israel at the time the foreign action was brought.
 
The rights and responsibilities of our shareholders will be governed by Israeli law, which may differ in some respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders of
U.S. corporations.
 
Because we are incorporated under Israeli law, the rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by our Restated Articles and the Israeli Companies Law, with
minor exceptions pertaining to U.S. securities laws. These rights and responsibilities differ in some respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders in typical
U.S. corporations. In particular, pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, each shareholder of an Israeli company has to act in good faith in exercising such shareholder’s rights
and fulfilling such shareholder’s obligations toward the company and other shareholders and to refrain from abusing such shareholder’s power in the company, including,
among other things, in voting at the general meeting of shareholders and class meetings on amendments to a company’s articles of association, increases in a company’s
authorized share capital, mergers, and transactions requiring shareholders’ approval under the Israeli Companies Law. In addition, a controlling shareholder of an Israeli
company or a shareholder who knows that it possesses the power to determine the outcome of a shareholder vote, who has the power to appoint or prevent the appointment of a
director or officer in the company, or who has other powers toward the company, has a duty to act in fairness towards the company. Moreover, a shareholder also has a general
duty to refrain from discriminating against other shareholders. These provisions may be interpreted to impose additional obligations and liabilities on our shareholders that are
not typically imposed on shareholders of U.S. corporations.
 
Provisions of Israeli law and our Restated Articles may delay, prevent, or make undesirable an acquisition of all or a significant portion of our shares or assets.
 
Certain provisions of Israeli law and our Restated Articles could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, may make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire us or our shareholders to elect different individuals to our board of directors, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders, and may limit the price that
investors may be willing to pay in the future for our ordinary shares. Among other things:

 
 ● Israeli Companies Law regulates acquisitions and requires that a tender offer be effected when certain thresholds of percentage ownership of voting power in a

company are exceeded (subject to certain conditions);
 

 ● The Israeli Companies Law requires special approvals for certain transactions involving directors, officers, or significant shareholders and regulates other matters that
may be relevant to these types of transactions;

 
 ● The Israeli Companies Law does not provide for shareholder action by written consent for public companies, thereby requiring all shareholder actions to be taken at a

general meeting of shareholders;
 

 ● Our Restated Articles divide our directors into three classes, each of which is elected for a three-year term once every three years;
 

 ● Our Restated Articles provide that certain articles can be amended or changed only by the majority of at least sixty percent (60%) of the total voting power of the
shareholders.
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● Our Restated Articles do not permit a director to be removed except by a vote of a majority of the voting power of the shareholders represented at a general meeting in

person or by proxy and voting thereon, as one class, and disregarding abstentions from the count of the voting power of the shareholders present and voting; and
 

 ● Our Restated Articles provide that director vacancies may be filled by our board of directors.
 
Further, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions undesirable to us or to some of our shareholders, especially whose country of residence does not have a tax
treaty with Israel granting tax relief to such shareholders from Israeli tax. For example, Israeli tax law does not recognize tax-free share exchanges to the same extent as
U.S. tax law. With respect to mergers, Israeli tax law allows for tax deferral in certain circumstances but makes the deferral contingent on the fulfillment of numerous
conditions, including a restrictive period of two years from the date of the transaction during which certain sales and dispositions of shares of the participating companies are
restricted. Moreover, with respect to certain share swap transactions, the tax deferral is limited in time, and when such time expires, the tax becomes payable even if the shares
have not been disposed of. See the section titled “Material Israeli Tax Considerations — Taxation of Our Shareholders.”
 
Our board of directors has sole discretion as to whether to pay dividends. If our board of directors decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency, and amount will depend upon
our future, operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, and other factors that our directors may deem
relevant. The Israeli Companies Law imposes restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends. See the section titled “Item 10.B Additional Information—Dividend and
Liquidation Rights” for additional information. Payment of dividends may also be subject to Israeli withholding taxes. See the section titled “Material Israeli Tax
Considerations” for additional information.
 
We are subject to the Israeli Privacy Protection Law and its regulations
 
We are subject to the Israeli Privacy Protection Law, 5741-1981, and the regulations promulgated thereunder and guidelines issued by the Israeli Privacy Protection Authority
with respect to the manner in which personal data is processed, maintained, transferred, disclosed, accessed, and secured. In this respect, the privacy regulations governing
information security may require us to adjust certain data protection and data security practices, information security measures, certain organizational procedures, applicable
positions, and other technical and organizational measures. Failure to comply with the Israeli privacy laws may expose us to administrative fines, civil claims (including
class actions), and, in certain cases, criminal liability.
 
As a foreign private issuer, under Nasdaq rules, we are permitted to adopt certain home country practices in relation to corporate governance matters that differ
significantly from Nasdaq corporate governance listing standards, which, if we follow such practices, may afford our shareholders less protection than they would enjoy if
we complied with the Nasdaq corporate governance standards.
 
As a foreign private issuer, we are generally subject to the Nasdaq corporate governance listing standards. However, Nasdaq rules permit a foreign private issuer like us to
follow the corporate governance practices of our home country, which is Israel, in lieu of Nasdaq corporate governance requirements relating to independent directors and the
formation and composition of board committees, with respect to the disclosure of third-party director and nominee compensation and the requirement to distribute annual and
interim reports. These corporate governance practices in Israel may differ significantly from Nasdaq corporate governance listing standards. Currently, we do not plan to rely on
the home country practice exemption with respect to our corporate governance, other than the quorum requirements. Our Restated Articles provide that two shareholders
holding 25% of the voting shares constitute a quorum, as contrasted with the Nasdaq requirement of a minimum of one-third of a company’s outstanding voting securities. If we
choose to take advantage of other home country practices in the future, our shareholders may be afforded less protection than they otherwise would enjoy under Nasdaq
corporate governance listing standards applicable to U.S. domestic issuers.
 

31



 

 
Risks Related to our ordinary shares.
 
We may issue additional ordinary shares or other securities without shareholder approval, which would dilute existing ownership interests and may depress the market
price of our ordinary shares.
 
We may issue additional ordinary shares or other securities (including convertible securities) in the future in connection with, among other things, our equity incentive plan
without shareholder approval, although we require shareholder approval for the creation of a class or series of preferred shares. The creation of a class or series of preferred
shares required shareholder approval. Our issuance of additional ordinary shares would have the following effects:

 
 ● Our existing shareholders’ proportionate ownership interest may decrease;

 
 ● The amount of cash available per share, including for the payment of dividends in the future, may decrease;

 
 ● The relative voting strength of each previously outstanding ordinary share may be diminished; and

 
 ● The market price of our ordinary shares may decline.
 
Any such issuance may be dilutive to our shareholders or may cause the stock price to decrease.
 
Because our executive officers and directors and their affiliate beneficially own or control approximately 35% of our ordinary shares, they may be able to control any
action requiring shareholder approval.
 
Our executive officers and directors and their affiliates beneficially own or control the voting rights with respect to approximately 35% of our ordinary shares. They will have
the power to control any action for which shareholder approval is required or sought by us, particularly since our Restated Articles provide that a quorum for action by
shareholders at a meeting called by the board of directors is two shareholders holding at least 25%.
 
Because we have a classified board of directors, it may be more difficult for a third party to obtain control of us.
 
Our Restated Articles provide for a classified board of directors, with each class of directors being elected for a term of three years. As a result, the shareholders will vote for
only one-third of the board each year. A classified board of directors may make it more difficult for a third party to gain control of us, which may affect the opportunity of our
shareholders to receive any potential benefit that could be available from a third party seeking to obtain control over us.
 
The private warrants that we issued in exchange for private warrants are accounted for as liabilities, and the changes in value of these warrants could have a material
effect on our financial results.
 
The warrants that we issued in the merger (the “Merger”) pursuant to which our wholly-owned subsidiary, Autobot MergerSub, Inc. was merged with an into Industrial Tech
Acquisitions Inc. (“ITAC”), a special purpose acquisition corporation, generally known as a SPAC, pursuant to which ITAC became our wholly-owned subsidiary, and we
issued ordinary shares and warrants to the holders of ITAC’ common stock and warrants, in exchange for ITAC’s private warrants are treated as liabilities. As a result of the
Merger, the 3,112,080 private warrants held by the members of the ITAC former sponsor are treated as liabilities. E. Scott Crist, one of our directors, holds 2,303,031 of these
warrants. The Accounting Standards Codification 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”) provides for the remeasurement of the fair value of such derivatives at each
balance sheet date, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in earnings in the statements of operations. As a result of the
recurring fair value measurement, as long as the warrants are outstanding, our financial statements and results of operations may fluctuate quarterly based on factors that are
outside of our control. Due to the recurring fair value measurement, we will recognize non-cash gains or losses on the private warrants each reporting period based on the
change in the derivative liability, and the amount of such gains or losses could be material. Further, the gain or loss on the derivative liability, which will not be related to our
operations, could result in our reporting a loss in a period in which our operations are profitable and net income in a period in which we have a significant loss from operations.
Since the amount of the warrant liability reflects the market price of our ordinary shares, to the extent that the market price of our ordinary shares increases from period to
period, we are likely to recognize a financial expense, and to the extent that the market price of our ordinary shares declines from period to period, we would recognize
financial income.
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Any projections, forecasts, or guidance that we may issue may not be an indication of the actual results of the transaction or our future results.
 
From time to time, we issue guidance as to our estimated results. Any such guidance is prepared based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain and
may be beyond our control. Furthermore, they may exclude, among other things, certain material items such as transaction-related expenses, and they may include a non-GAAP
measure. Any such forecasts are subject to the risks, including those described in these risk factors, and should not be relied upon as an indicator of future results.
 
Sales of our ordinary shares by our legacy shareholders and PIPE investors may adversely affect the market price of our ordinary shares.
 
In addition to the ordinary shares we issued to the former stockholders of ITAC in connection with the Merger with ITAC and ordinary shares which we sold pursuant to a
registration statement, our shareholders who were shareholders prior to our Merger with ITAC, who are our legacy shareholders, and our shareholders who purchased ordinary
shares in a PIPE offering contemporaneously with the closing of the Merger with ITAC, who own a significant percentage of our ordinary shares, may sell their ordinary shares
either pursuant to Rule 144 or pursuant to a registration statement, subject to certain limitations with respect to shares held by our officers, directors, and other affiliates. In
addition, we may raise funds through the issuance of ordinary shares and convertible debt securities. The sale of such ordinary shares may adversely affect the market price of
our ordinary shares.
 
The market price of our securities may be volatile, subject to wide fluctuations.
 
Fluctuations in the price of our securities could contribute to the loss of all or part of your investment. Because our ordinary shares are publicly traded, the trading price of our
securities could be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control. Any of the factors listed below could have a
material adverse effect on your investment in our securities, and our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for them. In such circumstances, the
trading price of our securities may not recover and may experience a further decline.
 
Factors affecting the trading price of our securities may include:

 
 ● actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to them;

 
 ● changes in the market’s expectations about our operating results;
   
 ● public sales by us of our stock in negotiated transactions to investors who may immediately sell the shares;

 
 ● success of competitors;
   
 ● the market’s attitude toward Israel and Israeli technology companies;

 
 ● our operating results failing to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors in a particular period;

 
 ● changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts concerning us or the market or potential market for driverless cars and other vehicles;

 
 ● operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us;

 
 ● the market’s perception of our ability to develop and market our products;

 
 ● the market’s perception as to our ability to develop and maintain any perceived technological advantage it may have;

 
 ● actions by social media users to seek to increase activity in our securities;
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 ● Changes or anticipated changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

 
 ● our ability to meet compliance requirements, including compliance with the Nasdaq continued listing requirements;

 
 ● commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving us or the automotive industry in general;

 
 ● changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt;

 
 ● the volume of our ordinary shares available for public sale;

 
 ● changes in trading patterns resulting from social media action not related to the results of our business;

 
 ● any major change in our board or management;

 
 ● sales of substantial amounts of our ordinary shares by our directors, executive officers, or significant shareholders, or the perception that such sales could occur;

 
 ● general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, international currency fluctuations, and acts of war or terrorism; and

 
 ● all of the risks described in these Risk Factors.
 
Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the market price of our securities, irrespective of our operating performance. Global stock markets in general and
Nasdaq in particular have experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the particular
companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks and our securities are not predictable. A loss of investor confidence in the market for retail stocks or the
stocks of other companies that investors perceive to be similar to us could depress our share price regardless of our business, prospects, financial conditions, or results of
operations. A decline in the market price of our securities could also adversely affect our ability to issue additional securities and our ability to obtain additional financing in the
future.
 
Our Articles and Israeli law could prevent a takeover that shareholders could consider favorable and could also reduce the market price of our ordinary shares.
 
Certain provisions of Israeli law and our Restated Articles could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control and may make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire us or for our shareholders to elect different individuals to our board of directors, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders, and may limit the price that
investors may be willing to pay in the future for our ordinary shares. For example, Israeli corporate law regulates mergers, requires that a tender offer be effected when certain
thresholds of percentage ownership of voting power in a company are exceeded (subject to certain conditions), and establishes a high ownership threshold to squeeze out
minority shareholders in a full tender offer. Further, Israeli tax considerations may make potential transactions undesirable to us or to some of our shareholders, especially
whose country of residence does not have a tax treaty with Israel granting tax relief to such shareholders from Israeli tax. See the section titled “Material Israeli Tax
Considerations — Taxation of Our Shareholders.”
 
We do not intend to pay dividends in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell your ordinary shares for a price
greater than the price you paid for your ordinary shares or, if you purchased ITAC common stock prior to the Merger with ITAC, the price you paid for your ITAC
common stock.
 
We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings for use in the operation of our business and do not anticipate paying any dividends on our ordinary
shares in the foreseeable future. Consequently, you may be unable to realize a gain on your investment only if you are able to sell such shares at a price that is greater than your
purchase price, which may never occur.
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Our board of directors has broad discretion about whether to pay dividends. If our board of directors decides to pay dividends, the form, frequency, and amount will depend
upon our future, operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, and other factors that our directors may deem
relevant. The Companies Law imposes restrictions on our ability to declare and pay dividends.
 
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market, or if they change their recommendations
regarding our ordinary shares adversely, then the price and trading volume of our ordinary shares could decline.
 
The trading market for our ordinary shares is influenced by the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. We do not control these
analysts or the content and opinions included in their reports. As a young public company, we may be slow to attract research coverage, and the analysts who publish
information about our ordinary shares will have had relatively little experience with us, which could affect their ability to accurately forecast our results and make it more likely
that we fail to meet their estimates. In the event we obtain industry or financial analyst coverage, if any of the analysts who cover us issue an inaccurate or unfavorable opinion
regarding it, our share price will likely decline. In addition, the share prices of many companies in the technology industry have declined significantly after those companies
failed to meet, or significantly exceed, the financial guidance publicly announced by the companies or the expectations of analysts. If our financial results fail to meet, or
significantly exceed, our announced guidance or the expectations of analysts or public investors, analysts could downgrade our ordinary shares or publish unfavorable research
about it. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on it regularly, our visibility in the financial markets could decrease, which in turn could
cause our share price or trading volume to decline.
 
The IRS may not agree that we should be treated as a non-U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
 
Although we are incorporated and tax residents in Israel, the IRS may assert that we should be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes pursuant to
Section 7874 of the Code. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a corporation is generally considered a U.S. “domestic” corporation if it is created or organized in or under the
laws of the U.S., any state thereof, or the District of Columbia. Because we are not so created or organized (but are instead incorporated only in Israel), we would generally be
classified as a foreign corporation (that is, a corporation other than a U.S. “domestic” corporation) under these rules. Section 7874 of the Code provides an exception under
which a corporation created or organized under foreign law may, in certain circumstances, be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
 
As more fully described in Item 10.E in the section titled “Certain Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations — U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment— Tax Residence of
Arbe for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes,” based on the terms of the Merger, the rules for determining share ownership under Code Section 7874, and the Treasury
regulations promulgated under Code Section 7874 (the “Section 7874 Regulations”), and certain factual assumptions, we are not currently expected to be treated as a
U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Code Section 7874. However, the application of Section 7874 of the Code is complex, is subject to detailed
regulations (the application of which is uncertain in various respects and would be impacted by changes in such U.S. tax laws and regulations with possible retroactive effect)
and is subject to certain factual uncertainties. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge our status as a foreign corporation under Code Section 7874
or that such a challenge would not be sustained by a court.
 
If the IRS were to successfully challenge under Code Section 7874 our status as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we and certain of our shareholders
could be subject to significant adverse tax consequences, including a higher effective corporate income tax rate on us and future withholding taxes on certain of our
shareholders, depending on the application of any income tax treaty that might apply to reduce such withholding taxes. In particular, holders of our ordinary shares and/or
warrants would be treated as holders of stock and warrants of a U.S. corporation.
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See Item 10.E, “Certain Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations — U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of Arbe — Tax Residence of Arbe for U.S. Federal Income
Tax Purposes,” for a more detailed discussion of the application of Code Section 7874 to the Merger. Investors should consult their own advisors regarding the application of
Code Section 7874 to the Merger.
 
U.S. Holders of our ordinary shares and/or warrants may suffer adverse tax consequences if we are treated as a passive foreign investment company.
 
A non-U.S. corporation generally will be treated as a “passive foreign investment company,” or a PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, in any taxable year if either (1) at
least 75% of its gross income for such year is passive income (such as interest, dividends, rents, and royalties (other than rents or royalties derived from the active conduct of a
trade or business) and gains from the disposition of assets giving rise to passive income) or (2) at least 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly
values of the assets) during such year is attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive income. Although based on the current and anticipated
composition of the income, assets, and operations of us and our subsidiaries, we do not believe we will be treated as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes for its current
taxable year and do not expect to become one for U.S. federal income tax purposes in the near future. This is a factual determination that depends on, among other things, the
composition of our income and assets and the market value of its shares and assets, including the composition of income and assets and the market value of shares and assets of
our subsidiaries, from time to time. Accordingly, a complete determination can only be made annually after the close of each taxable year. Thus, no assurance can be given as to
whether we will be a PFIC in 2023 or for any future taxable year. In addition, our U.S. counsel does not express any opinion with respect to our PFIC status for 2023 or future
taxable years.
 
If we are a PFIC for any taxable year, a U.S. Holder of our ordinary shares and/or warrants may be subject to adverse tax consequences and may incur certain information
reporting obligations. Under the PFIC rules, unless such U.S. Holder makes an election available under the Code (which election could itself have adverse consequences for
such U.S. Holder), such U.S. Holder may be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the then prevailing maximum rates on ordinary income and possibly an “interest” charge, in
respect of “excess distributions” and upon any gain from the disposition of our ordinary shares and/or warrants, as if the excess distribution or gain had been recognized ratably
over such U.S. Holder’s holding period of our ordinary shares and/or warrants. Certain elections, including a qualified electing fund election (a QEF election or a mark-to-
market election, that may be available to U.S. Holders of our ordinary shares to mitigate some of the adverse tax consequences resulting from PFIC treatment, however, are not
available with respect to our warrants. Additionally, there can be no assurance that we will have timely knowledge of our status as a PFIC in the future or that we will timely
provide information that would be required in order for a U.S. Holder to make a QEF election. For a further discussion, see Item 10.E, “Certain Material U.S. Federal Income
Tax Considerations — U.S. Holders — U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Ownership and Disposition of ordinary shares and Warrants to U.S. Holders — Passive
Foreign Investment Company Rules.” U.S. Holders of our ordinary shares and/or warrants are strongly encouraged to consult their own advisors regarding the potential
application of these rules to us and the ownership of our ordinary shares and/or warrants.
  
We are subject to the Israeli Privacy Protection Law and its regulations
 
We are subject to the Israeli Privacy Protection Law, 5741-1981, and the regulations promulgated thereunder and guidelines issued by the Israeli Privacy Protection Authority
with respect to the manner in which personal data is processed, maintained, transferred, disclosed, accessed, and secured. In this respect, the privacy regulations governing
information security may require us to adjust certain data protection and data security practices, information security measures, certain organizational procedures, applicable
positions, and other technical and organizational measures. Failure to comply with the Israeli privacy laws may expose us to administrative fines, civil claims (including
class actions), and, in certain cases, criminal liability.
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Risks Related to our Ordinary Shares
 
We may issue additional ordinary shares or other securities without shareholder approval, which would dilute existing ownership interests and may depress the market
price of our ordinary shares.
 
We may issue additional ordinary shares or other securities in the future in connection with, among other things, our equity incentive plan without shareholder approval,
although we require shareholder approval for the creation of a class or series of preferred shares and for the adoption of a new equity incentive plan. The creation of a class or
series of preferred shares required shareholder approval. Our issuance of additional ordinary shares would have the following effects:

 
 ● Our existing shareholders’ proportionate ownership interest may decrease;

 
 ● the amount of cash available per share, including for the payment of dividends in the future, may decrease;

 
 ● the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding ordinary share may be diminished; and

 
 ● the market price of our ordinary shares may decline.
 
Any such issuance may be dilutive to our shareholders or may cause the stock price to decrease.
  
ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
 
A. History and Development of the Company
 
Our Organization
 
Our corporate name is Arbe Robotics Ltd. We are an Israeli corporation founded on November 4, 2015. The mailing address for our principal executive office is 107
HaHashmonaim St. Tel Aviv-Yafo, Israel. Our telephone number is +972-73-7969804, ext. 200.
 
As an Israeli corporation, we are organized pursuant to and subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended and the regulations promulgated
thereunder (collectively the “Israeli Companies Law”).
 
We have three wholly-owned subsidiaries, two in the United States -- Arbe Robotics US Inc. and Autobot HoldCo. Inc., both Delaware corporations, and one, Shanghai Arbe
Technologies Co., Ltd., organized under the laws of the People’s Republic of China.
 
Our Status as a Foreign Private Issuer under the Exchange Act
 
We are a “foreign private issuer” under SEC rules. Consequently, for so long as we continue to meet such qualification, we will be subject to the reporting requirements under
the Exchange Act applicable to foreign private issuers. We are required to file our annual report for each year with the SEC by April 30 of the following year. In addition, we
will furnish reports on Form 6-K to the SEC regarding certain information that is distributed or required to be distributed by us to our shareholders.
 
Based on such foreign private issuer status, under existing rules and regulations, we will not be required to file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as
frequently or as promptly as a U.S. company whose securities are registered under the Exchange Act. We will also not be required to comply with Regulation FD, which
addresses certain restrictions on the selective disclosure of material information. In addition, among other matters, our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt
from the reporting and “short-swing” profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules under the Exchange Act with respect to their purchases and
sales of ordinary shares.
 
Despite our initial exemption due to our foreign private issuer status, we nevertheless currently expect to issue interim quarterly financial information publicly and to furnish it
to the SEC on Form 6-K.
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Our Status as an Emerging Growth Company
 
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act. As such, we will be eligible to take advantage of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being
required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in
their periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval
of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We are a non-accelerated filer, which is a company that has either a public float of less the $75 million or a public
float from $75 million to less than $700 million and annual revenues of less than $100 million. As long as we remain either an emerging growth company or a non-accelerated
filer, we will be exempt from the auditor attestation requirement. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our
securities and the prices of our securities may be more volatile.
 
Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until
private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the
Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended
transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out
of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an
emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial
statements with certain other public companies difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
 
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering,
(b) in which our total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our ordinary
shares that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter; and (ii) the date on which we have
issued more than $1.00 billion in non-convertible debt securities during the prior three-year period. References to “emerging growth company” in this proxy statement/annual
report have the meaning associated with that term in the JOBS Act.
 
Functional and Reporting Currency
 
A substantial portion of our activity, including transactions with customers, as well as equity transactions and cash investments, are incurred in U.S. dollars. Our management
believes that the U.S. dollar is the currency of the primary economic environment in which we operate. Thus, our functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar.
 
Where to get Additional Information
 
The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. We are
subject to the information requirements of the Exchange Act and will file annual and other reports, including this annual report, and other information with the SEC. You can
read our SEC filings, over the Internet at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. These documents, and other information concerning us, is available on our website at
https://arberobotics.com/. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website or any other website is expressly not incorporated by reference into and is not
a part of this annual report.
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B. Business Overview
 
We are a provider of 4D imaging radar solutions, and we are leading a radar revolution, enabling safe driver-assist systems today while paving the way for fully autonomous
driving in the future. We are a Tier 2 supplier, empowering Tier-1 companies, which are companies that supply parts or systems directly to OEMs (car manufacturers),
autonomous ground vehicles, commercial and industrial vehicles, and a wide array of safety applications with next-generation sensing based on our proprietary chipset and
perception algorithms. While the role of automotive radars in the traditional perception paradigm was limited to “legacy ADAS features”, such as Adaptive Cruise Control
(ACC) and Automatic Emergency Braking (AEB), the introduction of our imaging radar with its a high channel count delivers an order of magnitude better native resolution
than existing radar solutions profoundly changes this paradigm, making the radar a key player in the overall driving solution including hands-free and eyes-off features. We
believe that our imaging radar is essential for Level 2+ and higher levels of autonomy.
 
We provide long-range high resolution in 4D - the distance, the angular measurement of objects, both horizontally and vertically, and their relative speed. This is designed to
enable the vehicle to determine the exact location and shape of objects. For example, it could determine whether a stationary object in front of a vehicle is a manhole cover you
can drive over or a guardrail you need to avoid. Our 4D imaging radar is the world’s first radar to separate, track, and identify objects in any weather or lighting condition in 2K
pixels, ultra-high resolution in both azimuth and elevation, delivering an image that we believe is 100 times more detailed than any commercial radar on the market. We achieve
this capability with our proprietary radio frequency chipset with the highest channel count in the industry, and a groundbreaking radar processor chip, the first dedicated
processor designed specifically for the performance and power saving requirements of the automotive industry.
 
Through our state-of-the-art analysis of the vehicle’s surroundings, we believe that our cutting-edge radar chipset incorporates the first radar technology detailed enough to
enhance the OEM’s perception algorithms, elevating L2+ and higher applications from nice-to-have comfort solutions to must-have safety features. The data captured by our
perception radar, based on our chipset technology, has the fidelity, richness and resolution to leverage artificial intelligence to identify, classify and track objects in 360° to
create a full free space map around the vehicle, as well as an analysis of the evolving hazards sensed by the radars.
 
Our Radar Systems
 
We are a semiconductor company developing advanced radar solutions, which are mainly intended to be used in Advanced Driver Assistance Systems (“ADAS”) and
autonomous vehicles’ (“AV”) sensor suites as well as a wide array of safety applications with advanced sensing and paradigm changing perception.
 
The target market for our chipsets are automotive module manufacturers called Tier 1 automotive suppliers, and automotive manufacturers (OEMs) worldwide. Additionally,
alongside these potential customers, there is a large target market for robotized vehicles and transportation applications such as last-mile delivery robots, robot taxis and
shuttles, heavy machinery, trucks, construction, busses and trains.
 
Our chipset solution includes three types of chips: transmitter (Tx), receiver (Rx) and processor, which together are referred to as our “radar chipset” or the “chipset.” We
believe our radar chipset solution is a first of its kind, capable of high-resolution sensing “in four dimensions” generating tens of thousands of detections per frame with a point
cloud density that is unparalleled by any other radar solution on the market. The chipset distinguishes itself through its improved ability to support multi-channel
processing - up to 2,304 virtual channels, through a combination of up to two transmitters (24 channels each) and up to four receivers (12 channels each). By comparison, other
current-generation radar systems presently utilize 12 virtual channels, while the newest, best in class systems available in the market by our competitors are utilizing 256 virtual
channels at best.
 
Our solution addresses the core issues that have caused the recent autonomous vehicle and autopilot accidents such as detection of stationary objects, identifying vulnerable
road users, operation at poor lighting conditions and eliminating false alarms at low latency with no range, Doppler, and angular ambiguities. Unlike the vast majority of the
radars on the market, our radar technology is designed to address all driving scenarios and use cases, which we believe makes it a mandatory technology for any vehicles
program targeting advanced ADAS features (L2), supervised autonomous driving features (L2+) and up to unsupervised autonomous driving (L3 & L4).
 
We are a Tier-2 semiconductor company, developing advanced radar technology and solutions – multi-channel Radio Frequency Integrated Circuit (RF IC) for transmission and
reception and a dedicated radar processing IC that includes specialized Radar Processing Unit (‘RPU’) and additional general-purpose processing/control cores. We do not have
our own manufacturing facilities. We rely on GlobalFoundries for manufacturing our products.
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Based on our advanced technology, our radar chipset solution is capable of sensing the vehicle environment, at long ranges and with a wide field of view, at a rate of up to 30
frames per second, allowing it to generate a reliable ultra-high-definition image, under all weather and lighting conditions, with great precision, while minimizing the likelihood
of false alarms. Information about the environment is ‘sensed’ by the Tx and Rx elements of the chipset, at the 77 – 81 GHz RF band. The data is then processed at the Radar
Processor, by an advanced proprietary algorithms into a 4D image — range, radial (on line-of-sight) velocity, azimuth and elevation — at ultra-high resolution with high
fidelity and low latency, which is an input to the perception algorithm, sensor fusion and to the vehicle control, to allow emergency braking in any conditions, to enable safe
adaptive cruise control, lane-change assist, and up to advanced automated and autonomous driving features, scaling up with the industry’s evolution toward hands-free, eyes-off
and full autonomous driving.
 
We designed two radar development platforms:
 
 ● The Phoenix Perception Radar, with its 2K ultra-high resolution, enables what we believe is an unmatched level of safety, and enriches perception algorithms for

advanced capabilities including Free Space Mapping, object tracking, and Simultaneous Localization and Mapping (SLAM) at a cost that we believe is comparable in
cost, size, power and heat with currently available radars that provide less than 200 channels. No matter the speed, elevation, range, or surrounding weather and
lighting conditions, Phoenix differentiates true threats from false alarms to ensure a safe road ahead for drivers, pedestrians, and other vulnerable road users. We
believe it is the industry’s first perception radar.

 
 ● Designed primarily for corner and back installation, Lynx – (4D imaging Radar) complements Phoenix Perception Radar to deliver a 360° view around the vehicle.

Lynx offers a full set of benefits at an affordable price – true long-range performance, high resolution, small form factor, and a very wide field of view. It effortlessly
outperforms the current industry 3X4 corner radars and even the leading 12*16 long-range radars on the market, providing perception and superior imaging that are
critical for true safety and autonomous driving.

 
As of the date of this annual report, we are working with four Tier-1s who are building production radars based on our chipset, including Magna, Weifu, Hirain, and Sensrad,
which are currently developing a total of seven different radar products. Radars that are based on our chipset were submitted to nine RFIs/RFQs that are currently active with
OEM, robotaxis, delivery robots, and autonomous trucks projects. We have been selected for five “imaging radar - based perception” projects, of which two are top five global
OEMs which are progressing towards a selection in 2024. Our solution was also selected to provide perception radars for autonomous trucks and AGVs across ports in China.
Our solution is constantly evaluated in field trials, including day and night performance, in variable weather and lighting conditions. The trials, thus far, have revealed what we
believe is superior and promising performance: Our radar chipset solution senses its environment according to its spec, with the highest native resolution available in the
market, and therefore enables an accurate and separate identification of all objects in the environment at their actual position distinguishing between vehicles, vulnerable road
users (pedestrians, animals, cyclists, motorcyclists) and objects and obstacles along the way. Based on the sensing of the environment created by the chipset at any given
moment, the radar system can alert the vehicle central computer unit, allowing the driver assistance system to take control of the car, and activate safety applications such as
emergency braking and lane control assist, or to activate autonomous control functions to avoid the danger.
 
We are currently focusing, and primarily devoting our resources, to the use of our radar chip solution in the automotive industry. However, the technology is also integrated into
other fields, and we are collaborating with other companies to generate business in non-automotive markets, such as autonomous ground vehicles and delivery robots, heavy
machinery and intelligent traffic systems.
 
Our radar chipset solution is designed to integrate into the radar systems of next-generation ADAS in autonomous vehicles of all levels of autonomous driving, thanks in part to
its ability to accurately scan an increased range of detection (of more than 350 meters) in a wide field of view, while optimizing costs and power-consumption, without its
functionality being impaired by interference from other radar systems in the environment. The system maintains efficacy under conditions of low signal-to-noise ratio (“SNR”)
and in multi-object scenarios (conditions under which alternative technologies struggle to provide effective solutions) — both in respect of false positives (error category I) and
false negatives (error category II).
 
We believe that our chipset solves some of the challenges faced by current-generation radar systems, by providing a system that enables:
 
 ● Increased resolution and improved capability to differentiate between adjacent objects;

 
 ● Enhanced detection of stationary objects;

 
 ● Generation of a high-resolution radar image of all the objects in the scene;

 
 ● Compliance with the European NCAP and the NHTSA for installation in Level 2 and higher autonomous vehicles;

 
 ● Reduction of false alarms;

 
 ● Ability to process the huge volumes of data generated when imaging the environment in four dimensions, at high update rate in real-time;

 
 ● Reducing mutual interference between radars that operate in the environment simultaneously;
   
 ● Reduced energy consumption; and

 
 ● Maintain competitive retail radar costs.
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Our technology is the first to create a high-fidelity, high-resolution radar image, that facilitates tracking, and SLAM and real-time decision-making. Our radar chipset heralds a
breakthrough in radar technology that will enable Tier 1 manufacturers and OEMs to replace the current radars with an advanced solution that meets the current safety
requirements of Euro-NCAP and NHTSA for autonomous vehicles at all levels of autonomous driving.
 
Although our radar systems can identify images, each auto maker has its own computer system that instructs the vehicle how to respond to the images identified by our radar. If
the computer system does not address the response to the image generated, the automobile may not operate as planned.
 
The following chart1 shows the number of radar sensors, cameras and LiDAR units in vehicles with different levels of autonomy. As the level of autonomy increases, the
number of radar sensors and cameras increases. LiDAR units are not expected to be included in any vehicle with an autonomy level less than 3. The number of radar sensors is
a function of the autonomy level of the vehicle. 
 

 
Recognizing the different levels of innovation and autonomy and the need to standardize the approaches across the spectrum of possibilities for the sake of safety, the Society of
Automotive Engineers (SAE) has developed and defined six levels of automation for autonomous vehicles: Level 0 through Level 5. These levels have been adopted by the
U.S. Department of Transportation. These levels are:
 

Level 0 — No Automation: A vehicle that is fully controlled by a driver.
 
Level 1 — Driver Assistance: A vehicle controlled by the driver, featuring minimal autonomous control components, designed to assist the driver. For example: a button
that when pressed, keeps the vehicle at a constant speed, parking assistance or staying inside a lane.
 
Level 2 — Partial Automation: A vehicle that includes integrated automation systems, where the driver is still required to control and monitor the environment at all
times. For example: A system capable of detecting lanes and driving independently (cruise control) but alerts the driver to emergencies (driver involvement is required to
operate the steering wheel and brakes). The industry refers to a level that was not originally recognized by the SAE, Level 2+, which adds in surround perception and AI
to improve the safety and convenience of human-driven vehicles. While the driver is still responsible for the car, the platform can perform automated maneuvers for a
more seamless driving experience — such as making highway entrances and exits, lane changes and merges.
 
Level 3 — Conditional Automation: Requires the presence of a driver behind the wheel, but the driver is not required to monitor the environment. The driver must be
prepared to seize control of the vehicle at any given time upon receipt of an alert. For example: The driver can press the control button and be relieved of the need to
monitor the route (and can attend to other matters during this time), but the driver’s presence and alertness are still essential. At this level, the vehicle can be used as an
autonomous vehicle only when road and weather conditions allow it.
 
Level 4 — High Automation: The vehicle is capable of performing all driving functions under certain conditions. The driver has the option of taking over control of the
vehicle.
 
Level 5 — Full Automation: The vehicle is capable of performing all driving functions under all conditions.

 
Pictured below is our Production Intent System (“B Sample” in automotive terminology), and below the picture is an infographic of the specifications.
 
 

1 NXP Automotive Radar Teach In, August 26, 2020
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The dimensions of radar systems based on our radar chipset, and the projected affordable price point are expected to facilitate its integration into mass production.
 
We estimate that we will be able to offer our radar chipset solution in commercial quantities in 2024; however, such schedule is based on our completing the chipset
development and making our product suitable as a commercial product. We can give no assurance that we will be able to sell the radar chipset solution in commercial quantities
or that our manufacturer will have the facilities available to manufacture the chipsets in such quantities.
 
Market Outlook
 
The automotive industry is increasingly harnessing sophisticated technologies in its aim to develop and enhance safety and introduce autonomous driving vehicles. Today, the
leading technologies are based primarily on cameras, high resolution radar sensors, and in some cases Lidar sensors, combined with data processing based on complex
algorithms. The various technologies differ from each other in their features and performance in different conditions and scenarios.
 
Significant investment and rapid growth in this industry are being driven by the need to increase road safety. Given the stakes involved in commercializing autonomous driving
features, the technologies and products needed for truly safe driver assist solutions require long development and validation cycles and must ensure safety prior to commercial
deployment.
 
In the last decade, the world’s leading car manufacturers have begun to incorporate advanced automation systems in vehicles, aiming to assist the driver and even control
certain driving functions. The vision for the future is that within several years, the technology would enable production of autonomous vehicles that support driverless vehicles,
including development of unmanned shuttle services (robotaxis) that would complement traditional public transport services. The vision of a fully autonomous vehicle
(driverless) is seen as a potential solution for reducing the number of traffic accidents (due to the elimination of the “human element” from the equation), and as an incentive to
create innovative autonomous vehicle-sharing services that will lead to the public foregoing the purchase of private vehicles, to reduce the problem of traffic congestion, and to
potentially significantly reduce fuel consumption and air pollution.
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According to a forecast by Evercore ISI2, a decrease in sales of vehicles of Level 1 and Level 2 automation is expected. A growth trend is expected in the sales volumes of
Level 2+, L2++, Level 3, Level 4 and Level 5 vehicles. Starting 2028 over 30% of new vehicles will offer hand free driving (L2++ and higher).
 

 
* Source: Evercore ISI, Global Automotive Report, May 2023.

 
Driver assistance systems include advanced automation functions (based on camera and radar) designed to reduce the risk of traffic accidents, alert the driver to obstacles on the
road, and even take control of the vehicle under certain conditions. The ADAS category includes the following systems, among others:
 

(a) Distance maintenance system — designed to warn of a collision with a vehicle ahead or behind, by alerting the driver of imminent danger and flagging the need to
take preventive action. This type of system may be an effective tool to compensate for the driver’s lack of concentration or distraction while driving.

 
 

2 https://www.electronicproducts. com/automotive-radar-and-lidar-sensors-one-masterpiece-and-another-in-the-making/#
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(b)  Lane departure control system — designed to alert the driver when veering off a lane without signaling.

 
(c) Autonomous braking system — designed to operate the brake system autonomously, or increase their power when identifying risk of harm to road users (pedestrians,

cyclists, vehicles, etc.).
 

In recent years, automakers have been installing ADAS such as those mentioned above as standard features in many vehicle models, and these systems have also been installed
electively by vehicle owners. In many cases, automakers choose to integrate ADAS based on several technologies simultaneously (radar and cameras), and we believe that it is
likely that this trend of integrating technologies into vehicles will continue in the coming years.
 
Alongside development and production of current-generation ADAS, there has been accelerated development of advanced technology of next-generation systems, designed to
support autonomous driving, in preparation for manufacture of Level 2+ and higher autonomy. The currently deployed radar technology holds a central position in the ADAS
category. This type of technology is installed in adaptive cruise control (ACC) systems, blind spot detection (BSD) systems, forward collision warning (FCW) systems, and
intelligent park assist systems, among others.
 
According to the IDTechEx Research3 forecast, total radar-system sales for Level 2 or higher autonomous vehicles is expected to grow from 55 million units in 2019 to
223 million units in 2030 and 400 million units in 2040. More specifically, by 2025, sales of Level 1 and Level 2 vehicle radar systems are expected to grow, whereas in the
following years, Level 3, Level 4, and Level 5 vehicle radar systems are expected to grow and gradually take over most of the market.

 
Growth Strategies
 
Our growth strategies include the following:
 

● Extending engagements with OEMs and Driving Stack providers: While we keep focus on the well-established production path with our Tier 1 customers, we are
extending our focus to better fit the age-of-autonomy: Working directly with OEM’s feature owners, perception teams and driving stack providers (NVIDIA and
others) to enhance the mutual understanding for the need for an imaging radar and how it is to be used for advanced ADAS and higher level of autonomy. We will
extend the work through collaborative field tests, radar datasets, perception and fusion early integrations with perception radars, feature benchmarking and
development of innovative algorithms that maximizes the benefits of such a radar to these partners, providing them with what we believe is an invaluable competitive
edge.

 
● Capitalize on The L2++/L3 becoming the new competition Frontier: The ADAS/L2 features are becoming commoditized across OEMs and as such, becoming also

extremely cost-sensitive. We will continue to extend our focus of the more advanced L2+ (supervised) and L3/L4 (unsupervised) features, which are becoming the
leading, competitive features of all key OEMs. These features require advanced systems, and specifically, imaging radar, for automatically integrating vehicles in
traffic, preventing traffic accidents and eventually bring hands-off and potentially eyes-off driving features to the masses. Such features are expected to dramatically
increase the demand for products in our field of activity, to achieve the required level of performance and safety.

 
● Capitalize on Regulatory Changes. We believe that our existing infrastructure positions us well to capitalize on regulatory changes pertaining to required installation of

traffic accident prevention systems in general, and radar systems in particular, which is expected to increase the demand for the technology and products that we are
developing.

 
 ● Capitalize on Economic Incentives. To the extent that insurance companies require that radars be installed on vehicles as a condition for issuing insurance policies is

expected to increase the demand for our products. Other private parties may also impose requirements for radar systems, which would similarly heighten demand for
our products.

 
 

3 IDTechEx Research – May 2020
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 ● Expand Product Applications. Our activities are presently mainly focused on chipsets for vehicle radars systems. However, the technology developed by us (originally

intended to facilitate drone monitoring and control) may also be used for other non-automotive target markets (to be understood in this context to mean all markets that
are not mass-produced cars) which we are approaching, such as autonomous ground vehicles, robots; agricultural tools; automation for industry and factories; smart
traffic systems; train junctions; heavy transportation and heavy machinery. In the future, we intend to consider developing new products based on its technology such
as consumer electronics and Internet of Things (IoT); biotech and medical fields.

 
Sales and Marketing
 
In light of the proven ability of technological systems to reduce the risk of traffic accidents, authorities, organizations and governments around the world have established
regulations that require the installation of ADAS in certain vehicles and operation of autonomous driving features. For instance, in 2018, the NHTSA required the installation of
a rear-view system in private vehicles, and in 2015 the Israeli government approved incentives for vehicle owners to install life-saving safety systems (including a lane
departure warning, frontal distance monitoring and pedestrian identification). According to a market study published in August 20194, the global ADAS market was estimated
at $39 billion in 2018 and is expected to grow to around $190 billion by 2026, at an annual growth rate of around 21%. Another market study, published by Markets and
Markets5, estimates the global ADAS market in 2020 at $27 billion, projecting it to grow to around $65.1 billion by 2030, at a compound annual growth rate of approximately
12%. Despite discrepancies in the estimated scope of the market (due to varying research methodologies), it appears that there is unanimity among the research bodies that the
ADAS market is expected to grow in the coming years, due in part to mandatory safety regulations, increased demand for Advanced Driver Assistance Systems, and continued
development of (partially or fully) autonomous vehicles.
 
The European New Car Assessment Program, otherwise referred to as NCAP, rates vehicles by safety features. The rating system has been successful at influencing consumers
to make vehicle purchases based on how high the NCAP rating is, making safety a priority for consumers. The mission of NCAP is “Vision Zero” to eventually have zero
accidents or fatalities on the road, with this vision, automotive technology companies and automakers are looking for technologies that will enable them to develop more safety
features that can predict and prevent car accidents before they happen. Vision Zero will require that all vehicles shift from passively protecting individuals to actively protecting
them — both in the vehicle as well as outside the car.
 
Our marketing strategy is primarily targeted at Tier 1 manufacturers, with the aim of fostering cooperation with the Tier 1 manufacturers to integrate our radar chipsets into the
radar systems that Tier 1 manufacturers will sell to OEMs. Our sales and marketing team continues to focus on expanding its relationships with OEMs and Tier-1 suppliers and
seeks to leverage its existing relationships to expand its market to other industries. We are considered a Tier-2 Automotive supplier because we sell our product to Tier-1
companies that then integrate our product into the overall system supplied to the OEMs. Our business model of being a Tier-2 supplier that subcontracts its manufacturing,
together with its market leadership, results in an advantageous cost structure that requires minimal sales and marketing expenses with respect to OEMs. We are taking
marketing steps intended to position us as a leading company in research and development of chip technology for next-generation imaging radar systems in autonomous
vehicles. Marketing is directed by the chief marketing officer who works from our headquarters in Israel, and by the chief business officer who works in the United States, and
the vice president of sales.
 
The marketing strategies employed include participation in industry conferences, public relations publications, issuing newsletters and proactive inquiries to potential
customers. We leverage a variety of channels to reach prospects which include organic and paid social media activity, joint events, webinars and media and analyst relations.
 
 

4  by Allied Market Research – https://www.alliedmarketresearch.com/ADAS-market
5  https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/driver-assistance-systems-market-1201.html
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As part of our marketing program, our radar solution is available on the open NVIDIA platform. NVIDIA is a scalable, software-defined, end-to-end AI platform for the
transportation industry and companies around the world, including auto- and truck makers, Tier 1 automotive suppliers, robotaxis, sensor and mapping companies and
autonomous vehicle startups are developing on NVIDIA.
 
Material Agreements
 
We are party to certain agreements that we believe are important to our business. Some of these agreements are memoranda of understanding, with a definitive agreement to be
negotiated in the future. We can give no assurance that these memoranda of understanding will develop into agreement or will generate significant, if any, revenue for us.
Further, our ability to generate revenue from any of these agreements is dependent upon our ability to develop and deliver products that meet the customer’s requirement, as to
which no assurance can be given.
 
Strategic Agreements
 
Our business development strategy is based primarily on cooperation with Tier 1 automotive manufacturers to integrate our radar chipset into the radar systems manufactured
by the Tier 1 manufacturers, which will ultimately be sold by the Tier 1 manufacturers to the OEMs. We are party to strategic agreements with Tier 1 automotive manufacturers,
as follows:
 
Magna
 
As of October 2022, we were chosen by Veoneer (one of the top five automotive radar suppliers) as the radar chip set solution for their next generation radar (Gen 5). On
October 6, 2022, Veoneer signed a memorandum of understanding with us establishing a technical collaboration and business alliance relating to its plans to co-develop radars
for automotive-grade safety and advanced driver assistance systems based on our chipsets. Veoneer (Magna) is already sampling its next generation for the imaging radar to
OEMs. Veoneer selected our chipset solution for its next generation radars, including a long-range, high-resolution radar with 48x48 RF channels and a 360° surround radar
with 24x12 RF channels. During 2022 multiple Request for Quotation (RFQ) or Request for Information (RFI) were submitted based on our chipsets in the United States,
Europe and China. During 2023, Magna International Inc. completed the acquisition of Veoneer Active Safety from SSW Partners.
 
Weifu
 
On January 8, 2020, we entered into an agreement with Weifu High-Technology Group Co., Ltd (hereinafter: “Weifu”), a Tier 1 automotive manufacturer in China pursuant to
which Weifu agreed to develop and manufacture vehicle radar systems based on our radar chips. The agreement with Weifu included, inter alia, a commitment by Weifu to pay
us for chipset costs, support in development, system design and documentation. On December 18, 2020, we and Weifu expanded the joint project and agreed to increase the
scope of the project for an additional fee. The agreement also stipulated the price that Weifu will pay to buy the chips during the mass production phase. Weifu is in the process
of developing radar systems based on our radar chips, and has begun performing demonstrations to OEMs in China, using a sample provided by us. Weifu announced it reached
a road pilot phase of our chipset based radar systems. On July 18, 2023, we entered into a technical services agreement with Weifu for services and support to be provided by us
to Weifu during a period of 12 months for $1,000,000. On July 28, 2023, Weifu issued an $11.6 million preliminary order for our radar chipsets, for its estimated requirements
in 2024 and 2025.
 
Hirain
 
On March 1, 2020, we entered a memorandum of understanding with Hirain Technologies, a Tier 1 automotive manufacturer in China, pursuant to which Hirain will develop
and manufacture radar systems for vehicles based on our radar chips, backed by funding from a bi-national Israel-China research foundation (Beijing). On August 19, 2020, a
distribution agreement was signed between the parties, granting Hirain the right to sell our demo systems to its customers in China. Effective March 1, 2021, we and Hirain
entered into an agreement under which Hirain will develop and manufacture automotive radar systems based on our radar chipset. The agreement with Hirain included, inter
alia, a commitment by Hirain to pay us for chipset costs, support in development, system design and documentation. During the fourth quarter of 2022, Hirain issued a
preliminary order for 340,000 radar chipsets, in order to secure capacity for its anticipated production ramp-up. In January 2024, Hirain announced that it will begin its imaging
radars by the end of 2024, following a significant of the successful development of a high-performance B-sample (a production intent system design). Hirain is currently
positioned to embark on a rigorous data collection phase, with plans to cover 1 million kilometers using a vehicle fleet equipped with Hirain’s LRR610 Imaging Radars,
powered by our chipset. This development initiative is designed to optimize the fusion and perception system, which enables key automotive safety and comfort features. 
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Ordering samples (proof of concept) - OEMs
 
As of December 31, 2023, we had received orders from OEMs, Tier 1 manufacturers and other companies who seek to take advantage of the market opportunity to purchase
from us our i samples, which are systems for the purpose of testing capabilities and development. The agreements grant the right of use to the recipients of the samples while
safeguarding our intellectual property and limiting our liability. The volume of revenue for selling samples is not significant. In October 2021, we were chosen by a European
OEM to participate in its artificial intelligence-based technologies for environment perception (radar sensors) innovation project. The revenue from this project is not
significant. In 2023, we were chosen by two European OEM for perception projects and by a Japanese OEM for a perception project. The revenue from these projects is not
significant.
 
These selections were further extended to expected participation as a short listing in RFQ for high volume serial production in the second quarter of 2024. Although our primary
focus is on seeking orders for commercial production, we believe these agreements with OEMs and Tier 1 manufacturers represent an important part of our marketing effort
directed at the OEMs and Tier 1 suppliers.
 
Chips for non-retail automotive radar systems
 
Sensrad
 
On October 16, 2020, we entered into an agreement with Qamcom Research & Technology AB (“Qamcom”), which set out principles of cooperation between the parties for the
development of radar systems based on our radar chips, for non-automotive target markets, such as delivery robots, agricultural tools, smart traffic lights, train junctions, and
other markets.
 
On January 11, 2021, we entered into a strategic agreement with Qamcom under which Qamcom will develop and manufacture imaging radars based on our chipset to be used
in the non-automotive market. The agreement with Qamcom included, inter alia, a commitment by Qamcom to pay us for the chipset cost and portion of the module hardware
cost, for the receipt of support in development, system design and documentation.
 
During 2023, Sensrad was incorporated as a spin-off venture from Qamcom Group’s radar division to offer a unique imaging radar sensor based on the latest software and
hardware technology, including our radar chipset. Sensrad is co-owned by Gapwaves, which is considered a technical powerhouse within antenna and radar technology
industry.
 
During January 2023, Sensrad announced significant customer orders for radar systems leveraging our chipset. The recent orders from global companies underscore the
market’s recognition of the transformative impact of our radar chipset technology, integrated into Sensrad’s Hugin Imaging Radar systems.
 
KargoBot
 
On April 28, 2023, we and Weifu announced a strategic cooperation with DIDI Global’s KargoBot, an autonomous truck company, for developing and marketing safe L4
autonomous trucks with 4D Imaging Radars based on our proprietary chipset. We and Weifu continue to accelerate the implementation on the platform fleets.
 
Other Evaluations
 
Our radar is also being evaluated by other leading Tier-1s and we are engaged in discussions with OEMs that did not approve our releasing their names.
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Manufacturing
 
On June 27, 2022, we entered into a manufacturing agreement with GlobalFoundries Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“GlobalFoundries”) for the manufacture of our semiconductor
products, as well as other services, including pre-production, quality assurance, assembly, testing and supply-chain management. The initial term of the agreement is five years.
The agreement includes customary terms for semiconductor manufacturing agreements, such as product recalls, warranty and business continuity.
 
We depend on GlobalFoundries to manufacture our semiconductor products. This agreement helps us secure the production of our semiconductor products and GlobalFoundries
is committed to supply our binding forecasts.
 
We leverage GlobalFoundries capabilities as a silicon manufacturer and chipset supply chain management in turn-key work model to better secure production capacity to meet
our customers’ fulfillment and quality and reliability automotive requirements.
 
Research and Development
 
We were founded as a research and development company, developing microchips for miniature radar systems for companies operating drone fleets, with the aim of providing a
technological solution that would enable the drone to detect at high speeds and improved resolution various obstacles, using little electrical power. Once drone technology was
developed, we decided to change the focus of our strategy and research and development to the field of chips for radar systems for autonomous vehicles.
 
Our research and development activities are conducted in Israel. We have received Israel Innovation Authority (“IIA”) grant approval for certain approved programs. We
received grants from IIA and the European Community that, as of March 1, 2024, amount to approximately $3.8 million, based on the exchange rate when the grants were
received. We are obligated to pay royalties to the IIA, amounting to 4% of the sales of the products and other related revenues generated from such projects. The maximum
aggregate royalties paid generally cannot exceed 100% of the grants received, plus annual interest generally equal to 12-months SOFR applicable to dollar deposits, as
published on the first business day of each calendar year. The obligation to pay these royalties is contingent on sales of the products.
 
Our principal operating expenses are research and development expenses, which were approximately $34.1 million, $36.7 million and $28.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our research and development efforts are focused on enhancing and developing the 4D imaging radar chipset solution and the
accompanying software. The increase in research and development expenses reflects the ramp up in our operations, including hiring and starting work toward our full
production plan.
 
Intellectual Property
 
Our intellectual property is a crucial part of our business. Our IP rights are protected by a combination of patents, trade secret protection, confidentiality agreements, and other
contractual agreements with employees and third parties. We have applied for patent protection in several jurisdictions including Israel, United States, Europe, and China and
have been granted patents in both Israel, the United States and the PRC. Unpatented trade secrets are also an important aspect of our business.
 
We filed patent applications for 18 unique patent families covering a wide range of fields related to our products features and aspects including radar signal processing, radar
Tx/Rx integrated circuit design, radar coexistence and mutual interface mitigation techniques, package design, antenna design, post-processing methods and algorithms, and
system design. We filed these applications, including utility and provisional applications, in jurisdictions that we believe are the main automotive markets and development
centers around the world, principally the United States, the European Union and China. Twenty patents, covering eleven different inventions, have been granted in the United
States, Israel and China, with patents generally having a term of 20 years from their filing date. Among the patents granted are patents covering methods for mitigation of
mutual interference between automotive radars including frequency hopping multiband chirp techniques, a radome for automotive radar patch antennas, RFIC packaging
techniques including low loss transmission lines, a radar-based system for real-time simultaneous localization and mapping, known as SLAM, a MIMO radar array antenna, and
a method for separating targets and clutter from noise.
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Competition
 
The market for competitive automotive sensing solutions that enable autonomous driving is an emerging market with many potential applications in the development stage. As
a result, we face competition from a range of companies (from large corporations to start-ups) seeking to have their products incorporated into these developing applications
and it may take a period of time for its primary competitors to emerge.
 
The ADAS market is formed of Tier 1 manufacturers which manufacture radar systems, as well as companies that develop and manufacture software and hardware such as
chips and sensors for the radar systems, which are called Tier 2 suppliers. We are a Tier 2 supplier, which has its products manufactured by a third-party manufacturer. As a Tier
2 supplier, we supply imaging radar chipset to Tier 1 manufacturers who are building imaging radar systems and to OEMs.
 
We believe that the following strengths differentiate us and will enable us to successfully compete and maintain our leadership position in our target markets.
 

● Technology. We believe that our 4D imaging radar technology brings the fundamental leap required to achieve true radar imaging capabilities to the level that it can be
used as a primary sensor for perception in tandem with cameras and optionally LiDAR. Our technology addresses the key challenges in the automotive radar domain
while maintaining competitive size, power and cost for the Level 2+, Level 3 and Level 4 mass market, for high-density, high-resolution RF front-end, through cutting-
edge algorithms to effectively utilize the radar and the powerful radar processing unit required to run the radar. We believe our technology will bring safety and
autonomy to the mass market in all weather and all lighting conditions with redundancy at an attractive cost.

 
● Cost and Energy Efficient High-Performance Radar Solutions. Tier-1 manufacturers and automakers are extremely sensitive to the cost of any component in the

vehicle, and especially to relatively highly priced individual components such as radar sensors. They demand competitive prices and put significant weight on this
parameter when deciding on vendors. We expect that our products will be competitively priced as a result of mass production. We believe that our products will be
competitively prices will offer better performance.

 
● Global Coverage and Large Ecosystem. Our products are marketed worldwide and amenable to implementation globally.

 
● Significant Validation from Leading Companies in the industry. Our progress has garnered the attention of major companies in the industry.

 
● Automotive grade development and production. Vehicle components, particularly parts of the autonomous vehicle driving technology system, are required to have a

high functional safety grade. Achieving compliance with functional safety standards is a time-consuming and labor-intensive process that requires significant
cooperation with automotive grade industry participants, such as Tier-1 suppliers and automobile manufacturers. Since 2018, we have worked closely with leading
Tier-1 suppliers such as Veoneer, Valeo, Hirain and Weifu, to develop a radar solution that meets these rigorous requirements. This process has included continuous
and extensive product-safety auditing. As a result of our close work with these Tier 1 automotive suppliers, we have developed rigorous safety and quality expertise.
We believe that this experience provides us with a competitive advantage in marketing against companies that have not worked with Tier 1 automotive suppliers in the
development of their product.
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 ● Relationships with multiple Tier-1 suppliers enable market penetration. OEMs design their future models and vehicles several years in advance and often then freeze

the design in order to produce and deliver the vehicles on time. Therefore, designs for mass-production of reliable Level 2+ to Level 3 and Level 4 consumer car
programs where imaging and perception radars are required, is expected in 2025-2028 are being decided in 2024. Radar solutions that will be candidates for inclusion
in these programs must go through the process of automotive-grade manufacturing and audit by the OEMs and Tier-1 suppliers. We believe that our experience
working with Tier 1 automotive suppliers and OEMs places us in a better position to market to the next generation of autonomous vehicles.

 
Our chipset has the highest channel count in the industry, which provides the highest resolutions, true 4-dimensional view of the vehicle’s environment, including separation in
high resolution in elevation, an industry first. In addition, our dedicated radar processor chip, which was designed specifically for the automotive industry sets it apart from
competition, providing not only fast time to market, but more importantly the ability to reduce power consumption, and overall solution cost.
 
The following chart compares the performance of radar chipset, to our chipset:
 

 
While Texas Instruments and NXP offer a low-resolution radar chip of 4Rx * 4Tx, capable of scaling up to 16Rx * 16 Tx without a dedicated processor for current generation
radars, other companies are targeting the imaging radar space with high resolution radar chipsets.
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Mobileye
 
After previously announcing the development of a 2,304 virtual channels radar (48x48 Rx*Tx), Mobileye has announced that it updated its channel count to 1,536 virtual
channels (32x48), which we believe gives up some image quality resolution and decreases the throughput and required processing power. We believe that on the one hand
MobilEye’s decision to develop a 4D imaging radar is significant to the automotive market in acknowledging Mobileye’s view of the imaging radar’s key role in the overall
perception solution, while on the other hand we believe that our excess channel count indicates that our solution has a higher angular native resolution with lower native false
alarms and an efficient handling of high throughput and processing. Mobileye has stated that its radar system is planned to complete production in 2025, which we believe
places Mobileye two years behind us. We believe that Mobileye plans to play some of the roles of the Tier 1 automotive supplier, and compete with our customers, who are
leading automotive radar Tier 1s, with years of experience in this space. We believe, based on the specification Mobileye published, that our current chipset has better
performance, price and power and that using our radar chipset solution would better meet the needs of the developing autonomous vehicle market.
 
We believe that our technology offers advanced radar performance at an affordable price. The illustration below provides a comparison of the leading radar systems channel
count and prices.
 

 
 
*Source: Arbe’s assessment of competitive landscape
 
Current Generation ADAS Radars
 
Traditional commercial radar systems have 5-degree (or worse) resolution. Due to their low azimuth resolution and lack of elevation resolution, traditional radars, that were
originally designed for controlling emergency braking and adaptive cruise control, are limited to detecting moving vehicles and discarding all detections of the stationary
environment and cannot address free space mapping that requires high elevation resolution. Traditional radars have a high level of false alarms that trigger reports of phantom
objects and false positives. For this reason, the detection threshold, is raised which results in decreased radar sensitivity and may lead to accidents. We have revolutionized radar
by addressing these core issues that have caused recent driverless vehicle and autopilot accidents by detecting stationary objects, identifying vulnerable road users, and
eliminating false alarms without radar ambiguities.
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Ambarella for short range radar
 
During 2021, Ambarella acquired Oculii, which was established in 2013, and offers a software solution which is implemented on top of traditional 4Rx * 3Tx radar chips, with
the aim to improve the elevation and azimuth resolution and to expand the field of view. This approach will also lead to a denser point cloud, which in turn would allow more
advanced signal processing. However, this software solution is not applicable to autonomy level beyond level 2, in complex driving features and with higher levels of
autonomy.
 
Continental ARS 540
 
The Continental system is based on four Texas Instrument 3Rx * 4Tx chips, cascaded to achieve a 16*12 array, as well as the Xilinx FPGA (field-programmable gate array)
board, and not a radar processor on a chip like our solution. FPGA is not designed for large scale automotive solutions, and therefore has many drawbacks - it is expensive, the
continental system costs in the range of $200 in high volumes, it requires high power consumption, has heat dissipation issues, and supports fewer frames per second and very
low number of detections per frame. The platform may have ambiguity issues increasing the false alarm rate as well as filtering out real detection.
 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
 
As an auto-tech company, we have developed what we believe is a revolutionary radar that will enable truly safe driver-assist systems that can save lives on the road. Our
mission is to strengthen and enhance the safety of vehicle users and others in the industry who can apply the technology to their service.
 
Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) practices are guided by our social mission of saving lives and securing people’s safety on the road. Notably, the social
element in ESG is reflected in the essence of our product as we created a system that assists with the prevention of injuries and fatalities while driving. As part of our
community involvement. we encourage our employees to participate in in volunteering initiatives in the local community. As part of our spirit, we strengthen diversity and
equality through equal pay and affirmative action towards recruiting and advancing qualified women.
 
We conduct our business activities based on a firm commitment to ethical values and corporate governance best practices. Our policy is to follow leading ESG principles in
relation to our supply chain, including, evaluating, and engaging responsible suppliers. Our suppliers must operate in compliance with all applicable national and international
laws and regulations, as well as implementing the principles of the Responsible Business Alliance (RBA) Code of Conduct. We are working with GlobalFoundries, a company
that we believe values, supports and leads best ESG practices.
 
We believe in the importance of promoting and adopting practices that support ESG implementation within our activities. During 2023, we identified significant ESG topics
relevant across all company activities. We will continue to advance our commitment to ESG practices across our operations, as well as monitor the development of regulatory
requirements.
 
Regulations
 
The automotive industry is subject to high standards of safety and quality. The integration of Advanced Driver Assistance Systems may stem from binding regulatory directives
or from initiative on part of the car manufacturers (driven, inter alia, by the wish to obtain a higher safety rating or to accommodate demand from vehicle consumers). Our
products will need to meet quality and safety control standards, regional and international ISO standards and dedicated standards pertaining to ADAS.
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Autonomous vehicles are subject to emerging regulatory frameworks at the federal and state levels that are in a rapid state of change. In general, at both the federal and state
level, the U.S. has provided a positive and relatively permissive legal environment to allow the safe testing and development of autonomous functionality. We do not anticipate
any near-term federal standards that would impede the foreseeable deployments of our radar technology. Some states, however, particularly California and New York, still
enforce certain operational or registration requirements for certain autonomous functions. For example, California has been regulating autonomous vehicles in some fashion
since 2012 through various restrictions and appears poised to continue to do so, as in December 2022, California introduced new legislation that would prohibit full self-driving
marketing claims. California state lawmakers are also considering bills that would prohibit autonomous trucks and self-driving vehicles weighing more than 10,001 without
human drivers behind the wheel. It is possible that restrictions at the state level in the U.S. will ease or be removed as the data and experience supporting the safety of
autonomous functionality continues to grow, but we cannot predict when or whether that might happen. However, we believe such hurdles will be removed as state regulators
gain better experience with the technology. U.S. federal regulations, however, remain largely permissive of deployments of higher levels of safe and responsible autonomous
functionality.
 
In 2015, the NHTSA announced a plan to update the criteria for 5-star safety ratings, to encourage automakers to use technology to prevent traffic accidents. In 2016, the
NHTSA added automated braking systems to the list of technologies required to achieve a 5-star safety ratings. The technologies currently recommended by the NHTSA
include: forward collision warning, lane departure warning, rear view video system, and automatic emergency breaking.
 
In 2023, the NHTSA promulgated the “Occupant Protection for Vehicles with Automated Driving Systems” final rule to update several FMVSS to account for vehicles that are
equipped with ADAS and do not have traditional manual controls associated with human drivers. The NHTSA also proposed rules to update FMVSS for crash avoidance,
safety messaging and passengerless vehicles and jointly proposed a rule with the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration regarding AEB test devices for heavy vehicles.
 
Foreign markets such as the China and the EU also continue to develop their respective standards to define deployment requirements for higher levels of autonomy. In China,
for example, the government has undertaken numerous efforts to promote autonomous vehicle development, including its February 2020 release of the Strategies for Innovation
and Development of Autonomous Vehicles by China’s National Development and Reform Commission and ten other agencies. This initiative sets forth an ambitious plan to
create a systematic framework for technical innovation, industrial ecology, infrastructure, regulations and standards, product regulation and network security in the autonomous
vehicles market by 2025, and from 2035 to 2050, to fully establish an ecosystem for autonomous vehicles. Much of the emerging regulatory and legislative activity around
autonomous vehicles in the EU has been focused on data privacy and security, given the volume and types of data collected, stored and transmitted by autonomous vehicles. A
key part of Europe’s emerging autonomous vehicles strategy is the creation of a common European mobility data space, to be further developed in the EU’s “Smart and
Sustainable Transport Strategy.” Given the intense work in these areas, we expect a workable path forward in the near-term in these markets.
 
The automotive industry in Japan puts all automotive and telecommunications technologies through a rigorous certification process prior to commercial evaluation in the
region. In February 2022, we obtained the Japanese Telecommunication and Radio certification for radar samples based on our mass production RF chipset.
 
Like all companies operating in similar industries, we are subject to environmental regulation, including water use; air emissions; use of recycled materials; energy sources; the
storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials; and the remediation of environmental contamination. Compliance with these rules may include
the need to obtain permits and licenses and to allow inspections of our facilities and products.
 
Overall, the autonomous vehicles regulatory landscape is still evolving rapidly. We may become subject to additional regulatory schemes and requirements as the development
of federal, state and foreign legal frameworks around autonomous vehicles continues to develop and change.
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In recent years, governments, authorities and organizations around the world have sought to tackle the problem of traffic accidents, through, among other methods, regulation
and legislation that encourage, and even require, installation of ADAS in vehicles. Such trends are gaining momentum and are being promoted by the NHTSA and Euro-NCAP,
among others, who institute standards for safety ratings for new vehicles, and provide the highest rating (5 stars) where advanced technology for the prevention of traffic
accidents is installed. A similar trend applies to the Chinese car safety assessment program CNCAP which incorporates “Active Safety” criteria into its 5-star rating. In Israel,
for instance, in 2015, the government approved the Ministry of Transport’s plan to provide a financial incentive for private vehicle owners to install lifesaving safety systems,
and to establish that buses and trucks would be required to install a system for identifying pedestrians as a condition for renewing the vehicle’s license.
 

Source: Yole, Driving Radar Resolution, February 2023.
 

It should be noted that in addition to the regulatory trends, awareness among automakers and vehicle owners of the importance and benefits of installing ADAS (even in the
absence of binding regulation) has increased, and it is likely that in the future, the vast majority of new vehicles will be equipped with such systems. This trend is expected to
accelerate due to various factors, including improvements that have enabled price reduction.
 
Regulation or standardization may stipulate that automakers or vehicle-owners install ADAS in general, and radar systems in particular, which could facilitate our penetration
into potential target markets.

 
Similarly, internal regulation adopted by OEMs voluntarily, or regulation by insurance companies requiring ADAS as a prerequisite for an insurance policy may also benefit our
operations and business outcomes.
 
As an Israeli company, we are subject to laws and regulations applicable to all companies, including export controls, privacy, cybersecurity, anti-corruption, labor relations and
workplace laws and regulations.
 
Legal Proceedings
 
We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings.
 
C. Organizational Structure
 
We have three wholly-owned subsidiaries, two in the United States -- Arbe Robotics US Inc. and Autobot HoldCo. Inc., both Delaware corporations, and one, Shanghai Arbe
Technologies Co., Ltd., organized under the laws of the People’s Republic of China.
 
D. Property, plants and equipment.
 
We do not have any material tangible fixed assets. We do not own any real estate. We rent offices from third parties, extending over an area of approximately 2,000 square
meters located in 105 and 107 HaHashmonaim Street in Tel Aviv. We pay monthly rent of approximately $37,600. The offices serve for both our R&D activities and our
corporate headquarters.
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ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
 
Not Applicable
 
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements as of December
31, 2023 and 2022 and for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 and notes to those statements included elsewhere in this annual report. Some of the information
contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this annual report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the “Cautionary Note Concerning Forward-
Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” in Section D under Item 3 of this annual report, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by the
forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
 
Overview
 
We are driving a radar revolution, paving the way for an autonomous future, utilizing an outstanding, truly safe, commercially viable, 4D Imaging solution. As a global leader
in radar technology, we enable safe roads today paving the way to full autonomy for passenger cars, autonomous trucks, delivery robots, robotaxies, commercial vehicles, and
empowering a wide array of safety applications with advanced sensing and paradigm-changing perception.
 
Founded in 2015 by Chief Executive Officer Kobi Marenko, Chief Technology Officer Dr. Noam Arkind, and former Chief Operations Officer Oz Fixman, our breakthrough
technology has transformed radar as a sensor for ADAS (advanced driver assistance systems) and autonomous vehicles from the chip-level up, with technological
breakthroughs across all core components. As a result, we have created what we believe is the leading imaging radar sensor, the only radar capable of enhancing perception
algorithm that meets the demanding performance, safety, and cost requirements for Level 2+ through Level 5 autonomous vehicles, bypassing the traditional limitations of
legacy radar technology- low resolution, inability to sense stationary objects, high false alarm rate, lack of resolution, to name a few. Integrating the advanced hardware with
our custom AI stack enables support for advanced perception capabilities at mass market prices, with top performance in all environments, weather and lighting.
 
Our 4D imaging radar, delivering an image that we believe is 100 times more detailed than any commercial radar on the market, sets a new standard for safety in the industry,
and is designed to enable accurate and reliable sensing in some of the most challenging use cases that autonomous vehicles can encounter on a regular basis – such as providing
free space mapping in a tunnel, detecting a tire on the road ahead in heavy rain, tracking pedestrians in the dark. This is achieved by the development of a chipset with the
highest channel count in the industry, proprietary radar processing algorithms, and our industry first radar-based perception applications.
 
Our advanced semiconductors technology has made us one of the leading providers for the world’s top OEMs. With 136 employees, as of March 1, 2024, we have scaled to
over 39 evaluation projects and were have been advised that we are on the short list with nine OEMs, robotaxis, delivery robots, and autonomous trucks projects. We have been
selected for evaluation by five “Imaging Radar - based perception” projects, out of them, two are top five global OEM which are progressing towards selection in 2024.
 
Revenue for the ADAS/AD radar industry is expected to have an estimated total addressable market opportunity of approximately $13.5 billion in 20286. Our model to capture
this opportunity is to work directly with top established Tier 1 automotive suppliers in order to power their next generation radars. Correspondingly, we have established
relationships with four Tier-1 suppliers who are building production radars based on our chipset, including Magna, Weifu, Hirain, and Sensrad. GlobalFoundries, our chip
manufacturer which is responsible for chip production and supply chain management, has advised us that it will have the capacity necessary to meet our anticipated
commitments for 2024 and 2025.
 
 

 6 Yole Group, Driving Radar Resolution, September 2023.
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Key Factors Affecting our Operating Results
 
We believe that our future performance and success depends to a substantial extent on the following factors, each of which is in turn subject to significant risks and challenges,
including those discussed below and in the section of this annual report in Item 3 under “Risk Factors.”
 
In our industry, staying ahead hinges on delivering cutting-edge technology at competitive prices. Success requires us to consistently offer the latest advancements, which is
why we channel our research and development towards maintaining our technological edge. Our ability to thrive is closely tied to the worldwide demand for ADAS.
 
Although we believe that widespread adoption of 4D imaging radar across applications for safety and autonomy is approaching and that we are well-positioned in both
automotive and non-automotive markets to take advantage of this opportunity, mass production passenger vehicles OEMs are just beginning to develop level 2+ and
autonomous systems that will rely on incorporating imaging radar technology. We expect the rate of actual adoption and commercialization of radar-based solutions by
automotive OEMs and their suppliers will impact our results of operations, including revenue and gross margins for the foreseeable future. Government regulations relating to
ADAS and autonomous driving solutions are also key factors in the development of the market.
 
We also intend to target markets beyond mass production passenger vehicles, including vehicle applications like trucks, shuttles, automated ground delivery vehicles, and
industrial verticals like industrial robots, security systems, ground protection, drones, traffic monitoring. Our solution has the potential to be a primary sensor candidate for
many autonomous and semi-autonomous applications and next generation perception platforms. As a result, we believe that we could operate in some of those markets in
parallel with the automotive market. 
 
As a Tier 2 supplier of advanced technology to Tier 1 automotive suppliers and OEMs, our results of operations will be impacted by the level of demand for our product from
Tier 1 automotive suppliers and OEMs which base their radars based on our chipset solution.
 
We are competing for talent in a highly competitive environment, which results in higher compensation packages to employees. We cannot give assurance that we will be able
to hire all required positions when they are required or to retain those that we hire.
 
Our radar system is being evaluated by eleven of the top-15 global automakers by sales, reflecting the significant commercial interest in imaging radar. We anticipate that these
programs will make their decisions with respect to their radar technology commencing in 2024. We also have a preliminary orders from Hirain, the leading Chinese ADAS Tier
1 supplier, for the first months of production, moving us into the mass production phase. The order consists of 340,000 radar chipsets that will be supplied to Hirain’s customers
throughout China, and a preliminary order from Weifu, a high-technology ghasroup, a prominent tier 1 supplier in the Chinese automotive market, for a $11.6 million. Because
of the preliminary nature of the order, it is not included in our backlog.
 
In order to achieve profitability, we need to generate orders and binding commitments from our current evaluation projects. Delays in the autonomy programs of the OEMs to
which we provide our chipset, currently or in the future, could adversely affect our ability to meet our revenue targets and achieve profitability in the time frame we anticipate.
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Since OEMs rely on Tier 1 automotive suppliers for components such as radar-based product, if a leading Tier1 supplier goes into production with an imaging radar that is
based on our chips the chances of an OEM basing its radar on our technology is likely to increase. We believe that the fact that Tier-1 suppliers already have radar production
lines that they need to upgrade for imaging radar, reduces dramatically the risk and the cost in taking our technology to the mainstream.
 
As with other companies engaged in ADAS, our business is dependent upon regulations relating to autonomous driving solutions. Although we believe that our systems comply
with applicable regulations, any new regulations may have the effect of preferring one technology over other technologies, Since the nature and scope of future regulations may
be affected by conditions and events, we cannot predict the nature of any future regulations and their effect on our business,
 
Market Trends and Uncertainties
 
We estimate the total addressable market for Advanced Drive Assistance Systems, known as ADAS, and autonomous driving technology, will grow to approximately $65.1
billion or more in 20307 and we believe that this growth will result in a demand for our imaging radar chips. As automotive OEMs have shifted their focus from Level 4/5
autonomy to Level 2+, we believe we have the opportunity, with our first to market 4D imaging radar, to capture a significant share of the lucrative market. We believe that we
are positioned as the leading company with deeply integrated hardware and software products that currently meet the OEM specification requirements for safe Level 2+ to
Level 5 autonomy, which constitutes a significant portion of the market.
 
We believe that we have multiple levers for sustained growth and market opportunities in addition to the automotive industry, with a core strategy to focus on attractive markets
with significant growth and profitability potential. Specifically, the markets of focus include passenger cars, commercial trucks, and robotaxi fleets. Each such market is
potentially a significant global opportunity, and these markets have historically been underserved by inferior technology or not served at all.
 
Our most immediate market focus is on passenger and commercial vehicle safety on highways and ADAS applications. We believe there is significant room for improvement
with regard to standard ADAS and crash avoidance. ADAS volumes are primarily driven by the Chinese, European and North American markets which have increasingly
stringent safety regulations and consumer preference for safety. We are well positioned to capitalize on the increased ADAS demand in response to these increased safety
regulations. Although increasing automotive performance requirements may generate higher demand, we may not be able to take advantage of demand if we are unable to
anticipate regulatory and industry changes and adapt quickly enough to meet new regulatory standards or requirements. Market acceptance of active safety technology depends
upon many factors.
 
Adverse economic conditions may also result in a higher rate of losses on accounts receivables that we accrue in the future due to credit defaults. As a result, a downturn in the
worldwide economy could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and/or financial condition.
 
War with Hamas, Terrorism and Related Conflicts
 
On October 7, 2023, Hamas terrorists infiltrated Israel’s southern border from the Gaza Strip and conducted a series of attacks on civilian and military targets. Hamas also
launched extensive rocket attacks on Israel’s civilian population and industrial centers along Israel’s border with the Gaza Strip and in the Central District of Israel. Following
the attack, Israel’s government declared war against Hamas and a military campaign against the organization as Hamas. In addition, Hezbollah has attacked military and civilian
targets in northern Israel, to which Israel has responded. How long the current conflict in Gaza becomes is unknown at this time and any continued clash among Israel, Hamas
or Hezbollah or other countries in the region may escalate in the future into a greater regional conflict. To date, our operations and financial results have not been affected in
any material affect, and we are considering different measures to seek to address this conflict risks. These risks are disclosed in greater detail in “Risk Factors – Risks Related
to our Incorporation and Location in Israel -- Conditions in Israel could materially and adversely affect our business.”
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Global Demand
 
Our business is related to global automotive sales and automotive vehicle production by our Tier-1 customers and their OEM customers and engagements. Economic conditions
in North America, Europe and Asia can have a large impact on the production volume of new vehicles, and, accordingly, have an impact on our revenue. OEM customers’
production can vary from period to period due to global demand, market conditions and competitive conditions. We expect to continue to seek to capitalize on our strong and
collaborative relationships with OEMs and Tier 1s to expand our presence in key markets and capture the long-term growth opportunities in those markets. 
 
ADAS and Autonomous Driving Regulation  
 
Demand for our solutions is influenced by the impact of regulation and the ratings systems deployed by the various NCAPs, particularly the Euro NCAP and the U.S. NCAP,
administered by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. As these NCAPs demand more ADAS applications such as automatic emergency braking, we believe that
OEMs will increasingly include ADAS as a standard feature in their models to maintain or to achieve the highest safety ratings. In many countries, these safety assessments
have created a “market for safety” as car manufacturers seek to demonstrate that their models satisfy the NCAPs’ highest ratings. We expect national NCAPs to continue to add
specific ADAS applications to their evaluation items over the next several years, led by the Euro NCAP. In recent years, as regulatory requirements and NCAP ratings have
increased, OEMs have also begun to highlight their safety features as a competitive advantage. As additional regulations are implemented around the world, we expect this to
lead to increased global adoption of ADAS, and we believe that we are well positioned to benefit from such increasing safety regulations globally, particularly due to the
verifiable nature of our current and future solutions. 
 
Fully autonomous vehicles are still nascent, and regulation of autonomous driving is evolving globally on both a local and national level. We believe that regulatory bodies will
demand that AV functionality undergo certain validation and audit requirements before autonomous driving is permitted. The potential impact of regulatory requirements and
initiatives on the timing for widespread adoption of fully or even partially autonomous driving and on the cost of developing and introducing autonomous driving solutions is
uncertain. Notwithstanding the uncertainties, we see a clear trend of adopting partial autonomous driving features, operated in specific scenarios, under specific conditions and
in different level of supervision radars that are based on our chipset can help develop such features and make them available on private vehicle and in high level of safety at a
very affordable cost.
  
We cannot provide any assurance how any such regulations will impact us and the extent of such impact, particularly if autonomous driving is prohibited in certain areas. 
 
7 https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/Market-Reports/driver-assistance-systems-market-1201.html
 
Effect of the Russian Invasion in Ukraine
 
On February 24, 2022, the Russian Federation launched an invasion of Ukraine that has had an immediate impact on the global economy resulting in higher energy prices and
higher prices for certain raw materials and goods and services which in turn is contributing to higher inflation in the United States and other countries across the globe with
significant disruption to financial markets and supply and distribution chains for certain raw materials and goods and services on an unprecedented scale, including the effects
of fuel shortages in Europe. The Russian Federation could resort to cyberattacks and other action that impact businesses across the United States, the European Union, Israel
and other nations across the globe including those without any direct business ties to the Russian Federation or Ukraine. Although we do not have any business in Russia or
Ukraine, the effects of the invasion could affect the European economy, which may affect European automobile companies.
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Reliance on Supplier
 
Since we rely on GlobalFoundries for our manufacturing, to the extent that any of the factors described above affect GlobalFoundries, including its ability to obtain the
semiconductors necessary for our product, our ability to deliver any products that are ordered from us will be impaired, which may impact our ability to obtain orders for our
products.
 
Public company expenses

 
As a public company, we will be implementing additional procedures and processes for the purpose of addressing the standards and requirements applicable to public
companies. Specifically, we expect our accounting, legal and personnel-related expenses to increase as we establish more comprehensive compliance and governance functions
and hire additional personnel to support such functions, maintain and review internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and prepare
and distribute periodic reports in accordance with SEC rules.
 
Results of Operations
 
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
(dollars in thousands)  2023   2022   2021  
Revenues  $ 1,470  $ 3,517  $ 2,249 
Cost of Revenues   1,508   1,283   1,440 
Gross Profit (Loss)   (38)   2,234   809 
Operating Expenses:             

Research and Development   34,082   36,731   28,564 
Sales and Marketing   5,194   4,621   1,814 
General and Administrative   7,571   8,613   3,709 

Total Operating Expenses   46,847   49,965   34,087 
Operating Loss  $ (46,885)  $ (47,731)  $ (33,278)
Financial Expenses (Income), net   (3,385)   (7,237)   24,814 
Net Loss  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)

             
Basic loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  $ (0.60)  $ (0.64)  $ (2.64)
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing basic loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  72,021,520   68,489,983   22,027,292 

             
Diluted loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  $ (0.71)  $ (0.80)  $ (2.64)
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing diluted loss per share attributable to Ordinary

Shareholders   62,390,302   60,960,641   22,027,292 
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Revenue
 
The following table sets forth our revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 by geographic region (dollars in thousands):
 

  Year Ended December 31, 2023   
Year Ended

December 31, 2022   
Year Ended

December 31, 2021  

  Revenue   
% of

Revenue   Revenue   
% of

Revenue   Revenue   
% of

Revenue  
Revenue by Geography:                   
China   639   43.5% $ 1,476   42.0% $ 702   31.2%
Hong Kong   266   18.1%  -   -%  35   1.6%
Sweden   247   16.8%  1,276   36.3%  928   41.2%
USA   148   10.1%  135   3.8%  63   2.8%
Germany   81   5.5%  284   8.1%  351   15.6%
Israel   50   3.4%  25   0.7%  34   1.5%
Italy   -   -   124   3.5%  -   - 
Switzerland   -   -   197   5.6%  53   2.4%
Other   39   2.6%  -   -   83   3.7%
Total revenue  $ 1,470   100% $ 3,517   100%  2,249   100%

 
The reduction in revenue in 2023 compared to 2022 was mainly due to reduction in chipsets sales and to lower extent due to reduction in professional services, as we shifted
our focus to chips for production. The increase in revenue in 2022 compared to 2021 was primarily driven by sales of chipsets.

 
Cost of Revenue
 
Cost of revenue includes the manufacturing cost of radar sensors and chipsets, which primarily consists of components cost, assembly costs and personnel-related costs directly
associated with our customer support personnel and an allocated portion of facility, IT costs and depreciation. Once we are operating on a production basis, we expect cost of
revenue to increase as we increase our revenue, however, we expect the cost per unit to decrease over time as we shift from the manufacturing of prototype full radar system to
production of chipsets sales in response to orders for commercial quantities. The fixed cost components (most notably labor cost) will also drive margin improvement upon
revenue increase due to leveraging economy of scale notwithstanding increased labor costs.
 
Cost of revenue for 2023 was approximately $1.5 million, resulting in a gross loss of approximately $0.04 million. Cost of revenue for 2022 was approximately $1.3 million,
resulting in a gross profit of approximately $2.2 million. Cost of revenue for 2021 was approximately $1.4 million, resulting in a gross profit of $0.8 million.
 
Gross Margin
 
Gross margin for 2023 was negative margin of 2.6% compared to 63.5% gross margin in 2022 and to 36.0% in 2021. The negative gross margin in 2023 primarily resulted from
reduced revenue and fixed costs. The improvement in gross margin for 2022 compared to 2021 was primarily related to economy of scale, revenue mix and lower cost per unit
as we progress toward commercial production.
 
Operating Expenses
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Our research and development efforts are focused on enhancing and developing the 4D imaging radar chipset solution and the accompanying software.
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Research and development expenses include:
 

● Personnel-related expenses, including salaries, benefits, and share-based compensation expense for personnel in research and engineering functions;
 

● Expenses related to materials, software licenses, supplies and third-party services;
 

● Prototype expenses;
 

● Operation costs related to develop manufacturing processes;
 

● Allocated portion of facility and IT costs and depreciation; and
 

● Participation grants received from the Israel Innovation Authority (“IIA”) and the European Union “Ecsel” program (Electronic Components and Systems for
European Leadership), which reduced our research and development expense in 2023, 2022 and 2021.

 
Our principal operating expenses is research and development, which was approximately $34.1 million in 2023, $36.7 million in 2022 and $28.6 million in 2021. The reduction
of $2.6 million in 2023 compared to 2022 was mainly due to reduction in subcontractors cost and in cost of materials purchased, as we progress towards production items and
to a lesser extent, the reduction related to favorable foreign exchange rate impact, partially offset by increase in share-based compensation to employees.
 
The increase in 2022 from 2021 was primarily as a result of a $8.3 million increase in labor costs including share-based compensation costs, driven mainly by increased
headcount and higher value of equity awards offset by foreign exchange impact, as our expenses are incurred in NIS and our financial statements are in US dollars.
 
Research and development expenses in 2024 will include mainly activities relating to product enhancement and new products as well as the development of the next generation
radar system.
 
Sales and Marketing Expenses
 
Sales and marketing expenses were approximately $5.2 million in 2023 compared to $4.6 million in 2022 and $1.8 million in 2021. The increase of $0.6 million in 2023 was
primarily attributed to an increase in employee share-based compensation, partially offset by favorable foreign exchange rate impact. The increase of 2.8 million in 2022 was
primarily attributed to labor cost, which included share-based compensation, and to a lesser extent an increase in travel and conferences cost.
 
Labor cost related expenses consist of salaries and benefits. Marketing expenses include the cost of sales commissions, marketing programs, trade shows, consulting services,
promotional materials, demonstration equipment and an allocated portion of facility, IT costs and depreciation. We expect that our sales and marketing expenses will increase in
absolute dollars over time as we hire additional sales and marketing personnel to support our customers, Tier-1 supplier relationships, and OEM relationships, as we will also
increase our marketing activities and penetration and grow our domestic and international footprint.
 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses, which were approximately $7.6 million in 2023, approximately $8.6 million in 2022 and approximately $3.7 million in 2021, consist of
personnel-related expenses for corporate, executive, finance, and other administrative functions, expenses for outside professional services, including legal, audit, accounting
services and other costs related to our status as a publicly traded company as well as expenses for facilities, depreciation, and travel. Personnel-related expenses consist of
salaries, benefits, foreign exchange rate impact and employee share-based compensation. The decrease of $1.1 million in 2023 was primarily related to a reduction in our
directors and officers (D&O) insurance. The increase of approximately $4.9 million in 2022 was primarily caused by an increase in labor cost and employee share-based
compensation costs of approximately $2 million and an increase of $2.3 million which was attributed to additional legal, accounting, and general overhead costs resulting from
our status as a public company, most notably directors and officers (D&O) insurance.
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Financial Expenses, Net
 
Financial income, net of $3.4 million in 2023, was primarily related to deposit interest, favorable foreign exchange rate revaluations and to a lesser extent, warrants revaluation
income. Financial income, net of $7.2 million in 2022, was primarily related to revaluations of warrants issued to shareholders partially offset by loan interest and exchange rate
impact. Financial expenses, net of $24.8 million in 2021, were primarily related to $6.3 million revaluations of warrants issued to shareholders and $17.9 million revaluation of
convertible loan.
 
To the extent that our financial expenses is based on a change in warrant liability, as our stock price increases the warrant liability increases with a result that we incur a
financing charge as a result of an increased liability, and as our stock price decreases, we incur financing income which has a positive effect in the results of our operations as a
result of a decreased liability.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Prior to the Merger with ITAC, we historically funded our operations primarily from private placements of our equity securities as well as loans, including convertible loans. As
a result of the Merger, we received total gross proceeds of approximately $118.3 million out of which transaction costs were approximately $16.7 million. The total gross
proceeds include the $100 million from the sale of 10,000,000 ordinary shares to PIPE investors at $10.00 per share and $18.3 million, representing the funds remaining in
ITAC’s trust account after payment to the redeeming ITAC stockholders. As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $28.6 million and bank deposits
totaling $15.4 million, with no debt. Cash equivalents and bank deposits are invested in accordance with our investment policy. Prior to the Merger, our principal sources of
liquidity was approximately $70 million of net proceeds received through private placements, invested as an advance on account of issuance of convertible preferred shares
(which share were converted into ordinary shares immediately prior to the Merger) or exercise of warrants.
 
During June 2023, we raised $23.0 million from Special Situations Funds, a family of funds focused primarily on growth oriented small public companies with a concentration
on the technology and life sciences industries, pursuant to which we issued a total of 11,794,873 Ordinary Shares at a purchase price of $1.95 per share. Existing investors also
joined this round. The aggregate net proceeds received by the Company from the offering were $22.5 million net of underwriting discounts and other offering costs.
  
Selected Balance Sheet Information (dollars in thousands).
 

  December 31.  
  2023   2022  

Current assets  $ 47,436  $ 58,756 
Working capital   41,225   48,327 
Accumulated deficit   (203,640)   (160,140)
Shareholders’ equity   42,093   48,753 
 
As of December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents totaling $28.6 million and bank deposits totaling $15.4 million. We use our funds primarily for our operating
activities. Cash and cash equivalents are invested in accordance with our investment policy. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had no debt.
 
Cash Flow Summary
 
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):
 

  Years Ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  

Net cash used in operating activities  $ (33,513)  $ (40,362)  $ (26,416)
Net cash used in investing activities   (15,251)   (1,318)   (684)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   23,199   (4,941)   125,082 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash   (25,612)   (45,432)   97,982 
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Operating Activities
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, operating activities used approximately $33.5 million in cash. The primary factors affecting operating cash flows during this period
were net loss of approximately $43.5 million, impacted by non-cash charges of approximately $13.4 million consisting of $13.6 million of share-based compensation and
depreciation of approximately $0.6 million offset by warrants revaluation of approximately $0.8 million. Additionally, our working capital has decreased by approximately
$3.4 million.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, operating activities used approximately $40.4 million in cash. The primary factors affecting operating cash flows during this period
were net loss of approximately $40.5 million, impacted by non-cash charges of approximately $1.5 million consisting of $8.1 million revaluations of warrants, share-based
compensation of approximately $9.1 million as well as depreciation of approximately $0.5 million. Additionally, our working capital has decreased by approximately
$1.4 million.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, operating activities used approximately $26.4 million in cash. The primary factors affecting operating cash flows during this period
were net loss of approximately $58.1 million, impacted by non-cash charges of approximately $27.1 million consisting of $24.5 million revaluations of warrants and
convertible loan, share-based compensation of approximately $2.3 million as well as depreciation of approximately $0.3 million. Additionally, our working capital has
increased by approximately $4.5 million.
 
Investing Activities
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash used in investing activities was approximately $15.3 million, which was primarily from cash used to short-term deposits
consist of approximately $15.0 million and purchase from cash used to equipment and leasehold improvements of approximately $0.3.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in investing activities was approximately $1.3 million, which was primarily from cash used to purchase equipment and
leasehold improvements of approximately $0.9 million and a short-term deposit of approximately $0.4 million.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, cash used in investing activities was approximately $0.7 million, which was primarily from cash used to purchase equipment and
leasehold improvements of approximately $0.8 million, partially offset by the withdrawals from short term deposit of approximately $0.1 million.
 
Financing Activities
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, cash provided by financing activities was approximately $23.2 million, consisting primarily of proceeds from issuance of ordinary
shares of approximately $22.5 million and issuance and exercise of options of approximately $0.7 million.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, cash used in financing activities was approximately $4.9 million, consisting primarily of repayment of short-term loan of
approximately $5.2 million, partially offset by issuance and exercise of options of approximately $0.3 million.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2021, cash provided by financing activities was approximately $125.1 million, consisting primarily of net proceeds from Merger with
ITAC, which is accounted for as a recapitalization, and net proceeds from the PIPE financing of approximately $98.6 million, proceeds from exercise of warrants of
approximately $12.9 million, proceeds from a convertible loan of approximately $11.3 million and proceeds from short term loan of approximately $4.7 million as well as from
issuance and exercise of options of approximately $0.2 million, partially offset by repayment of long-term loan of approximately $2.6 million.
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Funding Requirements
 
We expect our 2024 expenses to be in line with or slightly greater than the 2023 level. Our production build-up efforts have stabilized, and we have progressed toward
productization, alongside with our efforts to streamline our expenses and to emphasize resources to support our next step target from proof-of-concept phase to the production
and commercialization stage. We continue to expand our research and development activities, and we expect to incur commercialization expenses related to product sales,
marketing, manufacturing and distribution. Our costs and our revenue can be impacted by the conditions described in the ‘Overview under Market Trends and Uncertainties’ as
well as the factors described in Risk Factors, which would affect our requirement for additional funding.
 
We also expect to incur additional losses before we receive incremental revenues to offset the losses. We anticipate that we will shift toward profitable operations in the coming
years. We anticipate the current cash balance together with our revenues will enable us to continue until we are cash flow positive from operations.
 
Our losses will be driven by:
 

● expand production capabilities to bring our chipset to automotive grade production;
 

● expand our design, development, installation and servicing capabilities;
  

● significant investment in research and development;
 

● increase our sales and marketing activities and develop our distribution infrastructure; and
 

● increase our general and administrative expenses to support the growth and public company infrastructure.
 

In addition, we may find that these efforts are more expensive than we currently anticipate or that these efforts may not result in revenues, which would further increase our
losses.
 
We are considering the issuance of debt securities for working capital in anticipation of our proposed production ramp up in 2025.
 
See Item 11 with respect to Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 
Critical Accounting Estimates
 
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that can significantly impact the amounts we report as assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and the related disclosures. We base our
estimates on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ significantly from these
estimates under different assumptions and conditions. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are critical to understanding our historical and future
performance as these policies involve a greater degree of judgment and complexity.
 
Share-Based Compensation
 
We recognize the cost of share-based awards granted to employees and directors based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the awards. We elected to recognize share-based
compensation costs on a straight-line method for awards. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.
 
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The application of the Black-Scholes model utilizes significant
assumptions, including volatility. Significant judgment is required in determining the expected volatility of our ordinary share. Due to the limited history of trading of our
Ordinary Shares, we determined expected volatility based on a peer group of publicly traded companies. Increases (decreases) in the assumptions result in a directionally
similar impact to the fair value of the option award.
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Warrant liabilities
 
Warrants recorded as liabilities are recorded at their fair value and remeasured on each reporting date with changes in estimated fair value of ordinary share warrant liability in
the consolidated statement of operations.
 
In evaluating warrants liabilities, we, with the assistance of third-party valuations, utilize the Black-Scholes valuation model to estimate the fair value of these warrants at each
reporting date. The application of the Black-Scholes model utilizes significant assumptions, including volatility. Significant judgment is required in determining the expected
volatility of our ordinary share. Due to the limited history of trading of our Ordinary Shares, we determined expected volatility based on a peer group of publicly traded
companies. Increases (decreases) in the assumptions result in a directionally similar impact to the fair value of the ordinary share warrant liability.
 
Emerging Growth Company Status
 
Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised
financial accounting standards until private companies are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company
can choose not to take advantage of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies, and any such election to
not take advantage of the extended transition period is irrevocable.
 
 We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, and have elected to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period for
new or revised financial accounting standards. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, our Post-Combination Company will remain an emerging growth
company until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which the market value of our ordinary shares that held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of
that year’s second fiscal quarter, (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which we achieve total annual gross revenue of $1.235 billion or more during such fiscal year (as indexed
for inflation), (iii) the date on which we issue more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in the prior three-year period or (iv) December 31, 2025. We expect to continue to
take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period, although we may decide to early adopt such new or revised accounting standards to the extent permitted by
such standards. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare our financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging
growth company or is an emerging growth company that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in
accounting standards used.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to recent accounting pronouncements.
 
ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES 
 
A. Directors and Senior Management
 
The following table provides information about our directors and our senior management. Our senior management consists of our chief executive officer and those current
executive officers who have responsibility for a major segment of our business (“Senior Management”).
 
Name  Age  Position(s)
Yair Shamir  78  Director and Chairman of the Board
Ehud Levy  58  Director
Boaz Schwartz, PhD  61  Director
E. Scott Crist  58  Director
Thilo Koslowski   Director
Alexander Hitzinger  52  Director
Yonina Eldar, PhD  51  Director
Kobi Marenko  51  Chief Executive Officer and Director (co-founder)
Noam Arkind, PhD  37  Chief Technology Officer and Director (co-founder)
Karine Pinto-Flomenboim  46  Chief Financial Officer
Ram Machness  51  Chief Business Officer
Shlomit Hacohen  50  Chief Marketing Officer
Shay Naeh  54  Vice President Operations
Nadav Snir  43  Vice President IC
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Directors
 
Yair Shamir, Chairman of the Board
 
Mr. Shamir was appointed as a director on December 9, 2019, and he has served as Chairman of the Board since December 16, 2021. Mr. Shamir is co-founding and managing
partner of Catalyst Investments. Mr. Shamir was elected as a member of the 19th Knesset (Israeli Parliament) and served as Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development for
the Government of Israel from 2013 until 2015. Mr. Shamir serves as chairman of the Shalem College, a research and educational institute in Jerusalem. Mr. Shamir has
formerly served as chairman of the National Road Safety Authority and of four government companies: Metropolitan Mass Transit System (NTA), Israel Aerospace Industries
(IAI), EL-AL Israel Airways and the National Roads Company.  Mr. Shamir has served as a member of numerous company boards within Catalyst’s investment portfolio. From
2003 to-2007, Mr. Shamir was the Chairman of Shamir Optical Industry Ltd (NASDAQ: SHMR). From 1997-2006, Mr. Shamir served as the CEO and Chairman of VCON
Telecommunications Ltd. From 2005-2013, he served as a board member of DSP Group Corporation (NASDAQ: DSPG). Mr. Shamir was the CEO of Elite Food Industries,
Ltd. between the years of 1994 and 1995. From 1995 to 1997, Mr. Shamir served as Executive Vice President of the Challenge Fund L.P. Prior to this he was Executive VP of
Scitex Corporation and General Manager of Scitex Israel from 1988 until 1993. Mr. Shamir was the Chairman of Gvahim from 2006 to 2013. He was also a Board Member of
Mikveh Israel from 2010 until 2013. Mr. Shamir was also a member of the Board of Governors of the Technion University and sat on the executive committee of the Beer
Sheva University from 1990 until 2013. Mr. Shamir served in the Israeli Air Force as a pilot and engineer from 1965-1988. During his term in the Air Force, Mr. Shamir
attained the rank of colonel and served as head of the electronics department, the highest professional electronics position within the Israeli Air Force. Mr. Shamir holds a B.Sc.
in Electronics Engineering from the Technion, Israel Institute of Technology.
 
Ehud Levy, Director
 
Mr. Levy was appointed as a director on March 29, 2016. Mr. Levy is the Managing General Partner of Canaan Partners Israel, and a Venture Partner with Lenovo Capital
heading its investment opportunities in Israel. Mr. Levy is also an active private investor in tech companies operating as a partner with a leading investment team, Kaedan
Capital. Prior to these activities, Mr. Levy was a Managing Partner at Vertex VC for seven years. Among other successful investments, Mr. Levy identified Waze as a bright star
from the start, leading the first investment round in the company and serving on its board of directors until its acquisition by Google for over $1 billion. Previously, Mr. Levy
co-founded and served as Chairman and CEO of Ki-Bi Mobile Technologies, a mass-market device specialist for mobile content distribution and led the business from concept
to commercial success, an IPO in London and eventual acquisition. Earlier, Mr. Levy served as COO and CFO of Telegate, a telecommunications company, where he was
responsible for a restructuring plan leading to the successful acquisition of the company for over US$400 million. Prior to Telegate, Mr. Levy was an investment banker in
New York and Tel Aviv, served on the board of directors of several technology companies. Mr. Levy holds a BSc in Computer Engineering (with honors) from the Technion in
Israel, and an MBA from Columbia Business School, New York.
 
Boaz Schwartz PhD, Director
 
Dr. Schwartz was appointed as a director on October 7, 2021, upon closing of the Merger. Dr. Schwartz is a seasoned finance professional and a tech investor. Dr. Schwartz has
founded and managed Deutsche Bank Israel for 24 years and until December 2020. Following his retirement from Deutsche Bank, Dr. Schwartz became an active tech investor
in both early and late-stage companies. He has a wide portfolio of investments in Fintech, Autotech and other technology related ventures. Dr. Schwartz is an active investor
and works closely with his investee companies helping on both strategy and finance related matters. Dr. Schwartz has developed Deutsche Bank Israel to become one of the
leading global investment banks operating in Israel with very strong corporate finance advisory franchise, the leading project finance bank in Israel, the top foreign bank on
TASE, and a leading trader in the Israeli fixed income and forex. Dr. Schwartz is a senior advisor to Vitruvian Partners in Israel; a board member and chairman of the finance
committee of IDC Herzliya — the only private university in Israel ;board member of iArgento Ltd — a traded venture capital fund; Covercy Ltd — a real estate investment
management SaaS platform and Foretellix Ltd. - a verification and validation automation tool for autonomous vehicles; a board observer of Addionics Ltd. - an enabling battery
technology for automotive industry and Trieye - a leading HD SWIR imaging and 3D camera developer; and the vice-Chairman of Zabar Solar Ltd. — a leading green energy
developer and operator. Dr. Schwartz is also a long time member of the Israeli chapter of the YPO. Dr. Schwartz earned a PhD in Finance from the University of Chicago;
MBA with Distinction from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania; MSc and BSc in Electrical Engineering from the University of Tel Aviv. 
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E. Scott Crist, Director
 
Mr. Crist was appointed as a director on October 7, 2021, upon closing of the Merger. Mr. Crist is managing partner for Texas Ventures as well as CEO of Osperity, a leader in
AI-driven computer vision for the industrial sector. Mr. Crist has an extensive background as an entrepreneur and venture capitalist and was the former CEO of Infrastructure
Networks and founder/CEO of Telscape International (NASDAQ), a telecommunications company focused on certain emerging markets around the world. Prior to that, he
served as President and CEO for Matrix Telecom, which Inc. Magazine once ranked 7th on its list of the 500 fastest growing private companies in the US. Previously, Mr. Crist
worked for Trammell Crow Group, IBM and Booz-Allen Hamilton. Mr. Crist has a Master of Business Administration from the Kellogg School at Northwestern University and
a Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from NC State University. Mr. Crist is also an Entrepreneur of the Year recipient from NASDAQ/Ernst & Young. In addition,
Mr. Crist is chairman of the VA-Gov Housing fund, the nation’s largest lender for the Veteran Administration’s Homeless Shelter Program. 
 
Thilo Koslowski, Director
 
Mr. Koslowski was appointed as a director on February 21, 2022. Mr. Koslowski is a board advisor and an executive strategic consultant to various companies and startups in
the technology, automotive and digital business markets and to venture capital firms. Mr. Koslowski has an extensive background in the fields of autonomous cars, smart-
mobility and digital customer experience. From 2016 to 2020, Mr. Koslowski was the founder and CEO of Porsche Digital, a wholly owned subsidiary of Porsche AG, serving
as the technology and digital unit of Porsche AG. From 1999-2016, Mr. Koslowski was VP and practice leader at Gartner, Inc, a leading technological research and advisory
firm, where he established Gartner’s global automotive advisory-services. Mr. Koslowski is a board member, observer and investor in international startups. In addition, as part
of Mr. Koslowski’s years at Porsche Digital, he was the co-founder and board member of APX, Europe’s leading early-stage joint venture capital, backed by both Axel Springer
and Porsche.
 
Alexander Hitzinger, Director
 
Mr. Hitzinger was appointed as a director on May 2, 2022. Mr. Hitzinger led the self- driving development, was a member of the management board of Volkswagen
Commercial Vehicles from January 2019 to June 2020 and from June 2020 to February 2022 served as chief executive officer of Artemis GmbH, where he was the chief
architect of the revolutionary vehicle concept for next generation autonomous mobility for their flagship-product Audi Landjet. Prior to his role at VW Group, from April 2016
to January 2019, Mr. Hitzinger held the position of head of product design for autonomous transportation at Apple, where he was responsible for building and leading the
automotive team at the company. He was also the technical director and chief engineer for the Porsche 919, which was the winner of 24 hours of Le Mans and the World
Endurance Championship for three consecutive years. Mr. Hitzinger also serves as a Board Member and Advisor to multiple technology companies in the United States and
Israel, such as Arbe Robotics, Electra Vehicles, Tau Motors and Foretellix. Mr. Hitzinger holds a Bachelor in Mechanical Engineering and a Masters in Business
Administration.
 
Yonina Eldar PhD, Director
 
Prof. Eldar was appointed as a director on November 7, 2023. Prof. Eldar, is a professor in the Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Weizmann Institute of
Science, Rehovot, Israel, where she holds the Dorothy and Patrick Gorman Professorial Chair and heads the Center for Biomedical Engineering. Prof. Eldar was previously a
professor in the Department of Electrical Engineering at the Technion, where she held the Edwards Chair in Engineering. Prof. Eldar is also a visiting professor at MIT, a
visiting scientist at the Broad Institute, a visiting research collaborator at Princeton, an adjunct professor at Northeastern University and Duke University, an advisory professor
of Fudan University, a distinguished visiting professor of Tsinghua University, and was a visiting professor at Stanford. Prof. Eldar is a member of the Israel Academy of
Sciences and Humanities (elected 2017) and of the Academia Europaea (elected 2023), an IEEE Fellow, a EURASIP Fellow, a Fellow of the Asia-Pacific Artificial Intelligence
Association, and a Fellow of the 8400 Health Network. Prof. Eldar is author of the book “Sampling Theory: Beyond Bandlimited Systems” and co-author of eight other books
in the areas of convex optimization, compressed sensing, radar, communications, imaging, information theory and machine learning. Prof. Eldar received her B.Sc. degree in
physics and B.Sc. degree in Electrical Engineering from Tel-Aviv University, and her Ph.D. in electrical engineering and computer science from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology.
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Senior Management
 
Kobi Marenko, Chief Executive Officer, Co-Founder and Director
 
Mr. Marenko has served as a director and our Chief Executive Officer since inception on November 4, 2015. Jacob Marinka, who is also known as Kobi Marenko, is an
entrepreneur with over 20 years of experience in leading technology and media startups from seed stage to acquisition. Prior to founding us, from 2012 to 2014, Mr. Marenko
was the founder and President of Taptica, a mobile DSP listed on the London Stock Exchange (LON: TRMR). Prior to this experience, from 2004-2012, Mr. Marenko was the
founder and CEO of Logia, a mobile content platform acquired by Digital Turbine (NASDAQ: APPS). For over 20 years, Mr. Marenko was leading tech and media startups
from seed to acquisition. Mr. Marenko holds a BA in Philosophy from Tel Aviv University.
 
Noam Arkind PhD, Chief Technology Officer, Co-Founder and Director
 
Dr. Arkind has served as a director and our Chief Technology Officer since inception on November 4, 2015. Dr. Arkind has over 10 years of experience in R&D and holds a
Ph.D. in Applied Mathematics from the Robotics Lab at Weizmann Institute of Science. Prior to founding us, from 2013 to 2015, Dr. Arkind led the algorithm development at
Taptica and the Space IL control system. Dr. Arkind holds a B.Sc. in Applied Mathematics from Bar Ilan University, a M.Sc. and PhD in Mathematics and Computer Science
from the Weizmann Institute of Science.
 
Karine Pinto-Flomenboim, Chief Financial Officer
 
Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim has served as our Chief Financial Officer since November 8, 2021. Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim has more than 20 years of financial experience, having
worked with multinational publicly traded companies. Prior to joining us, from 2019 to 2021, Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim served as the Chief Financial Officer of TIBA, a leading
manufacturer of parking access and revenue control systems, where she led the company’s exit for $135M and navigated the company through a reorganization, M&A and
COVID-19. Prior to this experience, from 2011 to 2018, Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim held the position of director of business controlling and head of corporate FP&A at Caesarstone
Ltd. (Nasdaq: CSTE), a global publicly traded company that invented and pioneered quartz surfaces. From 2003 to 2011, Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim held the position of head of
FP&A at the process diagnostic and control (PDC) division of Applied Materials, Inc. (Nasdaq: AMAT). From 2000 to 2003 Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim served at various financial
positions at Intel Fab 8 (Nasdaq: INTC). Ms. Pinto-Flomenboim holds a master’s in economics from the Hebrew University of Jerusalem, graduated from The National Investor
Relations Institute (NIRI), and is an active member of the Israeli CFO Forum.
 
Ram Machness, Chief Business Officer
 
Mr. Machness has served as our Chief Business Officer since April 30, 2018. Since July 2023, Mr. Machness has also served as head of our radar group. Mr. Machness has over
30 years of experience in embedded systems and the semiconductor industry. Prior to joining us from 2007 to 2018, Mr. Machness managed the business development,
customer engagement and product marketing at TI (Nasdaq: TXN), a Global American based technology company that designs and manufactures semiconductors. Prior to this
experience, from 2003-2007, Mr. Machness served in various consulting position in companies such DSP Group (Nasdaq: DSPG), a global leader in wireless communications
and voice processing chipsets and algorithms for a wide range of smart-enabled devices, and Microsoft (Nasdaq: MSFT), A multinational technology corporation which
produces computer software, consumer electronics, personal computers, and related services. His professional experience also includes roles in system engineering and R&D
management. Mr. Machness holds a B.A in Computer Science from The Open University and an MBA Tel Aviv University.
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Shlomit Hacohen, Chief Marketing Officer
 
Ms. Hacohen has served as our Chief Marketing Officer since November 27, 2017. Ms. Hacohen is a seasoned marketer with over 20 years of experience in developing
marketing strategies, launching products, and building brand awareness. Prior to joining us, from 2015 to 2017, Ms. Hacohen was CMO and executive marketer in
organizations such as DEEP, Collabrium, Viaccess Orca, Comverse (Nasdaq: CMVT), and Check Point (Nasdaq: CHKP). Ms. Hacohen holds a BA in Management and
Sociology from Tel Aviv University and an MBA from the Technion.
 
Shay Naeh, Vice President Operations
 
Mr. Naeh has served as our Vice President Operations since December 6, 2020. Mr. Naeh has over 23 years of experience in semiconductors design, program management,
quality, and operations with automotive Tier 1s and OEMs. Prior to joining us, from 1998 to 2020, Mr. Naeh worked with Texas Instruments (Nasdaq: TXN) and Valens
(NYSE: VLN). Mr. Naeh holds a B.Sc. in Electrical Engineering and an MBA both from the Tel Aviv University.
 
Nadav Snir, Vice President IC
 
Mr. Snir has served as our Vice President IC since February 2023. As Vice President IC, Mr. Snir leads our IC Research and Development group. From July 2018, Mr. Snir led
our RFIC R&D team. Prior to joining us, Mr. Snir worked as an RFIC Design Engineer at DSP Group and at ELIPSE RFIC Array Devices. Mr. Snir received an MBA degree
from the Technion, and a B.Sc. in Electrical and Computer Engineering from Ben Gurion University.
 
Director Independence
 
As an Israeli company, we are subject to various corporate governance requirements under the Israeli Companies Law. Pursuant to regulations promulgated under the Israeli
Companies Law, companies with shares traded on certain U.S. stock exchanges, including Nasdaq, may, subject to certain conditions, opt out from the Israeli Companies Law
requirements to appoint external directors and related Israeli Companies Law rules concerning the composition of the audit committee, compensation committee and
nominating committee of the board of directors (other than the gender diversification rule under the Israeli Companies Law, which requires the appointment of a director from
the other gender if at the time a director is appointed all members of the board of directors are of the same gender). In accordance with these regulations, we have elected to opt
out of those requirements of the Israeli Companies Law. These exemptions will continue to be available to us so long as: (i) we do not have a “controlling shareholder” as
defined under the Israeli Companies Law, (ii) our shares are traded on certain U.S. stock exchanges, including Nasdaq, and (iii) we comply with the director independence
requirements and the audit committee, compensation committee and nominating committee composition requirements under U.S. laws (including applicable Nasdaq rules)
applicable to U.S. domestic issuers.
 
With respect to certain matters (including various related party transactions), a controlling shareholder is deemed to include a shareholder that holds 25% or more of the voting
rights in a public company if no other shareholder holds more than 50% of the voting rights in the company, but excludes a shareholder whose power derives solely from his or
her position as a director of the company or from any other position with the company.
 
We comply with Nasdaq rule 5605(b)(1), which requires that the board of directors be comprised of a majority of independent directors, although as long as we are a foreign
private issuer, we may elect to follow Israeli law in lieu of certain Nasdaq requirements, including the independent director requirement. A majority of our board of directors
composed of directors who are “independent” as defined by the rules of Nasdaq, and all of the non-executive directors qualify as “independent” under these standards. The
board of directors established categorical standards to assist it in making its determination of director independence. We use the definition of “independence” of Nasdaq to
make this determination. Nasdaq Listing Rule 5605(a)(2) provides that an “independent director” is a person other than an officer or employee or any other individual having a
relationship which, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director, and includes specific
relationships that would disqualify a director from being independent, including being an employee during the past three years.
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The board of directors will assess on a regular basis, at least annually, which members are independent, and the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee will assess
the independence of each nominee for director as part of its duties in designating nominations for the board of director’s nominees for director.
 
As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to comply with Israeli corporate governance practices instead of the Nasdaq corporate governance rules, provided that, we disclose
which requirements we are not following and the equivalent Israeli requirement. We rely on this “home country practice exemption” with respect to the quorum requirement for
shareholder meetings and with respect to the Nasdaq requirement of obtaining stockholder approval for the certain issuance of more than 20% of our common shares. As
permitted under the Israeli Companies Law, pursuant to our Restated Articles, the quorum required for an ordinary meeting of shareholders consist of at least two shareholders
present in person, by proxy or by other voting instrument in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law, who hold at least 25% of the voting power of its shares (and in an
adjourned meeting, with some exceptions, any number of shareholders). Israeli law has no requirement for obtaining shareholder approval for the issuance of equity securities
and, accordingly, our board has the authority to issue ordinary shares without obtaining shareholder approval under circumstances where shareholder approval is required under
the Nasdaq corporate governance regulations. Although we comply with the rules generally applicable to U.S. domestic companies listed on Nasdaq, we may in the future
decide to use the foreign private issuer exemption with respect to some or all of the other corporate governance rules. To the extent that we elect to take advantage of the
exceptions permitted to foreign private issuers, we must disclose those exceptions and describe the relevant Israeli law provisions.
  
6. B. Compensation 
 
Required Approvals under the Israeli Companies Law
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, terms of office and employment of executive officers and directors, are generally subject to the approval of the compensation committee and
the board of directors and must generally be consistent with the Company’s Compensation Policy, which is mandated by the Israeli Companies Law.
 
Directors
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the compensation of a public company’s directors generally requires the approval of its compensation committee, the subsequent approval of
its board of directors and, unless exempted under regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law, the approval of its shareholders at a general meeting. If the
compensation is inconsistent with the Company’s compensation policy, the shareholder approval will require the Compensation Majority.
 
The term “Compensation Majority” refers to an approval requirement under the Israeli Companies Law, pursuant to which, certain compensation arrangements are subject to a
simple majority vote of the shares present and voting at a shareholders meeting, in person or by proxy, and voting thereon, provided that either:

 
● such majority includes at least a majority of the shares held by disinterested shareholders who vote at the general meeting, with disinterested shareholders being

defined as shareholders who are not controlling shareholders and do not have a personal interest in such compensation policy; or
 

● the total number of shares of the disinterested shareholders who vote against the policy, does not exceed 2% of the company’s aggregate voting rights.
 
Executive Officers (Other than the Chief Executive Officer)
 
The Israeli Companies Law requires that the compensation of a public company’s executive officers (other than the chief executive officer) shall be approved by the
compensation committee, and the subsequent approval of its board of directors. If such compensation arrangement is inconsistent with the company’s stated compensation
policy, then shareholder approval by the vote of a Compensation Majority is also required. However, if the shareholders of the company do not approve a compensation
arrangement with an executive officer that is inconsistent with the company’s stated compensation policy, the compensation committee and board of directors may override the
shareholders’ decision if each of the compensation committee and the board of directors provide detailed reasons for their decision.  Our Compensation Policy enables our chief
executive officer to approve immaterial changes in the terms of employment of an executive officer (provided that the changes of the terms of employment are in accordance
with our Compensation Policy) and allows us to exculpate, indemnify and insure its executive officers and directors subject to certain limitations as set forth therein.
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Chief Executive Officer
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the compensation of a public company’s chief executive officer is required to be approved by the compensation committee, the subsequent
approval of its board of directors and, unless exempted under regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law, the approval of its shareholders at a general meeting,
by a vote of a Compensation Majority, whether or not consistent with the Compensation Policy.
 
However, if the shareholders do not approve the compensation arrangement with the chief executive officer, then the compensation committee and board of directors may
override the shareholders’ decision, based on detailed reasons for their decision.
 
CEO and Director Nominees
 
Shareholder approval may not be required for the compensation terms of a candidate for the chief executive officer position or a director nominee, for the period commencing
on the appointment and until the upcoming shareholders meeting, if the board of directors and the compensation committee have approved such terms and have determined that
the compensation arrangement is consistent with our Compensation Policy, and that the proposed compensation terms are generally under the same circumstances and are not
materially different than the predecessor of such candidate.
 
In addition, in certain circumstances, the compensation committee may waive the need in shareholder approval requirement with regard to the approval of the engagement
terms of a candidate for the chief executive officer position (or a director nominee who is not an executive director) if they determine that the compensation arrangement is
consistent with the company’s Compensation Policy, that the chief executive officer (or the director nominee) did not have any affiliation or prior business relationship with the
company or a controlling shareholder of the company, and that such engagement terms would be detrimental to the company’s ability to engage the chief executive officer
candidate.
 
Aggregate Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors
 
For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we paid an aggregate of $5.0 million and $4.53 million, respectively, in cash and benefits in-kind, including equity
compensation, to or accrued on behalf of all of our directors and members of Senior Management for their services in all capacities during 2023 and 2022, and directors’ fees.
These amounts include amounts set aside or accruals for pension, severance, retirement or similar benefits or expenses, in the amounts of approximately $274,000 and
$411,000, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, but does not include reimbursement of business travel, relocation, professional and business
association dues and expenses, and other benefit costs commonly reimbursed or paid by companies in Israel which are not treated as compensation. In addition, we incurred
$2,640,000 and $2,244,000 of share-based compensation expense related to equity awards made by us to our Senior Management and directors for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the aggregate compensation for all or our directors and Senior Management includes $1,052,000 for
individuals who served in such capacities during 2022 but are no longer employed by us.
 
As of December 31, 2023, (i) options to purchase 2,266,173 ordinary shares, and (ii) 541,681 restricted stock units granted to our current Senior Management and directors
were outstanding under our equity incentive plans at a weighted-average exercise price of $4.81 per share.
 
Equity-based compensation granted to Senior Management generally vests over a period of four years, commencing one year after the date of grant, with quarterly vesting
thereafter, however, equity-based compensation granted in 2023 as an additional award, vests one-year after the date of grant. For directors, equity-based compensation
generally vests over a period of three years with a quarterly vesting.
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Individual Compensation of Covered
 
The table below sets forth the compensation paid to our chief executive office, our chief technology officer and our five most highly compensated ‘office holders’ (as defined
by the Israeli Companies Law) during or with respect to the year ended December 31, 2023, and as recorded in the financial statements for such period. We refer to those five
individuals for whom disclosure is provided herein as our “Covered Executives.”
 
The term “compensation” for purposes of this section regarding the Covered Executives refers to the term “Terms of Office and Employment” as defined under the Israeli
Companies Law, which includes amounts accrued or paid in connection with salary cost, consultancy fees, bonuses, equity-based compensation, retirement or termination
payments, benefits and perquisites such as car, phone and social benefits and any undertaking to provide such compensation. Each of the Covered Executives was covered by
our directors and officers liability insurance policy and was entitled to indemnification and exculpation in accordance with applicable law and our articles of association.
 
Summary Compensation Table:
 

Information Regarding the Covered Executive(1)

Name and Principal Position(2)  Salary(3)   Bonus(4)   
Equity-Based

Compensation(5)  
All Other

Compensation (6)  Total  
Kobi Marenko, Chief Executive Officer   314,615       167,016   14,516   496,147 
Noam Arkind PhD, Chief Technology Officer   317,023       166,933   6,176   490,132 
Ram Machness, Chief Business Officer   263,967   25,000   616,948   23,130   929,045 
Gonen Barkan, Chief Radar Officer   261,952       560,495   31,855   854,302 
Karine Pinto-Flomenboim, Chief Financial Officer   233,008       521,599   3,033   757,640 
Ben Rathaus, PhD, Vice President AI and Perception   240,446       401,016   3,033   644,495 
Shlomit Hacohen, Chief Marketing Officer   201,266       412,654   3,033   616,953 

 
 

(1) All amounts reported in the table are in terms of our cost as reflected in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, plus compensation
paid to such Covered Executives in 2024 in respect of services provided during 2023.

 
(2) All Covered Executive listed in the table are full-time employees.

 
(3) Salary includes the Covered Executive’s gross salary plus payment of social benefits made by us on behalf of such Covered Executive. Such benefits may include, to the

extent applicable to the Covered Executive, payments, contributions and/or allocations for savings funds (such as managers’ life insurance policy), education funds
(referred to in Hebrew as “keren hishtalmut”), pension, severance, risk insurances (such as life, or work disability insurance), payments for social security and tax gross-up
payments, vacation, and benefits, convalescence or recreation pay and other benefits and perquisites consistent with our policies.

  
(4) We did not pay bonuses to our Covered Executives in 2023, except that we paid Mr. Machness a bonus for assuming the additional duties as head of our radar group.

 
(5) Equity-based compensation represents the financial expense reflected in our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023, with respect to

equity-based compensation vested during 2023. Assumptions and key variables used in the calculation of such amounts are described in Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, which are included in this annual report. The amounts reported in this column do not represent the number of shares and options held by the office
holders. See Item 6E of this annual report for information regarding the equity holding of our chief executive officer, chief technology officer and all officers and directors
as a group.
 

(6) All other compensation represents mainly leased vehicles and other incidental monetary benefits.
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Non-Employee Director Remuneration
 
The current composition of our Board of Directors includes three directors who do not occupy executive positions with us (Mr. Shamir, Mr. Levy and Mr. Crist, hereinafter
“Non-Executive Directors”), four directors who we consider to be industry experts (Dr. Schwartz, Mr. Koslowski, Mr. Hitzinger, and Prof. Eldar hereinafter “Industry Expert
Directors”), and two directors who are executive officers (Mr. Marenko and Dr. Arkind, hereinafter “Executive Directors”).
 
Consistent with our Compensation Policy for directors and officers, our Compensation Committee, Board and the shareholders, have approved that the Non-Executive
Directors shall receive an annual fee of $30,000 plus applicable value added tax as remuneration for their service on the Board, and that Industry Expert Directors shall receive
an annual fee of $100,000, other than Prof. Eldar who is a full time professor and researcher at the Weizmann Institute of Science and receives $50,000, plus applicable value
added tax as remuneration for their service on the Board. 
 
Prof. Eldar was appointed to our Board on a vacancy basis on November 7, 2023, and her annual compensation will be brought for the shareholder approval at the 2024 annual
general meeting, pursuant to the circumstances described under “CEO and Director Nominees” above.
 
In addition, our Compensation Committee, Board and the shareholders have approved, consistent with our Compensation Policy, the grant to our Non-Executive and Industry
Expert Directors equity-based compensation, that generally vests over a period of three years with a quarterly vesting, for a term of ten years (subject to early expiration in the
event of termination of services and as described in our 2021 Plan) as follows:
 
Name of Director  Amount of Options   Exercise Price   Fully Vested
Dr. Boaz Schwartz   81,589  $ 8.00  October 2024
   40,000  $ 2.873  August 2026
Mr. Thilo Koslowski   80,000  $ 8.00  March 2025
   40,000  $ 2.873  August 2026
Mr. Alexander Hitzinger   80,000  $ 6.04  May 2025
   40,000  $ 2.873  August 2026
Prof. Yonina Eldar*   80,000  $ 2.074  November 2026
Mr. Yair Shamir   80,000  $ 2.873  August 2026  
Mr. Ehud Levy   80,000  $ 2.873  August 2026  
Mr. Scott Crist   80,000  $ 2.873  August 2026  
 
* The grant of Prof. Edlar’s options will be brought for the shareholder approval at the 2024 annual general meeting.
 
We also reimburse our Industry Expert Directors for travel expenses up to an amount of 9,000 Euros a year for their services and for participating in Board meetings in Israel to
the extent incurred.
 
CEO and CTO Annual Bonus Plan
 
In August 2023 our shareholders approved, following the approvals of the Compensation Committee and the Board, a framework annual cash bonus plan to each of Mr.
Marenko, our Chief Executive Officer, and Dr. Arkind, our Chief Technology Officer, based on performance-based measurable criteria for each calendar year as of the year
ended December 31, 2023 and onwards, until the year ended December 31, 2025 (“Bonus Plan”). The proposed Bonus Plan is intended to incentivize those officers by closely
aligning their personal economic interest with our performance and share price appreciation.
 
Pursuant to the Bonus Plan, the target bonus in the event of 100% achievement of the target goals is three (3) monthly salaries, while for overachievement performance of
120% and above, the officer may be eligible for an additional one (1) monthly salary, totaling four (4) monthly salaries. Our Compensation Committee and the Board may set
during the first quarter of the year per each, the performance targets for each calendar year, while performance targets will be comprised of 70% measurable criteria and up to
30% of non-measurable criteria.
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In special circumstances (e.g., regulatory changes, significant changes in the business environment, a significant organizational change, merger and acquisition events, or other
similar events etc.), our Compensation Committee and the Board may make adjustments to the objectives, and in such special circumstances, to modify the objectives and/or
their relative weights or the amount of bonus payouts (including decreasing such amounts to zero), in connection with the applicable bonus period.
 
As the Company has not determined yet any specific measurable criteria, the Bonus Plan was not applicable for the year ended on December 31, 2023.
 
Compensation Policy under the Israeli Companies Law
 
Required approvals. In general, under the Israeli Companies Law, a public company must have a compensation policy approved by the board of directors after receiving and
considering the recommendations of the compensation committee. In addition, a compensation policy must be approved at least once every three years by the board of
directors, upon recommendation of its compensation committee, and thereafter, approval of the vote of shareholders by a Compensation Majority.
 
In the event that the shareholders fail to approve the compensation policy in a duly convened general meeting by the Compensation Majority, the board of directors may
nevertheless override that decision, provided that the compensation committee and then the board of directors decide, on the basis of detailed reasons and after further review of
the compensation policy, that approval of the compensation policy is for the benefit of the company despite the failure of the shareholders to approve the policy.
 
If a company that adopts a compensation policy in advance of its initial public offering (or in our case, prior to the Business Combination) and describes the policy in its
prospectus for such offering, then that compensation policy will be deemed validly adopted in accordance with the Israeli Companies Law and will remain in effect for term of
five years from the date such company becomes a public company. Our Compensation Policy for Executive Officers and Directors (the “Compensation Policy”) is filed as an
exhibit to this annual report.
 
Objectives. The compensation policy must serve as the basis for decisions concerning the financial terms of employment or engagement of Office Holders, including
exculpation, insurance, indemnification or any monetary payment or obligation of payment in respect of employment or engagement. The compensation policy must relate to
certain factors, including advancement of the company’s objectives, business plan and long-term strategy, and creation of appropriate incentives for Office Holders. It must also
consider, among other things, the company’s risk management, size, and the nature of its operations.
 
Our Compensation Policy, which became effective immediately after the consummation of the Merger, is designed to promote retention and motivation of directors and
executive officers, incentivize superior individual excellence, align the interests of our directors and executive officers with our long-term performance and provide a risk
management tool. To that end, a portion of an executive officer compensation package is targeted to reflect the short and long-term goals, as well as the executive officer’s
individual performance. On the other hand, our Compensation Policy includes measures, such as limits on the value of cash bonuses and equity-based compensation, limitations
on the ratio between the variable and the total compensation of an executive officer and minimum vesting periods for equity-based compensation.
 
Compensation features. The Compensation Policy also addresses our executive officers’ individual characteristics (such as their respective positions, education, scope of
responsibilities and contribution to the attainment of its goals) as the basis for compensation variation among its executive officers and considers the internal ratios between
compensation of its executive officers and directors and other employees. Pursuant to our Compensation Policy, the compensation that may be granted to an executive officer
may include: base salary, annual bonuses and other cash bonuses (such as a signing bonus and special bonuses with respect to any special achievement), equity-based
compensation, benefits and retirement and termination of service arrangements.
 
Fair market value. In order to calculate the caps set forth in the Compensation Policy, the determination of the fair market value of equity-based awards at the time of grant, are
prorated into each vesting year of the award, according to acceptable valuation and accounting practices; so that, the cap will be applicable to the value of the award at each
vesting year.
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Cash bonuses. An annual cash bonus may be awarded to executive officers upon the attainment of pre-set periodic objectives and individual targets. The annual cash bonus that
may be granted to our executive officers other than the chief executive officer will be based on performance objectives and a discretionary evaluation of the executive officer’s
overall performance by the chief executive officer and subject to minimum thresholds. Furthermore, our chief executive officer will be entitled to recommend performance
objectives, and such performance objectives will be approved by the Compensation Committee and by our board of directors. All cash bonuses are limited to a maximum
amount linked to the executive officer’s base salary. In addition, the total variable compensation components (annual bonus and equity-based compensation) may not exceed
85% of each executive officer’s total compensation package with respect to any calendar year. See “CEO and CTO Annual Bonus Plan”.
 
Performance measures. The measurable performance objectives of our chief executive officer will be determined annually by our Compensation Committee (and, if required by
law, by our board of directors) and will include the weight to be assigned to each achievement in the overall evaluation. A less significant portion of the chief executive officer’s
annual cash bonus may be based on a discretionary evaluation of the chief executive officer’s overall performance by the Compensation Committee and the board of directors
based on quantitative and qualitative criteria.
 
Equity-based compensation. The equity-based compensation under the Compensation Policy for our Office Holders is designed in a manner consistent with the underlying
objectives in determining the base salary and the annual cash bonus. Primary objectives include enhancing the alignment between the executive officers’ interests and our long-
term interests and those of its shareholders and strengthening the retention and the motivation of executive officers in the long term. Our Compensation Policy provides for
executive officer compensation in the form of share options or other equity-based awards, such as restricted shares and restricted share units, in accordance with its share
incentive plan then in place. Generally, all equity-based incentives granted to executive officers will be subject to vesting periods in order to promote long-term retention of the
awarded executive officers. Equity-based compensation will be granted from time to time and be individually determined and awarded according to the performance,
educational background, prior business experience, qualifications, role and the personal responsibilities of the executive officer.
 
Director remuneration. The Compensation Policy also provides for compensation to the members of our board of directors either (i) in accordance with the amounts provided
in the Companies Regulations (Rules Regarding the Compensation and Expenses of an External Director) 5760-2000, as amended by the Companies Regulations (Relief for
Public Companies Traded in Stock Exchange Outside of Israel) 5760-2000, as such regulations may be amended from time to time, or (ii) in accordance with the amounts
determined in the Compensation Policy.
 
Our Compensation Policy, which was approved by its our board of directors and shareholders, became effective upon the closing of the Business Combination, and is filed as
an exhibit to this annual report.
 
Clawback policy
 
Our Compensation Policy contains a compensation recovery provision which allows us under certain conditions to recover bonuses paid in excess due to an accounting
restatement.
 
In December 2023, in accordance with the Nasdaq requirements that we maintain a clawback policy that meets these requirements, our Board of Directors adopted a clawback
policy covering our executive officers. An “executive officer” is our chief executive officer, president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no
such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president in charge of a significant principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or finance), any
other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for us. The executive officers named in Item 6.A are
part of our executive officers for the purpose of the clawback policy.
 
The clawback policy relates to incentive-based compensation, which is any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a
financial reporting measure. The clawback policy covers the recovery of incentive-based compensation from an executive officer only in the event that we are required to
prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of our financial reporting requirement under the United States securities laws, including any required
accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a
material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period. Questions as to “materiality” will be made by the Compensation
Committee in coordination with the Audit Committee.
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The incentive-based compensation subject to recovery is the incentive-based compensation received during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that
we are required to prepare an accounting restatement as described above, provided that the person served as an executive officer at any time during the performance period
applicable to the incentive-based compensation in question provided that the clawback policy shall only apply if the incentive-based compensation is received while we have a
class of securities listed on Nasdaq.
 
Our clawback policy is available on our website.
  
Employment Agreements
 
We have entered into employment agreements with each of our executive officers. Under these agreements, each of our executive officers is employed for unlimited period. We
may terminate employment for cause, at any time, without advance notice or remuneration, for certain acts of the executive officer, such as a conviction or plea of guilty to a
felony or any crime involving moral turpitude, negligent or dishonest acts to our detriment, or misconduct or a failure to perform agreed duties. We may also terminate an
executive officer’s employment without cause upon an advance written notice of one or two months. In such case of termination by us, we will provide severance payments to
the executive officer as expressly required by applicable law of the jurisdiction where the executive officer is based. The executive officer may resign at any time with the same
advance written notice.

 
Each executive officer has agreed to hold, both during and after the termination or expiration of his or her employment agreement, in confidence and not to use, except as
required in the performance of his or her duties in connection with the employment or pursuant to applicable law, any of our confidential information or trade secrets, any
confidential information or trade secrets of our clients or prospective clients, or the confidential or proprietary information of any third party received by us and for which we
have confidential obligations. The executive officers have also agreed to disclose to us all inventions, designs and trade secrets which they conceive, develop or reduce to
practice during the executive officer’s employment with us and to assign all right, title and interest in them to us, and assist us in obtaining and enforcing patents, copyrights
and other legal rights for these inventions, designs and trade secrets.

 
In addition, each executive officer has agreed to be bound by non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions during the term of his or her employment and typically for one
year following the last date of employment. Specifically, each executive officer has agreed not to (i) approach our suppliers, clients, customers or contacts or other persons or
entities introduced to the executive officer in his or her capacity as a representative of us for the purpose of doing business with such persons or entities that will harm our
business relationships with these persons or entities; (ii) assume employment with or provide services to any of our competitors, or engage, whether as principal, partner,
licensor or otherwise, with any of our competitors, without our express consent; or (iii) seek directly or indirectly, to solicit the services of any of our employees who is
employed by us on or after the date of the executive officer’s termination, or in the year preceding such termination, without our express consent.
 
Insurance, Indemnification and Release
 
In November 2023, our Compensation Committee and Board approved the purchase of an insurance coverage in respect of the liability of Office Holders currently in office and
any additional or others which may be appointed from time to time in the future, for up to $10 million in coverage, consistent with the Company’s Compensation Policy as
originally approved by the shareholders under the Israeli Companies Law.
 
We have also entered into indemnification agreements with each of our Office Holders. Under these agreements, we agree to indemnify our directors and executive officers
against certain liabilities and expenses incurred by such persons in connection with claims made by reason of their being a director or officer of our company. The maximum
indemnification amount set forth in such agreements is limited to the greater of (i) 25% of our shareholders’ equity on a consolidated basis, based on the most recent financial
statements made publicly available before the date on which the indemnity payment is made; and (ii) $25 million. The maximum amount set forth in such agreements is in
addition to any amount paid (if paid) under insurance and/or by a third-party pursuant to an indemnification arrangement.
 

76



 

 
Our board of directors has approved the indemnification of Mr. Marenko to cover any guarantees and personal undertakings he may be providing on our behalf and for our
benefit, with respect to contractual obligations provided by us to third parties, such as landlords and lessors, limited to the face value of such guarantee, based on the indemnity
terms provided to all of our executive officers.
 
Equity Incentive Plans
 
2016 Incentive Share Option Plan
 
Our 2016 Incentive Share Option Plan (the “2016 Plan”) was adopted by our board of directors on September 25, 2016. The 2016 Plan provides for the grant of options to our
employees, directors, Office Holders, service providers and consultants.
 
Authorized Shares. As of December 31, 2023, there were 2,047,116 ordinary shares subject to options under the 2016 plan and 302,912 ordinary shares reserved and available
for issuance under the 2016 Plan. The 2016 Plan provides that ordinary shares subject to options granted under the 2016 Plan that expire or become un-exercisable without
having been exercised will become available again for future grants under the 2021 Plan.
 
Administration. Our board of directors had authorized the compensation committee to serve as administrator (the “Administrator”) of the 2016 Plan. Under the 2016 Plan, the
administrator has the full power and authority, subject to applicable law, to, among other things: (i) designate participants in the 2016 Plan; (ii) determine the terms and
provisions of the respective option agreements, including, but not limited to, the number of options to be granted to each optionee, the number of shares to be covered by each
option, provisions concerning the time and the extent to which the option may be exercised and the nature and duration of restriction as to the transferability and to amend,
cancel, suspend, convert or substitute such option agreements, as necessary; (iii) determine the Fair Market Value of the shares covered by each option; (iv) make an election as
to the type of Section 102 approved option; (v) designate the type of options; (vi) interpret the provisions and supervise the administration of the 2016 Plan; (vii) accelerate the
right of an optionee to exercise in whole or in part, any previously granted option; (viii) determine the exercise price of the option; (ix) prescribe, amend and rescind rules and
regulation relating to the 2016 Plan; (x) extend the period of the 2016 Plan; and (xi) make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for the administration of the
2016 Plan, including, without limitation, to adjust the terms of the 2016 Plan or any option agreement so as to reflect (a) changes in applicable law and (b) the laws of other
jurisdictions within which we wish to grant options.
 
Eligibility. The 2016 Plan provides for granting Options under the Israeli tax regime, including in compliance with Section 102 (“Section 102”) of the Israeli Income Tax
Ordinance (New Version), 5721-1961 (the “Ordinance”), and Section 3(i) of the Ordinance.
 
Section 102 of the Ordinance allows employees, directors and officers who are not “controlling shareholders” (as used under the Ordinance) and are considered Israeli residents
to receive favorable tax treatment for compensation in the form of shares or options under certain terms and conditions. Our non-employee service providers and controlling
shareholders who are considered Israeli residents may only be granted options under section 3(i) of the Ordinance, which does not provide for similar tax benefits. Section 102
includes two alternatives for tax treatment involving the issuance of options or shares to a trustee for the benefit of the grantees and also includes an additional alternative for
the issuance of options or shares directly to the grantee. Section 102(b)(2) of the Ordinance, which provides the most favorable tax treatment for the grantee, permits the
issuance to a trustee under the “capital gain track.”
 
Grant. Options granted pursuant to the 2016 Plan are evidenced by (i) a resolution of our board of directors and/or a written option agreement with the optionee, in such form as
the Administrator has from time to time approved and (ii) any all other documents required by us, whether before or after the grant of the options (including, without limitation,
any customary documents and undertaking towards the trustee, if applicable, and/or the tax authorities.
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Each option agreement states, among other matters, the number of shares to which the option relates, the type of option granted thereunder, the vesting dates, the exercise price
per share, the expiration date and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator in its discretion may prescribe, provided that they are consistent with the 2016 Plan. In
case of a conflict between the provisions of the 2016 Plan and an option agreement, the provisions of the 2016 Plan will prevail, unless otherwise specifically stated in the
option agreement.
 
Each granted option will expire no later than seven years from the date of the grant thereof, unless a shorter term of expiration is otherwise designated by the administrator.
 
Awards. The 2016 Plan provides for the grant of options to purchase ordinary shares pursuant to the 2016 Plan.
 
Exercise. An option under the 2016 Plan may be exercised by providing us with a written notice of exercise and full payment of the exercise price for such shares, in such form
and method as may be determined by the administrator and, when applicable, by the trustee in accordance with the requirements of Section 102, the Ordinance and any other
applicable law.
 
Transferability. Other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution or as otherwise provided under the 2016 Plan, neither the options nor any right in connection with such
options are assignable or transferable.
 
Termination of Employment. In the event of termination of an optionee’s employment or service with us or any of our affiliates, all unvested and exercisable awards held by
such optionee as of the date of termination will expire, unless extended as specified below.
 
In the event of an optionee’s termination of employment or service, on the termination date, the unvested portion of the optionee’s option will cease to vest and such unvested
options will expire and will not become exercisable. In the event of termination of employment or service of an optionee, vested options as of the termination date will expire.
 
Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, and unless otherwise stated in the optionee’s option agreement, an option may be exercised after the termination of employment for an
additional period of time, but only with respect to the options that had vested at the time of such termination of employment, if: (i) termination is without cause (as defined in
the 2016 Plan), by us or by the optionee, or retirement at the retirement age as defined in the applicable law, in which event any vested options as of the termination date may be
exercised within 60 days after the date of such termination of employment, but in no event subsequent to the expiration date of such option. After such 60-day period, all such
unexercised awards will terminate, and the shares covered by such awards will again be available for issuance or (ii) termination is the result of death or disability of the
optionee, in which event any vested options as of termination date may be exercised within a period of twelve (12) months after the date of such termination, but in any event
no later than the expiration date of such option; or (iii) at any time the administrator may authorize, in its sole and absolute discretion and without such act constituting a
precedent in respect of any other optionee, an extension of the terms of all or part of the vested options beyond the date of such termination for a period not to exceed the period
during which the options by their terms would otherwise have expired.
 
Adjustments. In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, share dividend, share split, share distribution, spin off, combination or reclassification
of our ordinary shares or any other change in corporate structure affecting the number of the ordinary shares, an adjustment in the number of ordinary shares to be covered by
the 2016 Plan, or the exercise price, will be made by the administrator, in its sole direction, consistent with its determinations under the 2016 Plan.
 
In the event of a transaction involving us, the unexercised options then outstanding under the 2016 Plan or a portion thereof may be, subject to the approval of the board of
directors and the successor company, assumed or substituted for an appropriate number of options or shares or other securities of the successor company (or a parent or
subsidiary of the successor company). In the event of such assumption and/or substitution of options, appropriate adjustments will be made to the exercise price so as to reflect
such action and all other terms and conditions of the option agreement will remain unchanged, including, but not limited to, the vesting schedule, unless otherwise determined
by the Administrator, which determination will be in its sole discretion and final. In any such transaction, if the successor company (or parent or subsidiary of the successor
company) does not agree to assume or substitute the options, the board will have full power and authority to determine that (i) the vesting dates will be accelerated so that any
unvested option or any portion thereof will be immediately vested upon the occurrence of the transaction; or (ii) any unvested options will be cancelled or cashed out in
connection with the transaction. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the 2016 Plan and subject to the above, if, in a transaction, the successor company (or parent or
subsidiary of the successor company) does not agree to assume or substitute the options, unless determined otherwise by the board, all unexercised options and all unvested
options will expire as of the date of the transaction.
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Following the adoption of the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), we will not grant any awards pursuant to the 2016 Plan although previously granted options under
the 2016 Plan will remain outstanding and governed by the 2016 Plan. Any remaining ordinary shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2016 Plan can be awarded
under the 2021 Plan.
 
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
 
On October 7, 2021, we adopted the 2021 Plan, under which we may grant equity-based incentive awards to attract, motivate and retain the talent for which it competes. The
maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the 2021 Plan is the sum of (a) 4,079,427 ordinary shares plus (and without the need to further amend the Plan) (b)
on January 1 of each calendar year beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on and including January 1, 2031, a number of ordinary shares equal to the lesser of: (i) 5% of the
total number of ordinary shares outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, and (ii) an amount determined by the Board, if so determined prior to
the January 1 of the calendar year in which the increase will occur. In addition, any remaining ordinary shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2016 Plan can be
issued pursuant to the 2021 Plan. As of December 31, 2023, there were 7,253,183 ordinary shares subject to options under the 2021 plan and 308,334 ordinary shares reserved
and available for issuance under the 2021 Plan. Following the increase in the size of the reserved and available option pool on December 26, 2023, by an additional 3,655,415
ordinary shares, there were a total of 4,266,661 ordinary shares reserved and available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.
 
Administration. Our board of directors had authorized the compensation committee of our board of directors, to administer the 2021 Plan. Under the 2021 Plan, the
administrator has the authority, subject to applicable law, to interpret the terms of the 2021 Plan and any award agreements or awards granted thereunder, designate recipients of
awards, determine and amend the terms of awards, including the exercise price of an option award, the fair market value of an ordinary share, the time and vesting schedule
applicable to an award or the method of payment for an award, accelerate or amend the vesting schedule applicable to an award, prescribe the forms of agreement for use under
the 2021 Plan and take all other actions and make all other determinations necessary for the administration of the 2021 Plan.
 
The administrator also has the authority to amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the 2021 Plan or terminate the 2021 Plan at any time before the date of expiration
of its ten-year term.
 
Eligibility. The 2021 Plan provides for granting awards under various tax regimes, including, without limitation, for awards granted to our Israeli employees or service
providers, in compliance with Section 102 of the Ordinance or Section 3(i) of the Ordinance and for awards granted to non-Israeli employees or service providers.
 
Section 102 of the Ordinance allows employees, directors and officers who are not “controlling shareholders” (as used under the Ordinance) and are considered Israeli residents
to receive favorable tax treatment for compensation in the form of shares or options. Our non-employee service providers and controlling shareholders may only be granted
options under section 3(i) of the Ordinance, which does not provide for similar tax benefits.
 
Grant. All awards granted pursuant to the 2021 Plan will be granted pursuant to a resolution of our Compensation Committee (and the Board, if it necessary under the Israeli
Companies Law) and an award agreement, in a form approved, from time to time, by the administrator. The award agreement will set forth the terms and conditions of the
award, including the type of award, number of shares subject to such award, vesting schedule and conditions (including performance goals or measures) and the exercise price,
if applicable. Certain awards under the 2021 Plan may constitute or provide for a deferral of compensation, subject to Section 409A of the Code, which may impose additional
requirements on the terms and conditions of such awards.
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Awards. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of stock options (including incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options), ordinary shares, restricted shares, restricted
share units and other share-based awards.
 
Exercise. An award under the 2021 Plan may be exercised by providing us with a written or electronic notice of exercise and full payment of the exercise price for such shares
underlying the award, if applicable, in such form and method as may be determined by the administrator and permitted by applicable law. An award may not be exercised for a
fraction of a share. With regard to tax withholding, exercise price and purchase price obligations arising in connection with awards under the 2021 Plan, the administrator may,
in its discretion, accept cash, provide for net withholding of shares in a cashless exercise mechanism or, if the issuance of the shares is subject to an effective registration
statement under the Securities Act, direct a securities broker to sell shares and deliver all or a part of the proceeds to us.
 
Transferability. Other than by will, the laws of descent and distribution or as otherwise provided under the 2021 Plan, neither the options nor any right in connection with such
options are assignable or transferable.
 
Termination of Employment. In the event of termination of a grantee’s employment or service with us or any of our affiliates, all vested and exercisable awards held by such
grantee as of the date of termination may be exercised within three months after such date of termination, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee. After
such period, all such unexercised awards will terminate and the shares covered by such awards will again be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.
 
In the event of termination of a grantee’s employment or service with us or any of its affiliates due to such grantee’s death, permanent disability or retirement, all vested and
exercisable awards held by such grantee as of the date of termination may be exercised by the grantee or the grantee’s legal guardian, estate, or by a person who acquired the
right to exercise the award by bequest or inheritance, as applicable, within twelve months after such date of termination, unless otherwise provided by the administrator. Any
awards which are unvested as of the date of such termination or which are vested but not then exercised within such date, will terminate and the shares covered by such awards
will again be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.
 
Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, if a grantee’s employment or services with us or any of its affiliates is terminated for “cause” (as defined in the 2021 Plan), all
outstanding awards held by such grantee (whether vested or unvested) will terminate on the date of such termination (and in certain circumstances defined in the 2021 Plan,
within 12 months thereafter), and the shares covered by such awards shall again be available for issuance under the 2021 Plan .
 
Transactions. In the event of a recapitalization event, as defined in the 2021 Plan, including share split, reverse share split, share dividend, combination or reclassification of our
shares, or any other increase or decrease in the number of issued shares effected without receipt of consideration by us, the administrator in its sole discretion will make an
appropriate adjustment in the number of shares related to each outstanding award and to the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan, to the class and kind of
shares subject to the 2021 Plan, as well as the exercise price per share of each outstanding award, as applicable, the terms and conditions concerning vesting and exercisability
and the term and duration of outstanding awards, or any other terms that the administrator adjusts in its discretion, or the type or class of security, asset or right underlying the
award (which need not be only that of us, and may be that of the surviving corporation or any affiliate thereof or such other acquiring party or entity party to any of the above
transactions); provided that any fractional shares resulting from such adjustment will be rounded down to the nearest whole share unless otherwise determined by the
administrator.
 
In the event of a merger or consolidation of us, or a sale of all, or substantially all, of the our shares or assets or other transaction having a similar effect on us, or a change of
control event (including an acquisition of 50% or more of the share capital) or change in the composition of the board of directors, or liquidation or dissolution, a structural
change, as defined in the 2021 Plan, or such other transaction or circumstances that the board of directors determines to be a relevant transaction, then without the consent of
the grantee, the administrator may but is not required to (i) cause any outstanding award to be assumed or substituted by such successor corporation, or (ii) regardless of
whether or not the successor corporation assumes or substitutes the award (a) provide the grantee with the option to exercise the award as to all or part of the shares, and may
provide for an acceleration of vesting of unvested awards, or (b) cancel the award and pay in cash, shares of us, the acquirer or other corporation which is a party to such
transaction or other property as determined by the administrator as fair in the circumstances. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Merger/Sale the administrator may
upon such event amend, modify or terminate the terms of any award as it shall deem, in good faith, appropriate.
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C. Board Practices
 
Terms of Directors and Officers
 
According to our Restated Articles, our directors are generally appointed by our shareholders. Our board is classified into three classes as follows:

 
● Class I directors, who serve until the annual general meeting to be held in 2025. Mr. Ehud Levy, Dr. Noam Arkind and Mr. Alexander Hitzinger are our Class I

directors.
 
● Class II directors, who serve until the annual general meeting in 2026. Dr. Boaz Schwartz, Thilo Koslowski and Prof. Yonina Eldar are our Class II directors.
 
● Class III directors, who serve until the annual general meeting in 2024. Mr. Yair Shamir, Mr. Kobi Marenko and Mr. Scott Crist are our Class III directors.

 
At each annual general meeting, the shareholders will vote for the election of the directors of the class whose term expires at such annual general meeting, and such directors
shall be elected to hold office until the third annual general meeting next succeeding his/her election and until his/her respective successor shall have been elected and qualified
until such earlier time as such director’s office is vacated.
 
Our officers are appointed by our Chief Executive Officer and serve according to the direction of the Board.

 
Committees of the Board of Directors
 
The board of directors has the following standing committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. Each
of the committees of the board of directors has the composition and responsibilities described below.
 
Audit Committee
 
Our Audit Committee consists of three independent directors, each of whom is financially literate and one of whom is an audit committee financial expert. A member of the
Audit Committee may not, other than his or her capacity as a director or member of the Audit Committee, accept any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from the
us; shall not have participated in the preparation of our financial statements or any current subsidiary at any time during the past three years; or our affiliate or a member of the
immediate family of an affiliate.
  
The Audit Committee is responsible, among its other duties and responsibilities, for overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes, audits of financial statements,
qualifications and independence of the independent registered public accounting firm, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting and the performance of the
internal audit function and independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee reviews and assess the qualitative aspects of our financial reporting, processes
to manage business and financial risks, and compliance with significant applicable legal, ethical and regulatory requirements and is directly responsible for the appointment,
compensation, retention and oversight of the independent registered public accounting firm. In addition, the Audit Committee is responsible for the following additional matters
pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law:

 
● recommending to the board of directors the retention and termination of the internal auditor, and the internal auditor’s engagement fees and terms, in accordance with

the Israeli Companies Law as well as approving the yearly or periodic work plan proposed by the internal auditor;
 

● reviewing with the general counsel and/or external counsel, as deemed necessary, legal and regulatory matters that could have a material impact on the financial
statements;
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● identifying irregularities in the company’s business administration, including by consulting with the internal auditor or with the independent auditor, and suggesting

corrective measures to the board of directors;
 

● reviewing policies and procedures with respect to transactions (other than transactions related to the compensation or terms of services) between the company and
officers and directors, or affiliates of officers or directors, or transactions that are not in the ordinary course of our business and deciding whether to approve such acts
and transactions if so required under the Israeli Companies Law; and

 
● establishing procedures for the handling of employees’ complaints as to the management of our business and the protection to be provided to such employees.

 
The Audit Committee has the authority, with the assistance of management, to advise the Board and any other Board committee if the clawback provisions of our clawback
policy are triggered based upon a financial statement restatement or other financial statement change.
 
The Audit Committee also has the responsibility to implement and oversee our cybersecurity and information security policies and periodically review the policies and manage
potential cybersecurity incidents.
 
The charter of the Audit Committee is available on our website.
 
The members of the Audit Committee are Dr. Boaz Schwartz, Mr. Ehud Levy and Mr. Thilo Koslowski. Each member is an independent director and “financially literate” under
the Nasdaq rules, and Dr. Boaz Schwartz is an “audit committee financial expert.”
 
Compensation Committee
 
Under Nasdaq corporate governance rules, we are required to maintain a compensation committee consisting of at least two independent directors. The Compensation
Committee is responsible, among its other duties and responsibilities, for reviewing and approving all forms of compensation to be provided to, and employment agreements
with, our executive officers and directors, establishing the general compensation policies of us and our subsidiaries and reviewing, approving and overseeing the administration
of our employee benefits plans and reviewing our Compensation Policy.
 
The Compensation Committee has the authority to retain compensation consultants, outside counsel and other advisers.
 
The Compensation Committee is also responsible for the following pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law:

 
● recommending to the board of directors with respect to the approval of the compensation policy for “Office Holders” (a term used under the Israeli Companies Law,

which essentially means directors and executive officers, and also includes some officers who are not listed as Senior Management);
 
● Generally, once every three years, reviewing and approving any extensions to the Compensation Policy;
 
● reviewing the implementation of the compensation policy and periodically recommending to the board of directors with respect to any amendments or updates of the

compensation plan;
 
● resolving whether or not to approve arrangements with respect to the terms of office and employment of Office Holders;

 
● exempting, under certain circumstances, from the requirement of approval by the general meeting of shareholders, transactions with our chief executive officer; and,
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The Compensation Committee shall have, with the assistance of management, the authority and responsibility to, either by itself or in coordination with the Audit Committee,
make any determinations and take or authorize the taking of any action contemplated by our clawback policy.
 
The charter of the Compensation Committee is available on our website.
 
The members of the Compensation Committee are Mr. Scott Crist, Dr. Boaz Schwartz and Yair Shamir. Each member of the Compensation Committee is an independent
director.
 
Nominating and Governance Committee
 
Our Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible, among other things, for:

 
● overseeing and assisting its board in reviewing and recommending nominees for election as directors, including determining whether a nominee for election as a

director is an independent director;
 

● assessing the performance of the members of the board; and
 

● establishing and maintaining effective corporate governance policies and practices, including, but not limited to, developing and recommending to the board a set of
corporate governance guidelines applicable to us.

 
The charter for the Nominating and Governance Committee is available on our website.
 
The members of the Nominating and Governance Committee are Mr. Ehud Levy, Mr. Yair Shamir and Mr. Alexander Hitzinger. Each member of the Nominating and
Governance Committee is independent under the Nasdaq standards.
 
Diversity
 
The Nasdaq rules provide that each company listed on Nasdaq must have or explain why it does not have at least two members of its board of directors including (i) at least one
diverse director who self identifies as female and (ii) at least one diverse director who self-identifies as an underrepresented minority or LGBTQ+. For foreign issuers “diverse”
means an individual who self-identifies as one or more of the following: female, LGBTQ+, or an underrepresented individual based on national, racial, ethnic, indigenous,
cultural, religious or linguistic identity in the country of the company’s principal executive offices. For a smaller reporting company, the second diverse director can be female,
LGBTQ+ or an underrepresented minority. We will be required to have two female directors or provide an explanation why we do not by December 31,2026.
 
In addition, Nasdaq rules require us to provide a board diversity matrix in the from provided by Nasdaq, which we provide on our website.
 
Under Israeli law, if, at the time of a director is appointed all members of the board are of the same gender, then the appointed director must be of the other gender. Since we
have a female member of our board, we satisfy the diversity requirement under Israeli law.
 
Chairperson of the Board
 
Our Articles provide that the chairperson of the board is appointed by the members of the board of directors and serves as chairperson of the board throughout his or her term as
a director, unless resolved otherwise by the board of directors. Under the Companies Law, if the chief executive officer (or any relative thereof, or subordinate employee) will
be nominated to serve as the chairperson of the board of directors, and this will be subject to a shareholder approval in a special disinterested majority vote.
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Internal Auditor
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, the board of directors of a public company must appoint an internal auditor based on the recommendation of the audit committee. The role of
the internal auditor is, among other things, to examine whether a company’s actions comply with applicable law and orderly business procedure. Under the Israeli Companies
Law, the internal auditor cannot be an interested party or an Office Holder or a relative of an interested party or an Office Holder, nor may the internal auditor be the company’s
independent auditor or its representative. An “interested party” is defined in the Israeli Companies Law as: (i) a holder of 5% or more of the issued share capital or voting
power in a company, (ii) any person or entity who has the right to designate one or more directors or to designate the chief executive officer of the company, or (iii) any person
who serves as a director or as a chief executive officer of the company.
 
On February 28, 2022, the Board, following the recommendation of our Audit Committee, appointed Ms. Dana Gottesman as our internal auditor. Ms. Gottesman is a partner at
BDO Israel Consulting Group.

 
Director Independence
 
Our board of directors reviewed the materiality of any relationship that each of our proposed directors has with us, either directly or indirectly. Based on this review, the board
determined that Mr. Yair Shamir, Mr. Ehud Levy, Prof. Yonina Eldar, Dr. Boaz Schwartz, Mr. Thilo Koslowski, Mr. Alexander Hitzinger and Mr. Scott Crist are “independent
directors” as defined by Nasdaq.
 
External Directors
 
See the section entitled “Election and Removal of Directors” in Item 10.B
 
Family Relationships
 
There is no family relationship among any of our directors or executive officers. 

 
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
 
No executive officer or director of ours has been involved in the last ten years in any of the following:

 
 ● Any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business or property of such person, or of which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the

time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time;
   
 ● Any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other minor offenses);
   
 ● Being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily

enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities;
   
 ● Being found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state

securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated;
   
 ● Being the subject of or a party to any judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated relating to an

alleged violation of any federal or state securities or commodities law or regulation, or any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or insurance companies,
including, but not limited to, a temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or permanent cease-and-
desist order, or removal or prohibition order, or any law or regulation prohibiting mail, fraud, wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

 
● Being the subject of or a party to any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section

3(a)(26) of the Exchange Act, any registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act), or any equivalent exchange, association, entity
or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or persons associated with a member.
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D. Employees
 
As of December 31, 2023, we had 137 employees and consultants, of which four individuals provide services to us through consulting agreements. 131 of our workforce were
based in Israel, one in the United States, one in China, one in Thailand, one in United Kingdom and two in Germany. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our global
workforce by category of activity as of December 31, 2023:
 
  As of December 31,  
Category of Activity  2023   2022  
Research and development & operations   114   114 
Sales and marketing   10   13 
General & Administrative   13   14 
Total   137   141 

 
Our global workforce decreased by four employees from December 31, 2022, to December 31, 2023. This decrease was primarily attributed to a decrease in the sales and
marketing department, and, to a lesser extent, in General and Administrative.
 
As of March 1, 2024, our global workforce remains relatively flat and decreased to 136 employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we consider
our employee relations to be satisfactory. To date, we have not experienced any work stoppages.
 
E. Share Ownership.
 
Holders of our ordinary shares are entitled to vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to shareholders for approval. No holder of ordinary shares has different
voting rights from any other holders of ordinary shares. We are not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subsequent date, result in a change of control of our company.
 
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of ordinary shares on March 1, 2024, by

 
● each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of the outstanding ordinary shares;
 

● each of our directors, chief executive officer, chief financial officer and other members of Senior Management; and
 

● all of our Senior Management and directors as a group.
 
Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares beneficially owned by them.
Except as otherwise noted herein, the number and percentage of ordinary shares beneficially owned is determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Act, and the
information is not necessarily indicative of beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Under such rule, beneficial ownership includes any ordinary shares as to which the
holder has sole or shared voting power or investment power and also any ordinary shares which the holder has the right to acquire within 60 days of March 1, 2024 through the
exercise of any option, warrant, convertible security or other right. As of March 1, 2024, there were 78,221,557 ordinary shares outstanding.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1)  

Number of
Ordinary

Shares
Beneficially

Owned   Percentage  
Directors and Senior Management:       
Kobi Marenko(2)   3,929,072   5.01%
Noam Arkind(3)   3,026,003   3.86%
Karine Pinto-Flomenboim(4)   188,027   * 
Ehud Levy(5)   9,049,762   11.57%
Yair Shamir(6)   7,334,262   9.37%
Boaz Schwartz(7)   373,276   * 
E. Scott Crist(8)   3,620,546   4.5%
Thilo Koslowski(9)   59,999   * 
Alexander Hitzinger(10)   118,109   * 
Prof. Yonina Eldar(9)   6,666   * 
All directors and Senior Management as a group   28,790,998   34.95%
         
Five Percent Holders:         
Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) (Cayman) L.P.(11)   9,049,762   11.57%
AWM Investment Company, Inc. (12)   7,713,175   9.86%
CEL Catalyst Mobility Ltd. and Catalyst IV Fund L.P (13)   7,334,262   9.37%
iAngels Technologies LP – Series Arbe Robotics Ltd. Advanced Investment(14)   4,981,089   6.37%
 
 

* Less than 1%
 
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address for each named beneficial owner who is a director or senior management is c/o Arbe Robotics Ltd., HaHashmonaim St. 107, Tel Aviv-

Yafo, Israel.
 
(2) Consists of 2,849,482 ordinary shares held directly by Mr. Marenko, 177,076 ordinary shares subject to options and 902,514 ordinary shares held by Inter — Development

of Content in Internet Company Ltd. (“Inter”), which is owned by Mr. Marenko, who has the right to vote and dispose of shares owned by Inter.
 
(3) Consists of 2,849,482 ordinary shares held directly by Mr. Arkind and 176,521 ordinary shares subject to options.
 
(4) Consists of ordinary shares subject to options and restricted stock units.
 
(5) Consists of (i) 9,036,429 ordinary shares identified in footnote (10) below, and (ii) 13,333 ordinary shares subject to options granted to Mr. Levy. Mr. Levy is affiliated

with Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) (Cayman) L.P and may be deemed to have beneficial ownership with respect to these shares. Mr. Levy disclaims beneficial interest in the
shares owned by Canaan Partners except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

 
(6) Consists of (i) 7,320,929 ordinary shares identified in footnote (12) below, and (ii) 13,333 ordinary shares subject to options granted to Mr. Shamir.  Mr. Shamir is affiliated

with CEL Catalyst Mobility Ltd. but disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares except to the extent of any pecuniary interest such member may have
therein, directly or indirectly.

 
(7) Consist of: (i) 298,619 ordinary shares held by Geneva Insurance Group (Barbados) Inc. in respect of Separate Account 2020-418-VUL (the “Account”), which account is

held for the benefit of a trust (the “Master Trust”), of which Mr. Schwartz, alongside others, is an indirect beneficiary, and (ii) 74,657 ordinary shares subject to options.
Accordingly, Mr. Schwarz may be deemed to have an indirect beneficial ownership interest with respect to the shares. Furthermore, Mr. Schwartz is one of three members
of the Investment Committee of the Master Trust, which holds the Account. The Investment Committee operates by majority, and Mr. Schwartz does not have any
independent control of the Investment Committee and may only act with the vote of one or more of the other members of the Investment Committee.

 
(8) Consists of (i) 964,182 ordinary shares owned by Mr. Crist, (ii) 340,000 ordinary shares held by Texas Ventures Mgmt, LLC (“Texas Ventures”), (iii) 2,303,031 ordinary

shares issuable upon exercise of private warrants owned by Mr. Crist and (iv) 13,333 ordinary shares subject to options granted to Mr. Crist.  Mr. Crist is chief executive
officer and majority owner of Texas Ventures and has the right to vote and dispose of securities held by Texas Ventures. Mr. Crist disclaims any beneficial ownership of the
shares held by Texas Ventures other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest he may have therein, directly or indirectly.
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(9) Consist of ordinary shares subject to options.
 
(10) Consists of (i) 64,777 ordinary shares and (ii) 53,332 ordinary shares subject to options.
 
(11) Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) GP L.P. (“CPI General Partner”) is the general partner of Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) (Cayman) L.P. CPI General Partner has the power to

direct Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) (Cayman) L.P. to vote and dispose of the shares by decision of its managing partner Mr. Ehud Levy. The business address of the
foregoing person is c/o Canaan Partners Israel (CPI) (Cayman) L.P, 12/11 Rav Ashi St. Tel Aviv, Israel.

 
(12) Consists of: (i) 3,727,920 shares held by Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P. (ii) 1,118,789 shares held by Special Situations Cayman Fund, L.P. (iii) 688,178 shares held

by Special Situations Private Equity Fund, L.P. (iv) 337,741 shares held by Special Situations Technology Fund, L.P. and (v) 1,840,547 shares held by Special Situations
Technology Fund II, L.P. AWM Investment Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AWM”), is the investment adviser to Special Situations Cayman Fund, L.P., a
Cayman Islands Limited Partnership (“SSF CAYMAN”), Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“SSFQP”), Special Situations Private Equity
Fund, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“SSPE”), Special Situations Technology Fund, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“SSF TECH”) and Special Situations
Technology Fund II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (“SSF TECH II”). Mr. David M. Greenhouse (“Greenhouse”) and Mr. Adam C. Stettner (“Stettner”) are limited
partners of MGP Advisers Limited Partnership, a Delaware limited partnership, the general partner of SSFQP. Greenhouse and Stettner are members of, SSCayman,
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, the general partner of SSF CAYMAN, MG Advisers, L.L.C., a New York limited liability company, the general partner of
SSPE and SST Advisers, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, the general partner of SSF TECH and SSF TECH II. Greenhouse and Stettner are also the
controlling principals of AWM and have the power to direct, vote and dispose of the shares The business address for AMW is c/o Special Situations Funds, 527 Madison
Avenue, Suite 2600, New York, NY 10022.

 
 (13) Consists of: (i) 5,423,493 ordinary shares issued to CEL Catalyst Mobility Ltd. (ii) 1,897,436 ordinary shares issued to CATALYST IV FUND L.P. and (iii) 13,333

ordinary shares subject to options granted to Mr. Shamir. CEL Catalyst Mobility Ltd. is held by CEL Catalyst China Israel Fund L.P and Catalyst CEL Fund L.P. The
directors of CEL Catalyst Mobility Ltd. are Yair Shamir and Shengyan Fan who have the power to direct it to vote and dispose of the shares and each such director has
shared voting and investment power over the shares. Each director disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary
interest such member may have therein, directly or indirectly. The business address of each of the foregoing persons is c/o Catalyst Investment (Israel) III Ltd., 28 Haarbaa
St., Tel Aviv 6473925, Israel.

 
 (14) Consists of shares held by iAngels Technologies LP — Series Arbe Robotics Ltd. Advanced Investment. iAngels Crowd Ltd. (“iAngels General Partner”) is the general

partner of iAngels Technologies LP — Series Arbe Robotics Ltd. Advanced Investment. iAngels General Partner has the power to direct iAngels Technologies
LP — Series Arbe Robotics Ltd. Advanced Investment to vote and dispose of the shares by decision of its Investment Committee. The Investment Committee is comprised
of Mrs. Mor Assia, Mrs. Shelly Hod Moyal and Mr. David Assia, and each member of the Investment Committee has shared voting and investment power over the shares.
Each member of the Investment Committee disclaims any beneficial ownership of the reported shares other than to the extent of any pecuniary interest such member may
have therein, directly or indirectly. The business address of each of the foregoing persons is c/o iAngels Technologies LP — Series Arbe Robotics Ltd. Advanced
Investment, 18 Rotschild St., Tel Aviv, Israel.
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ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 
A. Major Shareholders

 
See Section E, “Share Ownership,” under Item 6 for information as to our major shareholders.

 
B. Related Party Transactions
 
This section refers to related-party transactions with respect to our directors and executive officers, which are unusual and not in the ordinary course of business of the
Company and does not include compensation or indemnification of Senior Management, which is disclosed above in Item 6.B. Compensation.

 
1. Kobi Marenko, our CEO, has a non-controlling interest in Taya Ventures L.P, which is a minority shareholder.

 
2. Inter, a company owned by Kobi Marenko, purchased 50,167 ordinary shares in October 2022 for $501,670 as part of our PIPE offering.  The purchase was made on the

same terms as other investors in the PIPE offering, which involved the sale of 10,000,000 ordinary shares at $10.00 per share contemporaneously with the Merger with
ITAC.

 
3. We and certain investor shareholders (the “Investor Shareholders”) are parties to an investor rights agreement, as amended, which grants the Investor Shareholders certain

registration rights with respect to their ordinary shares, which agreement includes standard covenants and indemnification provisions. In the event that we wish to provide
additional registration rights, we may be required to obtain the approval of the holders of majority of the ordinary shares held by the Investor Shareholders for as long they,
as a group, continue to hold such majority upon completion of a Merger. Such approval is not required if the proposed transaction is approved by the majority of our
independent directors (currently, a majority of our board of directors are independent directors). This investor rights agreement will continue and survive for a period of
five years after the closing of the Merger, or earlier upon the consummation of any consolidation or merger of the Company with or into a third party as described under the
agreement.

 
4. During June 2023, we raised $23.0 million from Special Situations Funds, a family of funds focused primarily on growth oriented small public companies with a

concentration on the technology and life sciences industries, pursuant to which the Company issued a total of 11,794,873 Ordinary Shares with a purchase price of $1.95
per share. Existing investors participated in this offering.  The aggregate net proceeds received by the Company from the offering were $22.5 million net of issuance
costs.  Two of the investors in the financing are affiliates of two of our directors.  Catalyst Investments, and Geneva Insurance Group, invested $5.3 million and $250,000,
respectively.  Mr. Yair Shamir, chairman and a director is co-founder and managing partner of Catalyst Investments, and Mr. Boaz Scwartz, a director, is a beneficiary of a
master trust held by Geneva Insurance Group (Barbados) Inc. and Mr. Schwartz is one of three members of the investment committee of the master trust.

 
For a description of the approvals required under Israeli law for related-party transactions, disclosure of personal interest and transactions with controlling shareholders, see
under “Item 10.B.—Conflict of Interest.”
 
For a description of the approvals required under Israeli law for compensation arrangements of officers and directors, see “Item 6.B.- Compensation of Directors and Executive
Officers.”
 
Fiduciary Duties of Directors and Executive Officers
 
The Israeli Companies Law provides for fiduciary duties that Office Holders owe to a company. An ‘Office Holder’ is defined under the Israeli Companies Law as a general
manager, chief business manager, deputy general manager, vice general manager, any other person assuming the responsibilities of any of these positions regardless of such
person’s title, a director and any other manager directly subordinate to the general manager. Each person listed in the table under the section A of Item 6 as Senior Management
is an Office Holders under the Israeli Companies Law. However, there are certain additional persons who are not listed in the above table who may meet the definition of an
Officer Holder but who are not part of our Senior Management as defined in our organizational structure.
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An Office Holder’s fiduciary duties consist of a duty of care and a duty of loyalty. The duty of care requires an Office Holders to act with a reasonable level of care and
generally requires to obtain:

 
● information on the appropriateness of a given action submitted for his or her approval or performed by virtue of his or her position; and
 

● all other important information pertaining to these actions.
 
The duty of loyalty requires an Office Holder to act in good faith and in the best interests of a company and generally includes the following duties:

 
● refrain from any conflict of interest between the performance of his or her duties in the company and his performance of duties with respect to another position or his

or her personal affairs;
 

● refrain from any activity that is competitive with the business of the company;
 

● refrain from exploiting any business opportunity of the company in order to receive a personal gain for himself or herself or others; and
 

● disclose to the company any information or documents relating to the company’s affairs which the Office Holders received as a result of his or her position as Office
Holders.

 
Shareholder Duties
 
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, a shareholder has a duty to act in good faith and in a customary manner toward the company and other shareholders and to refrain from
abusing his or her power with respect to the company, including, among other things, in voting at a general meeting and at shareholder class meetings with respect to the
following matters:

 
● an amendment to a company’s articles of association;
 

● an increase of a company’s authorized share capital;
 

● a merger; or
 

● interested party transactions that require shareholder approval.
 
In addition, a shareholder has a general duty to refrain from discriminating against other shareholders.
 
A controlling shareholder also has a duty of fairness toward the company. For the definition of a ‘controlling shareholder” see above at Item 6.B – “Director Independence.”
The Israeli Companies Law does not define the substance of this duty of fairness, except to state that the remedies generally available upon a breach of the fiduciary duty will
also apply in the event of a breach of the duty of fairness.
 
C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

 
Not applicable.
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information

 
Our consolidated financial statements begin on page F-1.

 
Legal Proceedings

 
See “Legal Proceeding” under Section B of “Item 4. Information on the Company”
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Dividends

 
We have never declared or paid any dividend on our ordinary shares and we do not anticipate paying any dividends on our ordinary shares in the future. We currently intend to
retain all future earnings to finance our operations and to expand our business.

 
No Significant Changes

 
Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no other significant changes to our financial condition have occurred since the date of the annual financial statements
contained herein.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
 

A. Offer and Listing Details
 

Our ordinary shares, par value NIS0.000216 per share, and warrants are listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “ARBE” and “ARBEW,”
respectively.
 
Our ordinary shares and warrants are issued in book entry form.
 
The transfer agent for our ordinary shares and warrant agent for our warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 1 State Street, 30th Floor, New York, New York
10004, telephone: (212) 509-4000.
 
Our publicly traded ordinary shares and warrants are not subject to any transfer restrictions. 
 
See “Description or Warrants” in Section B under Item 12.
 
B. Plan of Distribution

 
Not Applicable.
 
C. Markets

 
Our ordinary shares and warrants are currently traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

 
D. Selling Shareholders

 
Not Applicable.

 
E. Dilution

 
Not Applicable.

 
F. Expenses of the Issuer

 
Not Applicable.

 
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 
A. Share Capital

 
Not Applicable.
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B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

 
We are an Israeli corporation and our affairs are governed by our Restated Articles of Association (the “Restated Articles”) and the Israeli Companies Law. The following are
summaries of material provisions of our Restated Articles and the Israeli Companies Law insofar as they relate to the material terms of our ordinary shares. This description
does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of our Restated Articles, which is filed as an exhibit to this Form 20-F, and by the
Israeli Companies Law.
 
General
 
This section summarizes the material rights of the holders of ordinary shares under Israeli Companies Law, and the material provisions of the Restated Articles.
 
Authorized Capital
 
The authorized share capital consists of 130,000,000 ordinary shares, par value NIS 0.000216. As of March 1, 2024, we had 78,221,557 ordinary shares outstanding.
 
All of the outstanding ordinary shares are validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable. The ordinary shares are not redeemable and do not entitle their holders to pre-emptive
rights. Our Restated Articles and the Israeli Companies Law do not restrict in any way the ownership or voting of ordinary shares by non-residents or persons who are not
citizens of Israel, except with respect to subjects of nations which are in a state of war with Israel. All ordinary shares have identical rights.
 
Subject to the rights of holders of shares with special rights (if such shares are issued in the future), holders of paid up ordinary shares are entitled to participate in the payment
of dividends and, in the event of a winding-up of Arbe, in the distribution of assets available for distribution, in proportion to their respective shareholdings and in respect of
which such dividend is being paid or such distribution is being made, without considering any premium those holders might have paid in excess of that par value.
 
Shares with preferential rights relating, among other things, to dividends, voting and repayment of share capital can be created by adoption of a resolution of the shareholders at
a general meeting of shareholders at which a quorum is present, by a simple majority of the voting power represented at the meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon.
We can effect a share distribution or share dividend with board approval. A stock split (as well as other changes to our authorized capital, including an increase to the authorized
capital) requires shareholder approval, consisting of the majority of the shareholders present with the required quorum. Modification or abrogation of the rights of any class of
shares by the Company requires shareholder approval of all shares acting as one class, without any required separate resolution of any class of shares.
 
An increase in the authorized share capital, the creation of a new class of shares, an increase in the authorized share capital of a class of shares, or the issuance of additional
shares thereof out of the authorized and unissued share capital, shall not be deemed, for purposes hereof, to modify or derogate or cancel the rights attached to previously issued
shares of such class or of any other class, and any such change must be approved by the shareholders.
 
Any transaction that has the effect of reducing the share capital, such as the declaration and payment of dividends in the absence of sufficient retained earnings or profits,
requires the approval of both the board of directors and an Israeli court.
 
Election and Removal of Directors
 
Pursuant to our Restated Articles, directors will be appointed by a simple majority vote of holders of the voting shares, participating and voting at an annual general meeting of
the shareholders. Our ordinary shares are currently our only voting shares.
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, an Israeli public company is required to appoint at least two natural persons as “external directors,” unless the company elects to opt out of
the requirement to maintain such regime. Appointments of external directors are to be for a term of three years and may be extended for additional three-year terms, subject to
certain conditions as provided under the Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder.
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Our directors are divided into three classes, with one class being elected each year at the Company’s annual general meeting of shareholders for a term of approximately three
years, until the third annual general meeting following such election or re-election or generally, until they are removed by a vote of a majority of the voting power of the
shareholders represented at the general meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon, as one class, and disregarding abstentions from the count of the voting power of the
shareholders present and voting. The term of office of each class directors currently serving on our board shall expire at the annual general meeting for 2025 for Class I
directors, 2026 for Class II directors and 2024 for Class III directors. Any change in our Restated Articles to amend the provisions relating to a classified board requires the
approval of the holders of 60% of the ordinary shares outstanding on the applicable record date.
 
Under our Restated Articles, a director shall vacate his or her office if that director dies; is declared bankrupt; is declared to be legally incompetent; resigns such office by
notice in writing given to the Company; is not re-elected by the shareholders upon expiration of his or her term at the relevant annual general meeting of shareholders, or
otherwise as provided in the Israeli Companies Law.
 
In addition, our Restated Articles allow our board of directors to fill vacancies on the board of directors or to appoint new directors up to the maximum number of directors
permitted under our Restated Articles (which is currently nine members). Such directors serve for a term of office equal to the remaining period of the term of office of the
directors(s) whose office(s) have been vacated or in the case of new directors, for a term of office according to the class to which such director was assigned upon appointment.
 
Under our Restated Articles, the board of directors must consist of not less than three but no more than nine directors, including “external directors” if appointed (as defined by
the Israeli Companies Law). We presently have nine directors. We have opted out of the external director regime, and we maintain the current regime, which is based on our
board or directors consisting of a majority of independent directors, using the Nasdaq definition of independent director. For further information, see “Item 6 – Management.”
 
Dividends and Liquidation
 
We may declare a dividend to be paid to the holders of the ordinary shares in proportion to their respective shareholdings. Under the Israeli Companies Law, dividend
distributions are determined by the board of directors and do not require the approval of the shareholders of a company unless the company’s articles of association provide
otherwise. Our Restated Articles do not require shareholder approval of a dividend distribution and provide that dividend distributions may be determined by the board of
directors; provided that any declaration of a dividend in the absence of sufficient retained earnings or profits, requires the approval of both the board of directors and an Israeli
court. In certain circumstances provided by regulations promulgated under the Israeli Companies Law, our Board may also approve distributions in the absence of sufficient
retained earnings or profits, without the approval of the Israeli court, subject to complying with certain conditions as provided therein.
 
Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, dividends may be distributed only out of earnings or earnings generated over the two years preceding the distribution, according to the
company’s most recently reviewed or audited financial statements, provided that the end of the period to which the financial statements relate is not more than six months prior
to the date of the distribution. If a company does not meet such criteria, then it may distribute dividends only with court approval. In each case, we would only be permitted to
distribute a dividend if the board of directors and the court, if applicable, determines that there is no reasonable concern that distribution of the dividend will prevent us from
being able to meet our existing and foreseeable obligations as they become due.
 
In the event of liquidation, after satisfaction of liabilities to our creditors, our assets will be distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares in proportion to their shareholdings.
This right, as well as the right to receive dividends, may be affected by the grant of preferential dividend or distribution rights to holders of a class of shares with preferential
rights which may be authorized in the future.
 
Shareholder Meetings
 
Under Israeli Companies law, we are required to hold an annual general meeting of our shareholders once every calendar year (an “annual meeting”) and no later than
15 months after the date of the previous annual general meeting. All meetings other than the annual general meeting of shareholders are referred to in our Restated Articles as
special meetings (“special meetings,” and, together with the annual meeting, “general meetings”).
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In addition, the Israeli Companies Law provides that the board of directors is required to convene a special meeting upon the written request of (i) any two or more of our
directors or one-quarter or more of the members of our board of directors or (ii) one or more shareholders holding, in the aggregate, either (a) 10% or more of our issued and
outstanding shares and 1% or more of our outstanding voting power or (b) 10% or more of our outstanding voting power.
 
Subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder, shareholders entitled to participate and vote at general meetings are the
shareholders of record on a date to be decided by the board of directors, which may generally be between four and sixty days prior to the date of the meeting, pursuant to
recently amended regulations governing relief to Israeli public companies traded abroad.
 
Furthermore, the Israeli Companies Law requires that resolutions regarding the following matters must be passed at a general meeting of shareholders:

 
● amendments to the articles of association;

 
● appointment or termination of auditors;

 
● appointment of external directors (to the extent required);

 
● approval of certain related party transactions as required by law;

 
● increases or reductions of authorized share capital and the creation of preferred shares.

 
● a merger; and

 
● resolutions required for the management of the company, in which at such time the board of directors is unable to resolve or perform its duties.

 
The Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder require that a notice of any annual general meeting or special meeting be provided to shareholders at least
21 days prior to the meeting and if the agenda of the meeting includes the appointment or removal of directors, the approval of transactions with Office Holders or interested or
related parties, an approval of a merger, approval of compensation policy or approval of compromise or settlement between the company to its creditors or shareholders, notice
must be provided at least 35 days prior to the meeting. Under the Israeli Companies Law and our Restated Articles, shareholders are permitted act by way of written consent in
lieu of a meeting.
 
Quorum
 
Pursuant to the Restated Articles, holders of ordinary shares have one vote for each ordinary share held on all matters submitted to a vote before the shareholders at a general
meeting. The quorum required for our general meetings consists of at least two shareholders present in person or by proxy and holding shares representing, in the aggregate, at
least 25% of our voting power. A meeting adjourned for lack of a quorum will be adjourned either to (i) to the same day in the next week, at the same time and place, or (ii) to
such day and at such time and place as indicated in the notice of such meeting, or (iii) to such day and at such time and place as the chairperson of the meeting shall determine
(which may be earlier or later than the date pursuant to clause (i) above). At the adjourned meeting, one or more shareholders, present in person or by proxy shall constitute a
quorum.
 
Voting Requirements
 
Our Restated Articles provide that all shareholder resolutions require a simple majority vote, unless otherwise required by the Israeli Companies Law or by our Restated
Articles.
 
Shareholders may vote, in person or by proxy, the number of voting shares that they own on the record date for the applicable general meeting.
 
Our Restated Articles also provide that the removal of any director from office requires a vote of a majority of the votes cast at a general meeting if a quorum is present. Any
amendment of the provisions relating to our classified board requires the vote of 60% of the total voting power of the shareholders. A resolution for the voluntary winding up,
or an approval of a scheme of arrangement or reorganization, pursuant to Section 350 of the Israeli Companies Law requires the approval of holders of at least 75% of the
voting rights represented at the meeting and voting on the resolution provided that a quorum is present.
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Under the Israeli Companies Law, each of (i) the approval of an extraordinary transaction with a controlling shareholder; (ii) the terms of employment or other engagement of
the controlling shareholder of the company or such controlling shareholder’s relative (even if such terms are not extraordinary) or (iii) the approval of certain compensation-
related matters of officers and directors – generally require a special disinterested majority approval.
 
With respect to required approvals with respect to compensation-related matters see also under “Item 6.B Board Practices — Committees of the Board of
Directors — Compensation Committee” and “— Compensation Policy under the Israeli Companies Law.”
 
Disclosure of Personal Interests of an Office Holder and Approval of Certain Transactions
 
The Israeli Companies Law requires that an Office Holder promptly disclose to the board of directors any personal interest that he or she may have and all related material
information known to him or her concerning any existing or proposed transaction with the company. Under the Israeli Companies Law, a ‘personal interest’ includes an interest
of any person in an act or transaction of the company, excluding a personal interest arising solely from holding shares in the company, but including the personal interest (i) of
his/her immediate family, spouses, siblings, parents, grandparents, descendants, spouse’s descendants, siblings or parents or the spouse of any of such persons, or; (ii) of an
entity in which such person or a relative of such person is a 5% or greater shareholder, director or general manager or in which he or she has the right to appoint at least one
director or the general manager. In addition, under the Israeli Companies Law, in case of a person voting by proxy, “personal interest” includes the personal interest of either the
proxy holder or the shareholder granting the proxy, whether the proxy holder has discretion to vote or not.
 
If an Office Holder has a personal interest in a non-extraordinary transaction, meaning any transaction that is in the ordinary course of business, on market terms and that is not
likely to have a material impact on the company’s profitability, assets or liabilities, approval by the board of directors is required for the transaction, unless the company’s
articles of association provide for a different method of approval.
 
If an Office Holder has a personal interest in any transaction (i) that is not in the ordinary course of business, (ii) not on market terms or (iii) that is likely to have a material
impact on the company’s profitability, assets or liabilities (each, an ‘extraordinary transaction’), then an approval is first required by the company’s audit committee and
subsequently by the board of directors.
 
A director and any other Office Holder who has a personal interest in a transaction which is being considered by the board of directors or the audit committee, may not be
present at such a meeting or vote on that matter. However, if a majority of the directors (whether of the audit committee or of the board of directors) has a personal interest in
the matter, then it is allowed for those directors to participate, deliberate and vote in such meeting, provided however, that, a shareholder approval is also required to approve
such transaction.
 
Certain disclosures and approval requirements apply under Israeli law to certain transactions with controlling shareholders, certain transactions in which a controlling
shareholder has a personal interest and certain arrangements regarding the terms of service or employment of a controlling shareholder. For these purposes, a controlling
shareholder is any shareholder can direct the company’s actions, including any shareholder holding 25% or more of the voting rights provided that no other shareholder owns
more than 50% of the voting rights in the company. Two or more shareholders with a personal interest in the approval of the same transaction are deemed to be one shareholder
for the purpose of computing such threshold.
 
Israeli law requires that on certain related-party transactions, including matters requiring Compensation Majority, each shareholder voting thereon is required to state whether
the shareholder is a Controlling Shareholder and/or if the shareholder has any personal interest in the matter in the proposed resolution. If any shareholder casting a vote in
connection hereto does not explicitly indicate on the proxy card the foregoing, then the shareholder’s vote on the applicable item will not be counted. Pursuant to recently
amended regulations, a shareholder may be regarded as not having any personal interest unless the shareholder expressly notifies the company, which notification may be
through its proxy card or by another method.
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For a description of the approvals required under Israeli law for compensation arrangements of officers and directors, see “Item 6 — Compensation of Directors and Executive
Officers.”
 
Access to Corporate Records
 
Under the Israeli Companies Law, all shareholders generally have the right to review minutes of the general meetings, the shareholders register, the material shareholders
register (which, according to the Israeli Companies Law, is a register of holders of 5% or more of a company’s voting shares), the articles of association, the financial
statements, and any document that a company is required by law to file publicly with the Israeli Companies Registrar and other documents as provided in the Israeli Companies
Law. Any shareholder who specifies the purpose of its request may request to review any document in our possession that relates to any action or transaction with a related
party which requires shareholder approval under the Israeli Companies Law. We may deny a request to review a document if we determine that the request was not made in
good faith, that the document contains a commercial secret or a patent or that the document’s disclosure may otherwise impair the interests of the company.
 
Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors -- Exemption, Insurance and Indemnification of Directors and Officers
 
Exemption. Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may not exempt an Office Holder from liability for a breach of the duty of loyalty or from liability arising out of a
prohibited distribution to shareholders. Our Articles of Association allow us to exempt in advance, an Office Holder from liability towards the company, in whole or in part, for
damages caused to the company as a result of a breach of duty of care that is not a breach of the duty of loyalty or liability arising out of a prohibited distribution to
shareholders.
 
Indemnification. Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may indemnify an Office Holder in respect of the following liabilities and expenses incurred by him or her for
acts performed by him or her as an Office Holder, either in advance of an event or following an event, provided a provision authorizing such indemnification is contained in its
articles of association:

 
● a financial liability imposed on him or her in favor of another person pursuant to a judgment, including a settlement or arbitrator’s award approved by a court.

However, if an undertaking to indemnify an Office Holder with respect to such liability is provided in advance, then such an undertaking must be limited to events
which, in the opinion of the board of directors, can be foreseen based on the company’s activities when the undertaking to indemnify was given, and to an amount or
according to criteria determined by the board of directors as reasonable under the circumstances.  Such undertaking shall detail the abovementioned events and
amount or criteria;

 
● reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Office Holder in connection with a monetary sanction or as a result of an investigation or

proceeding instituted against him or her by an authority authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding, provided that (i) no indictment was filed against such
Office Holder as a result of such investigation or proceeding; and (ii) no financial liability, such as a criminal penalty, was imposed upon him or her in lieu of criminal
proceedings or, if such financial liability was imposed, it was imposed with respect to an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent; and

 
● reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Office Holder or imposed by a court in proceedings instituted against him or her by the

company, on its behalf or by a third-party or in connection with criminal proceedings in which the Office Holder was acquitted or as a result of a conviction for an
offense that does not require proof of criminal intent.
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We provide our directors and other Office Holders with the maximum indemnity permitted by the Israeli Companies Law.
 
D&O Insurance. Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may insure an Office Holder against the following liabilities incurred for acts performed as an Office Holder if
and to the extent provided in the company’s articles of association:

 
● a breach of the duty of loyalty, provided that the Office Holder acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to assume that the act that resulted in such breach

would not prejudice the interests of the company;
 

● a breach of duty of care to the company or to any other person;
 

● a financial liability imposed on such Office Holder in respect to his or her capacity as an Office Holder in favor of any other person; and
 

● any other event, occurrence, matter or circumstances under any law with respect to which the company may, or will be able to, insure an Office Holder, and to the
extent such law requires the inclusion of a provision permitting such insurance in the articles of association, then such provision is deemed to be included and
incorporated by reference (including, without limitation, in accordance with section 56h(b)(1) of the Securities Law, if and to the extent applicable, Section 50P of the
Competition Law).

 
Limitations on Exemption, Insurance, and Indemnification. Under the Israeli Companies Law, a company may not indemnify, exculpate, or insure an Office Holder against any
of the following:

 
● a breach of the duty of loyalty, except to the extent that the Office Holder acted in good faith and had a reasonable basis to believe that the act would not prejudice the

company;
 

● a breach of the duty of care committed intentionally or recklessly, excluding a breach arising out of the negligent conduct of the Office Holder;
 

● an act or omission committed with intent to derive illegal personal benefit; or
 

● a fine or forfeiture levied against the Office Holder.
 
Required Approvals. Under the Israeli Companies Law, exculpation, indemnification and insurance of Office Holders must be approved by the compensation committee and the
board of directors and, with respect to directors and the CEO, also by the general meeting of the shareholders. Under certain circumstances set forth in the Israel Companies
Law, shareholder approval may be exempted, subject to our meeting the conditions provided thereunder.
 
Our Restated Articles permit us to exempt, indemnify and insure our Office Holders to the extent permitted by law and the Restated Articles. The Office Holders are currently
covered by a directors and officers’ liability insurance policy.
 
We have entered into indemnification, insurance and exculpation agreements with each of our directors and certain executive officers, undertaking to indemnify, insure and
exculpate them to the fullest extent permitted by law.
 
In so far as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the company, we have been
advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act of 1933 and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the company of expenses incurred or paid by a director,
officer or controlling person of the company in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection
with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate
jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such
issue.
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There is no pending litigation or proceeding against any of our Office Holders as to which indemnification is being sought, nor are we aware of any pending or threatened
litigation that may result in claims for indemnification by any Office Holder.
 
Exclusive Jurisdiction of Certain Actions
 
Our Restated Articles provide that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the
exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. Since the Securities Act provide for both federal and state court
jurisdiction, a state court in the United States may be reluctant to enforce the exclusive jurisdiction provisions to the extent that they are deemed to preclude state court
jurisdiction for claims arising under the Securities Act.
 
Our Restated Articles provide that unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the competent courts in Tel Aviv, Israel will be the exclusive forum for
(i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a duty owed by any director, officer or other of our employees to us
or our shareholders, or (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Israeli Companies Law or the Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968 or otherwise
arising from the holding of our ordinary shares.
 
Transfer Agent and Warrant Agent
 
The transfer agent for our ordinary shares and the warrant agent for our warrants is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 1 State Street, 30th Floor, New York,
New York 10004, telephone: (212) 509-4000.
 
Anti-Takeover Provisions
 
Acquisitions under Israeli Law
 
 (a) Full Tender Offer
 
A person wishing to acquire shares of a public Israeli company and who could as a result hold over 90% of the target company’s voting rights or the target company’s issued
and outstanding share capital (or of a class thereof), is required by the Israeli Companies Law to make a tender offer to all of the company’s shareholders for the purchase of all
of the issued and outstanding shares of the company (or the applicable class). If (a) the shareholders who do not accept the offer hold less than 5% of the issued and outstanding
share capital of the company (or the applicable class) and the shareholders who accept the offer constitute a majority of the offerees that do not have a personal interest in the
acceptance of the tender offer or (b) the shareholders who do not accept the tender offer hold less than 2% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the company (or of the
applicable class), all of the shares that the acquirer offered to purchase will be transferred to the acquirer by operation of law . A shareholder who had its shares transferred may
petition the court within six months from the date of acceptance of the full tender offer, regardless of whether such shareholder agreed to the offer, to determine whether the
tender offer was for less than fair value and whether the fair value should be paid as determined by the court. However, an offeror may provide in the offer that a shareholder
who accepted the offer will not be entitled to appraisal rights as described in the preceding sentence if the offeror and the company disclosed the information required by law in
connection with the tender offer. If the full tender offer was not accepted in accordance with any of the above alternatives, the acquirer may not acquire shares of the company
that will increase its holdings to more than 90% of the company’s issued and outstanding share capital (or of the applicable class) from shareholders who accepted the tender
offer.
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 (b) Special Tender Offer
 
The Israeli Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares of an Israeli public company must be made by means of a special tender offer if, because of the acquisition,
the purchaser would become a holder of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company. This rule does not apply if there is already another holder of 25% or more of the
voting rights in the company. Similarly, the Israeli Companies Law provides that an acquisition of shares in an Israeli public company must be made by means of a tender offer
if as a result of the acquisition the purchaser would become a holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company, if there is no other shareholder of the company who
holds more than 45% of the voting rights in the company. These requirements do not apply if the acquisition (i) occurs in the context of a private placement by the company
that received shareholder approval, (ii) was from a shareholder holding 25% or more of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of 25%
or more of the voting rights in the company, or (iii) was from a holder of more than 45% of the voting rights in the company and resulted in the acquirer becoming a holder of
more than 45% of the voting rights in the company. A special tender offer may be consummated and is deemed to be accepted only if (i) at least 5% of the voting power
attached to the company’s outstanding shares will be acquired by the offeror and (ii) the number of shares tendered in the offer exceeds the number of shares whose holders
objected to the offer (excluding controlling shareholders, holders of 25% or more of the voting rights in the company and any person having a personal interest in the
acceptance of the tender offer).
 
In the event that a special tender offer is made, the company’s board of directors is required to express its opinion on the advisability of the offer and may abstain from
expressing any opinion if it is unable to do so, provided that it gives the reasons for its abstention. An Office Holder in a company who, in his or her capacity as an Office
Holder, performs an action for the purpose of causing failure of an existing or foreseeable special tender offer or is to impair the chances of its acceptance, will personally be
liable for the damages to the purchaser and shareholders, unless such Office Holder acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to believe he or she was acting for the
benefit of the company.
 
If a special tender offer is accepted, then shareholders who did not respond to or that had objected to the offer may accept the offer within four days of the last day set for the
acceptance of the offer.
 
In the event that a special tender offer is accepted, the purchaser or any person or entity controlling it or under common control with the purchaser or such controlling person or
entity may not make a subsequent tender offer for the purchase of shares of the target company and may not enter into a merger with the target company for a period of one year
from the date of the offer, unless the purchaser or such person or entity undertook to effect such an offer or merger in the initial special tender offer.
 
 (c) Mergers
 
The Israeli Companies Law permits merger transactions if approved by (i) the board of directors of each of the merging companies and, (ii) unless certain conditions described
under the Israeli Companies Law are met, a majority of the shareholders of each of the merging companies voted on the matter, provided that a proper quorum was present. The
board of directors of a merging company is required, pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law, to discuss and determine whether in its opinion there is a reasonable concern that
as a result of a proposed merger, the surviving company will not be able to satisfy its obligations to its creditors, such determination taking into account the financial status of
the merging companies. If the board of directors determines that such a concern exists, it may not approve a proposed merger. Following the approval of the board of directors
of each of the merging companies, the boards of directors of the merging companies must jointly prepare a merger proposal to submit to the Israeli Registrar of Companies.
 
For the purposes of the shareholder vote, unless a court rules otherwise, if one of the merging companies (or any person who holds 25% or more of the outstanding shares or the
right to appoint 25% or more of the directors of one of the merging companies) holds shares in the other merging company, the merger will not be deemed approved if a
majority of the shares voted at the shareholders meeting by shareholders other than the other party to the merger, or by any person who holds 25% or more of the outstanding
shares or the right to appoint 25% or more of the directors of the other party, vote against the merger. In addition, if the non-surviving entity of the merger has more than one
class of shares, the merger must be approved by each class of shareholders. If the transaction would have been approved but for the separate approval of each class or the
exclusion of the votes of certain shareholders as provided above, a court may still approve the merger upon the request of holders of at least 25% of the voting rights of the
company, if the court holds that the merger is fair and reasonable, taking into account the value of the parties to the merger and the consideration offered to the shareholders. If
a merger is with a company’s controlling shareholder or if the controlling shareholder has a personal interest in the merger, the merger is instead subject to the same special
majority approval that governs all extraordinary transactions with controlling shareholders.
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Under the Israeli Companies Law, each merging company must inform its secured creditors of the proposed merger plan. Upon the request of a creditor of either party to the
proposed merger, the court may delay or prevent the merger if it concludes that there is a reasonable concern that, because of the merger, the surviving company will be unable
to satisfy the obligations of any of the parties to the merger. The court also may give further instructions to secure the rights of the creditors.
 
In addition, a merger may not be completed unless at least 50 days have passed from the date that a merger proposal was filed with the Israeli Registrar of Companies, and
30 days have passed since obtaining the approval of the shareholders of both merging companies.
 
Anti-Takeover Measures
 
The Israeli Companies Law allows us to create and issue shares with different rights from those attached to its ordinary shares, including shares providing certain preferred
rights such as voting, distributing, pre-emptive rights or other matters. No preferred shares are currently authorized under our Restated Articles. In the future, if we authorize,
create, and issue a specific class of preferred shares, such class of shares, depending on the specific rights that may be attached to it, may have the ability to frustrate or prevent
a takeover or otherwise prevent our shareholders from realizing a potential premium over the market value of their ordinary shares. The authorization and designation of a class
of preferred shares will require an approval by the shareholders at a general meeting. The convening of the meeting, the shareholders entitled to participate, and the majority
vote required to be obtained at such a meeting will be subject to the requirements set forth in the Israeli Companies Law as described above in “— Voting Rights”. In addition,
as disclosed under “— Election of Directors” we have a classified board structure, which limits the ability of any investor or potential investor or group of investors or potential
investors to gain immediate control of our board of directors.
 
C. Material Contracts
 
On June 27, 2022, we entered into a manufacturing agreement with GlobalFoundries Singapore Pte. Ltd. (“GlobalFoundries”) for the manufacturing of our semiconductor
products, as well as other services, including pre-production, quality assurance, assembly, testing and supply-chain management. The initial term of the agreement is five years.
The agreement includes other customary terms for semiconductor manufacturing agreements, such as product recalls, warranty and business continuity. We depend on
GlobalFoundries to manufacture our semiconductor products. As of the date of this annual report, we have not engaged GlobalFoundries to manufacture products in
commercial quantities.
 
D. Exchange Controls
 
Generally, Israeli residents may freely deal in foreign currency and foreign assets, and non-residents may freely deal in Israeli currency and Israeli assets. There are currently no
Israeli currency control restrictions on remittances of dividends on the ordinary shares or the proceeds from the sale of the shares provided that all taxes were paid or withheld.
Non-residents of Israel may freely hold and trade our securities. Neither our Restated Article nor Israeli laws restrict in any way the ownership or voting of ordinary shares by
non-residents, except those restrictions that may exist with respect to citizens of countries which are in a state of war with Israel.
 
10.E. Taxation

 
The following summary of the material Israeli and U.S. tax consequences of an investment in our ordinary shares is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof in
effect as of the date hereof, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary is not intended to be, nor should it be construed as, legal or tax
advice and is not exhaustive of all possible tax considerations. This summary also does not deal with all possible tax consequences relating to an investment in our ordinary
shares, such as the tax consequences under state, local, non-U.S. and non-Israeli tax laws. Investors should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences
of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares.

  
I. Material Israeli Income Tax Considerations

 
The following description is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of all tax consequences relating to the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of our ordinary shares.
You should consult your own tax advisor concerning the tax consequences of your situation, as well as any tax consequences that may arise under the laws of any state, local,
foreign or other taxing jurisdiction.
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Summary of material Israeli Income tax considerations
 
The following is a summary of certain material Israeli income tax laws applicable to us. This section also contains a discussion of certain material Israeli income tax
consequences concerning the ownership and disposition of ordinary shares purchased by investors. This summary does not discuss all the aspects of Israeli tax law that may be
relevant to a particular investor in light of his or her personal investment circumstances or to some types of investors subject to special treatment under Israeli law. Examples of
such investors include residents of Israel or traders in securities who are subject to special tax regimes not covered in this discussion. To the extent that the discussion is based
on tax legislation that has not yet been subject to judicial or administrative interpretation, we cannot assure you that the appropriate tax authorities or the courts will accept the
views expressed in this discussion. The discussion below is not intended, and should not be construed, as legal or professional tax advice and is not exhaustive of all possible
tax considerations. The discussion is subject to change, including due to amendments under Israeli law or changes to the applicable judicial or administrative interpretations of
Israeli law, which change could affect the tax consequences described below, possibly with a retroactive effect.
 
THEREFORE, YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE ISRAELI OR OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE
PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF OUR ORDINARY SHARES, INCLUDING, IN PARTICULAR, THE EFFECT OF ANY FOREIGN, STATE
OR LOCAL TAXES.
 
General corporate tax structure in Israel
 
Israeli companies are generally subject to corporate tax at a flat rate. In December 2016, the Israeli Parliament approved the Economic Efficiency Law (Legislative
Amendments for Applying the Economic Policy for the 2017 and 2018 Budget Years) which reduced the corporate income tax rate from 25% to 24% effective from January 1,
2017, and to 23% effective from January 1, 2018, and thereafter. However, the effective tax rate payable by a company that derives income from an Approved Enterprise, a
Preferred Enterprise, a Benefited Enterprise or a Technological Enterprise (as discussed below) may be considerably less. Capital gains derived by an Israeli company are
generally subject to corporate tax rate.
 
Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 5729-1969
 
The Law for the Encouragement of Industry (Taxes), 5729-1969, generally referred to as the Industry Encouragement Law, provides several tax benefits for “Industrial
Companies.” We may qualify as an Industrial Company within the meaning of the Industry Encouragement Law.
 
The Industry Encouragement Law defines an “Industrial Company” as an Israeli resident-company, of which 90% or more of its income in any tax year, other than income from
certain government loans, capital gains, interest and dividends, is derived from an “Industrial Enterprise” owned by it and located in Israel or in the “Area”, in accordance with
the definition under section 3A of the Israeli Income Tax Ordinance New Version 5721-1961, or the Ordinance. An “Industrial Enterprise” is defined as an enterprise whose
principal activity in a given tax year is industrial production.
 
Following are the main tax benefits available to Industrial Companies:

 
● Amortization of the cost of purchased patent, rights to use a patent and know-how, which are used for the development or advancement of the Industrial Enterprise,

over an eight-year period, commencing on the year in which such rights were first exercised;
 

● Under limited conditions, an election to file consolidated tax returns with controlled Israeli Industrial Companies; and
 

● Expenses related to a public offering are deductible in equal amounts over three years commencing on the year of the offering.
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Eligibility for benefits under the Industry Encouragement Law is not contingent upon approval of any governmental authority.
 
Tax benefits and grants for research and development
 
Israeli tax law allows, under certain conditions, a tax deduction for expenditures related to research and development, including capital expenditures, for the year in which such
expenditures are incurred. Expenditures are deemed related to scientific research and development projects, if:

 
● The expenditures are approved by the relevant Israeli government ministry, determined by the field of research;
 

● The research and development must be for the promotion of the company; and
 

● The research and development are carried out by or on behalf of the company seeking such tax deduction.
 
The amount of such deductible expenses is reduced by the sum of any funds received through government grants for the finance of such scientific research and development
projects. No deduction under these research and development deduction rules is allowed if such deduction is related to an expense invested in an asset depreciable under the
general depreciation rules of the Ordinance. Expenditures that are unqualified under the conditions above are deductible in equal amounts over three years.
 
From time to time, we may apply to the Israel Innovation Authority for approval to allow a tax deduction for all or most of research and development expenses during the year
incurred. There can be no assurance that such application will be accepted. If we will not be able to deduct research and development expenses during the year of the payment,
we may be able to deduct research and development expenses in equal amounts over a period of three years commencing in the year of the payment of such expenses.
 
Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959
 
The Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959, generally referred to as the Investment Law, provides certain incentives for capital investments in
production facilities (or other eligible assets). Generally, an investment program that is implemented in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Law, referred to as an
Approved Enterprise, a Beneficiary Enterprise, a Preferred Enterprise, a Preferred Technological Enterprise, or a Special Preferred Technological Enterprise, is entitled to
benefits as discussed below. These benefits may include cash grants from the Israeli government and tax benefits, based upon, among other things, the geographic location of
the facility in which the investment is made in Israel. In order to qualify for these incentives, we are required to comply with the requirements of the Investment Law.
 
The Investment Law was significantly amended effective as of April 1, 2005 (the “2005 Amendment”), as of January 1, 2011 (the “2011 Amendment”) and as of January 1,
2017 (the “2017 Amendment”). Pursuant to the 2005 Amendment, tax benefits granted in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Law prior to its revision by the 2005
Amendment remain in force, but any benefits granted subsequently are subject to the provisions of the amended Investment Law. Similarly, the 2011 Amendment introduced
new benefits to replace those granted in accordance with the provisions of the Investment Law in effect prior to the 2011 Amendment. However, companies entitled to benefits
under the Investment Law as in effect prior to January 1, 2011, were entitled to choose to continue and enjoy such benefits, provided that certain conditions are met, or instead
elect, irrevocably, to forego such benefits and have the benefits of the 2011 Amendment apply. The 2017 Amendment introduces new benefits for Technological Enterprises,
alongside the existing tax benefits.
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Tax benefits under the 2011 Amendment
 
The 2011 Amendment canceled the availability of the benefits granted to Industrial Companies under the Investment Law prior to 2011 and, instead, introduced new benefits
for income generated by a “Preferred Company” through its “Preferred Enterprise” (as such terms are defined in the Investment Law) as of January 1, 2011. The definition of a
Preferred Company includes a company incorporated in Israel that is not fully owned by a governmental entity, and that has, among other things, Preferred Enterprise status and
is controlled and managed from Israel. Pursuant to the 2011 Amendment, a Preferred Company is entitled to a reduced corporate tax rate of 15% with respect to its income
derived by its Preferred Enterprise in 2011 and 2012, unless the Preferred Enterprise is located in a specified development zone, in which case the rate will be 10%. Under the
2011 Amendment, such corporate tax rate was reduced from 15% and 10%, respectively, to 12.5% and 7%, respectively, in 2013, 16% and 9% respectively, in 2014, 2015 and
2016, and 16% and 7.5%, respectively, in 2017 and thereafter. Income derived by a Preferred Company from a “Special Preferred Enterprise” (as such term is defined under the
Investment Law) would be entitled, subject to certain conditions and during a benefits period of 10 years, to further reduced tax rates of 8%, or 5% if the Special Preferred
Enterprise is located in a certain development zone.
 
Dividends distributed from income which is attributed to a “Preferred Enterprise” will be subject to tax at the following rates: (i) Israeli resident corporations — 0% (although,
if such dividends are subsequently distributed to individuals or a non-Israeli company the below rates detailed in sub sections (ii) and (iii) shall apply) (ii) Israeli resident
individuals — 20% (iii) Non-Israeli residents (both individuals and corporations) — 20%, or a reduced tax rate as determined under the provisions of any applicable double tax
treaty, when relevant.
 
The withholding tax rate applicable to distribution of dividend from such income to non-Israeli residents is 25% (or 30% if distributed to a “Substantial Shareholder” at the time
of the sale or at any time during the preceding twelve months period, as defined below), which may be reduced by applying in advance for a withholding tax certificate from the
Israel Tax Authority (the “ITA”). A “Substantial Shareholder” is generally a person who alone or together with such person’s relative or another person who collaborates with
such person on a permanent basis, holds, directly or indirectly, at least 10% of any of the “Means of Control” of the corporation. “Means of control” generally include the right
to vote, receive profits, nominate a director or an executive officer, receive assets upon liquidation, or instructs a person who holds any of the aforesaid rights how to act,
regardless of the source of such right.
 
The 2011 Amendment also provided transitional provisions to address companies already enjoying existing tax benefits under the Investment Law. These transitional provisions
provide, among other things, that unless an irrevocable request is made to apply the provisions of the Investment Law as amended in 2011 with respect to income to be derived
as of January 1, 2011, a Beneficiary Enterprise can elect to continue to benefit from the benefits provided to it before the 2011 Amendment came into effect, provided that
certain conditions are met.
 
New tax benefits under the 2017 Amendment that became effective on January 1, 2017
 
The 2017 Amendment was enacted as part of the Economic Efficiency Law that was published on December 29, 2016 and is effective as of January 1, 2017. The 2017
Amendment provides new tax benefits for two types of “Technological Enterprises,” as described below, and is in addition to the other existing tax beneficial programs under
the Investment Law.
 
The 2017 Amendment provides that a Preferred Company satisfying certain conditions will qualify as having a “Preferred Technological Enterprise” and will thereby enjoy a
reduced corporate tax rate of 12% on income that qualifies as “Preferred Technological Income”, as defined under the Investment Law. The corporate tax rate is further reduced
to 7.5% with respect to a Preferred Technological Enterprise located in “Development Zone A”. In addition, a Preferred Technological Company will enjoy a reduced corporate
tax rate of 12% on capital gains derived from the sale of certain “Benefitted Intangible Assets” (as defined under the Investment Law) to a related foreign company if the
Benefitted Intangible Assets were acquired from a foreign company on or after January 1, 2017, for at least NIS 200 million, and the sale receives a prior approval from the
Israel Innovation Authority.
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The 2017 Amendment further provides that a Preferred Company satisfying certain conditions (including group consolidated revenues of at least NIS 10 billion) will qualify as
a “Special Preferred Technological Enterprise” and will thereby enjoy a reduced corporate tax rate of 6% on “Preferred Technological Income” regardless of the company’s
geographic location within Israel. In addition, a Special Preferred Technological Enterprise will enjoy a reduced corporate tax rate of 6% on capital gains derived from the sale
of certain “Benefitted Intangible Assets” to a related foreign company if the Benefitted Intangible Assets were either developed by the Special Preferred Enterprise or acquired
from a foreign company on or after January 1, 2017, and the sale received a prior approval from the Israel Innovation Authority. A Special Preferred Technological Enterprise
that acquires Benefitted Intangible Assets from a foreign company for more than NIS 500 million will be eligible for these benefits for at least ten years, subject to certain
approvals as specified in the Investment Law.
 
Dividends distributed by a Preferred Technological Enterprise or a Special Preferred Technological Enterprise, paid out of Preferred Technological Income, are generally
subject to tax at the rate of 20% or a lower rate as may be provided in an applicable tax treaty.
 
The withholding tax rate applicable to distribution of dividend from such income to non-Israeli residents is 25% (or 30% if distributed to a “Substantial Shareholder” at the time
of the sale or at any time during the preceding twelve months period), which may be reduced by applying in advance for a withholding tax certificate from the Israel Tax
Authority. In addition, if such dividends are distributed to a foreign company that holds solely or together with other foreign companies 90% or more in the Israeli company,
and other conditions are met, the withholding tax rate will be 4% (subject to the receipt of a valid certificate from the Israel Tax Authority allowing for a reduced tax rate in
advance). However, if such dividends are paid to an Israeli company, no tax is required to be withheld.
 
We believe that we may be eligible to the tax benefits under the 2017 Amendment. This will be further examined when relevant.
 
Taxation of our shareholders
 
Capital Gains Tax on Sales of our ordinary shares
 
Israeli law generally imposes a capital gains tax on the sale of any capital assets by Israeli residents, as defined for Israeli tax purposes, and on the sale of capital assets by non-
Israeli resident, if such assets (i) are located in Israel, (ii) are shares or rights to shares in an Israeli resident company, or (iii) represent, directly or indirectly, rights to assets
located in Israel, unless a specific exemption is available or unless a tax treaty between Israel and the shareholder’s country of residence provides otherwise. The Ordinance
distinguishes between real gain and inflationary surplus. The inflationary surplus is a portion of the total capital gain equivalent to the increase of the relevant asset’s purchase
price attributable to an increase in the Israeli consumer price index, or, in certain circumstances, a foreign currency exchange rate, between the date of purchase and the date of
sale. Inflationary surplus is currently not subject to tax in Israel under certain conditions. The real gain is the excess of the total capital gain over the inflationary surplus.
 
Capital gains taxes applicable to non-Israeli resident shareholders
 
A non-Israeli resident that derives capital gains from the sale of shares in an Israeli resident company that were purchased after the company was listed for trading on a stock
exchange outside of Israel, will be exempt from Israeli tax if, among other conditions, the shares were not held through a “permanent establishment” that the non-resident
maintains in Israel. However, non-Israeli corporations will not be entitled to the foregoing exemption if Israeli residents, whether directly or indirectly: (i) have a controlling
interest of more than 25% in such non-Israeli corporation or (ii) are the beneficiaries of, or are entitled to, 25% or more of the revenues or profits of such non-Israeli
corporation. In addition, such an exemption is not applicable to a person whose gains from selling or otherwise disposing of the shares are deemed to be business income.
 
If not exempt, a non-Israeli resident corporate shareholder will generally be subject to tax on capital gain at the ordinary corporate tax rate (23% in 2024), or at the rate of 25%,
if generated by an individual, or 30%, if generated by an individual who is a “Substantial Shareholder”, at the time of sale or at any time during the preceding 12-month period
(or if the shareholder claims a deduction for interest and linkage differences expenses in connection with the purchase and holding of such shares). However, withholding tax
rates may be higher than the above tax rates, and therefore in order to be eligible for the capital gains rates mentioned, the taxpayer will need to perform certain administrative
procedures with the ITA and obtain a tax certificate from the ITA. Individual and corporate shareholders dealing in securities in Israel are taxed at the tax rates applicable to
business income (a corporate tax rate for a corporation (23% in 2024) and a marginal tax rate of up to 47% for an individual (assuming the activity does rise to a level of
business) in 2024, excluding Surtax as discussed below), unless contrary provisions in a relevant tax treaty apply.
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Additionally, a sale of securities by a non-Israeli resident may be exempt from Israeli capital gains tax under the provisions of an applicable tax treaty. For example, under the
Convention Between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of the State of Israel with respect to Taxes on Income, as amended (the
“United States Israel Tax Treaty”), the sale, exchange or other disposition of shares by a shareholder who is a United States resident (for purposes of the treaty) holding the
shares as a capital asset and is entitled to claim the benefits afforded to such a resident by the U.S. Israel Tax Treaty (a “U.S. Resident”) is generally exempt from Israeli capital
gains tax unless: (i) the capital gain arising from such sale, exchange or disposition is attributed to real estate located in Israel; (ii) the capital gain arising from such sale,
exchange or disposition is attributed to royalties; (iii) the capital gain arising from such sale, exchange or disposition is attributed to a permanent establishment in Israel, under
certain terms; (iv) such U.S. Resident holds, directly or indirectly, shares representing 10% or more of the voting power during any part of the 12 month period preceding the
disposition, subject to certain conditions; or (v) such U.S. Resident is an individual and was present in Israel for 183 days or more during the relevant taxable year. In any such
case, the sale, exchange or disposition of such shares by the U.S. Resident would be subject to tax in Israel (unless exempt under the Israeli domestic law as described above).
Under the United States Israel Tax Treaty, the gain may be treated as foreign source income for United States foreign tax credit purposes, upon an election by the U.S. Resident,
and such U.S. Resident may be permitted to claim a credit for such taxes against the United States federal income tax imposed on such sale, subject to the limitations under the
United States federal income tax laws applicable to foreign tax credits. The United States Israel Tax Treaty does not provide such credit against any United States state or local
taxes.
 
Regardless of whether shareholders may be liable for Israeli tax on the sale of our ordinary shares, the payment of the consideration may be subject to withholding tax at Israel.
Shareholders may be required to demonstrate that they are exempt from tax on their capital gains in order to avoid tax withholding at the time of sale (i.e., provide certificate of
residency and other relevant documentation to the ITA in order to obtain a withholding tax exemption from the ITA). Specifically, in transactions involving a sale of all of the
shares of an Israeli resident company, in the form of a merger or otherwise, the ITA may require shareholders who are not liable for Israeli tax to sign declarations in forms
specified by the ITA or obtain a specific exemption from the ITA to confirm their status as non-Israeli resident, and, in the absence of such declarations or exemptions, may
require the purchaser of the shares to withhold taxes at source.
 
Capital gains taxes applicable to Israeli resident shareholders
 
Generally, an Israeli resident corporation that derives capital gains from the sale of shares in an Israeli resident company that were purchased after the company was listed for
trading on a stock exchange outside of Israel will generally be subject to tax on the real capital gains generated on such sale at the corporate tax rate (currently of 23%).
 
An Israeli resident individual will generally be subject to capital gain tax at the rate of 25%. However, if the individual shareholder claims deduction of interest expenditures or
is a “Substantial Shareholder” at the time of the sale or at any time during the preceding twelve months period, such gain will be taxed at the rate of 30%. Individual holders
dealing in securities in Israel for whom the income from the sale of securities is considered “business income” as defined under section 2(1) of the Ordinance are taxed at the
marginal tax rates applicable to business income (up to 47% in 2024 plus 3% Surtax, when applicable).
 
Certain Israeli institutions who are exempt from tax under section 9(2) or section 129C(a)(1) of the Ordinance (such as exempt trust funds and pension funds) may be exempt
from capital gains tax from the sale of the shares.
 
Taxation of Israeli shareholders on receipt of dividends
 
An Israeli resident individual is generally subject to Israeli income tax on the receipt of dividends paid on our ordinary shares at the rate of 25%, plus 3% Surtax, when
applicable. With respect to a person who is a “Substantial Shareholder” at the time of receiving the dividend or on any time during the preceding twelve months, the applicable
tax rate is 30%, plus 3% Surtax, when applicable. Such dividends are generally subject to Israeli withholding tax at a rate of 25% if the shares are registered with a nominee
company (whether the recipient is a substantial shareholder or not).
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If the recipient of the dividend is an Israeli resident corporation such dividend income will be exempt from tax provided the income from which such dividend is distributed
was derived or accrued within Israel and was received directly or indirectly from another corporation that is subject to Israeli corporate tax.
 
An exempt trust fund, pension fund or other entity that is exempt from tax under section 9(2) or section 129C(a)(1) of the Ordinance is exempt from tax on dividend.
 
Dividend distribution by a Preferred Technology Enterprise or a Special Preferred Technology Enterprise is subject to beneficial withholding tax rates. For a further discussion,
see “Certain Material Israeli Tax Considerations — Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959 — New tax benefits under the 2017 Amendment that
became effective on January 1, 2017.”
 
Taxation of non-Israeli shareholders on receipt of dividends
 
Non-Israeli residents (either individuals or corporations) are generally subject to Israeli income tax on the receipt of dividends paid on our ordinary shares at the rate of 25%,
which tax will be withheld, unless relief is provided in a treaty between Israel and the shareholder’s country of residence. With respect to a person who is a “Substantial
Shareholder” at the time of receiving the dividend or on any time during the preceding twelve months, the applicable tax rate is 30%. Such dividends are generally subject to
Israeli withholding tax at a rate of 25% if the shares are registered with a nominee company (whether the recipient is a Substantial Shareholder or not), unless a reduced rate is
provided under an applicable tax treaty (subject to the receipt in advance of a valid certificate from the Israel Tax Authority allowing for a reduced tax rate). For example, under
the United States Israel Tax Treaty, the maximum rate of tax that may be withheld in Israel on dividends paid to a holder of our ordinary shares who is a U.S. Resident is 25%.
However, the maximum rate of withholding tax on dividends, not generated by a Preferred Enterprise, Approved Enterprise or Beneficial Enterprise, that are paid to a
United States corporation holding 10% or more of the outstanding voting capital throughout the tax year in which the dividend is distributed as well as during the previous tax
year, is 12.5%, provided that not more than 25% of the gross income for such preceding year consists of certain types of dividends and interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
dividends distributed from income attributed to an Approved Enterprise, Benefited Enterprise or Preferred Enterprise are not entitled to such reduced rate under the tax treaty
but are subject to a withholding tax rate of 15% for a shareholder that is a U.S. corporation, provided that the conditions related to the outstanding voting rights and the gross
income for the previous year (as set forth in the previous sentences) are met. If the dividend is attributable partly to income derived from an Approved Enterprise, Benefited
Enterprise or Preferred Enterprise, and partly to other sources of income, the withholding rate will be a blended rate reflecting the relative portions of the two types of income.
We cannot assure you that we will designate the profits that we may distribute in a way that will reduce shareholders’ tax liability. Application for the reduced tax rate requires
appropriate documentation to be presented and specific instruction received from the Israeli Tax Authorities to be followed. To the extent tax is withheld at source at the
maximum rates (see above), a qualified tax treaty recipient will be required to comply with certain administrative procedures with the Israeli Tax Authorities in order to receive
a refund of the excess tax withheld.
 
A foreign resident receiving dividend income from an Israeli company, from which the full tax was withheld, will generally be exempt from filing a tax return in Israel,
provided that (i) such income was not generated from business conducted in Israel by the foreign resident, (ii) the foreign resident has no other taxable sources of income in
Israel with respect to which a tax return is required to be filed and (iii) the foreign resident is not liable to Surtax (see below) in accordance with section 121B of the Ordinance.
 
Dividend distribution by a Preferred Technology Enterprise or a Special Preferred Technology Enterprise is subject to beneficial withholding tax rates. For a further discussion,
see “Certain Material Israeli Tax Considerations — Law for the Encouragement of Capital Investments, 5719-1959 — New tax benefits under the 2017 Amendment that
became effective on January 1, 2017.”
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Surtax
 
Subject to the provisions of an applicable tax treaty, individuals who are subject to tax in Israel are also subject to an additional tax at a rate of 3% on their annual income
(including, but not limited to, dividends, interest and capital gain) exceeding NIS 721,560 for 2024. This amount is linked to the annual change in the Israeli consumer price
index.
 
Estate and Gift Tax
 
Currently, Israel does not impose estate tax and gifts are generally exempt from tax.
 
THE ISRAELI TAX DISCUSSION SET FORTH ABOVE IS INCLUDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY AND MAY NOT BE APPLICABLE TO YOU
DEPENDING UPON YOUR PARTICULAR SITUATION. YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR WITH RESPECT TO THE TAX
CONSEQUENCES TO YOU OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ORDINARY SHARES AND WARRANTS, AS APPLICABLE, INCLUDING THE
TAX CONSEQUENCES UNDER ISRAELI TAX LAW AND OTHER NON-ISRAELI TAX LAWS AND TAX TREATIES AND THE POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF
CHANGES IN ISRAELI OR OTHER TAX LAWS.
 

II. Certain Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations
 
The following discussion summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders and Non-U.S. Holders (as defined below) of the ownership and
disposition of ordinary shares and warrants. This discussion applies only to the ordinary shares and warrants, as the case may be, that are held as “capital assets” within the
meaning of Section 1221 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) (generally, property held for investment).
 
The following does not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential tax effects arising in connection with the ownership and disposition of ordinary shares and warrants.
The effects of other U.S. federal tax laws, such as estate and gift tax laws, and any applicable state, local, or non-U.S. tax laws are not discussed. This discussion is based on the
Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial decisions, and published rulings and administrative pronouncements of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS”), in each case in effect as of the date hereof. These authorities may change or be subject to differing interpretations. Any such change or differing interpretation may be
applied retroactively in a manner that could adversely affect the tax consequences discussed below. We have not sought and will not seek any rulings from the IRS regarding the
matters discussed below. There can be no assurance the IRS will not take or a court will not sustain a contrary position regarding the tax consequences discussed below.
 
This discussion does not address all U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to a holder’s particular circumstances, including the impact of the Medicare contribution tax
on net investment income and the alternative minimum tax. In addition, it does not address consequences relevant to holders subject to special rules, including, without
limitation:

 
● banks, insurance companies, and certain other financial institutions;
 

● regulated investment companies and real estate investment trusts;
 

● brokers, dealers, or traders in securities;
 

● traders in securities that elect to mark to market;
 

● tax-exempt organizations or governmental organizations;
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 ● U.S. expatriates and former citizens or long-term residents of the U.S.;

 
 ● persons holding ordinary shares and/or warrants, as the case may be, as part of a hedge, straddle, constructive sale, or other risk reduction strategy or as part of a

conversion transaction or other integrated or similar transaction;
 

 ● persons subject to special tax accounting rules as a result of any item of gross income with respect to ordinary shares and/or warrants, as the case may be, being taken
into account in an applicable financial statement;

 
 ● persons that actually or constructively own 5% or more (by vote or value) of the outstanding ordinary shares;

 
 ● founders, sponsors, officers or directors of ITAC or holders of private placement warrants;

 
 ● “controlled foreign corporations,” “passive foreign investment companies,” and corporations that accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax (and their

shareholders);
 

 ● S corporations, partnerships, or other entities or arrangements treated as partnerships or other flow-through entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and investors
therein);

 
 ● U.S. Holders having a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar;

 
 ● persons who hold or received ordinary shares and/or warrants, as the case may be, pursuant to the exercise of any employee stock option or otherwise as

compensation; and
 

 ● tax-qualified retirement plans.
 
If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds ordinary shares and/or warrants, the tax treatment of an owner of such entity will
depend on the status of the owner or participant in the arrangement, the activities of the entity or arrangement, and certain determinations made at the owner or participant level.
Accordingly, entities or arrangements treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and the partners in such partnerships should consult their tax advisors
regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences to them.
 
For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is any beneficial owner of ordinary shares and/or warrants, as the case may be, that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

 
 ● an individual who is a citizen or resident of the U.S.;

 
 ● a corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation) created or organized in, or under the laws of, the U.S., any state thereof, or the District of Columbia;

 
 ● an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or

 
 ● a trust that (1) is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and the control of one or more “United States persons” (within the meaning of Section 7701(a)

(30) of the Code) or (2) has a valid election in effect to be treated as a United States person for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
 
THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ORDINARY SHARES AND/OR WARRANTS TO ANY
PARTICULAR HOLDER WILL DEPEND ON THE HOLDER’S PARTICULAR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES. YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR TAX
ADVISOR REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND NON-U.S. INCOME AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES TO YOU, IN LIGHT OF
YOUR PARTICULAR INVESTMENT OR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES, OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ORDINARY SHARES AND/OR
WARRANTS.
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U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of Arbe
 
Tax Residence of Arbe for U.S. Federal Income Tax Purposes
 
Although we are incorporated and tax resident in Israel, the IRS may assert that we should be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes pursuant to
Section 7874 of the Code. For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a corporation is generally considered a U.S. “domestic” corporation if it is created or organized in or under the
laws of the U.S., any state thereof, or the District of Columbia. Because we are not so created or organized (but is instead incorporated only in Israel), it would generally be
classified as a foreign corporation (that is, a corporation other than a U.S. “domestic” corporation) under these rules. Section 7874 of the Code provides an exception under
which a corporation created or organized only under foreign law may, in certain circumstances, be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The
Section 7874 rules are complex and require analysis of all relevant facts, and there is limited guidance and significant uncertainties as to their application.
 
Under Code Section 7874, a corporation created or organized outside the U.S. (i.e., a foreign corporation) will nevertheless be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal
income tax purposes when (i) the foreign corporation directly or indirectly acquires substantially all of the assets held directly or indirectly by a U.S. corporation (including the
indirect acquisition of assets of the U.S. corporation by acquiring the outstanding shares of the U.S. corporation), (ii) the shareholders of the acquired U.S. corporation hold, by
vote or value, at least 80% of the shares of the foreign acquiring corporation after the acquisition by reason of holding shares in the U.S. acquired corporation (the
“Section 7874 Percentage”), and (iii) the foreign corporation’s “expanded affiliated group” does not have substantial business activities in the foreign corporation’s country of
creation or organization relative to such expanded affiliated group’s worldwide activities (the “Substantial Business Activities Exception”). In order to satisfy the Substantial
Business Activities Exception, at least 25% of the employees (by headcount and compensation), real and tangible assets, and gross income of the foreign acquiring
corporation’s “expanded affiliated group” must be based, incurred, located, and derived, respectively, in the country in which the foreign acquiring corporation is created or
organized. The Section 7874 Regulations further provide for a number of special rules that aggregate multiple acquisitions of U.S. corporations for purposes of Code
Section 7874 that are made as part of a plan or made over a 36-month period, making it more likely that Code Section 7874 will apply to a foreign acquiring corporation.
 
We indirectly acquired substantially all of the assets of ITAC through the Merger. Based upon the terms of the Merger, the rules for determining share ownership under Code
Section 7874 and the Section 7874 Regulations, and certain factual assumptions, we currently expect that the Section 7874 Percentage of ITAC stockholders in us should be
less than 80% after the Merger. Accordingly, we are not expected to be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Section 7874 of the Code. The
calculation of the Section 7874 Percentage is complex, is subject to detailed regulations (the application of which is uncertain in various respects and could be impacted by
changes in U.S. tax laws and regulations with possible retroactive effect) and is subject to certain factual uncertainties.
 
The remainder of this discussion assumes that we will not be treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes under Section 7874 of the Code.
 
U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Ownership and Disposition of ordinary shares and warrants to U.S. Holders
 
Distributions on ordinary shares
 
If we make distributions of cash or property on the ordinary shares, such distributions will be treated first as a dividend to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings
and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes), and then as a tax-free return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder’s tax basis, with any excess treated as
gain from the sale or exchange of the shares. The amount of any such distribution will include any amounts withheld by us (or another applicable withholding agent). If we do
not provide calculations of its earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax principles, a U.S. Holder should expect all cash distributions to be reported as dividends for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. Any dividend will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations in respect of dividends received from
U.S. corporations.
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Subject to the discussions above under “— Utilization of ITAC’s Tax Attributes and Certain Other Adverse Tax Consequences to Arbe and Arbe’s Shareholders” and below
under “— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules,” dividends received by certain non-corporate U.S. Holders (including individuals) may be “qualified dividend income,”
which is taxed at the lower applicable capital gains rate, provided that:

 
 ● either (a) the shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the U.S. or (b) we are eligible for the benefits of a qualifying income tax treaty with the

U.S. that includes an exchange of information program;
 

 ● we are neither a PFIC (as discussed below under below under “— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules”) nor treated as such with respect to the U.S. Holder for
our taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding taxable year;

 
 ● the U.S. Holder satisfies certain holding period requirements;

 
 ● the U.S. Holder is not under an obligation to make related payments with respect to positions in substantially similar or related property; and

 
 ● the taxpayer does not take the dividends into account as investment income under Code Section 163(d)(4)(B).
 
There can be no assurances that we will be eligible for benefits of an applicable comprehensive income tax treaty between the U.S. and Israel. In addition, there also can be no
assurance that ordinary shares will be considered “readily tradable” on an established securities market in accordance with applicable legal authorities. Furthermore, we will not
constitute a qualified foreign corporation for purposes of these rules if it is a PFIC for the taxable year in which it pays a dividend or for the preceding taxable year. See
“— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules.” U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the availability of the lower rate for dividends paid with respect to
ordinary shares.
 
The amount of any dividend distribution paid in foreign currency will be the U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the applicable exchange rate in effect on the date of
actual or constructive receipt, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars at that time. A U.S. Holder may have foreign currency gain or loss if the
dividend is converted into U.S. dollars after the date of receipt.
 
Subject to certain exceptions, dividends on ordinary shares will constitute foreign source income for foreign tax credit limitation purposes. If the dividends are qualified
dividend income (as discussed above), the amount of the dividend taken into account for purposes of calculating the foreign tax credit limitation will be limited to the gross
amount of the dividend, multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the reduced rate applicable to qualified dividend income and the denominator of which is the highest
rate of tax normally applicable to dividends. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. For this
purpose, dividends distributed by us with respect to the ordinary shares generally will constitute “passive category income” but could, in the case of certain U.S. Holders,
constitute “general category income”. The rules governing foreign tax credits are complex and U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the creditability of
foreign taxes in their particular circumstances. In lieu of claiming a foreign tax credit, a U.S. Holder may, in certain circumstances, deduct foreign taxes in computing the
holder’s taxable income, subject to generally applicable limitations under U.S. law. Generally, an election to deduct foreign taxes instead of claiming foreign tax credits applies
to all foreign taxes paid or accrued in the taxable year.
 
Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of ordinary shares and warrants
 
Subject to the discussion below under “— Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules,” a U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss on any sale, exchange, redemption
or other taxable disposition of ordinary shares or warrants in an amount equal to the difference between (i) the amount realized on the disposition and (ii) such U.S. Holder’s
adjusted tax basis in such shares and/or warrants. Any gain or loss recognized by a U.S. Holder on a taxable disposition of ordinary shares or warrants generally will be capital
gain or loss. A non-corporate U.S. Holder, including an individual, who has held the ordinary shares and/or warrants for more than one year generally will be eligible for
reduced tax rates for such long-term capital gains. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.
 

109



 

 
Any such gain or loss recognized generally will be treated as U.S. source income or loss. Accordingly, in the event any Israeli tax (including withholding tax) is imposed upon
such sale or other disposition, a U.S. Holder may not be able to utilize foreign tax credits unless such holder has foreign source income or gain in the same category from other
sources. Moreover, there are special rules under the income tax treaty between the U.S. and Israel (the “Treaty”), which may impact a U.S. Holder’s ability to claim a foreign
tax credit. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisor regarding the ability to claim a foreign tax credit and the application of the Treaty to such U.S. Holder’s particular
circumstances.
 
Exercise, Lapse, or Redemption of warrants
 
Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a U.S. Holder generally will not recognize gain or loss upon the acquisition of an ordinary share on the exercise of the warrants for
cash. A U.S. Holder’s tax basis in an ordinary shares received upon exercise of the warrants generally should be an amount equal to the sum of the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the
warrants exchanged therefor (assuming the Merger is not a taxable transaction) and the exercise price. The U.S. Holder’s holding period for an ordinary share received upon
exercise of the warrants will begin on the date following the date of exercise (or possibly the date of exercise) of the warrants and will not include the period during which the
U.S. Holder held the warrants. If the warrants are allowed to lapse unexercised, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize a capital loss equal to such holder’s tax basis in the
warrants.
 
The tax consequences of a cashless exercise of the warrants are not clear under current tax law. Subject to the PFIC rules discussed below, a cashless exercise may be tax-
deferred, either because the exercise is not a gain realization event or because the exercise is treated as a recapitalization for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In either tax-
deferred situation, a U.S. Holder’s basis in the ordinary shares received generally would equal the U.S. Holder’s basis in the warrants exercised therefor. If the cashless exercise
is not treated as a gain realization event, a U.S. Holder’s holding period in the ordinary shares would be treated as commencing on the date following the date of exercise (or
possibly the date of exercise) of the warrants and will not include the period during which the U.S. Holder held the warrants. If the cashless exercise were treated as a
recapitalization, the holding period of the ordinary shares would include the holding period of the warrants exercised therefor.
 
It is also possible that a cashless exercise of the warrants could be treated in part as a taxable exchange in which gain or loss would be recognized in the manner set forth above
under “— Sale, Exchange, Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of ordinary shares and warrants.” In such event, a U.S. Holder could be deemed to have surrendered
warrants equal to the number of ordinary shares having an aggregate fair market value equal to the exercise price for the total number of warrants to be exercised. Subject to the
PFIC rules discussed below, the U.S. Holder would recognize capital gain or loss with respect to the warrants deemed surrendered in an amount generally equal to the
difference between (i) the fair market value of the ordinary shares that would have been received in a regular exercise of the warrants deemed surrendered, net of the aggregate
exercise price of such warrants and (ii) the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in such warrants. In this case, a U.S. Holder’s aggregate tax basis in the ordinary shares received would equal
the sum of (i) U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the warrants deemed exercised and (ii) the aggregate exercise price of such warrants. A U.S. Holder’s holding period for the ordinary
shares received in such case generally would commence on the date following the date of exercise (or possibly the date of exercise) of the warrants and will not include the
period during which the U.S. Holder held the warrants.
 
Due to the absence of authority on the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a cashless exercise of warrants, including when a U.S. Holder’s holding period would commence
with respect to the ordinary share received, there can be no assurance regarding which, if any, of the alternative tax consequences and holding periods described above would be
adopted by the IRS or a court of law. Accordingly, U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the tax consequences of a cashless exercise of warrants.
 
Subject to the PFIC rules described below, if we redeem warrants for cash pursuant to the redemption provisions of the Warrant Agreement or if we purchase warrants in an
open market transaction, such redemption or purchase generally will be treated as a taxable disposition to the U.S. Holder, taxed as described above under “— Sale, Exchange,
Redemption or Other Taxable Disposition of ordinary shares and warrants.”
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Possible Constructive Distributions
 
The terms of each warrant provide for an adjustment to the number of ordinary shares for which the warrants may be exercised or to the exercise price of the warrants in certain
events, as discussed in the section of this registration statement captioned “Description of warrants.” An adjustment which has the effect of preventing dilution generally is not
taxable. A U.S. Holder of the warrants would, however, be treated as receiving a constructive distribution from us if, for example, the adjustment increases the holder’s
proportionate interest in our assets or earnings and profits (for instance, through an increase in the number of ordinary shares that would be obtained upon exercise of such
warrant) as a result of a distribution of cash or other property such as other securities to the holders of the ordinary shares which is taxable to the U.S. Holders of such shares as
described under “— Distributions on ordinary shares” above. Such constructive distribution would be subject to tax as described under that section in the same manner as if the
U.S. Holder of such warrants received a cash distribution from us equal to the fair market value of such increase in interest.
 
Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules
 
The treatment of U.S. Holders of the ordinary shares and warrants could be materially different from that described above, if we are treated as a “passive foreign investment
company,” or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes. An entity treated as a foreign corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes generally will be a PFIC for
U.S. federal income tax purposes for any taxable year if either:

 
 ● at least 75% of its gross income for such year is passive income (such as interest, dividends, rents and royalties (other than rents or royalties derived from the active

conduct of a trade or business) and gains from the disposition of assets giving rise to passive income); or
 

 ● at least 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets) during such year is attributable to assets that produce passive income
or are held for the production of passive income.

 
For this purpose, we will be treated as owning our proportionate share of the assets and earning its proportionate share of the income of any other entity treated as a corporation
for U.S. federal income tax purposes in which we own, directly or indirectly, 25% or more (by value) of the stock.
 
Whether we are treated as a PFIC is determined on an annual basis. Although based on the current and anticipated composition of the income, assets and operations of us and
our subsidiaries, we do not believe we will be treated as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes for our current taxable year, and do not expect to become one for
U.S. federal income tax purposes in the near future, this is a factual determination that depends on, among other things, the composition of our income and assets, and the
market value of our shares and assets, including the composition of income and assets and the market value of shares and assets of its subsidiaries, from time to time, and thus
the determination can only be made annually after the close of each taxable year. Thus, no assurance can be given as to whether we will be a PFIC in 2023 or for any future
taxable year. In addition, our U.S. counsel expresses no opinion with respect to our PFIC status for 2023 or future taxable years.
 
Under the PFIC rules, if we were considered a PFIC at any time that a U.S. Holder owns ordinary shares or warrants, we would generally continue to be treated as a PFIC with
respect to such holder in a particular year unless (i) we has ceased to be a PFIC and (ii) (a) the U.S. Holder has made a valid “QEF election” (as described below) for the first
taxable year in which the holder owned such holder’s ordinary shares in which we were a PFIC, (b) a valid mark-to-market election (as described below) is in effect for the
particular year, or (c) the U.S. Holder has made a “deemed sale” election under the PFIC rules. If such a “deemed sale” election is made, a U.S. Holder will be deemed to have
sold its ordinary shares at their fair market value on the last day of the last taxable year in which we are classified as a PFIC, and any gain from such deemed sale would be
subject to the consequences described below. After the “deemed sale” election, the ordinary shares with respect to which the “deemed sale” election was made will not be
treated as shares in a PFIC unless we subsequently become a PFIC.
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For each taxable year that we are treated as a PFIC with respect to a U.S. Holder’s ordinary shares or warrants, the U.S. Holder will be subject to special tax rules with respect
to any “excess distribution” (as defined below) received and any gain realized from a sale or disposition (including a pledge of ordinary shares and under proposed regulations
transfers of warrants and certain transfers of ordinary shares that would otherwise qualify as nonrecognition transactions for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of its ordinary
shares or warrants (collectively the “excess distribution rules”), unless, with respect to the ordinary shares, the U.S. Holder makes a valid QEF or mark-to-market election as
discussed below. Generally, distributions received by a U.S. Holder in a taxable year that are greater than 125% of the average annual distributions received by such
U.S. Holder during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or the portion of such U.S. Holder’s holding period for the ordinary shares or warrants that preceded the
taxable year of the distribution will be treated as excess distributions. Under these special tax rules:

 
 ● the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over the U.S. Holder’s holding period for the ordinary shares or warrants;

 
 ● the amount allocated to the U.S. Holder’s taxable year in which the U.S. Holder recognized the gain or received the excess distribution or to the period in the

U.S. Holder’s holding period before the first day of our first taxable year in which we are a PFIC, will be treated as ordinary income; and
 

 ● the amount allocated to each other taxable year (or portions thereof) of the U.S. Holder and included in such holder’s holding period will be subject to the highest tax
rate in effect for individuals or corporations, as applicable, for each such year without regard to the U.S. Holder’s other items of income and loss for such year; and

 
 ● the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax will be imposed on the U.S. Holder with respect to the resulting tax attributable to each such year.
 
Under the excess distribution rules, the tax liability for amounts allocated to taxable years prior to the year of disposition or excess distribution cannot be offset by any net
operating losses, and gains (but not losses) realized on the sale of the ordinary shares or warrants cannot be treated as capital gains, even though the U.S. Holder holds the
ordinary shares or warrants as capital assets.
 
Certain of the PFIC rules may impact U.S. Holders with respect to equity interests in subsidiaries and other entities which we may hold, directly or indirectly, that are PFICs
(collectively, “Lower-Tier PFICs”). There can be no assurance, however, that we do not own, or will not in the future acquire, an interest in a subsidiary or other entity that is or
would be treated as a Lower-Tier PFIC. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the PFIC rules to any of our subsidiaries.
 
If we are a PFIC, a U.S. Holder of our shares may avoid taxation under the excess distribution rules described above in respect to the ordinary shares by making a timely and
valid “qualified electing fund” (“QEF”) election (if eligible to do so). However, a U.S. Holder may make a QEF election with respect to its ordinary shares only if we provide
U.S. Holders on an annual basis with certain financial information specified under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, including the information provided in a PFIC Annual
Information Statement. There can be no assurance, however, that we will have timely knowledge of its status as a PFIC in the future or that we will timely provide such
information for such years. The failure to provide such information on an annual basis could prevent a U.S. Holder from making a QEF election or result in the invalidation or
termination of a U.S. Holder’s prior QEF election.
 
A U.S. Holder that makes a QEF election with respect to its ordinary shares would generally be required to include in income for each year that we are treated as a PFIC the
U.S. Holder’s pro rata share of our ordinary earnings for the year (which would be subject to tax as ordinary income) and net capital gains for the year (which would be subject
to tax at the rates applicable to long-term capital gains), without regard to the amount of any distributions made in respect of the ordinary shares. Any net deficits or net capital
losses of us for a taxable year, however, would not be passed through and included on the tax return of the U.S. Holder. A U.S. Holder’s basis in the ordinary shares would be
increased by the amount of income inclusions under the QEF rules. Dividends actually paid on the ordinary shares generally would not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to
the extent of prior income inclusions and would reduce the U.S. Holder’s basis in the ordinary shares by a corresponding amount. If we own any interests in a Lower-Tier PFIC,
a U.S. Holder generally must make a separate QEF election for each Lower-Tier PFIC, subject to our providing the relevant tax information for each Lower-Tier PFIC on an
annual basis. There can be no assurance that we will have timely knowledge of the status of any such Lower-Tier PFIC. In addition, we may not hold a controlling interest in
any such Lower-Tier PFIC and thus there can be no assurance that we will be able to cause the Lower-Tier PFIC to provide such required information.
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If a U.S. Holder does not make a QEF election effective from the first taxable year of a U.S. Holder’s holding period for the ordinary shares in which we are a PFIC (or a mark-
to-market election, as discussed below), then the U.S. Holder generally will remain subject to the excess distribution rules. A U.S. Holder that first makes a QEF election in a
later year may avoid the continued application of the excess distribution rules to its ordinary shares by making a “deemed sale” election. In that case, the U.S. Holder will be
deemed to have sold the ordinary shares at their fair market value on the first day of the taxable year in which the QEF election becomes effective, and any gain from such
deemed sale would be subject to the excess distribution rules described above. As a result of the “deemed sale” election, the U.S. Holder will have additional basis (to the extent
of any gain recognized on the deemed sale) and, solely for purposes of the PFIC rules, a new holding period in the ordinary shares.
 
It is not entirely clear how various aspects of the PFIC rules apply to the warrants. However, a U.S. Holder may not make a QEF election with respect to its warrants. As a
result, if a U.S. Holder sells or otherwise disposes of such warrants (other than upon exercise of such warrants) and we were a PFIC at any time during the U.S. Holder’s
holding period of such warrants, any gain recognized generally will be treated as an excess distribution, taxed as described above.
 
If a U.S. Holder that exercises such warrants properly makes and maintains a QEF election with respect to the newly acquired ordinary shares (or has previously made a QEF
election with respect to the ordinary shares), the QEF election will apply to the newly acquired ordinary shares. Notwithstanding such QEF election, the rules relating to
“excess distributions” discussed above, adjusted to take into account the current income inclusions resulting from the QEF election, will continue to apply with respect to such
newly acquired ordinary shares (which under proposed regulations will be deemed to have a holding period for purposes of the PFIC rules that includes the period the
U.S. Holder held the warrants), unless the U.S. Holder makes a “deemed sale” election under the PFIC rules. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors as to the
application of the rules governing “deemed sale” elections to their particular circumstances.
 
The QEF election is made on a shareholder-by-shareholder basis and, once made, can be revoked only with the consent of the IRS. A U.S. Holder that is eligible to make a QEF
election with respect to its ordinary shares generally may do so by providing the appropriate information to the IRS in the U.S. Holder’s timely filed tax return for the year in
which the election becomes effective. Retroactive QEF elections generally may be made only by filing a protective statement with such return and if certain other conditions are
met or with the consent of the IRS. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding the availability and tax consequences of a retroactive QEF election under their
particular circumstances.
 
U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors as to the availability and desirability of a QEF election.
 
Alternatively, if we are a PFIC and ordinary shares constitute “marketable stock” (as defined below), a U.S. Holder may make a mark-to-market election for such holder’s
ordinary shares with respect to such shares for the first taxable year in which it holds (or is deemed to hold) ordinary shares and each subsequent taxable year to elect out of the
excess distribution rules discussed above. If a U.S. Holder makes a mark-to-market election with respect to its ordinary shares, such U.S. Holder generally will include in
income for each year that we are treated as a PFIC with respect to such ordinary shares an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the ordinary shares as
of the close of the U.S. Holder’s taxable year over the adjusted basis in the ordinary shares. A U.S. Holder will be allowed a deduction for the excess, if any, of the adjusted
basis of the ordinary shares over their fair market value as of the close of the taxable year. However, deductions will be allowed only to the extent of any net mark-to-
market gains on the ordinary shares included in the U.S. Holder’s income for prior taxable years. Amounts included in income under a mark-to-market election, as well as gain
on the actual sale or other disposition of the ordinary shares, will be treated as ordinary income. Ordinary loss treatment will also apply to the deductible portion of any mark-
to-market loss on the ordinary shares, as well as to any loss realized on the actual sale or disposition of the ordinary shares, to the extent the amount of such loss does not
exceed the net mark-to-market gains for such ordinary shares previously included in income. A U.S. Holder’s basis in the ordinary shares will be adjusted to reflect any mark-
to-market gain or loss. If a U.S. Holder makes a mark-to-market election, any distributions we make would generally be subject to the rules discussed above under
“— Distributions on ordinary shares,” except the lower rates applicable to qualified dividend income would not apply. Currently, U.S. Holders of warrants will not be able to
make a mark-to-market election with respect to their warrants.
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The mark-to-market election is available only for “marketable stock,” which is stock that is regularly traded on a qualified exchange or other market, as defined in applicable
U.S. Treasury regulations. The ordinary shares, which listed on Nasdaq, are expected to qualify as marketable stock for purposes of the PFIC rules, but there can be no
assurance that ordinary shares will be “regularly traded” for purposes of these rules. If made, a mark-to-market election would be effective for the taxable year for which the
election was made and for all subsequent taxable years unless ordinary shares cease to qualify as “marketable stock” for purposes of the PFIC rules or the IRS consents to the
revocation of the election. Because a mark-to-market election cannot be made for equity interests in any Lower-Tier PFICs, a U.S. Holder that does not make the applicable
QEF elections generally will continue to be subject to the excess distribution rules with respect to its indirect interest in any Lower-Tier PFICs as described above, even if a
mark-to-market election is made for ordinary shares.
 
If a U.S. Holder does not make a mark-to-market election (or a QEF election, as discussed above) effective from the first taxable year of a U.S. Holder’s holding period for the
ordinary shares in which we are a PFIC, then the U.S. Holder generally will remain subject to the excess distribution rules. A U.S. Holder that first makes a mark-to-
market election with respect to the ordinary shares in a later year will continue to be subject to the excess distribution rules during the taxable year for which the mark-to-
market election becomes effective, including with respect to any mark-to-market gain recognized at the end of that year. In subsequent years for which a valid mark-to-
mark election remains in effect, the excess distribution rules generally will not apply. A U.S. Holder that is eligible to make a mark-to-market with respect to such holder’s
ordinary shares may do so by providing the appropriate information on IRS Form 8621 and timely filing that form with the U.S. Holder’s tax return for the year in which the
election becomes effective.
 
U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors as to the availability and desirability of a mark-to-market election, as well as the impact of such election on interests in any
Lower-Tier PFICs.
 
A U.S. Holder of a PFIC may be required to file an IRS Form 8621 on an annual basis and to provide such other information as may be required by the U.S. Treasury
Department. Failure to do so, if required, will extend the statute of limitations applicable to such U.S. Holder until such required information is furnished to the
IRS. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding any reporting requirements that may apply to them if we are a PFIC.
 
The rules dealing with PFICs and with the QEF, “deemed sale,” and mark-to-market elections are very complex and are affected by various factors in addition to those
described above. U.S. Holders are strongly encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the PFIC rules to their particular circumstances.
 
THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX DISCUSSION SET FORTH ABOVE IS INCLUDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY AND MAY NOT BE
APPLICABLE TO YOU DEPENDING UPON YOUR PARTICULAR SITUATION. YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR OWN TAX ADVISOR WITH
RESPECT TO THE TAX CONSEQUENCES TO YOU OF THE OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ORDINARY SHARES AND WARRANTS, AS
APPLICABLE, INCLUDING THE TAX CONSEQUENCES UNDER STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN AND OTHER TAX LAWS AND TAX TREATIES AND THE
POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN U.S. OR OTHER TAX LAWS.
 
10.F. Dividends and Paying Agents

 
Not Applicable.

 
10.G. Statement by Experts

 
Not Applicable.
 
10.H. Documents on Display

 
We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and will file reports, registration statements and other information with
the SEC. Our reports, registration statements and other information can be inspected on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov and such information can also be inspected and
copies ordered at the public reference facilities maintained by the SEC at the following location: 100 F Street NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also visit our website at
https://arberobotics.com. Information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website or any other website is expressly not incorporated by reference into and is not a
part of this annual report.

 
I. Subsidiary Information

 
Not Applicable.
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ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
 
We are exposed to various market risks, which may result in potential losses arising from adverse changes in market rates, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and
inflation and supply line factors. The effect of inflation and supply line factors and interest rates are described in Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.
 
Interest Rate Risk
  
As of December 31, 2023, we had $28.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and $15.4 million in short term bank deposits, which consisted of funds held in interest-bearing
checking accounts and no debt. Our primary exposure to interest rate sensitivity affects the interest income we receive and is affected by changes in the general level of Bank of
Israel and the United States Fed Funds rate, affects bank interest rates. Due to the short-term nature and the low-risk profile of our interest-bearing accounts, an immediate
change in interest rates would not have a material effect on the fair market value of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term restricted bank deposits or on our financial
position or results of operations.
 
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
 
Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Currently most of our revenue is generated in US Dollar
while our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies of the jurisdictions in which we conduct our operations, primarily Israeli Shekel, US Dollar and Euro to some
extent. We have not generated significant revenue to date and we do not believe that foreign currency exchange rates have not had, or currently have, a material effect on our
business, but we cannot give any assurance that changes in foreign currency exchange rates will not have a material impact on us.
 
ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
 
A. Debt Securities
 
Not applicable. 
 
B. Warrants and Rights 
 
Description of Warrants
 
Each of our warrants entitles the holder thereof to purchase one ordinary share at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as discussed below, at any time commencing
December 11, 2021. The Warrants will expire October 7. 2026, which is five years after the effective time of the Merger, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon
redemption or liquidation.
 
We will not be obligated to deliver any ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of a warrant and will have no obligation to settle such warrant exercise unless a registration
statement under the Securities Act with respect to the ordinary shares underlying the warrants is then effective and a prospectus relating thereto is current, subject to our
satisfying our obligations described below with respect to registration. No warrant will be exercisable and we will not be obligated to issue ordinary shares unless the ordinary
shares issuable upon such warrant exercise have been registered, qualified or deemed to be exempt under the securities laws of the state of residence of the registered holder of
the warrants. In the event that the conditions in the two immediately preceding sentences are not satisfied with respect to a warrant, the holder of such warrant will not be
entitled to exercise such warrant and such warrant may have no value and expire worthless. In no event will we be required to net cash settle any warrant.
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The issuance of the warrants was registered pursuant to a registration statement on Form F-4 relating to the issuance of our ordinary shares and warrants to the holders of
ITAC’s common stock and warrants pursuant to the Merger with ITAC. We are required to maintain a current prospectus relating to those ordinary shares until the warrants
expire or are redeemed, as specified in the warrant agreement. If a registration statement covering the ordinary shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants is not effective,
warrant holders may, until such time as there is an effective registration statement and during any period when we will have failed to maintain an effective registration
statement, exercise warrants on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act or another exemption. Notwithstanding the above, if the ordinary
shares at the time of any exercise of a warrant are not listed on a national securities exchange such that it satisfies the definition of a “covered security” under Section 18(b)
(1) of the Securities Act, we may, at our option, require holders of public warrants who exercise their warrants to do so on a “cashless basis” in accordance with Section 3(a)
(9) of the Securities Act and, in the event we so elect, we will not be required to file or maintain in effect a registration statement, and in the event we do not so elect, we will
use our best efforts to register or qualify the shares under applicable blue sky laws to the extent an exemption is not available.
 
We may call the warrants for redemption (excluding the private warrants as described below):

 
 ● in whole and not in part;
 
 ● at a price of $0.01 per warrant;
 
 ● upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption (the “30-day redemption period”) to each warrant holder; and
 
 ● if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the ordinary shares equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, reorganizations,

recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending three business days before we send the notice of redemption to the warrant
holders.

 
If and when the warrants become redeemable by us, we may not exercise our redemption right if the issuance of the ordinary shares upon exercise of the warrants is not exempt
from registration or qualification under applicable state blue sky laws or we are unable to effect such registration or qualification. We will use our best efforts to register or
qualify such ordinary shares under the blue sky laws of the state of residence in those states in which the ITAC warrants were offered by ITAC in its IPO.
  
The last of the redemption criterion discussed above is designed to prevent a redemption call unless there is at the time of the call a significant premium to the warrant exercise
price. If the foregoing conditions are satisfied and we issue a notice of redemption of the warrants, each warrant holder will be entitled to exercise its warrant prior to the
scheduled redemption date. However, the price of our ordinary shares may fall below the $18.00 redemption trigger price (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) as well as the $11.50 warrant exercise price after the redemption notice is issued.
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If we call the warrants for redemption as described above, we will have the option to require any holder that wishes to exercise its warrant to do so on a “cashless basis.” In
determining whether to require all holders to exercise their warrants on a “cashless basis,” our \management will consider, among other factors, our cash position, the number
of warrants that are outstanding and the dilutive effect on our shareholders of issuing the maximum number of ordinary shares issuable upon the exercise of the warrants. If our
management takes advantage of this option, all holders of warrants would pay the exercise price by surrendering their warrants for that number of our ordinary shares equal to
the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of ordinary shares underlying the warrants, multiplied by the difference between the exercise price of the
warrants and the “fair market value” (defined below) by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” shall mean the average reported last sale price of our ordinary shares
for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of redemption is sent to the holders of warrants. If our management takes advantage
of this option, the notice of redemption will contain the information necessary to calculate the number of ordinary shares to be received upon exercise of the warrants, including
the “fair market value” in such case. Requiring a cashless exercise in this manner will reduce the number of shares to be issued and thereby lessen the dilutive effect of a
warrant redemption. If we call the warrants for redemption and our management does not take advantage of this option, the ITAC Sponsor and its permitted transferees would
still be entitled to exercise their warrants issued in respect of their private ITAC warrants for cash or on a cashless basis using the same formula described above that other
warrant holders would have been required to use had all warrant holders been required to exercise their warrants on a cashless basis, as described in more detail below.
 
A holder of a warrant may notify us in writing in the event it elects to be subject to a requirement that such holder will not have the right to exercise such warrant, to the extent
that after giving effect to such exercise, such person (together with such person’s affiliates), to the warrant agent’s actual knowledge, would beneficially own in excess of 4.9%
or 9.8% (or such other amount as a holder may specify) of the ordinary shares outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise.
 
If the number of outstanding ordinary shares is increased by a stock dividend payable in ordinary shares, or by a split-up of shares of ordinary shares or other similar event,
then, on the effective date of such stock dividend, split-up or similar event, the number of ordinary shares issuable on exercise of each warrant will be increased in proportion to
such increase in the outstanding ordinary shares. A rights offering to holders of ordinary shares entitling holders to purchase ordinary shares at a price less than the fair market
value will be deemed a stock dividend of a number of ordinary shares equal to the product of (i) the number of ordinary shares actually sold in such rights offering (or issuable
under any other equity securities sold in such rights offering that are convertible into or exercisable for ordinary shares) and (ii) one (1) minus the quotient of (x) the price per
ordinary share paid in such rights offering divided by (y) the fair market value. For these purposes (i) if the rights offering is for securities convertible into or exercisable for
ordinary shares, in determining the price payable for ordinary shares, there will be taken into account any consideration received for such rights, as well as any additional
amount payable upon exercise or conversion and (ii) fair market value means the volume weighted average price of our ordinary shares as reported during the ten (10) trading
day period ending on the trading day prior to the first date on which our ordinary shares trade on the applicable exchange or in the applicable market, regular way, without the
right to receive such rights.
 
In addition, if we, at any time while the warrants are outstanding and unexpired, pay a dividend or make a distribution in cash, securities or other assets to the holders of
ordinary shares on account of such ordinary shares (or other shares into which the warrants are convertible), other than (a) as described above, (b) certain ordinary cash
dividends, then the warrant exercise price will be decreased, effective immediately after the effective date of such event, by the amount of cash and/or the fair market value of
any securities or other assets paid on each ordinary share in respect of such event.
 
If the number of outstanding ordinary shares is decreased by a consolidation, combination, reverse stock split or reclassification of ordinary shares or other similar event, then,
on the effective date of such consolidation, combination, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar event, the number of our ordinary shares issuable on exercise of each
warrant will be decreased in proportion to such decrease in outstanding shares.
 
Whenever the number of ordinary shares purchasable upon the exercise of the warrants is adjusted, as described above, the warrant exercise price will be adjusted by
multiplying the warrant exercise price immediately prior to such adjustment by a fraction (x) the numerator of which will be the number of ordinary shares purchasable upon
the exercise of the warrants immediately prior to such adjustment, and (y) the denominator of which will be the number of ordinary shares so purchasable immediately
thereafter.
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In case of any reclassification or reorganization of the outstanding ordinary shares (other than those described above or that solely affects the par value of such ordinary shares),
or in the case of any merger or consolidation of us with or into another corporation (other than a consolidation or merger in which we are the continuing corporation and that
does not result in any reclassification or reorganization of our outstanding ordinary shares), or in the case of any sale or conveyance to another corporation or entity of the assets
or other property of us as an entirety or substantially as an entirety in connection with which we are dissolved, the holders of the warrants will thereafter have the right to
purchase and receive, upon the basis and upon the terms and conditions specified in the warrants and in lieu of the ordinary shares immediately theretofore purchasable and
receivable upon the exercise of the rights represented thereby, the kind and amount of shares of stock or other securities or property (including cash) receivable upon such
reclassification, reorganization, merger or consolidation, or upon a dissolution following any such sale or transfer, that the holder of the warrants would have received if such
holder had exercised their warrants immediately prior to such event. If less than 70% of the consideration receivable by the holders of ordinary shares in such a transaction is
payable in the form of ordinary shares in the successor entity that is listed for trading on a national securities exchange or is quoted in an established over-the-counter market, or
is to be so listed for trading or quoted immediately following such event, and if the registered holder of the warrant properly exercises the warrant within thirty days following
public disclosure of such transaction, the warrant exercise price will be reduced as specified in the warrant agreement based on the Black-Scholes value (as defined in the
warrant agreement) of the warrant. The purpose of such exercise price reduction is to provide additional value to holders of the warrants when an extraordinary transaction
occurs during the exercise period of the warrants pursuant to which the holders of the warrants otherwise do not receive the full potential value of the warrants in order to
determine and realize the option value component of the warrant. This formula is to compensate the warrant holder for the loss of the option value portion of the warrant due to
the requirement that the warrant holder exercise the warrant within 30 days of the event. The Black-Scholes model is an accepted pricing model for estimating fair market value
where no quoted market price for an instrument is available.
 
The warrants were issued in registered form under a warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent, and us, which reflects an
assumption and amendment to the warrant agreement between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and ITAC and provides that we assume the obligations of ITAC
under the warrant agreement. You should review a copy of the warrant assumption and amendment agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to this annual report, for a complete
description of the terms and conditions applicable to our warrants. The warrant agreement provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any
holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires the approval by the holders of a majority of the then outstanding public warrants to make any
change in the warrants.
 
The warrants may be exercised upon surrender of the warrant certificate on or prior to the expiration date at the offices of the warrant agent, with the exercise form on the
reverse side of the warrant certificate completed and executed as indicated, accompanied by full payment of the exercise price (or on a cashless basis, if applicable), by certified
or official bank check payable to us, for the number of warrants being exercised. The warrant holders do not have the rights or privileges of holders of ordinary shares and any
voting rights until they exercise their warrants and receive ordinary shares. After the issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of the warrants, each holder will be entitled to
one (1) vote for each ordinary share held of record on all matters to be voted on by shareholders.
 
The warrants issued to the holders of the ITAC private warrants will not be redeemable by us so long as they are held by the Sponsor, the underwriters of ITAC’s IPO or their
permitted transferees. The Sponsor, the underwriters and their permitted transferees, have the option to exercise the private placement warrants on a cashless basis. Except as
described below, the warrants issued in respect of ITAC private warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the warrants issued to holders of the ITAC
public warrants, including as to exercise price, exercisability and exercise period. If the warrants issued in respect of the ITAC private warrants are held by holders other than
the sponsor, the underwriters or their permitted transferees, such warrants will be redeemable by us and exercisable by the holders on the same basis as the warrants issued in
respect of the ITAC public warrants.
 
If holders of the private placement warrants elect to exercise them on a cashless basis, they would pay the exercise price by surrendering their warrants for that number of
ordinary shares equal to the quotient obtained by dividing (x) the product of the number of ordinary shares underlying the warrants, multiplied by the difference between the
exercise price of the warrants and the “fair market value” (defined below) by (y) the fair market value. The “fair market value” shall mean the average reported last sale price of
our ordinary shares for the 10 trading days ending on the third trading day prior to the date on which the notice of warrant exercise is sent to the warrant agent.
 
In addition, we have granted certain registration rights to the holders of our private warrant that are held by the former holders of the ITAC’s private placement warrants.
 
C. Other Securities
 
Not Applicable
 
D. American Depository Shares
 
Not Applicable
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PART II

 
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

 
Not Applicable.
 
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
 
Not Applicable
 
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as that term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange
Act”)) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2023 Based upon that evaluation,
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to accomplish their
objectives at the reasonable assurance level.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
Our management, under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over our financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective
can provide only reasonable assurances with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may decline.
 
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation, pursuant to Rule 13a-15(c) promulgated under the Exchange
Act, of the effectiveness, as of the end of the period covered by this annual report, of its internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013). Based on the results of this evaluation, our management
concluded that as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
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Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain temporary exemptions from various reporting requirements, including, but
not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (and the SEC rules and regulations thereunder).
When these exemptions cease to apply, we expect to incur additional expenses and devote increased management effort toward ensuring compliance with them.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 
There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act) that
occurred during the period covered by this annual report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
ITEM 16. [RESERVED]
 
ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT
 
Our board of directors has determined that Dr. Boaz Schwartz is an “audit committee financial expert.”

 
ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

 
We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our principal executive and financial officers, and that also applies to all of our employees. The Code of Ethics is publicly
available on our website at www.arberobotics.com and is filed as an exhibit to this annual report. We will disclose on our website any amendment to, or waiver from, a
provision of our Code of Ethics and Conduct that applies to our directors or executive officers to the extent required under the rules of the SEC.

 
ITEM  16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

 
Somekh Chaikin, a member firm of KPMG International, located in Tel Aviv, Israel (PCAOB ID 1057), has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since
2021. The following are Somekh Chaikin’s fees for 2023 and 2022:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022  

Audit fees (1)  $ 170,000  $ 200,950 
Tax fees (2)   22,500   12,500 
Total   192,500   213,450 

 
 

(1) “Audit fees” include fees for services performed by our independent public accounting firm in connection with the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements for
2023 and 2022, certain procedures regarding our annual report submitted on Form 20-F, our quarterly financial results submitted on Form 6-K, and consultation concerning
financial accounting and reporting standards. Audit fees for 2022 also include services in connection with our F-3 filings with the SEC.

 
(2) “Tax fees” include fees for professional services rendered and performed during the period by our independent registered public accounting firm for tax compliance and tax

advice and tax planning services on actual or contemplated transactions.
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Audit Committee’s Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
 
Our Audit Committee has adopted a pre-approval policy for the engagement of our independent accountant to perform certain audit and non-audit services. Pursuant to this
policy, which is designed to assure that such engagements do not impair the independence of our auditors, the audit committee pre-approves a maximum amount for certain
potential services and approval is provided prior to any service performed by the independent accountant. Prior to any engagement of the independent accountant by the
Company or its subsidiaries to render audit or non-audit services, a detailed description of the particular service to be performed as well as the fee structure are pre-approved by
the Company’s audit committee.

 
ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

 
Not Applicable.
 
ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

 
None.

 
ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT’S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT

 
None.

 
ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 
Our ordinary shares are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market. As such, we are subject to corporate governance requirements imposed by Nasdaq. Under Nasdaq rules, foreign
private issuers, such as us, may, in general, follow their home country corporate governance practices in lieu of some of the Nasdaq corporate governance requirements. A
Nasdaq-listed foreign private issuer is required to provide a general summary of the significant differences either on the company website or in its annual report. Currently, we
do not plan to rely on the home country practice exemption with respect to its corporate governance other than (i) the quorum requirements and (ii) the home country exception
from the Nasdaq requirement for obtaining shareholder approval for certain issuances of more than 20% of our common shares. Our Restated Articles provide that two
shareholders holding 25% of the voting shares constitutes a quorum, as contrasted with the Nasdaq requirement of one-third of a company’s outstanding voting securities.
Israeli law has no requirement for obtaining shareholder approval for the issuance of more than 20% of our common shares, and, accordingly, we are able to issue more our
common shares without shareholder approval, including issuances which would otherwise require shareholder approval under the Nasdaq regulations. This exception does not
apply to increases in our authorized capital stock or the issuance of preferred shares both of which requires shareholder approval under Israeli law.

 
ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

 
Not applicable.

  
ITEM 16I. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
 
Not applicable
 
ITEM 16J. INSIDER TRADING POLICIES
 
We have an insider tradition policy governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of the registrant’s securities by directors, senior management, and employees. Our
insider trading policy is filed as an exhibit to this Form 20-F.
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ITEM 16K. CYBERSECURITY
 
Risk Management
 
We face significant and persistent cybersecurity risks due to the need to protect our business, including our intellectual property and intellectual property of others that is
licensed for our use, our confidential information and information concerning our personnel and others with whom we conduct business. As other technology companies we
occasionally face threats from actors who seek to disrupt our business as well as others who are engaging in malicious activities for profit, to make a political point or for no
particular reason other than creating disruption. Disclose of certain information as a result of a cybersecurity breach may result is a breach of privacy laws. The substantial level
of harm that could occur to us and our suppliers and customers were we to suffer impacts of a material cybersecurity incident; and our use of third-party products, services and
components requires us to maintain robust governance and oversight of these risks and to implement mechanisms, technologies and processes designed to help us assess,
identify, and eliminate these risks.
 
While we have not, as of the date of this Form 20-F, experienced a cybersecurity threat or incident that resulted in a material adverse impact to our business or operations, we
cannot assure you that we will not experience such an incident in the future. While we did suffer a cybersecurity incident in 2023 which did not result in any material adverse
impact to our business, we did not experience any disclosure of our proprietary information, and following such incident we took additional steps to protect ourselves from
cybersecurity incidents. Any cybersecurity incidents, whether or not successful, could result in our incurring additional costs related to, for example, rebuilding our internal
systems, implementing additional threat protection measures, responding to regulatory inquiries or actions, paying damages or making payments to obtain access to our
computer systems, or taking other remedial steps with respect to third parties, as well as incurring significant reputational harm. We have seen an increase in cyberattack
volume, frequency, and sophistication. We seek to detect and investigate unauthorized attempts and attacks against our network, products, and services, and to prevent their
occurrence and recurrence where practicable through changes or updates to our internal processes and tools and changes or updates to our products and services; however, we
remain potentially vulnerable to known or unknown threats. In some instances, we, our suppliers, our customers, and the users of our products and services can be unaware of a
threat or incident or its magnitude and effects. Further, there are increasing regulation requirements regarding responses to cybersecurity incidents, including reporting to
regulators, which could subject us to additional liability and reputational harm.
 
Governance
 
We aim to incorporate industry best practices throughout our cybersecurity program. Our cybersecurity strategy focuses on implementing effective and efficient controls,
technologies, and other processes to assess, identify, and manage material cybersecurity risks.
 
Our cybersecurity program is designed to be aligned with applicable industry standards, and we have engaged outside sources to assist in this effort. We have processes in place
to assess, identify, manage, and address material cybersecurity threats and incidents. We have ISO 27001:2013 certification, which is an early standard for information security
management. Steps taken by us include, among other things: an audit which was conducted by the company’s internal auditor during 2023 of the cybersecurity measures and
practices of the Company, the engagement with professional service providers (such as a chief information security officer (“CISO”) and security operations center services),
security awareness training for employees; mechanisms to detect and monitor unusual network activity; and containment and incident response tools.
 
We monitor issues that are internally discovered or externally reported that may affect our products and have processes to assess those issues for potential cybersecurity impact
or risk. We also have a process in place to manage cybersecurity risks associated with third-party service providers. We are in the process of implementing technical and
organizational security measures to follow our information security program.
 
Under our cybersecurity governance framework, the Audit Committee, in its charter, is empowered to implement and oversee our cybersecurity and information security
policies and periodically review their compliance and mitigate potential cybersecurity threats.
 
Our CISO, who is a third party engaged by us, leads the strategy, engineering, and operations of cybersecurity of the Company and is responsible for handling the risk
management by assessment, analysis, reporting, managing the cyber protection following the relevant requirements, the work with the information security team, implementing
information security awareness among the employees, and updating the company’s policies. Our CISO provides annual analysis and updates to the management on our
cybersecurity and information security policies and programs, as well as ad hoc updates on information security and cybersecurity matters.
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PART III

 
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Not applicable.
 
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
See Index to Financial Statements on Page F-1

 
ITEM 19. EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit No.  Description
1.1  Amended and Restated Articles of Association of Arbe (1)

2.1  Description of Securities(5)

4.1  Warrant Agreement dated September 8, 2020, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC and ITAC(3)

4.2  Amendment No. 1 to Warrant Agreement among Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, ITAC and Arbe(1)

4.3  Registration Rights Agreement dated September 8, 2020 among ITAC, Industrial Tech Partners LLC and the holders signatory thereto(3)

4.4*  2016 Incentive Share Option Plan of Arbe(3)

4.5*  2021 Share Incentive Plan of Arbe(4)

4.6  Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreement for Arbe(3)

4.7  Compensation Policy of Arbe for Officers and Directors(3)

4.8  Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreement(4)

8.1  List of Subsidiaries of Arbe(6)

11.1  Code of Ethics of Arbe(5)

12.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(6)

12.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002(6)

13.1  Section 1350 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer(6)

19.1  Insider trading policy(2)

23.1  Consent of Somekh Chaikin Member Firm of KPMG International(6)

97.1  Clawback Policy(6)

101.INS  Inline XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 
* Indicates a management contract or compensation plan.
 
(1) Filed as an exhibit to the Report on Form 6-K, filed by Arbe with the SEC on October 27, 2021, and incorporated herein by reference.
 
(2) Previously filed.
 
(3) Filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form F-4, File No. 333-257250, filed by the Company with the SEC, and incorporated herein by reference.
 
(4) Filed as an exhibit to the Registration Statement on Form F-1, File No. 333-259757, filed by the Company with the SEC, and incorporated herein by reference.
 
(5) Filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed by the Company with the SEC on March 31, 2022, and incorporated herein by

reference.
 
(6) Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURE

 
The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report
on its behalf.
 
March 28, 2024 ARBE ROBOTICS LTD
   
 By: /s/ Jacob (Kobi) Marinka
  Jacob (Kobi) Marinka
  Chief Executive Officer
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Somekh Chaikin
KPMG Millennium Tower
17 Ha’arba’a Street, PO Box 609
Tel Aviv 61006, Israel
+972 3 684 8000

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Arbe Robotics Ltd.:
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arbe Robotics Ltd. and its subsidiaries, (hereinafter: “the Company”) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in redeemable convertible preferred shares and shareholders’ equity (deficiency) and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively, “the consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Somekh Chaikin
Member Firm of KPMG International
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021
Tel Aviv, Israel
March 27, 2024
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
       

ASSETS       
       
CURRENT ASSETS:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 28,587  $ 54,171 
Restricted cash   163   144 
Short term bank deposits   15,402   400 
Trade receivable   1,258   2,202 
Prepaid expenses and other receivables   2,026   1,839 

         
Total current assets   47,436   58,756 
         
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:         
         

Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,740   465 
Property and equipment, net   1,309   1,609 

         
Total non-current assets   3,049   2,074 
         
Total assets  $ 50,485  $ 60,830 
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
  December 31,  

  2023   2022  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY       

       
CURRENT LIABILITIES:       

Trade payables  $ 1,149  $ 1,244 
Operating lease liabilities   436   364 
Employees and payroll accruals   2,916   2,861 
Deferred revenue   -   351 
Accrued expenses and other payables   1,710   5,609 

         
Total current liabilities   6,211   10,429 
         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:         

Operating lease liabilities   1,306   17 
Warrant liabilities   875   1,631 

         
Total long-term liabilities   2,181   1,648 

         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:         
Ordinary Shares, NIS 0.000216 par value; 130,000,000 authorized shares as of December 31, 2023 and 2022; 77,925,095 and

64,160,890 outstanding shares at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively   *)   *) 
Additional paid-in capital   245,733   208,893 
Accumulated deficit   (203,640)   (160,140)
         

Total shareholders’ equity   42,093   48,753 
         

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 50,485  $ 60,830 

 
*) Represents less than $1.
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
  Year ended December 31,  

  2023   2022   2021  
          
Revenues  $ 1,470  $ 3,517  $ 2,249 
Costs of revenues   1,508   1,283   1,440 

             

Gross profit (loss)   (38)   2,234   809 

             

Operating expenses:             

Research and development, net   34,082   36,731   28,564 

Sales and marketing   5,194   4,621   1,814 
General and administrative   7,571   8,613   3,709 

             
Total operating expenses   46,847   49,965   34,087 

             
Operating loss   (46,885)   (47,731)   (33,278)

             
Financial expense (income), net   (3,385)   (7,237)   24,814 

             
Net loss  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)

             
Basic loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  $ (0.60)  $ (0.64)  $ (2.64)

             
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing basic loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  72,021,520   68,489,983   22,027,292 

             
Diluted loss per share attributable to Ordinary Shareholders  $ (0.71)  $ (0.80)  $ (2.64)
             
Weighted-average number of shares used in computing diluted loss per share attributable to Ordinary

Shareholders   62,390,302   60,960,641   22,027,292 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(DEFICIENCY)

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data)
 

  Redeemable convertible preferred Shares        

  Seed   Series A   Series A-1   Series B   Series B-1   Series B-2   Total   Ordinary Shares   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated  

Total
Shareholders’

equity  

  Number   Amount   Number   Amount   Number   Amount   Number   Amount   Number   Amount   Number   Amount   Amount   Number   Amount   capital   deficit   (deficiency)  

                                                       
Balance at December 31,

2020   5,540,254   650   7,780,937   9,394   5,460,043   2,500   10,863,143   32,159   4,144,887   10,447   71,977   290   55,440   9,272,428   *)   1,397   (61,554) (60,157) 

                                                                        

Exercise of warrants   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   1,194,886   8,027   8,027   -   -   -   -    
Conversion of preferred

shares into ordinary
shares   (5,540,254)  (650)  (7,780,937)  (9,394)  (5,460,043)  (2,500)  (10,863,143)  (32,159)  (4,144,887)  (10,447)  (1,266,863)  (8,317)  (63,467)   35,056,127   *)   63,467   -  63,467 

Conversion of convertible
loan to ordinary shares  -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   3,205,020   *)   30,844   -  30,844 

Issuance of ordinary
shares, net of issuance
costs   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   13,866,887   *)   91,990   -  91,990 

Exercise of warrants   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   872,614   *)   9,222   -  9,222 
Stock-based

compensation   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   2,211   -  2,211 
Stock-based

compensation to
service providers   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   115   -  115 

Exercise of options   -   -   -   -   -   -   -       -   -   -   -   -   743,780   *)   223   -  223 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (58,092) (58,092) 
                                                                        
Balance at December 31,

2021   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   63,016,856   *)   199,469   (119,646) 79,823 

                                                                        
Stock-based

compensation   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   8,793   -  8,793 
Stock-based

compensation to
service providers                                                   -   -   -   354   -  354 

Exercise of options and
vested RSUs   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   1,144,034   *)   277   -  277 

Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (40,494) (40,494) 

                                                                        
Balance at December 31,

2022   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   64,160,890   *)   208,893   (160,140) 48,753 

                                                   -                    
Issuance of ordinary

shares, net of issuance
costs                                                       11,794,873       22,496   -  22,496 

Stock-basedל
compensation   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   13,012   -  13,012 

Stock-based
compensation to
service providers   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   629   -  629 

Exercise of options and
vested RSUs   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   1,969,332   *)   703   -  703 

Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (43,500) (43,500) 
Balance at December 31,

2023   -  $ -   -  $ -   -  $ -   -  $ -   -  $ -   -  $ -  $ -   77,925,095   *)  $ 245,733  $ (203,640) $ 42,093 

 
*) Represents less than $1.
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
U.S. dollars in thousands
 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
          
Cash flows from operating activities:          
Net loss  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)
             
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:             
             
Depreciation   557   481   342 
Stock-based compensation   13,012   8,793   2,211 
Stock-based compensation to service providers   629   354   115 
Revaluation of warrants and accretion   (756)   (8,122)   6,599 
Revaluation of convertible loan   -   -   17,866 
             
Change in operating assets and liabilities:             
Trade receivable   694   (2,015)   (50)
Prepaid expenses and other receivables   (187)   1,219   (2,228)
Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities, net   86   (84)   - 
Trade payables   (103)   (769)   458 
Employees and payroll accruals   55   (234)   1,557 
Deferred revenue   (101)   (375)   445 
Accrued expenses and other payables   (3,899)   884   4,361 
             
Net cash used in operating activities   (33,513)   (40,362)   (26,416)
             
Cash flows from investing activities:             
Change in bank deposits   (15,002)   (400)   100 
Purchase of property and equipment   (249)   (918)   (784)
             
Net cash used in investing activities   (15,251)   (1,318)   (684)
             
Cash flows from financing activities:             
Proceeds from short-term loan   -   -   4,715 
Repayment of long-term loan   -   -   (2,639)
Proceeds from recapitalization and PIPE offering, net of issuance costs   -   -   98,587 
Repayment of short-term loan   -   (5,218)   - 
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs   22,496   -   - 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants   -   -   12,859 
Proceeds from exercise of options   703   277   223 
Proceeds from convertible loan   -   -   11,337 
             
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities   23,199   (4,941)   125,082 
             
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalent   47   (1,189)   - 
             
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (25,612)   (45,432)   97,982 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the beginning of the year   54,315   100,936   2,954 
             
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of the year  $ 28,750  $ 54,315  $ 100,936 

             
Supplemental non-cash disclosure:             
Exercise of warrants into convertible preferred shares   -   -  $ 4,389 
Issuance of private warrants   -   -  $ 6,598 

Conversion of convertible loan into ordinary shares upon the recapitalization   -   -  $ 30,844 
Conversion of preferred shares into ordinary shares upon the recapitalization   -   -  $ 63,467 
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets  $ 1,713  $ 797   - 

Purchase of property and equipment  $ 8  $ 7  $ 340 

 
U.S. dollars in thousands
Supplemental disclosure of cash flows activities:          
Interest paid  $ -  $ 250  $ 209 

 
*) Represents less than $1.
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 1:- GENERAL

 
a. Arbe Robotics Ltd. (the “Company”) was founded and registered on November 4, 2015 and commenced its activities in January 2016. The Company, a global

leader in Perception Radar solutions, is spearheading a radar revolution, enabling truly safe driver-assist systems today while paving the way to full autonomous-
driving. The Company’s radar technology is a critical sensor for L2+ and higher autonomy. The Company is empowering automakers, Tier 1 suppliers,
autonomous ground vehicles, commercial and industrial vehicles, and a wide array of safety applications with advanced sensing and paradigm changing
perception. The Company’s Ordinary Shares and Warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbols “ARBE” and “ARBEW,” respectively.

 
b. On October 26, 2017, the Company established a Delaware subsidiary, Arbe Robotics US Inc. Arbe Robotics US Inc is engaged mainly in the Company’s sales

and will operate as the Company’s distributor in the U.S.
 

On February 5, 2024, the Company established a Chinese subsidiary, Shanghai Arbe Technologies Co., Ltd (“Arbe China”). Arbe China was formed to assist
mainly in providing customer support in the China region.

 
c. On October 7, 2021, the Company consummated the merger (the “Merger”) pursuant to which the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Autobot MergerSub, Inc.

(“Merger Sub”) was merged with an into Industrial Tech Acquisitions Inc. (“ITAC”) pursuant to which ITAC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and the Company issued ordinary shares and warrants to the holders of ITAC common stock and warrants, respectively. In connection with the Merger, the name
of ITAC was changed to Autobot HoldCo, Inc.

 
In connection with the Merger, and immediately prior to the closing of the Merger, the Company effected a recapitalization (the “Recapitalization”), which was
approved by the Company’s directors and shareholders. As part of the Recapitalization, (i) all warrants (other than certain outstanding warrants) were exercised,
(ii) all outstanding preferred shares, including preferred shares issued upon exercise of warrants, were converted into ordinary shares and (iii) the ordinary shares
that were outstanding after the exercise and conversion pursuant to clauses (i) and (ii) became and were converted into a total of 48,268,611 ordinary shares. The
Recapitalization resulted in a 46.25783-for-one stock split and a change in the par value of the ordinary shares from NIS 0.01 per share to NIS 0.000216 per share.
The stock split was based on a valuation of the Ordinary Shares of $525,000 after the Recapitalization, with each Ordinary Share being valued at $10.00. As part
of the Recapitalization, the number of Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding options and warrants was multiplied by the stock split ratio, which is
the conversion ratio, and the exercise price of such options and warrants was divided by the conversion ratio. Fractional shares were rounded to the closest integral
number of Ordinary Shares, with a half-share being rounded to the next higher number of Ordinary Shares. As a result, all Ordinary Shares, preferred shares,
options to purchase ordinary shares, warrants to purchase preferred shares, exercise price and net loss per share amounts in these financial statements were
adjusted retroactively for the year ended December 31, 2021, as if the stock split and change in par value had been in effect at January 1, 2021.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 1:-   GENERAL (Cont.)

 
Pursuant to the Merger, Arbe issued to ITAC securityholders (a) 3,866,842 Ordinary Shares to the holders of ITAC common stock and (b) 10,735,680 Arbe
warrants to the holders of ITAC warrants, of which 7,623,600 warrants are public warrants and 3,112,080 warrants are private warrants.

 
Total gross proceeds resulted from the Merger and the related PIPE financing were approximately $118,288, of which total transaction costs amounted to
approximately $16,707. The total gross proceeds include the $100,000 from the sale of 10,000,000 Ordinary Shares to the PIPE investors at $10.00 per share.

 
d. The Company depends on one supplier for the development and productization of its products. If this supplier fails to deliver or delays the delivery of the

necessary products, the Company will be required to seek alternative sources of supply. A change in supplier could result in manufacturing delays and increased
costs, which could result in a possible loss of sales which would adversely affect the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations and financial position.

 
e. As the Company operates internationally and substantially all of its revenue is derived from sales outside of Israel, the business is affected by inflation, supply

chain issues and economic conditions in countries in which the Company is seeking to conduct business, security and cybersecurity issues, fiscal and monetary
policies, interest rates and regulations affection the automobile industry, the timing by the automobile and other industries on the introduction of unmanned
automobiles and other unmanned devices, safety concerns and well as the effect of regional conflicts and steps taken by governments with respect to parties to
such conflicts.  As an Israeli company, the Company is also subject to the effect on Israel and the Israeli economy of the present war with Hamas as well as any
other regional conflicts which may develop and the relationship between Israel and other countries, including the United States, China and the European Union.

 
 f. The Company has incurred losses from operations since its inception and has negative cash flow from operating activities. Management's plans with regard to

these matters include continued development and marketing of its products as well as seeking additional financing arrangements.
 

NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 

a. Basis of presentation:
 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (US
GAAP). The significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of the financial statements applied on a consistent basis for all years presented in
these financial statements.
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
b. Use of estimates:

 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions including fair value of warrants, share-based
compensation and the underlying fair value of the Company’s Ordinary Shares issued prior to the Merger.

 
The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends and various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the
circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 
c. Consolidated financial statements in U.S. dollars:
 

A substantial portion the Company’s activity including transactions with customers, as well as equity transactions and cash investments, are incurred in U.S.
dollars. The Company’s management believes that the U.S. dollar is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. Thus, the
functional and reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar.

 
A subsidiary’s functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates; normally, that is the currency of the
environment in which a subsidiary primarily generates and expends cash. In making the determination of the appropriate functional currency for a subsidiary, the
Company considers cash flow indicators, local market indicators, financing indicators and the subsidiary’s relationship with both the parent company and other
subsidiaries. The Company has determined the functional currency of its U.S. subsidiaries to be the U.S. Dollar.

 
Monetary accounts maintained in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are remeasured into U.S. dollars in accordance with Statement of the Accounting Standard
Codification (“ASC”) No. 830 “Foreign Currency Matters” (“ASC No. 830”). All transaction gains and losses of the remeasured monetary balance sheet items are
reflected in the statements of operations as financial income or expenses as appropriate.

 
Transactions in foreign currency are translated into dollars in accordance with the principles set forth in ASC Subtopic 830-20, Foreign Currency Transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies of the reporting date are translated to the functional currency at the closing rate at the end of the
reporting period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Gains
and losses from remeasurement of assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective functional currencies are included in the consolidated
statements of operations.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
d. Concentration of credit risk:

 
Most of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term deposits were deposited with Israeli banks and were comprised mainly of cash
deposits and short-term deposits.
 
The Company’s trade receivables are derived from customers located globally. The Company mitigates its credit risks by performing credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial conditions and requires customer advance payments in certain circumstances. The Company generally does not require collateral.

 
e. Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:
 

The Company considers all highly liquid short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less from the purchase date to be cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in short-term deposits.

 
Restricted cash consists of deposits at a financial institution that serves as collateral for a credit card agreement and lease agreements.

 
f. Short term deposits:

 
Short-term deposits are bank deposits with an original maturity of more than three months and less than one year from the date of acquisition. The deposits are
presented according to their terms of deposit. As of December 31, 2023, these bank deposit bearing annual interest rates in the range of 4%-6%,
 

g. Fair value of financial instruments:
 

The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined by the Company using available market information and valuation methodologies.
Considerable judgment is required in estimating fair values. Accordingly, the estimates may not be indicative of the amounts the Company could realize in a
current market exchange. The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of their financial instruments:

 
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, restricted cash, trade receivables, other current assets, trade payables, employees and
payroll accruals, accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
The Company applies ASC No. 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures” (“ASC No. 820”), with respect to fair value measurements of all financial assets
and liabilities. In accordance with ASC No. 820, the Company measures its short-term deposits and warrant liability at fair value. Short-term deposits are
classified within Level 1 because these assets are valued using quoted market prices. Fair value represents the amount that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined
based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or a liability. A three-tier fair value hierarchy is established as a basis for considering
such assumptions and for inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

 
● Level 1—Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

 
● Level 2—Include other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

 
● Level 3—Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

 
The fair value hierarchy also requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

 
Pursuant to the Merger, the Company (i) assumed a derivative warrant liability related to Company’s warrants that were issued to the holders of private placement
warrants that had been issued by ITAC in connection with its initial public offering, and (ii) issued equity instrument in connection with warrants that had been
issued as part of ITAC’s initial public offering and pursuant to the Merger became warrants to purchase the Company’s Ordinary Shares. The fair value of the
Company’s public warrants is measured based on the market price of such warrants and are considered a Level 1 fair value measurement. The Company utilizes a
Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the private placement warrants which are considered a Level 3 fair value measurement.
 
The Company’s private warrants are measured at each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations. See Note 8.

 
h. Trade Receivables

 
Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Trade receivables are periodically assessed for allowance for doubtful accounts,
which is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of credit losses with respect to its existing trade receivable.
 
The Company’s accounts receivables accounting policy from January 1, 2023, following the adoption of the new current expected credit losses (“CECL”)
standard:
 
The Company estimates CECL on trade receivables at inception for estimated losses resulting from the inability of the Company’s customers to make required
payments, based on estimated current expected credit losses. The allowance represents the current estimate of lifetime expected credit losses over the remaining
duration of existing accounts receivable considering historical information, current market conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts when appropriate.
The estimate is a result of the Company’s ongoing evaluation of collectability, customer creditworthiness, historical levels of credit losses, and future expectations.
 
The allowance for credit losses was not material for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
 

i. Property and equipment:
 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of
assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in income. Repair and
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, at the following annual rates:
 

  %  
Computers and peripheral equipment   15-33  
Office furniture and equipment   7-15  
Vehicles   15  
Leasehold improvement   (*)  

 
(*) Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvements.

 
j. Impairment of long-lived assets:
 

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, “Property, Plant and Equipment” a (“ASC 360”), whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the carrying value of the asset exceeds the aggregate
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. The impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds their fair value. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, no impairment losses were identified.

 
k. Accrued post-employment benefit:

 
The employees of Arbe Ltd. are included under section 14 of the Israeli Severance Compensation Act, 1963 (“Section 14”). Pursuant to Section 14, the
Company’s Israeli employees are entitled to monthly deposits, at a rate of 8.33% of their monthly salary, deposited on their behalf to their chosen insurance funds.
By making the payments in accordance with Section 14, the Company is released from any future severance payments in respect of those employees. The
obligation to make the monthly deposits is expensed as incurred. The deposits pursuant to Section 14 are not recorded as an asset in the consolidated balance
sheet, and there is no liability recorded as the Company does not have a future obligation to make any additional payments. Severance costs amounted to
approximately $1,166, $1,240 and $826 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

 
One of the Company’s U.S. Subsidiaries has a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering one employee in the U.S. The expenses recorded by the U.S. subsidiaries
for matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were immaterial.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)
 

l. Stock-based compensation:
 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, “Compensation - Stock Compensation”, which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense based on estimated fair values for all share-based payment awards made to employees, nonemployees and directors. ASC
718 requires companies to estimate the fair value of equity-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of
the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense in the Company’s statements of operations over the applicable service periods.

 
The Company measures its share-based payment awards made to employees, directors, and non-employee service providers based on estimated fair values. The
fair value of each option award is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model which requires several assumptions, of which the most
significant are the expected share price volatility and the expected option term. The Company recognizes forfeitures of equity-based awards as they occur. For
graded vesting awards, the Company recognizes compensation expenses based on the straight-line method over the applicable service period.

 
m. Net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders:

 
The Company computes net loss per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The two-class method requires income available to
ordinary shareholders for the period to be allocated between ordinary shares and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as
if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company considered its convertible preferred shares, which were outstanding through October 7, 2021, the
date of the closing of the Merger, to be participating securities as the holders of the convertible preferred shares would be entitled to dividends that would be
distributed to the holders of ordinary shares, equal to the higher of their original issue price pro-rata basis assuming conversion of all convertible preferred shares
into ordinary shares and that there are no preferences to any holders of any shares. These participating securities do not contractually require the holders of such
shares to participate in the Company’s losses. As such, net loss for the periods presented was not allocated to the Company’s participating securities.

 
The Company’s basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive securities. The diluted net loss per share is calculated by giving effect to all potentially
dilutive securities outstanding for the period using the treasury share method or the if-converted method based on the nature of such securities. Diluted net loss per
share is the same as basic net loss per share in periods when the effects of potentially dilutive shares of ordinary shares are anti-dilutive. See Note 10.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
n. Other Comprehensive loss:

 
The Company has no components of comprehensive loss other than net loss. Thus, comprehensive loss is the same as net loss for the periods presented.

 
p. Revenue recognition:

 
The Company follows the provisions of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), which apply to all contracts with customers.
Under Topic 606, revenues are recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine the appropriate revenue recognition for arrangements
that an entity determines are within the scope of Topic 606, the entity performs the following five steps:

 
Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

 
● Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

 
● Determine the transaction price;

 
● Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

 
● Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

 
At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of Topic 606, the Company assesses the goods or services promised within the
contract and determines the performance obligations and assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company evaluates each performance
obligation to determine if it is satisfied at a point in time or over time. See Note 3.

 
Nature of Products and Services

 
The Company derives its revenues mainly from sales of chipsets and prototype radar systems to be installed onto automotive vehicles and professional services.
Revenue from chipsets and prototype radar systems is recognized at the point in time when the control of the goods is transferred to the customer, generally upon
delivery, and the Company has no remaining performance obligations.

 
Right of Return

 
The Company’s general terms and conditions for its contracts do not contain a right of return that allows the customer to return products and receive a credit.
Therefore, the Company does not estimate returns and generally recognizes revenue at contract price upon product delivery.
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ARBE ROBOTICS LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
Deferred Revenue

 
Deferred revenues, which represent a contract liability, where the Company has an obligation to transfer goods or services to the customer for which it received
consideration from the customer.

 
q. Cost of revenues:

 
Cost of revenue includes the manufacturing cost of radar sensors and chipsets, which primarily consists of components cost, assembly costs and personnel-related
costs directly associated with our customer support personnel.

 
r. Research and development expenses, net:

 
Research and development costs, net of grants received, are charged to the consolidated statement of operations as incurred.

 
s. Income taxes:

 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, “Income Taxes”. This standard prescribes the use of the asset and liability method whereby
deferred tax asset and liability account balances are determined based on differences between the financial statement carrying amount and the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company provides a
valuation allowance, if necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized.

 
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from a tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest amount
that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon settlement with the taxing authority using the facts, circumstances, and information available at the
reporting date.

 
t. Contingent Liabilities

 
The Company accounts for its contingent liabilities in accordance with ASC No. 450, “Contingencies.” A provision is recorded when it is both probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. With respect to legal matters, provisions are reviewed and adjusted to reflect
the impact of negotiations, estimated settlements, legal rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular matter. As of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company is not a party to any litigation that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTE 2:-   SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

 
u. Leases:

 
On January 1, 2022, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (ASU 2016-02) relating to the accounting treatment of
lease obligations, using the modified retrospective method.

 
The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance. The Company also elected not to recognize a lease liability and
a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset on the balance sheet for leases with a term of twelve months or less. The Company recognizes the associated lease payments in the
consolidated statements of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

 
Under Topic 842, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on
the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. For this purpose, the Company considers fixed and determinable payments at the time of
commencement. As most of the Company leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is estimated to approximate the interest
rate on a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments. The ROU asset is recorded net of any lease incentives received. The lease terms may include
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options.

 
Payments under the Company’s lease agreements are primarily fixed, however, certain lease agreements contain variable costs such as common area maintenance,
real estate taxes, and insurance are not included in the lease liability and are recognized as they are incurred. See Note 6.
 

v. Impact of recently issued accounting standard:
 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (“ASC 326”): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments to
introduce a new model for recognizing credit losses on financial instruments based on estimated current expected credit losses, or CECL. Under the new standard,
an entity is required to estimate CECL on trade receivables at inception, based on historical information, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable
forecasts. The guidance is effective for the Company for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early application is permitted. The Company adopted ASC 326 on January 1, 2023, and there was no material impact on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet and the consolidated statements of operations upon adoption.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 3:-   REVENUE

 
Disaggregation of Revenues

 
Revenue disaggregated by geography for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, based on the billing address of the Company’s customers, consists
of the following:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
  Revenue   % of Revenue   Revenue   % of Revenue   Revenue   % of Revenue  
Revenue by geography:                   
China  $ 639   43.5% $ 1,476   42.0% $ 702   31.2%
Hong Kong   266   18.1%  -   -   35   1.6%
Sweden   247   16.8%  1,276   36.3%  928   41.2%
USA   148   10.1%  135   3.8%  63   2.8%
Germany   81   5.5%  284   8.1%  351   15.6%
Israel   50   3.4%  25   0.7%  34   1.5%
Italy   -   -   124   3.5%  -   - 
Switzerland   -   -   197   5.6%  53   2.4%
Other   39   2.6%  -   -   83   3.7%
Total revenue  $ 1,470   100% $ 3,517   100% $ 2,249   100%

 
Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and customer advanced payments. Deferred revenue includes billings in excess of revenue recognized related to
product sales and is recognized as revenue when the Company performs under the contract. Customer advanced payments represent required customer payments
in advance of product shipments according to customer’s payment term. Customer advance payments are recognized as revenue when control of the performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

 
Contract liabilities presented as deferred revenue amounted to $0 and $351 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

 
Remaining Performance Obligation

 
The Company’s remaining performance obligations are comprised of product and services revenue not yet performed. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was $977 and $232, respectively. The Company expects to recognize
2023 remaining performance obligations as revenue during 2024.
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U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data)
 
NOTE 4:-   PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
 
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
       
Government authorities  $ 385  $ 280 
Deposits   69   85 
Grants receivable   310   319 
Prepaid expenses and other   1,262   1,155 

  $ 2,026  $ 1,839 

 
NOTE 5:- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
 
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Cost:       

Computers and peripheral equipment  $ 2,448  $ 2,350 
Leasehold improvement   582   438 
Office furniture and equipment   133   128 
Vehicles   149   139 

   3,312   3,055 
         
Accumulated depreciation   2,003   1,446 
         
Property and equipment, net  $ 1,309  $ 1,609 

 
Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $557, $481 and $342, respectively.
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NOTE 6:-   LEASES
 

The Company has five non-cancelable operating lease agreements for certain office spaces in Israel. The leases have original lease periods expiring until 2027,
some of which may include options to extend the leases for up to three additional years. The Company does not assume renewals in its determination of the lease
term unless the renewals are considered as reasonably certain to exercise.
 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Cash payments and expenses related to operating leases  $ (451)  $ (370)
Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities, net   2   (84)

 
Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023, were as follows:
 

2024  $ 443 
2025   393 
2026   356 
2027 and after   1,033 
Total lease payments   2,225 
Less imputed interest   483 
Total lease liabilities  $ 1,742 

 
Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases were as follows:
 

  December 31,   December 31,  
  2023   2022  
Operating lease right-of-use assets  $ 1,740  $ 465 
Current maturities of operating leases  $ 436  $ 364 
Long-term operating lease liabilities  $ 1,306  $ 17 
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)   5.5   1.1 
Weighted average discount rate   9.4%  5.8%
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NOTE 7:-   COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
 

The Company participated in programs sponsored mainly by the Israeli Innovation Authority (“IIA”), an Israeli government agency, for the support of its research
and development activities. Through December 31, 2023, the Company had obtained grants aggregating to $3,846 for certain of its research and development
projects. The Company is obligated to pay royalties to the IIA, amounting to 4% of the sales of the products and other related revenues generated from such
projects. The maximum aggregate royalties paid generally cannot exceed 100% of the grants received, plus annual interest generally equal to 12-months SOFR
applicable to dollar deposits, as published on the first business day of each calendar year. The obligation to pay these royalties is contingent on sales of the
products and in the absence of such sales, no payment is required. 

 
NOTE 8:-   WARRANTS LIABILITIES

 
The Company issued in 2019 warrants to purchase a number of convertible Series B-1 convertible preferred shares, for an aggregate exercise price of $550. As a
result of the Merger and the related Recapitalization, the warrants became convertible into the Company’s ordinary shares. The Company classified the warrants
as freestanding and treated as liability pursuant to ASC 480 and remeasured every reporting period with any change to fair value recorded within financial
expenses in the statements of operations.
 

As a result of the Merger, the Company assumed a derivative warrant liability related to 3,112,080 private placement warrants assumed by the Company pursuant
to the terms of the Merger.
 

The Company utilizes a Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of the private placement warrants and the convertible warrants (hereinafter:
the “warrants”) and are considered a Level 3 fair value measurement. Black-Scholes option pricing model takes into consideration certain parameters in
computation of the fair value of the warrants which the significant parameter is expected volatility. The Company computed a sensitivity analysis of the fair value
to changes of the expected volatility. The volatility impact of +/-5% on the warrants’ fair value is approximately $180.
 

The warrants are measured at each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognized in the statement of operations. During 2023, 2022 and 2021, the
Company recognized ($756), ($8,425) and $3,083, respectively, with respect with those warrants as a finance expenses (income).
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NOTE 9:-   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 
a. In connection with the Merger, the Company adopted its restated articles, pursuant to which the Company’s authorized capital consisted of 130,000,000 Ordinary

Shares, with a par value of NIS 0.000216 per share and the Company effected a 1:46.25783 stock split.
 

b. During June 2023, the Company raised $23,000 with Special Situations Funds, pursuant to which the Company issued a total of 11,794,873 Ordinary Shares
with a purchase price of $1.95 per share. Existing investors, including two affiliates of Arbe’s directors also participated in this offering. The aggregate net
proceeds received by the Company from the offering were $22,496 net of issuance costs.

 
c. Share option and RSU’s:
 

During 2016, the Company adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”) which provides the Company with the ability to grant its employees,
directors and service providers options to purchase Ordinary Shares of the Company, at a purchase price as determined by the Board of Directors at the
date of grant. Pursuant to the 2016 Plan, 3,384,454 Ordinary Shares were reserved for issuance. Each option granted under the Plan expires no later than
seven years from the date of grant or 60 days after termination of engagement. The vesting period of the share options is generally four years.
 
In August 2021, the Board of the Company approved and in September 2021 the shareholders approved, the Arbe Robotics Ltd. 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “2021 Plan”) which became effective on October 7, 2021. The 2021 Plan covers (a) 4,079,427 ordinary shares plus (b) and without the need to
further amend the Plan on January 1 of each calendar year beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on and including January 1, 2031, a number of Shares
equal to the lesser of: (i) 5% of the total number of ordinary shares outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding calendar year, and (ii) an
amount determined by the Board, if so determined prior to the January 1 of the calendar year in which the increase will occur.
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NOTE 9:-   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)

 
Upon the adoption of the 2021 Plan, the Company will no longer grant any awards under the 2016 Plan, although previously granted options under the 2016 Plan
will remain outstanding and governed by the 2016 Plan and awards available for grant under the 2016 Plan which had not been issued or which expired
unexercised may be issued pursuant to the 2021 Plan. The vesting period of the awards is generally four years. Generally, under the terms of the Plans, unless
determined otherwise, 25% of an award granted becomes exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 6.25% becomes exercisable once every
quarter during the subsequent three years.

 
Share option and RSU’s plans:
 

A summary of the stock option activity under the Company’s equity plans during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:
 

  
Outstanding
share options   

Weighted-
average exercise

price ($)   

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual
life (years)   

Aggregate
intrinsic value

($ in thousands)  
Options:             
             
Outstanding as of December 31, 2020   3,768,034   0.767   4.626   119,146 
                 
Granted   1,966,916   7.250         
Forfeited   (117,863)   0.972         
Exercised   (155,750)   0.602         
                 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021   5,461,337   3.102   5.363   16,713,971 
                 
Granted   1,630,142   6.833         
Forfeited   (468,814)   5.557         
Exercised   (570,451)   0.482         
                 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022   6,052,214   4.166   5.570   7,761,705 
                 
Granted   430,874   2.728         
Forfeited   (351,671)   7.767         
Exercised   (1,074,162)   0.654         
 

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023   5,057,255   4.543   5.662   2,352,517 

                 
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023   3,210,191   3.643   4.403   2,277,303 

                 
Options available for future grants   611,246             
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NOTE 9:-   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)

 
A summary of the Company’s RSUs activity during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

 

  
Numbers of

RSUs  
RSUs:    
    
Outstanding as of January 1, 2021   - 
     
Granted   1,968,794 
Forfeited   - 
Vested   - 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2021   1,968,794 
     
Granted   1,619,898 
Forfeited   (417,025)
Vested   (573,583)
     
Outstanding as of December 31, 2022   2,598,084 
     
Granted   2,908,983 
Forfeited   (370,067)
Vested   (895,170)
     
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023   4,241,830 

 
Fair value factors:
 

The following table sets forth the parameters used in computation of the options compensation to employees and service providers:
 

  
Year ended

December 31  
  2023   2022   2021  
          
Expected term, in years   5.82    4.41-6.11    4.61-6.11  
Expected volatility   47%-51.75%    47%-48%    42%-46%  
Risk-free interest rate   4.15%-4.55%    1.74%-3.96%    0.49%-1.28%  
Expected dividend yield   0%   0%   0%
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NOTE 9:-   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)

 
Fair value:

 
Prior to the Merger, which resulted in the Company becoming a public entity, in determining the fair value for share options granted, the board of directors
considered the fair value of the ordinary shares as of each grant date. The fair value of the ordinary shares underlying the share options was determined by the
board of directors at each award grant date based upon a variety of factors, including the results obtained from independent third-party valuations, the Company’s
financial position and historical financial performance, the status of technological developments within the Company’s products, the composition and ability of
the current management team, an evaluation or benchmark of the Company’s competition, the current business climate in the marketplace, the illiquid nature of
the ordinary shares, arm’s length sales of the Company’s capital stock, the effect of the rights and preferences of the Company’s preferred shareholders, and the
prospects of a liquidity event, among others. Subsequent to the Company becoming a public entity, the fair value of the Ordinary Shares is the market price of the
Ordinary Shares on the date of grant.

 
Expected volatility:

 
As the Company was privately owned until October 2021, there is not sufficient historical volatility for the expected term of the stock options. Therefore, the
Company uses an average historical share price volatility based on an analysis of reported data for a peer group of comparable publicly traded companies which
were selected based upon industry similarities.

 
Expected term (years):

 
Expected term represents the period that the Company’s option grants are expected to be outstanding. There is not sufficient historical share exercise data to
calculate the expected term of the stock options. Therefore, the Company elected to utilize the simplified method to value option grants. Under this approach, the
weighted-average expected life is presumed to be the average of the shortest vesting term and the contractual term of the option.

 
Risk-free interest rate:

 
The Company determined the risk-free interest rate by using a weighted-average equivalent to the expected term based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect
as of the date of grant.

 
Expected dividend yield:

 
The Company does not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. Thus, the Company used 0% as its expected dividend yield.
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NOTE 9:-   SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (Cont.)

 
The following table presents stock-based compensation expense to employees included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
          
Research and development  $ 8,721  $ 5,726  $ 1,518 
Sales and marketing   2,229   1,403   217 
General and administrative   1,786   1,537   419 
Cost of revenues   276   127   57 
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 13,012  $ 8,793  $ 2,211 

 
Share based compensation expenses are not deductible for income tax purposes, and therefore the Company did not recognize any tax benefits related to the share-
based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

 
The Company adopted ASU 2018-07 and accordingly measured at the grant dates of each of the above stock-based compensation issued to service providers their
fair value using Black and Scholes model, which requires inputs such as exercise price, estimated ordinary share price, expected dividend yield, estimated
ordinary share price volatility and risk-free interest rate. During 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized the total fair value of the stock-based
compensation of development related service providers in the amounts of $629, $354 and $115, respectively.
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NOTE 10:-   NET LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTIBLE TO ORDINARY SHARHOLDERS
 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders for the periods presented:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  

  2023   2022   2021  

Basic          

Numerator:          

Net loss  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)
 

Denominator:             

Weighted-average shares used in computing loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, basic   72,021,520   63,489,983   22,027,292 

Loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, basic  $ (0.60)  $ (0.64)  $ (2.64)

Diluted             

Numerator:          

Adjusted Net loss*  $ (44,256)  $ (48,919)  $ (58,092)
 

Denominator:             

Weighted-average shares used in computing loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, diluted   62,390,302   60,960,641   22,027,292 

Loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, diluted*  $ (0.71)  $ (0.80)  $ (2.64)

 
* Loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders, diluted, was adjusted and take into consideration warrants liabilities revaluations as part of our net loss for 2023 and

2022.
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022  
       
Net loss   (43,500)   (40,494)
Revaluation of warrants   (756)   (8,425)
Adjusted Net loss   (44,256)   (48,919)

 
The potential Ordinary Shares that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to ordinary shareholders for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 because including them would have been anti-dilutive are as follows:

 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
          
Convertible preferred shares   -   -   26,499,069 
Outstanding share options   9,299,085   8,650,298   1,362,786 
Total   9,299,085   8,650,298   27,861,855 
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NOTE 11:-   TAXES ON INCOME

 
a. General:

 
Israeli tax rate:
 

The Corporate tax rate in Israel relevant to the Company in 2021, 2022 and 2023 - 23%.
 

United States:
 

The Company’s subsidiaries are separately taxed under the U.S. tax laws at a corporate rate of 21%.
 

b. Loss before income taxes:
 

The following are the domestic (i.e. Israeli) and foreign components of the Company’s loss before income taxes:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
          
Domestic  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)
Foreign   -   -   - 
Total  $ (43,500)  $ (40,494)  $ (58,092)

 
c. Taxes on income:

 
The reconciliation of the income tax benefit that would result from applying the Israeli statutory tax rate to the Company’s reported income tax (benefit) is as
follows:
 

  
Year ended

December 31,  
  2023   2022   2021  
Loss before income taxes, as reported in the consolidated statements of operations  $ 43,500  $ 40,494  $ 58,092 
Statutory tax rate   23%  23%  23%

             
Income tax benefit at statutory tax rate  $ (10,005)  $ (9,314)  $ (13,361)
Effect of Non-deductible expenses   3,063   475   6,129 
Remeasurement of deferred taxes from currency exchange*   -   3,517   209 
Change in valuation allowance   7,508   5,322   7,023 
Other   (566)   -   - 
Reported income taxes benefit  $ -  $ -  $ - 

 
* The income Tax Regulations (rules regarding ledger management of foreign invested companies and certain partnerships and the determination of their taxable income),

1986 allow Foreign Invested Companies (i.e., foreign holding percentage of more than 25%) to report for tax purposes in US dollars. The Company implemented these
regulations on January 1, 2023.
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NOTE 11:-   TAXES ON INCOME (Cont.)

 
d. Net operating loss carryforward:

 
As of December 31, 2023, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward for Israeli tax purposes of approximately $121,880. These net operating loss
carryforwards can be carried forward and offset against taxable income indefinitely.

 
e. Deferred tax assets and liabilities:

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes and for carryforwards.

 
The principal components of the Company’s deferred tax assets are as follows:

 
  December 31  
  2023   2022  
Deferred tax assets:       

Net operating loss carry forwards  $ 28,032  $ 21,991 
Research and development   6,252   4,834 
Employees and payroll accrual   299   272 
Property and equipment   79   57 

Total deferred tax assets   34,662   27,154 
         
Valuation allowance   (34,662)   (27,154)
         
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance  $ -  $ - 

 
Based on the available evidence, management believes that it is more likely than not that certain of its deferred tax assets relating to net operating loss
carryforwards and other temporary differences in Israel will not be realized and accordingly, a valuation allowance has been provided.
 

f. Tax assessments:
 

The Israeli entity’s’ income tax assessments are considered final through 2018.
 

g. Unrecognized Tax Benefits:
 

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits and does not expect that the amount of unrecognized tax
benefits will change significantly within the next 12 months. The Company’s accounting policy is to accrue interest and penalties related to an underpayment of
income taxes as a component of income tax expense.
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NOTE 12:-   SEGMENT INFORMATION
 

The Company operates in one operating and reportable segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial
information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, who is the Company’s chief executive officer (“CEO”), in deciding how to allocate
resources and assessing performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker allocates resources and assesses performance based upon discrete financial
information at the consolidated level.

 
Revenue by geographical region can be found in the revenue recognition disclosures in Note 3 The following table presents the Company’s property and
equipment, net of depreciation, by geographic region:

 
  December 31,  
  2023   2022  
       
Israel  $ 1,309  $ 1,609 
United States   -   - 
Total property and equipment, net:  $ 1,309  $ 1,609 

 
*) Represents less than $1

 
Major Customers:

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company had three customers that accounted for 38.9%, 18.1% and 12.7%, respectively, of revenues. During the
year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had three customers that accounted for 33.4%, 19.4% and 18.9%, respectively, of revenues. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company had three customers that accounted for 41.1%, 31.2% and 15.6%, respectively, of revenues.
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Exhibit 8.1
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF ARBE ROBOTICS LTD.
 

Name of Subsidiary  Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Arbe Robotics US, Inc  Delaware (USA)
Autobot HoldCo, Inc  Delaware (USA)
Shanghai Arbe Technologies Co., Ltd  People’s Republic of China
 



Exhibit 12.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Jacob Marinka (AKA Kobi Marenko), certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Arbe Robotics Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the company and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
 

 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
 

Date: March 28, 2024 /s/ Jacob (Kobi) Marinka  
 Jacob (Kobi) Marinka
 Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 12.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13A-14(A)/15D-14(A)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Karine Pinto-Flomenboim, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Arbe Robotics Ltd.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for the company and have:
 
 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
 

 (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
 

 (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

 (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.
 

Date: March 28, 2024 /s/ Karine Pinto-Flomenboim
 Karine Pinto-Flomenboim
 Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
 

 



Exhibit 13.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Annual Report of Arbe Robotics Ltd. (the “Registrant”) on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

 
 1. The Report, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

 
Date: March 28, 2024

 
 /s/ Jacob (Kobi) Marinka
 Jacob (Kobi) Marinka
 Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 

 /s/ Karine Pinto-Flomenboim
 Karine Pinto-Flomenboim
 Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
 
 
 



Exhibit 23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement on Form F-3, File No. 333-269235 and the registration statement on Form S-8, File No. 333-269230
of our report dated March 27, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Arbe Robotics Ltd .
 
Somekh Chaikin
Member Firm of KPMG International
Tel Aviv, Israel
March 28, 2024
 



Exhibit 97.1
  

ARBE ROBOTICS LTD.
 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION CLAWBACK POLICY
 

Adopted as of December 1, 2023
 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Arbe Robotics Ltd. (the “Company”) has adopted the following executive compensation clawback policy (this “Policy”).
This Policy shall supplement any other clawback or compensation recovery policy or policies adopted by the Company or included in any agreement between the Company, or
any subsidiary of the Company, and a person covered by this Policy. If any such other policy or agreement provides that a greater amount of compensation shall be subject to
clawback, such other policy or agreement shall apply to the amount in excess of the amount subject to clawback under this Policy.
 

This Policy shall be interpreted to comply with Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Rule 10D-1 and Listing Rule 5608 (the “Listing Rule”) of The Nasdaq
Stock Market, LLC (“Nasdaq”), as may be amended or supplemented and interpreted from time to time by Nasdaq. To the extent this Policy is in any manner deemed
inconsistent with the Listing Rule, this Policy shall be treated as having been amended to be compliant with the Listing Rule.
 

1.  Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply for purposes of this Policy:
 

(a)  Executive Officer. An executive officer is the Company’s chief executive officer, president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there
is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as sales, administration, or
finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar policy-making functions for the Company. Executive officers of
the Company’s subsidiaries are deemed executive officers of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for the Company. Policy-making function is not
intended to include policy-making functions that are not significant. Identification of an executive officer for purposes of the Listing Rule would include at a minimum
executive officers identified in the Listing Rule.
 

(b)  Financial Reporting Measures. Financial reporting measures are measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles
used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return are also
financial reporting measures. A financial reporting measure need not be presented within the financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC and may be such financial
measures as may be determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee thereof (the “Compensation Committee”).
 

(c)  Incentive-Based Compensation. Incentive-based compensation is any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the
attainment of a financial reporting measure.
 

(d)  Received. Incentive-based compensation is deemed “received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the financial reporting measure specified in the
incentive-based compensation award is attained, even if the payment or grant of the incentive-based compensation occurs after the end of that period.

 

 



 

 
2.  Application of this Policy. The recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation from an Executive Officer as provided for in this Policy shall apply only in the event

that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement under the
United States securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements that is material to the previously issued
financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period. Questions as to
“materiality” will be made by the Compensation Committee in coordination with the Audit Committee.
 

3. Recovery Period.
 

(a)  The Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery is the Incentive-Based Compensation Received during the three (3) completed fiscal years
immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement as described in Section 2 above, provided that the person served as an
Executive Officer at any time during the performance period applicable to the Incentive-Based Compensation in question. The date that the Company is required to prepare an
accounting restatement shall be determined pursuant to the Listing Rule.
 

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Policy shall only apply if the Incentive-Based Compensation is Received (i) while the Company has a class of securities
listed on Nasdaq and (ii) on or after October 2, 2023.
 

(c)  The provisions of the Listing Rule shall apply with respect to Incentive-Based Compensation received during a transition period arising due to a change in the
Company’s fiscal year.
 

4.  Erroneously Awarded Compensation. The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery from the applicable Executive Officers under this Policy
(“Erroneously Awarded Compensation”) shall be equal to the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation Received that exceeds the amount of Incentive Based-Compensation
that otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts and shall be computed without regard to any taxes paid. For Incentive-Based
Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly
from the information in an accounting restatement: (a) the amount shall be based on a reasonable estimate by the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (or principal accounting
officer, if the office of Chief Financial Officer is not then filled) of the effect of the accounting restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the
Incentive-Based Compensation was received, which estimate shall be subject to the review and approval of the Compensation Committee; and (b) the Company must maintain
reasonable documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to Nasdaq if requested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the
proposed Incentive-Based Compensation recovery would affect compensation paid to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, the determination shall be made by the
Compensation Committee.
 

5.  Timing of Recovery. The Company shall recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation reasonably promptly, except to the extent that the conditions of
paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) below apply. The Compensation Committee shall determine the repayment schedule for each amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in a
manner that complies with this “reasonably promptly” requirement. Such determination shall be consistent with any applicable legal guidance by the SEC, Nasdaq, judicial
opinion, or otherwise. The determination of “reasonably promptly” may vary from case to case and the Compensation Committee is authorized to adopt additional rules or
policies to further describe what repayment schedules satisfy this requirement.
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(a)  Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing (or making determinations in

connection with the enforcement of) this Policy would exceed the amount to be recovered and the Compensation Committee has made a determination that recovery would be
impracticable. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company
shall (i) make a reasonable attempt to recover such Erroneously Awarded Compensation, (ii) document such reasonable attempt or attempts to recover, and (iii) provide
appropriate documentation to the Compensation Committee or Nasdaq, if requested.
 

(b)  Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if recovery would violate the laws of Israel where that law was adopted prior to November 28,
2022. Before concluding that it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on a violation of the laws of Israel, the Company
shall obtain an opinion of Israeli counsel, in form and substance that would be reasonably acceptable to Nasdaq, that recovery would result in such a violation and shall provide
such opinion to Nasdaq, if requested.
 

(c)  Erroneously Awarded Compensation need not be recovered if recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan under the United States
Internal Revenue Code, under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Sections 401(a)(13) or 411(a) of the
United States Internal Revenue Code and the regulations thereunder (as such provision may be amended, modified or supplemented).
 

6.  Compensation Committee Decisions. Decisions of the Compensation Committee with respect to this Policy shall be final, conclusive and binding on all Executive
Officers subject to this Policy.
 

7.  No Indemnification. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any other policy of the Company or any agreement between the Company and an Executive
Officer, no Executive Officer shall be indemnified by the Company against the loss arising from the recovery of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation.
 

8.  Agreement to Policy by Executive Officers. The Company shall take reasonable steps to inform Executive Officers of this Policy and obtain their express
agreement to this Policy, which steps may constitute the inclusion of this Policy as an attachment to any award that is accepted by an Executive Officer. This Policy shall be
deemed to apply to each employment or grant agreement between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any Executive Officer subject to this Policy.
 
 

# # #
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